
                  City of Marathon City Council Agenda 
9805 Overseas Hwy., Marathon, FL 

            Tuesday, May 13, 2025 5:30 P.M. 
 
1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call 

4. Approval of agenda and consent agenda [Approval of Consent Agenda passes all routine items 
indicated by asterisk (*). Consent Agenda items are not considered separately unless a Council Member 
so requests.  In the event of such a request, the item is returned to the Regular Agenda.]   
 
5. City Council Items 
       *A. Approval of Minutes  ……………………………………………………….1 
    B. Sherriff Rick Ramsay – Presentation of a Check for Unused Funds 

*C. 45th Annual 7-Mile Bridge Run (April 11, 2026) Approval…………………10 
 * D. Florida Keys Celtic Festival (January 10th & 11th, 2026) Permission To Sell Beer, 
Wine And Alcohol, Along With A Waiver Of Fees For Use Of Community Park  
    E. 
 
6. City Manager Report 
           * A. MCSO Marathon Substation Report ………………………………………..11 
           *  B. Grants Update   ……………………………………………………………..15 
 *  C.  Building Report……………………………………………………………..20 
 *  D.  Park and Recreation Report…………………………………………………21 
          *  E. Marathon Fire Rescue Report ………………………………………………23 
            *  F. Marina Report……………………………………………………………….26 
            *  G. Code Report…………………………………………………………………29 
            *  H. Wastewater Utilities Report…………………………………………………30 
 *  I.   Public Works Report………………………………………………………..34 
     J. SS4A (Safe Streets for All)   
      K.    Discussion of Future Permitting Issues 
     J. 
 
7. Citizens' comments on agenda items not scheduled for public hearing and items other than 
those appearing on the agenda [Those who have signed in will be given the first opportunity to speak.  
Time is limited to 2 minutes per speaker.] TIME CERTAIN TO 6:30 PM OR AS SOON AS 
POSSIBLE THEREAFTER OR AT THE CONCLUSION OF ALL COUNCIL BUSINESS; 
WHICHEVER OCCURS FIRST. 
  



8. Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings: Please be advised that the following items on the agenda are 
quasi-judicial in nature. If you wish to comment upon these items, please inform the Clerk by filling out 
the available sign-up form.  An opportunity for persons to speak on the items will be made available 
after the applicant and staff has made their presentations on the items. All testimony, including public 
testimony and evidence, will be made under oath or affirmation. Additionally, each person who gives 
testimony may be subject to cross-examination. If you refuse either to be cross-examined or to be sworn, 
your testimony will not be considered. The general public will not be permitted to cross-examine 
witnesses, but the public may request the Council to ask questions of staff or witnesses on their behalf.  
Persons representing organizations must present evidence of their authority to speak for the organization.  
(Councilmember’s to communicate ex parte communication.) 
 

A. Resolution 2025-37, Consideration Of A Request By Marathon LLC For An 
Amendment To A Conditional Use Permit, Pursuant To Chapter 102, Article 13 Of The City Of 
Marathon Land Development Regulations (“The Code”) Entitled “Conditional Use Permits”, 
Authorizing The Development Of A Climate Controlled Storage Facility and Twenty-four (24) Single 
Family Residential Units Consisting Of Five (5) Parcels Located At 765 107th Street Ocean; Which Is 
Legally Described As Township 66 Range 33 Key Vaccas Part Government Lot 1 and Part Government 
Lot 2 Part Parcel 3 And Adjacent Bay Bottom South Of And Adjacent Part Government Lot 1 and Lots 
1, 2, 3, & 4 Of Seaglass Flats A Plat Of Lands Located In A Part Of Government Lot 1 Section 6 
Township 66S Range 33E On Key Vaca City Of Marathon As Recorded In Plat Book and Page 7-97, 
Monroe County, Florida, Having Real Estate Numbers 00104260-000000, 00104251-000100, 
00104251-000200, 00104251-000300 and 00104251-000400. Nearest Mile Marker 53….. 39    
 

 B. Resolution 2025-38, Consideration Of A Request For An Annulment Of A Plat, For 
Marathon LLC, Pursuant To Chapter 102, Article 10 Of The City Of Marathon Land Development 
Regulations (“The Code”) Entitled “Subdivision Of Land/Plats And Replats” For The Abandonment Of 
Seaglass Flats Subdivision; A Plat Of Lands Located In A Part Of Government Lot 1 Section 6 Township 
66S Range 33E On Key Vaca City Of Marathon As Recorded In Plat Book and Page 7-97, Monroe 
County, Florida, Having Real Estate Numbers 00104251-000100, 00104251-000200, 00104251-000300 
and 00104251-000400. Nearest Mile Marker 53…………………………………………65 
 

9. Ordinances for Second Public Hearing and Enactment 
 
 A. Ordinance 2025-02, Amending Chapter 18, Article 3 (“Abatement Of Criminal 
Nuisances”) By Deleting Sections 18-186, 18-187, 18-888, 18-189, And 18-190; Providing For The 
Repeal Of All Ordinances Or Parts Thereof Found To Be In Conflict; Providing For Severability; 
Providing For Inclusion In The Code Of Ordinances And Providing For An Effective 
Date………………………………………………………………………………………..67 
 
10. Ordinances for First Public Hearing 
 
 A. Ordinance 2025-03, Amending Chapter 15 Fire Prevention Article 1 In General, 
Amending Section 15-6 Entitled Chickees And Tikis, Amending Section 15-7 Entitled Penalty, 
Amending Sections 15-8 Through 15-26 Entitled Reserved; Of The City Of Marathon Code Of 
Ordinances; Amending Chapter 110 Definitions Article 3 Entitled Defined Terms; Providing For 
Severability; Providing For The Repeal Of Conflicting Provisions; Providing For The Transmittal Of 
This Ordinance To The Department Of Commerce After Final Adoption By The City Council; And 
Providing For An Effective Date……………………………………………………………77 
 
 B. Ordinance 2025-04, Amending Chapter 104, Article 1, Section 104.51.1 “Single-Family 
Dwellings (7 Bedrooms Or More)” As Defined Therein; Amending Chapter 110 Article 3 Entitled 
Defined Terms; Providing For Severability; Providing For The Repeal Of Conflicting Provisions; 



Providing For The Transmittal Of This Ordinance To The Department Of Commerce After Final 
Adoption By The City Council; And Providing For An Effective Date……………………86 
 
11. Resolutions For Adoption 
 
 *A. Resolution 2025-39, Approval Of The Turf And Landscape Maintenance Agreement 
With FDOT For The Maintenance Of The US 1 Corridor Within The City Of Marathon; Authorizing 
The City Manager To Execute The Agreement; And Providing For An Effective Date……101 
 
 *B. Resolution  2025-40,  Awarding Project Specific Agreement for Area 5 WWTP MBR 
Tank Expansion to Weiler Engineering Corporation.; Approving A Not To Exceed Amount Of 
$171,330.00; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The Contract And Expend Appropriated 
Funds On Behalf Of The City; And Providing For An Effective Date. This Work May Qualify For 
Reimbursement Through A Grant…………………………………………………………..119 

 
  *C. Resolution 2025-41, Awarding Project Specific Agreement for Area 3 WWTP Vacuum 
Tank Replacement to Weiler Engineering Corporation.; Approving A Not To Exceed Amount Of 
$123,757.50; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The Contract And Expend Budgeted Funds 
On Behalf Of The City; And Providing For An Effective Date. This Work May Qualify For 
Reimbursement Through A Grant…………………………………………………………..138 

 
 *D. Resolution 2025-42 Authorizing and Approving A Contract For The Construction Of 
Phase 1 Force Main For The Deep Injection Well Project to DBE Utility Services In An Amount Not 
To Exceed $5,321,846.32; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The Contract And Appropriate 
Budgeted Funds On Behalf Of The City; And Providing For An Effective Date…………..157 
 
 *E. Resolution 2025-43, Approving a Grant Agreement between the City of Marathon and 
the Florida Department of Transportation in the amount of $250,000.00 For Creation of a Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Master Plan; Appropriating Funds; And Providing For An Effective Date……. 177 
  
 *F. Resolution 2025-44 Approval Of A Second Amendment To The Existing Contract For 
Emergency Debris Removal Monitoring Services With Tetra Tech, Inc.; Authorizing The City Manager 
To Execute The Agreement; And Providing For An Effective Date……………………….212 

 *G. Resolution 2025-45 Approving A Work Directive Change With Charley Toppino and 
Sons For The Marathon Sombrero Blvd Drainage Improvements Project In The Amount Of $46,074.33; 
Authorizing The City Manager To Sign The Work Directive Change And To Expend Appropriated 
Funds; And Providing An Effective Date…………………………………………………..218 

 H. Resolution 2025-46,  Approving A Contract With Safe Boat In An Amount Of 
$476,557.07; Authorizing The Expenditure Of An Additional Amount Of Up To $125,000 Above The 
Original Budgeted Amount Of $375,000; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The Agreement, 
And Expend Budgeted Funds; And Providing For An Effective Date……………………..245 
  



 I. Resolution 2025-47, Approving a Design Build Contract with Platform Group, LLC via 
a Piggy-Back Contract with the City of Ocala for the Construction of A New Skate Park and Associated 
Improvements in the Amount Not To Exceed $1,265,800.00; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute 
A Contract And Expend and Appropriate  Funds; And Providing For An Effective Date….259 

 J. Resolution 2025-48, Authorizing The Issuance Of A Revolving Line Of Credit Note, 
Series 2025 In The Principal Amount Of Not To Be Outstanding In Excess Of $10,000,000 To Finance 
The Project; Authorizing And Delegating To The Mayor The Sale Of The Note To The Lender Pursuant 
To The Terms And Conditions Of A Revolving Credit Agreement With The Lender; Approving The 
Execution And Delivery Of Said Revolving Credit Agreement; Providing Certain Other Matters In 
Connection With The Issuance Of The Note; And Providing An Effective Date………….263 
 
 *K. Resolution 2025-49 Authorizing A Purchase Pursuant To The City’s Purchasing 
Policies And Procedures And Approving The Purchase of SCADA computer/software On-Going 
Maintenance, In An Amount Not To Exceed $35,000.00; Authorizing The City Manager To Enter Into 
Agreements In Connection Therewith, Appropriating And Expending Budgeted Funds; And Providing 
For An Effective Date………………………………………………………………………281 
 
12. Council comments 
 
13. Adjournment 
 

Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, if a person decides to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter considered 
at such hearing or meeting, one will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made; such record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.   ADA Assistance:  Anyone needing special 
assistance at the City Council hearing due to disability should contact the City of Marathon City Attorney at (305) 289-4130 at least five days prior thereto. 
Please contact the City Clerk at clavierd@ci.marathon.fl.us if you would like to receive any of the items on the agenda by email. 

mailto:clavierd@ci.marathon.fl.us


City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
March 31, 5:30 pm City Council Special Call Meeting Minutes 

1 

CALL TO ORDER - A Special Call Meeting of the City Council of Marathon, Florida was held on 
March 31, 2025, in the Marathon Council Chambers, 9805 Overseas Hwy., Marathon, Florida, Mayor 
Landry called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

ROLL CALL - There were present: 

Councilmember Del Gaizo 

Councilmember Matlock 

Councilmember Still 

Vice Mayor Smith 

Mayor Landry, comprising a quorum.  

Also, in attendance were:  

City Manager, George Garrett 

City Clerk, Diane Clavier 

City Attorney, Steve Williams  

Deputy City Manager, Brian Bradley 

MCSO Captain Derek Paul 

Approval Of Agenda and Consent Agenda 

MOTION:  Smith moved to approve the agenda. 
SECOND:   Still 

With no objection from the members of the Council, Mayor Landry declared the agenda approved by 
unanimous consent.  

Discussion regarding  whether the City should continue in its part of the adopted Municipal 
Service Taxing Unit (MSTU) known as the “Middle Keys Health Care Municipal Services Taxing 
Unit”  (City Code of Ordinances, Chapter 28, Article 1) 

Drew Grossman, CEO for Baptist Hospital spoke about the services the hospital offered and spoke 
about the difficulties in recruitment and retaining specialty health services. 

Page 1 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
March 31, 5:30 pm City Council Special Call Meeting Minutes 
 

 2 

Pattie Bolland presented financial information and explained there were 12,865 patient cases since 
2020 at a cost of 14.2 million and the hospital was reimbursed 13.5 million and $728,409 is still on 
the books as accounts receivable.  There is 1.5 million left to get to the maximum.  For the income,  
Bolland reported that as of FY2017, operations were at 25.4 million, 13.4 million for the hospital 
and 38.9 million from operations, lost 12.3 million and capital investments at 59 million for a net 
total not recouped 31 million net investment. 
 
The Mayor Called for speakers. 
 
Richard Moretti – spoke for the MSTU  
 
Janice Roehl Anderson – spoke for the MSTU 
 
Mary Stella – spoke against the MSTU, she was previously for it, but we have met our goals. 
 
Mike Leonard spoke for the MSTU and stated the hospital was an ethical organization. 
 
Jim Rifkin spoke for the MSTU and explained that 60 million cannot be funded through the MSTU 
and will have to be bonded. 
 
Alexander Palma – spoke against the MSTU, as it was supposed to be annually reviewed. 
 
Pat Biagi questioned that the hospital was still not profitable and how long before they are paid off.  
Biagi commented that we do not have doctors, and a lot are traveling doctors and nurses, and the 
costs for testing are awful. 
 
Diane Scott spoke against the tax and asked the Council to choose option 1. 
 
Andrew George – spoke against the additional tax and commented that we do not have a general 
practitioner on staff, in 2019 Fisherman’s promised to be a full-service hospital; there are no 
pediatric or woman’s care offered.  George commented his girlfriend had to go to Key West 
Hospital by ambulance and they put her on the one not covered by her insurance. 
 
George Neugent spoke in support of the hospital, saying it was an asset and costs households less 
than $100 a year for services. 
 
Dion Watson – commented that they were initially in support of the hospital, however they cannot 
do tests there or have a doctor there, they send everyone to Miami.  In Marathon it costs $3,500 for 
an MRI and in Homestead, it is less than $1,000.  We have a MASH unit, the second you walk 
through the door, they want payment. 
 
Jane Packard spoke in support of the hospital and thanked the Council and the Hospital and stated it 
was about honoring a commitment. 
 

Page 2 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
March 31, 5:30 pm City Council Special Call Meeting Minutes 
 

 3 

Debra Struyf – spoke against the tax and commented that the hospital also has a commitment to the 
community to have doctors. 
 
Matlock commented that the hospital was not meeting their end of the deal and wished his 
experience were better.  Matlock commented that no one would speak with him about his issues 
until he was on the Council.  Matlock commented that the hospital was far in the black and he hears 
horror stories, and we are building more and staffing less.  We were to review this every year to see 
if we wanted to continue. 
 
Stil commented that there were some very valid points made but at the end of the day we are still in 
the middle of the agreement.  It would be wonderful to be fully staffed. 
 
Del Gaizo thanked the hospital and the community for stepping up to the plate, it is the principal 
and the community has spoken. 
 
Smith commented that he spoke with many community members, and they recognize the value in 
having a hospital.  Baptist accelerated the timeline and built the hospital; we have to honor our 
commitment, but he was not in favor of overfunding  and Key Colony made the same 
recommendation in continuing the MSTU to satisfy but not exceed the remaining commitment. 
 
Landry commented that we did not go to a hospital to see a doctor since he could remember.  
Landry explained his mother-in-law has been battling a disease for twenty years and the hospital  
stabilized her, and trauma star took her to Jackson which saved her life, we are very lucky to have 
our hospital.  Landry commented that both he and Matlock campaigned on either side of this, and 
we were both elected. 
 
Matlock explained Fisherman’s is a critical care hospital, not a full-service hospital and we are 
spending other people’s money.  Matlock also mentioned that we were promised a full-service 
hospital, and he has had five phone calls, three text messages and 18 email messages that were all 
against the tax and not one for the tax. 
 
Landry commented that he has had to search people out and someone who has four different types 
of cancer wants the hospital. 
 
Matlock explained the hospital will not go away; they will be here regardless of the MSTU tax. 
 
DelGaizo questioned why we do not have care for women?  Drew Grossman responded that they 
could not find anyone to hire that wanted to live in the Keys. 
 
Option 1. Resolution 2025-32, A Resolution Of The City Council Of The City Of Marathon, 
Florida Directing Staff To Draft And Advertise An Ordinance Withdrawing From And The 
Abandoning Its Inclusion In The Middle Keys Health Care Municipal Taxing Unit (Chapter 28, 
Article 1, Section 28-3 Of The City’s Code Of Ordinances) For Review At The Next Possible City 
Council Meeting; And Providing For An Effective Date  
 

Page 3 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
March 31, 5:30 pm City Council Special Call Meeting Minutes 
 

 4 

Option 2. Resolution 2035-33, A Resolution Of The City Council Of The City Of Marathon, 
Florida Indicating To The Monroe County Board Of County Commissioners (BOCC) Its Intent To 
Continue Participation In The Middle Keys Health Care Municipal Service Taxing Unit (MSTU) 
ONLY If  The Current Millage Rate Is Reset By The BOCC At A Level That Will Generate The 
Necessary Revenue To Satisfy, But Not Exceed, The Remaining Financial Commitment Under The 
MSTU Agreement ($15 Million); And Providing That The Final Millage Rate Shall Be Determined 
Based On The Assessed Property Values Provided By The Property Appraiser’s Office In July 2025; 
And Providing For The Transmittal Of This Resolution To Appropriate Members Of Monroe County 
Staff, And Providing For An Effective Date. 
 
MOTION:      Smith moved to approve Resolution 2025-33 

 
SECOND:       Still 
 
Vote of the Motion:  
Yes:  Smith, Still, Landry  
No:    Matlock, DelGaizo 
Absent:  None 
Abstain:  None 
 
Vote on the Motion:      3 Yes, 2 No, 0 Absent, 0 Abstain 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business to come before the Council, Mayor Landry adjourned the meeting at 6:24 
pm with unanimous consent.  
 
I certify the above represents an accurate summary of the Special Call City Council meeting of March 
31, 2025. 
 
 
_______________________________ _______________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk    Date  

Page 4 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
April 22, 5:30 pm City Council Town Hall Workshop Meeting Minutes 
 

 1 

CALL TO ORDER - A Town Hall Workshop of the City Council of Marathon, Florida was held on 
April 22, 2025, in the Marathon Council Chambers, 9805 Overseas Hwy., Marathon, Florida, Mayor 
Landry called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

ROLL CALL - There were present:  
 
Councilmember Del Gaizo 
 
Councilmember Matlock 
 
Councilmember Still, attending via Zoom 
 
Vice Mayor Smith 
 
Mayor Landry, comprising a quorum.  
 
Also, in attendance were:  
 
City Manager, George Garrett 

City Clerk, Diane Clavier 

City Attorney, Steve Williams  

Deputy City Manager, Brian Bradley 

Planning Director, Brian Shea 

Finance Director, Jennifer Johnson  

Deputy Utilities Director, Libby Soldano 

Fire Chief James Muro 

Code Director, Ted Lozier 

Grants Coordinator, Maria Covelli 

Park and Recreation Director, Scott Williamson 

MCSO Captain Derek Paul 

 
MOTION:  Smith moved to allow Councilmember Still to attend via Zoom 
SECOND:   Matlock 
 

Page 5 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
April 22, 5:30 pm City Council Town Hall Workshop Meeting Minutes 
 

 2 

With no objection from the members of the Council, Mayor Landry declared the motion approved by 
unanimous consent.  
 
Non-Profit Funding Request Presentations 
 
Heart of the Keys Rec Association/Marathon Rec Center – Diane Culver thanked the Council for 
their support and gave an overview of what the funds are needed for. 
 
Special Olympics Florida – Ruth Coleman gave a background on the program expansion and goals 
and introduced Lilian who explained how the funding helps them implement youth inclusiveness and 
Cindy who was an athlete in the special Olympics . 
 
Autism Society of the Keys – Jill Campbell explained one in thirty-one children are diagnosed every 
year and explained how the funding is used, for example sensory boxes, etc. 
 
Marathon Yacht Club Educational Foundation – Carol Shaddock with Mid Keys Sailing explained 
the funds would be used to teach children how to sail, about the environment, they have a summer 
camp and need a metal boat rack. 
 
Crane Point – Charlotte Quinn explained last year 54 children were able to go to camp because of the 
funding provided. 

 
Habitat for Humanity of the Middle Keys- Chris Todd Young explained the costs to build have gone 
up as well as insurance and funds are also needed to help with first last and security payments.  Todd-
Young explained an ADA elevator was purchased last year with the funding provided by the City. 
 
The Salvation Army – Loretta Geotis explained what the funding would be used for, such as rental 
assistance and utility disconnects 
 
United Way of Colier and the Keys – Loretta Geotis explained the volunteer tax preparation program 
and explained funding would be used for recruiting volunteers to prepare tax returns as well as IRS 
training. 
 
Marathon Wild Bird Center – Kelly Grinter explained funding was needed to feed the birds; last year 
$15,000 was used to purchase fish to feed the 798 patients last year.  Grinter also informed the Council 
her water bill was $1,000 a month. 
 
Keys AHEC Health Centers – Michael Cunningham provided a video regarding dental care for 
children.   
 
Conch Republic Marine Army – Board member Brian Thielicke explained 275 tons of garbage was 
taken out of the Keys as of March 31st.   Thielicke also mentioned that they do take kids and adults 
out if they help clean up. 
 

Page 6 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
April 22, 5:30 pm City Council Town Hall Workshop Meeting Minutes 
 

 3 

Zonta Club of Marathon – Patricia Biasi explained funds were needed to help pay for medical co-
pays, eye exams and glasses, transportation costs, food for Marathon High School children food bank 
and scholarships. 
 
Grace Jones Community Center – John Hunt explained the daycare food program and funds needed 
to purchase breakfast, lunch, a snack and to purchase food for the backpack program so the children 
have food for the weekend. 
 
Womankind Marathon – Callie Robers explained that Womankind provides family planning services 
and gynecological prenatal care with staffing being the biggest expense. 
 
Education Coalition for Monroe County – Patricia Biagi read a statement from the Belotti’s 
explaining how funds would be used to support needs of students such as sports equipment, toiletries, 
food, and clothing. 
 
Keys Area Interdenominational Resources (KAIR) – Marge Roberts explained that KAIR assists 
locals over obstacles by providing funds for medical care, car repairs, utilities, food, and rent.  Last 
year KAIR helped 112 families with rent and 69 families with utility bills and 600,000 pounds of 
food was distributed. 
 
Independence Cay – Marge Roberts explained Independence Cay offers transitional housing for up 
to 18 men and operates a soup kitchen and offers showers and laundry. 
 
Domestic Abuse Shelter – Sherri Swab explained the Domestic Abuse shelter was the only certified 
abuse shelter in the County.  After Irma, the cost estimates to build a new shelter was over eight 
million, so a five-bedroom home was purchased instead.  Any funding received would help with 
renovations for the home. 
 
Marathon Premier Sailfish Tournament – Mark Busch provided a video and commented that funds 
would help to build inclusion events. 
 
Sea Camp Marine Science Education – Judy Gregoire explained the camp and education they provide 
to children. 
 
Florida Keys Watercolor Society – explained funding would help promote water base painting and 
scholarships, outreach program of eight new events and advertising. 
 
St. Columba Episcopal Church/Hammock House – Rev. McConaughey explained free childcare and 
afterschool care as well as a summer camp with breakfast, lunch and snacks are provided with 
funding. 
 
Presents in Paradise – Coby Taylor explained that funding helps 800 children keys wide and 530 in 
Marathon to have Christmas presents. 
 

Page 7 of 283



City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
April 22, 5:30 pm City Council Town Hall Workshop Meeting Minutes 
 

 4 

FIRM – Mel Montagne explained the work FIRM does to help with insurance rates and that carve 
outs have been made for residents for Habitat for Humanity. 
 
Good Health Clinic – Kate Banic explained this was the first time asking for funding for their free 
clinic open since 2018 in Marathon one day a week. 
 
Marathon Community Theatre – Lisa Campenelli explained funding was needed to expand the 
children’s art program and scholarships. 
 
Pay It Forward/Marathon Memorial Foundation – Wendy Bonilla explained she was able to  provide 
$36,000 in scholarships last year. 
 
Literacy Volunteers – Mary Casanova explained funding would go towards materials such as paper, 
paper, etc. and training volunteers. 
 
Marathon Coop Preschool – Brandi Jordan explained they have 74 children enrolled and 47 are 
subsidized.  The Coop provides afterschool care, field trips, transportation, water bottle station, ping 
pong, basketball, and art supplies.  Funding is needed for pallets of mulch to cover the holes from 
iguanas, tarps for shade and misting fans. 
 
Kreative Kids – Maria Vaillant explained funding would fix the fencing damaged by the iguanas, 
equipment, and staff. 
 
Key Colony Beach Association - Rich Vieth explained they have an open application process to 
request donations at www.kcbca.org to request donations and the cut off is April 30th. 
 
The Mayor called a recess at 7:06 and brought the town hall discussion back to order at 7:15. 
 
Town Hall discussion – Bring Your Concerns with Proposed Solutions (Landry) 
 
Diane Scott – asked the Council to put the bus stop back where it was and to make it nice.  Scott also 
asked the Council to have the sheriff investigate her complaints. 
 
Brian Shea read a press release regarding the bus stop improvement plan where Monroe County is 
asking for the public’s input on the development of their Bus Stop Improvement Plan (BSIP) via a 
survey  monroecountybsip.com 
 
Gisselle Van Der Waal – spoke regarding her concerns of the health and safety of the dogs that use 
the dog park and commented that she thought the irrigation system was not properly working and 
suggested installing a backup hose. 
 
Maria Covelli informed everyone she submitted a grant application to put in a shade structure and 
artificial turf.  Covelli commented that the irrigation does work.  Van Der Waal commented that 
irrigation is only using four zones out of the six and there is an invasive species in the lawn. 
 

Page 8 of 283

http://www.kcbca.org/


City of Marathon 
City Council Action Minutes 
April 22, 5:30 pm City Council Town Hall Workshop Meeting Minutes 
 

 5 

Landry asked for additional speakers. 
 
Landry informed everyone that the City has sixteen months of reserves and is in good shape 
financially. 
 
Diane Culver – commented that after hearing the non-profit presentations, she just wanted to point 
out that many of the programs are reactive and it starts with the children, and our community has 
done amazing things. 
 
Bettye Chaplin – explained her appreciation knowing there is a surplus, there are many wealthy 
people in our community, some people need to knock on doors, they do not need the funds from the 
City, things can get out of hand.  Chaplin also stated we have a great Sheriff’s office. 
 
Landry gave a shout out to Alex Richart who ran the Boston Marathon to raise money for cancer and 
reminded everyone of the Marathon Dolphins baseball game this Monday at 7 pm. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business to come before the Council, Mayor Landry adjourned the meeting at 7:35pm 
with unanimous consent.  
 
I certify the above represents an accurate summary of the City Council Town Hall Workshop of April 
22, 2025. 
 
 
_______________________________ _______________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk    Date  

Page 9 of 283



 

 

 

Marathon Runners Club, Inc            P.O. Box 500110 
                                                                                                                                       Marathon, FL 33050 

April 7, 2025 

ATTN:  Diane Clavier 
clavierd@ci.marathon.fl.us 
305-743-0033 

City of Marathon Mayor and Commissioners                                  
Marathon, FL 33050 
 
Re: 45th Annual 7-Mile Bridge Run 

Dear Mayor and Council Members, 

The Marathon Runners Club respectfully requests to be added to the agenda for the next scheduled 
meeting. We are requesting approval for the running of the 45th  Annual 7-Mile Bridge Run for Saturday, 
April 11, 2026, from 6:00 A.M. to 9:00 A.M.  We are very proud to say that our local youth have 
benefitted from proceeds from the 7-Mile Bridge Run since it began in 1982.  We appreciate the 
overwhelming response we receive from our annual event and thankful to participants, sponsors, 
volunteers and the continued support of our community.   

We will be acquiring all the necessary permits, insurances and certificates which will be provided to you 
upon request at the completion of receipt.   

We are anxious to hear from you following the outcome of your next meeting so we can proceed with 
planning next year’s running event.  Please acknowledge the approval of the 45th Annual 7-Mile Bridge 
Run by the City Council by email to gsayer@mykcs.com.  Please send me the confirmation and the link of 
the approval/minutes which would make it easier to printout so we can present it to the DOT and other 
entities that require it.  

Thank you, Mayor and Commissioners, in advance, for your time, consideration and continued support 
for this fine local event to benefit our local youth. 

Sincerely, 
Ginger Sayer, Event Director  
gsayer@mykcs.com 

Page 10 of 283



Page 11 of 283



Page 12 of 283



Page 13 of 283



Page 14 of 283



City Council May 2025 
Submitted 04/30/2025 

Grants Update 
Page 1 of 5 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Grants Department 

 
MEETING DATE:  May 13, 2025  
 
TO:    Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 
 
FROM:   Maria Covelli, Grants Coordinator 
 
THROUGH: George Garrett, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Grants Report   
              

The Grants Department provides an update to the City Council monthly.   
The following is provided as an update for Grant Department activities as of the date of submission. 

*Amounts in ($$) are grant amounts, not necessarily project totals. 
 
ACTIVE GRANTS STATUS – Received since last meeting - Updates 
WWTP Work - CDBG-MIT Infrastructure Unmet Needs – Florida Commerce (formerly DEO) 
($6,259,423.00) 

• Requested funding increase for the flood wall to cover the cost of inflated materials.  
• Mobilization and active construction began on Power Conditioning & Surge Protection project 

– construction at 89%. 
• Vacuum System Monitoring & Pump Upgrades are at 70% design, bid docs in process of being 

created. 
• Flood Wall project has been value engineered, and we have submitted a request for grant 

increase to FL Commerce to help cover the additional cost 
o Received Resilient FL funding for flood wall project. 
 

Hazard Mitigation Grant Generators – DEM ($370,260.75) – completion date 03/31/2025 
• Completed, waiting on proof of payment to submit for reimbursement.  
• Received project deadline extension from DEM to 3/31/2025 
• Fire Station Generator has been installed 

 They are currently working to replace pump needed for fuel lines 
• Received budget increase of grant award to $370,260.75 to cover the unexpected rising 
cost of the project (an increase of $240,801.19) 
• Marina Unit installation complete.  
• Permits Issued 

 
FCT Parks and Open Space (2018 grant program) – (1,488,000) 

• Salty’s/7 Mile Marina 
o Submitted Management Plan for FCT review 

 Received comments back from FCT to update review and resubmit 
o Submitted due diligence documents as required by FCT. 

• FCT Required appraisals complete; Submitted to FCT 
• Environmental Assessment Phase I completed. 
• Put out request for quotes for Tier II EA as required by FCT 
• PW Preparing RFQ for project services. 
 
 
 

Page 15 of 283



City Council May 2025 
Submitted 04/30/2025 

Grants Update 
Page 2 of 5 

 

 
TDC FY25 Bricks and Morter – Capital 

• Information and Security Station at Sombrero Beach ($150,000) 
o Coordinating with TDC for extension to FY26 for completion  

 On DAC III agenda for April 
o Meeting with engineer to layout project 
o Project is in early design stages 

• Reconstruct Finger Piers and Electronic Sign at 7-Mile Marina ($502,700) 
o Coordinating with TDC for extension to FY26 for completion 

 On DAC III agenda for April  
o Project planning in process 

 
FDOT Transportation Alternatives – Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan $250,000 FY25 grant 

• Waiting for grant agreement from FDOT 
o Grant contract in process 

• Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan 
o Presented project at FDOT Dist. meeting. 

 
TDC FY 2023 Capital Funding  

• Quay restroom project ($245,000) – completion date by 9/30/2025 
o Project Completed – wtg on proof of payment to submit for reimbursement 
o Walk thru completed / Punch list to be completed as noted  
o Construction has begun!!!! 
o Awarded to Pedro Falcon 
o Received grant extension to 09/30/2025 
o Schematics are completed. 
o In process of finalizing costs for approval 

• Beach Raking and Maintenance (Coco Plum & Sombrero) ($203,050) – completion date 9/30/2025 
o Received fully executed agreement. 
o Work underway. 

 
FDOT Transportation Alternatives Program – Aviation Lighting and Sombrero Rd MIT (FY 27-28) 

• Waiting on grant agreements from FDOT 
• Received breakout from FDOT timeline/budget: Design 2026; Construction 2028 
• Awaiting grant agreements from FDOT 
 Aviation Blvd Lighting ($1,000,000) 
 Mitigate Sombrero Beach Rd sidewalk flooding at curve ($333,288) 

 
FDEM – Hazard Mitigation Grant Watershed Master Plan – ($187,068.75 of $249,425 project – 
balance (match) coming from $240,000 Coastal Resilience Grant)  

• Data gathering in process 
• Grant signed over to Monroe County for administration. 
• As approved at April 2024 meeting, the City is assigning this grant to the County for management.  

o Will ensure continuity of data with the County and other municipalities.   
 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 283



City Council May 2025 
Submitted 04/30/2025 

Grants Update 
Page 3 of 5 

 

FDEP Coastal Resilience Grant Vulnerability Plan ($240,000)  
• Data gathering in process 
• WSP presented information at April’s Council Workshop 
• Grant signed over to Monroe County for administration. 
• To create a citywide vulnerability assessment for sea level rise 
• Because we are using this grant as a match for the Watershed Master Plan grant, the State requires 

us to sign this grant over to the County for administration as well.  
 
DOT Safer Streets 4 All Grant Program – ($240,000)  

• Contractor has started collecting data and doing surveys 
• Create a Complete Streets Program.  

o Received fully executed grant agreement 
o Project out for bid 

 Received bids - Stantec awarded – working on contract 
o Completed and submitted FHWA Required Checklist 

 
Tourist Development Council FY24 Capital Improvement DAC III Round 3  
Events Tiki at Oceanfront Park ($201,495) 

• Events Tiki at Oceanfront Park 
o Complete with the exception of the signage and reimbursement 
o Pavers have started 
o Tiki is being erected  
o Received fully executed agreement from TDC 
o PW getting bid package ready to go out 

 
House/Senate Appropriations Project Funding Request ($150,000)  

• Fire/Rescue is checking out different boats.  
• Purchase of Rescue Boat with Fire Capabilities 

 
HMGP (FEMA)  ($48,984.88 award amt) 

• Raise 92nd Street Phase I – Design and Engineering 
o Received grant contract, under internal review 
o Received grant for design and engineering 
o Awaiting the grant contract 

 
RECEIVED - FDOT Beautification Grant – ($112,000)  

• Had kickoff meeting with FDOT 
• Design underway 
• Plant along the Overseas Heritage Trail along airport 
• Met with Landscape Architect to walk the project  

 
RECEIVED _ FY30 Department of Transportation – Transportation Alternatives Program – 
Funding Cycle 2030 

• Complete Coco Plum Multi-Use Trail and add Lighting ($1M) 
o Wtg on Grant Documents 

• Lighting for Existing Coco Plum Multi-Use Trail ($1M) 
o Wtg on Grant Documents 

 

Page 17 of 283



City Council May 2025 
Submitted 04/30/2025 

Grants Update 
Page 4 of 5 

 

RECEIVING - FDEP Resilient Florida (25/26) – Sombrero Blvd Drainage Improvements ($1,207685) 
• Scheduled in Statewide Plan for Year 1 
• Wtg on Grant Contract 

 
RECEIVING - FDEP Resilient Florida (25/26) – Area 6 WWTP Flood Wall ($1,749,812) 

• Scheduled in Statewide Plan for Year 2 
• Wtg on Grant Contract 

 
RECEIVING - FDEP Resilient Florida – 92nd Street Improvements ($567,500) 

• Scheduled in Statewide Plan for Year 3 
• Wtg on Grant Contract 

 
GRANT APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED - Submitted since last meeting – Updates 
Tourist Development Council FY26 Capital Improvement Projects Submitted 4/22/2025 

• Upgrades to Oceanfront Dog Park ($120,000) 
• Sombrero Beach Renourishment ($500,000) 
• Multi-Year Beach Cleaning Grant ($589,000) 
• Concession Stand/Restroom Comm Park East Side ($450,000) 
• Rebranding (repainting) at Community Park – Pavilion, Tower, Restroom Bldg, and Office Bldg 

($40,000 under two projects) 
 
Resilient Florida – multiple applications – submitted 8/30/2024 

• Raise 92nd Street ($567,500) – on the HMGP – see above 
• Marina Seawall Replacement ($1,855,000) 
• Area 6 Floodwall ($1,748,812) – see above 

 
Florida Keys Stewardship Grant  

• Deep Well project 
 
FL Recreation Development Assist Program 24/25 (FRDAP) -  two applications – submitted 9/24/2024 

• Raise Jessie Hobbs to Mitigate for flooding ($200,000) 
• Install Pickleball Courts at Oceanfront Park ($108,746) 

 
Under Evaluation - Hazard Mitigation Grant Program for Ian ($800,000) – Submitted  8/29/2023    

• RECEIVED FUNDING FOR PHASE I – DESIGN AND ENGINEERING 
• Raising 92nd Street – ($800,000) 
• Submitted additional historical data for flooding at this location 
• FDEM Engineering has approved budget 

o Next step is to send to FEMA for review (expected to be to FEMA by 12/1/24)  
• Provided State requested additional pre-award documentation and information 

 
Assistance to Firefighters – Submitted 12/13/2024 ($126,000)  

• Expected to start announcing awards in July 2025 
• 30 new radios and accessories   

 
HMGP – Watershed Planning Program – Update Stormwater Master Plan ($270k) 

• Submitted 1/31/2025 
 

Page 18 of 283



City Council May 2025 
Submitted 04/30/2025 

Grants Update 
Page 5 of 5 

 

 
 
 
 
Boating Improvement Funds – Channel Signage at 7 Mile Marina ($40k) – Submitted 3/20/25  

• Channel Markers and Buoys for 7-Mile Marina Channels 
 
GRANT APPLICATIONS IN PROCESS - New since last meeting     
Hurricane Loss Mitigation Program (HLMP) – Raise Jessie Hobbs Flooding Mitigation 

• Received application guidance and link 
• Letter of Intent Submitted 1/29/2025 

 
Tourist Development Council Capital Projects – Due April 22, 2025 

• Beach Renourishment – Sombrero Beach ($500k) 
• Beach Maintenance (3 year contract) 
• Pickleball Courts at Oceanfront (appx $300k for 4 courts) 
• Upgrades to Oceanfront Dog Area (TBD) 
• New Backboards for Community Park Basketball Courts (under $19,999) 

 
CDBG Small Cities Grant – Raise Jessie Hobbs Flooding Mitigation 

• Received information to apply – due May 2nd.  
• Requested application and information 

 
Florida Recreational Trails Program – next cycle TBA (usually 1st part of year) 

• Grassy Key Birding Boardwalk Trail Construction (when planning is complete)  
• 7 Mile Corridor  

 
FDOT Transportation Alternatives – opening TBA 

• Sidewalk and Lighting on Sombrero Blvd 
 
SAFER Grant – $TBD – Opening TBD (generally sometime in March) 

• Met with MFR to discuss data needed for grant app when it opens.  
• Currently reviewing last year’s app and updating information. 
• Additional Personnel Marathon Fire Rescue 

o Submitting costs for (9) personnel for (3) years.  
 
COMPLETED GRANTS - New since last meeting  - Updates   
 
 
GRANTS NOT RECEIVED New since last meeting  
 
CANCELLED GRANTS New since last meeting 
 

Page 19 of 283



APRIL ‘25 
BREAKDOWN

PERMITS READY FOR PAYMENT: 148 / $708,214

AVERAGE TURN  FOR MONTH: 11 days

ACTIVE PERMITS:  1242

CO’S ISSUED MONTH: 11 Residential

REPLACEMENTS: 4

BPAS: 2

AFFORDABLE/EARLY EVAC BPAS: 5

TBR HOMES: 0

REQ’S FOR PRIVATE PROVIDER: 47

PERMITS SUBMITTED THIS MONTH: 119

PERMITS ISSUED THIS MONTH: 127

REVISIONS ISSUED THIS MONTH: 2

CONTRACTOR REGISTRATIONS: 17

Page 20 of 283



Memorandum 

Date:   April 30, 2024 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
From   Scott Williamson, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
Through: George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Subject: Parks and Recreation Monthly Report 
 
 

April 2024 
 

Parks and Recreation Report 
 

PROGRAMS 
 

• Pickleball is still popular each day for open play at Community Park from 9am-1pm.  
Average of 15-20 per play on the courts 

• Fitness and Exercise class each Monday/Wednesday/Friday morning is still going 
strong at an average of anywhere from 18-30 people 

• Home School PE each Thursday at 1pm had an average of 20-25 kids attending.  Our 
last day for that was April 29th 

• After School Programs at Switlik on Tuesdays and Thursdays average around 20 kids 
per day.  Last Day was April 29th 

• Start Smart Soccer for 3-5 yr olds started and is very popular and registration filled 
up in 24 hours. 

• MYC continued to run their baseball/t-ball/softball seasons; we assisted in the 
maintenance and lining of the fields. 
 

EVENTS 

• We had a very popular Easter Egg Hunt for the community complete with Pictures 
with the Easter Bunny and popcorn.  We laid out 4000 eggs and they were all found 
in about 20 minutes.  The feedback was very good from parents 

• We had 100 first graders from Stanley Switlik come to Community to park to help 
“clean up” trash to help celebrate Earth Day. We provided them with snocones and 
popcorn. 

• We had 3 Turtle releases at Sombrero. 
• We helped the 7 Mile Bridge Run committee complete the registration process for 

over 1500 runners at Community Park. 

Page 21 of 283



REPAIRS AND IMPROVMENTS 

• Divider nets were installed on the tennis courts and touch ups were made to crack 
on the court 

• A beautification project was started at Sombrero Beach that included some new 
landscaping 

• A water leak was repaired at Rotary Park 
• A new bathroom was opened at Quay 
• A new Events Tiki was installed at Ocean Front Park 
• We did have to remove a damaged Kayak launch at Grass Key Sunset Park 

 

 

 
 

Page 22 of 283



  
 

CITY OF MARATHON FIRE RESCUE 
8900 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida 33050 

Phone: (305) 743-5266 Fax: (305) 289-9834 
 

                                   Memorandum 
 

Date:  5/2/2025 

To:  Honorable Mayor and City Council members   
 
From:  James E. Muro, Fire Chief 
 
Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Subject:   April Month End Report 

 
 

 
 

 
 

KCB BREAKOUT REPORT April 

Fire Incidents 0 

Hazardous Condition 1 

Public Service 1 

False Alarm Fire 1 

Good Intent Call 1 

EMS 10 

Total for Month: 14 

Total Calls for Calendar 2025: 55 

 
 

 

ALARM RESPONSES   April 

Fire Incidents 4 

Hazardous Condition 8 

Public Service 15 

False Alarm Fire 14 

Good Intent Call 11 

EMS 108 

Inter-facility Transfers 48 

Total for Month: 208 

Total Calls for Calendar 2025: 915 

Page 23 of 283



 

 

 
                                      

 
VACATION RENTALS              April 

Total Applications Processed 83 

Vacation Rental Inspections 105 

Total VR Fees Collected $74,650.00 

Agent/Local Contacts Trained 12 

Total VR Licenses Issued  75 

 

OPERATIONS 

• Fire Officer Training - Fire Officers worked on daily training by leading and confirming their 
shifts’ Fire and EMS Training for existing members of the team. We have created a plan using 
the Engine Companies for High Hazard planning in the Community, and we are using our 360-
dispatch platform to link these pre-plans to the dispatch notice that we get when a 911 call 
is dispatched. We had a member competed ICS 300 with the County and have 2 members 
who will be getting certified as “Fire Ground Safety Officers in June” 

  
• EMS / Fire Training - We have onboarded and completed the training for the final 6 budgeted 

positions, which brings us to full staffing. We are working with ISO “Insurance Safety Office” 
for our (10 year) for pre inspection documents, and we are working with Aqueduct Authority 
for some flow reports. This Department worked with public works to Identify another 14 
hydrant locations that will once place, will assist with Insurance rates and could lead to the 
improvement of our ISO Rating. 

  
• City Partners - We competed in the first 6 CPR classes for City employees and Staff of KCB. 

We will schedule one more for Parks and Rec before June 5th to accommodate their summer 
planning schedule. This is an ongoing commitment to prepare City employees to help when 
the call requires prior to Fire-Recue arriving. Those City employees will then be enrolled in 
RQI simulator @ Station14 to keep proficiency, allowing a quick verification process 
eliminating the need to repeat the class every 2 years. 

 
• Combined Training - Vector Solutions is our vendor who provides archives and tracks our 

online classes that our members take to ensure compliance and training. We had members 
take 88 classes and training modules and completed 106.25 in training hours. We are out for 
RFP for Pediatric Resuscitation Training and certification for our team for 2025 after June 
30th. Dr Gandia and our team are revising our 911 medical protocols which are separate 

FIRE PREVENTION              April 

Fire Inspections 5 

Fire Safety Plan Review         32 

Vacation Rental Inspections 105 

Occupational or Annual License 
Inspections 

0 

Event Inspections 0 

Annual State Inspections 0 

DHR Follow-Up Inspections 0 

Page 24 of 283



from our advanced CCT protocols allowing us to transport high acuity patients from the 
Community to the Mainland. 

  
• Community Outreach/ Recognition in April. This agency served as Incident Command for 

the 7-mile bridge run in which there were no major events but a few transports. MFR 
completed the Driver Promotional testing as of this writing and practical testing will be May 
8th at the Fire Academy; subsequently there will be Lieutenant testing on May 21 and 
assessment Center on May 28/29th. MFR and the City are again a strong supporter of 
“Leadership Monroe” and on May 2 we will be hosting the current class for Emergency 
Management Session. We also will demonstrate using extrication tools and then place them 
in proximity to a burn box at the Fire Academy. The City Manager will be hosting the 
graduation ceremony on May 3 and the Community Park. 

 
 
BENEVOLENT FIREFIGHTER SERVICES 
No meeting was held for the month of April. 
 
ACTIVITIES ATTENDED IN APRIL: 
7 Mile Bridge Run 
Switlik Truck & Career Day 
Special Olympics Soccer Game 
GIS Training  
Trauma Star Landing Zone Training  
Driver Engineer Training  
CPR Training City Hall & KCB 
Marathon Rotary Easter Egg Hunt 
Hydrant Placement Planning – Chief  
Safe Boat – Chief  
Paramedicine – Chief  
Beach Clean Up – Chief  

Page 25 of 283



 

 

 
 

Memorandum 
 

 
To:  Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
 
Through: George Garrett, City Manager 
 
From:  Sean Cannon, Ports Director 
 
Date:  May 13, 2025  
 
Re:  April Monthly Report  

 
 
 
 
 
Revenue:  City Marina saw $98,961 in total revenue for the month of April. 
 

 
 
 
 

90000

95000

100000

105000

110000

115000

TOTAL MONTHLY REVENUE

FY 2024-25

FY 2023-24

FY 2022-23

FY 2021-22

Page 26 of 283



 

 

 
 
 
 
Occupancy: April’s average daily occupancy was 88% 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
TOTAL TRANSIENT ARRIVALS: 
 
*IN-STATE VESSELS: 55 
 
*OUT-OF-STATE VESSELS: 34 
 
*FOREIGN VESSELS: 5 
 
*TOTAL VESSELS: 94 
 
 
 
 

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

98

AVERAGE DAILY OCCUPANCY

FY 2024-25

FY 2023-24

FY 2022-23

FY 2021-22

Page 27 of 283



 

 

 
News: Our security camera switch experienced a mild crash and is currently being worked 
on and repaired.  
 
Projects: Coming into off season, the staff will be focusing on marina improvements and 
summer projects such as applying non-skid floor paint to the floating docks, revamping our 
marina mural as well as improving the landscaping by buying and inserting more 
bushes/flowers. 
 

 
 
   

 

Page 28 of 283



P a g e  1 | 1   
3/3/25 

 
 

CITY OF MARATHON 
 
Memorandum 
 
 _________________________________                 _____________________________________ 
 
Meeting Date: May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor Lynn Landry and City Council Members 
  
Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 
 
From: Ted Lozier, P.E. Code Compliance Director 
 
Subject:                      Code Compliance Report  
                                     
 
       

 
 

April 2025 Activity: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
One hundred two new code complaints/possible violations were investigated, 16 new code cases 
were opened, and 32 code cases were closed. 
 
Five cases were heard at the April Code Compliance Hearing; 1 case was withdrawn by a stipulated 
settlement; 1 case was granted a continuance, and the remaining 3 were found in violation.  The next 
code hearing is scheduled for Thursday, May 15, 2025 at 2:00 P.M. at Marathon City Hall Council 
Chambers, 9805 Overseas Highway, Marathon, FL.  Nine cases are scheduled for the hearing.    
 
Code Responses & Permit Reviews: 683 and 138  
In April, staff responded to 683 code follow-up actions and inquiries received by telephone, email, 
online, or in-person.  Staff also conducted 138 permit reviews.   

Complaint Investigations 102 
New Code Cases 16 
Code Cases Closed 32 
April Hearing – cases  5 
May Hearing - cases 9 
Trash Service Violations 7 
Trash Violation/Other Citations - 
Stop Work Orders Posted 5 
Vacation Rental Violations 15 

Page 29 of 283



1 
 

 

Utility Department Monthly Update 

 

MEETING DATE:  May 13, 2025 

TO:    Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

FROM:   Daniel Saus, Utility Director  

THROUGH: George Garrett, City Manager 

SUBJECT: February 2025 Utility Department Update 

           

 

 

A. Wastewater Treatment Plants 
 

1. General Issues 
 

a. Flows were normal for this time of year. 
 

b. The Chemical feed project and the electrical upgrades projects are both ongoing, 
but both are nearly completed.  Closeout is expected in May. 

 
 

2. Odor Complaints / Mitigation 
 

a. We received no odor complaints for the treatment plants in February.   
 

3. Effluent Quality Report/Plant Performance 
 
The February wastewater facility’s performance chart is shown below. The plant 
permits now require AWT compliance and the operations staff is doing an amazing 
job as reflected in our effluent quality as shown below.  (Effluent results are always a 
month behind due to sampling, shipping, & lab reporting) 

 

 

 

 

Page 30 of 283



2 
 

 

City of Marathon WWTP’s Plant 
Performance Data for: 

                                   February 2025 

 

 
 

    

 

 

 
    

 Parameters: CBOD mg/L TSS mg/L TN mg/L TP mg/L 

WWTP 

 

Permit 
(MGD) 

MADF 
(MGD) 

Monthly 
Average 
(6.25) 

Annual 
Average 

(5.0) 

Monthly 
Average 
(6.25) 

Annual 
Average 

(5.0) 

Monthly 
Average 
(3.75) 

Annual 
Average 

(3.0) 

Monthly 
Average 
(1.25) 

Annual 
Average 

(1.0) 

AREA 3 0.250 0.114 <2.0 2.2 <2.0 <2.0 0.66 0.43 0.55 0.43 

AREA 4 0.400 0.397 <2.0 <2.0 <2.0 <2.0     0.74   0.92 0.14 0.31 

AREA 5 0.450 0.356 <2.0 <2.0    <2.0 <2.0    0.88 2.0 0.42 0.47 

AREA 6 0.200  0.129 <2.0 3.7 <2.0 <2.0 0.73 2.78 0.12 0.62 

AREA 7 0.200 0.051 <2.0 2.0  <2.0   <2.0 0.96 1.08 0.68 0.33 

 

 

 

 

B. Collection System 
 

1. The month of February had normal tides and flows were average. 
 
 

2. Vacuum Station Salinities for December: 
 

a. Vacuum station salinities at the plants were as follows (in parts per thousand): 
SA3 : 1.21; SA4 : 1.91; SA5 : 2.33; SA6 : 0.95 and SA7 : 0.76. These values 
show a minimal level of infiltration.   
 
 

3. Wastewater System Connections 
 

a. The City’s wastewater system parcel connection rate is currently standing at 
approximately 100%. (Only customers that are in code or do not have a certificate 
of occupancy are not connected) 

Page 31 of 283



3 
 

 
4. Code Compliance 

 
a. There are still currently only 2 open code cases in process for failure to connect to 

the City’s central wastewater system, code violations, or expired permits.  
 

5. Callouts 
a. From February 1st through February 28th there were 25 documented Call outs 

for the entire Collections System. Of these, 6 were automatically generated by 
our control system, typically a low vacuum detected at one of our Vacuum 
Stations. These 19 call outs did not result in any damage to our customers.   
These are shown in the table below. 
 

 
 

 
6. Odor Complaints / Mitigation 

We received no odor complaints in February about the collection system.  

Address Description of Incident
10875 Overseas Highway,    Customer complaint
4278 Gulfview Avenue, M    Customer complained
8501 Overseas Highway, M    Low vacuum at buffer tank  water in controller
725 West 105th Street Oce     Bad controller
713 East 105th Street Oce     Water in valve and controller surge suppressor dirty no hubs bad
376 96th Saint Ocean, Ma    Back up
777 East 63rd Street Ocea     Low vac
744 50th Saint Gulf, Marat    Area #4 Call for low vacuum
1258 Ocean View Avenue     Low vac
255 Ocean Street, Marath    Low vacuum bad controller
1575 52nd Street, Maratho    Customer complaint
96 Avenue C, Marathon, F   Bad valve
853 74th Street Ocean, Ma    Remote call for low vacuum
504 74th Street Ocean, Ma    Remote call for low vacuum
349A 27th Street Ocean, M    Area #3 call for low vacuum
1117 28th Street Ocean, M    Vacuum pit backed up
9 Man-O-War Drive, Mara    Customer call
1144 Bulevar De Palmas, M    Customer call backing up Out of their house
1155 Bulevar De Palmas, M    Customer call
1161 Camino Del Vientos,    Customer call
1156 Camino Del Vientos,    Customers complaint
7636 Gulfstream Bouleva     Debris in the valve, Bad no hubs
11756 3rd Avenue Ocean,    Bad controller replaced
11401 1st Avenue Gulf, M    Low vacuum
619 Sombrero Beach Road     area4 low vacuum

Page 32 of 283



4 
 

 

C.  Plant Upgrades & Construction Projects (No changes this month) 
 

1. Due to the permitting issues for the Area 3 WWTP Upgrade project taking almost 5 
years and with COVID delays and inflation, the project costs for this project have 
increased significantly.  I’ve requested finance to investigate if we can transfer the 
ACOE grant money from the Area 6 Sludge Processing Facility project to this project. 
The Area 6 project is on the back burner until more funding is received.   

 

2. A CDBG-DR Grant has been received for electrical upgrades, vacuum monitoring 
system, and flood wall at Area 6 plant. The flood wall is on hold for now due to the 
costs.  The electrical upgrades bids were received, and an award was approved at the 
last council meeting.  

 

3. The design for the Area 3 WWTP expansion is nearly completed and permitting through 
FDEP is underway at this time.  We advertised the notification of “Intent to Issue” for 
the WWTP operating permits for Service Areas 3, 4, & 6 and remitted the proof to 
FDEP.  The holds on our permits have been removed but are still in negotiations with 
FDEP on our permits for Areas 3, 4, & 6. Status unchanged. 

 

D. Grants Update Summary (No changes this month) 
 

1. Due to the permitting issues for the Area 3 WWTP Upgrade project taking almost 5 
years and with COVID delays and inflation, the project costs for this project have 
increased significantly.  I’ve requested finance to investigate if we can transfer the 
ACOE grant money from the Area 6 Sludge Processing Facility project to this 
project. The Area 6 project would then be put on the back burner until more funding 
is received. 

Page 33 of 283



1?? 
Revised � DATE \@ "M/d/yyyy" �5/5/2025 

 
CITY OF MARATHON 

PUBLIC WORKS  
 

9805 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida 33050 
Phone: (305) 289-4109 Fax: (305) 289-4131  

 
MEMORANDUM 

DATE:              June 13, 2025 
 

TO:                   Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 
 
FROM:              Carlos A. Solis, P.E. Director of Public Works & Engineering 
 
THROUGH:       George Garrett, City Manager  
 
SUBJECT:          Public Works Update   
The following is an update of the status of Public Works projects and related issues: 

 
Capital Infrastructure Projects 

 
 

 
• Marina & Station 14 Generators: All work for the generators for the Marina and 

Fire Station is complete.  
 
 

•  117th Street, 116th Street & 112th Street Bridge Replacement: FDOT has 
informed us that they will be funding the additional cost for the replacement of the 
substructure for 117th Street, and recently informed us that they will also fund the 
additional work for 112th St and 116th St.  Our total construction funding for these 
project is revised from $2,156,018 to $5,363,644. The City will cover the cost for the 
required CEI services.  
Our consultant is back on tract and we are expected to submit 60% plans for the 
117th St Bridge to FDOT on May 13th, and 30% plans for 112th & 116th on May 15. 
 

• Quay Restroom: The restroom at the Quay is complete, and the facility is open to 
the public. 
 

• Oceanfront Park Tiki: The tiki structure and all miscellaneous work are completed 
and operational.  

 
• Quay Property Re-Development: We have the final plans for the site work, site 

electric and lighting, and pavilions, and the project will be let out to bid this month. 
The permits to the ACOE and FDEP for the new boat ramp and restoration of the 
seawall and shoreline are currently being reviewed by the agencies. 
 

Page 34 of 283



2?? 
Revised � DATE \@ "M/d/yyyy" �5/5/2025 

• Sombrero Beach Information/Security: The project is currently out to bid. This 
project is funded by the TDC, and we plan to have a resolution for acceptance of a 
contractor at the June meeting and will have the project under contract before July 
2025, to ensure our funding is not jeopardized. 
 

•  City Hall Modification: The contract is executed, and a pre-construction meeting is 
scheduled for this week. Upon issuance of the building permit, the Notice to 
Proceed will be issued. The project has 130 days for final completion. 

 
• Seven Mile Marina Docks: The permit from the FDEP is issued, and we are 

awaiting the permit from the ACOE. The project is currently out to bid, and we 
anticipate bringing the to resolution to award to Council for the June meeting and 
having the project under contract by July 1, 2025. This project has $505,000 
funding from the TDC. 

 
• Marina Bump-Out Demo and Wall Construction: We have contracted with Keys 

Construction company to remove the office bump-out and replace the area with a 
flush wall. The bump-out was an addition to the building several years ago and 
began to separate from the wall. It will be replaced with a wall section with a 
window for service to the customers. The project should be completed in the next 
two weeks. 

 
• Community Park Soccer Field Re-Sodding: The bid for the re-sodding of the 

soccer field has been let, and we anticipate bringing a resolution to Council for 
approval at the June meeting. We anticipate completion by July 31th, and will keep 
the field closed for another three weeks to allow the new turf to establish itself. We 
are working with the Park & Rec department to establish operational rule to help 
preserve and better manage the maintenance of the fields. This includes rotation of 
the goals to minimize excessive use in the same location, thereby allowing the turf 
to heal. We may also close the field to the public in-between seasons to again let the 
turf rejuvenate. 

 
• 92nd Street : We have received the grant for the design phase for the raising and 

other stormwater improvements for 92nd Street and are meeting with our consultant 
to lay out the project parameters. We expect to bring a resolution for this contract at 
the June meeting. 

 
• Community Park Skate Park: We have a resolution on the agenda for this meeting 

to approve a “Piggy-Back” contract with Platform Group for the re-development of 
the skate park. The contract includes modification to the park parking area. We are 
also in discussions with FDOT to modify the park access to better align with the 
new parking layout. A contingency is added to this contract for the required work 
associated with this modification. The re-development effort is assisted by the 
Florida Keys Community Center, headed by Matt Sexton, which will provide both 
financial assistance as well as project management and assistance with amenities.  

 

Page 35 of 283



3?? 
Revised � DATE \@ "M/d/yyyy" �5/5/2025 

• Community Park Splash Pad: We have begun the preparation of plans and 
coordination for the installation of the new splash pad at Community Park. The pad 
will be constructed adjacent to the new Skate Park, and the work associated with the 
skate park will prepare the pad area for this project. The City is also performing the 
initial work for a restroom with minor concession area to service both the skate park 
and splash pad area. 

 
     Upcoming Projects:   
 

 
• Seven Mile Marina: We recently had a meeting with our AE firm to go over 

corrections needed on the plans. We expect to have this project out to bid this 
month, and under construction by early fall. 

 
• Sombrero Beach Road Bike Path Improvements: Staff will begin the selection 

process for a consultant to prepare plans for the stormwater and bike path 
improvements at the curve on Sombrero Beach Road. The plan will raise the bike 
path and add an injection well for discharge of area runoff. 

 
• Oceanfront Pickleball Courts: The Engineering Department has completed the 

plans for the new Pickleball Courts at Oceanfront Park.  The project is expected to 
go out to bid this month, and construction to start late July early August. 

 
• Community Park Maintenance Building: Staff is preparing the site plan and bid 

package for the installation of a metal maintenance building at Community Park to 
house all the required facility maintenance equipment. The building will be located 
in the open area next to the tennis court and restroom. 

 
• Community Park Projects: Staff is working on several projects for improvements 

to Community Park. The Bocci Ball courts will be re-installed at a location TBD. 
Work on the new batting cage has been completed. The resurfacing of the Tennis 
and Basketball courts is nearly complete, pending some punch list items that need 
to be corrected. 

 
 
• Oceanfront Park Exercise Station: City staff will begin the installation of the 

exercise equipment at Oceanfront Park by the end of May and will take about two 
weeks to complete. 

 
 
• Master Drainage Plan: We are coordinating with one of our consultants for the 

update of the City’s Master Drainage Plan, which was initially prepared when the 
City incorporated. We are pursuing a grant application to cover the cost of the plan 
update. 

 
 

Page 36 of 283



4?? 
Revised � DATE \@ "M/d/yyyy" �5/5/2025 

 
General Public Works Issues and updates: 

 
 

 
• Building Plan Review: The Public Works & Engineering department has processed  

84 permits reviews, and  56 inspections for projects requiring engineering review 
and inspections in the month of April.  
 

• US 1 – FDOT Maintenance Agreement: We have a resolution on this agenda for a 
maintenance agreement with FDOT to take over all landscape maintenance on US 1 
from the Seven Mile Bridge to the Toms Harbor bridge, excluding the overseas trail 
and other areas maintained by FDEP. We anticipate beginning this work on July 1. 
We are in the process of interviews for the additional staff required, and anticipate 
being ready for the task by July 1st. 

 
• Boat Ramp and Beach Parking: The revenue collected from parking and user fees 

are as follows. 
 

  April Gross Income:   $125,498.15 
  April 
  2025 Gross Income YTD:  $480,254.40 
 

• Radar Speed Sign: We have delivery of the portable radar sign and be placing it 
at locations throughout town, in particular the collector roads, The trailer mounted 
sign collects and stores data, not on particular vehicles, but provides information 
on the degree of speeders in the area placed. We will use this information to 
establish the best location for the permanent signs. We now have a total 10 post 
mounted sign that we will install in locations as determined by the information 
collected. 
 

• Baseball Field Batting Cage: Public Works staff has completed the new batting 
cage adjacent to the south field at Community Park: 

 
• Parks/Beach Beautification: Staff has completed the installation of new 

landscape and flowers at Community Park and Sombrero Beach.  
 

• Right of Way Planting: Landscaping has been installed in the swale along the 
curve on Sombrero Beach road as you approach the beach. We have also added 
new landscaping along the Aviation Blvd. trail area to provide some color and 
aesthetics to the area. 

 
• Invasives Removal: Public Works staff participated in the removal of invasive 

species between the highway and the water along US 1 between Seven Mile 
Marina and the Seven Mile Bridge. 

  

Page 37 of 283



5?? 
Revised � DATE \@ "M/d/yyyy" �5/5/2025 

  
• . Restroom Upgrades: The male restroom in the lobby area at City Hall has been 

repaired with new epoxy mimicking the terrazzo floor initially installed. An area of 
the floor had “bubbled up” creating a tripping hazard. We have also epoxied the 
floors at the restroom at Sombrero Beach. The concrete floors were stained and had 
a constant dirty appearance, even when clean. The new floor repairs provide a 
brighter clean look to the restrooms.  
 

Page 38 of 283



1 
 

 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 

  
Meeting Date: May 13, 2025 
 
From:   Brian Shea, Planning Director 
 
Through: George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-37, Consideration Of A Request By Marathon LLC For 
An Amendment To A Conditional Use Permit, Pursuant To Chapter 102, Article 13 Of The City 
Of Marathon Land Development Regulations (“The Code”) Entitled “Conditional Use Permits”, 
Authorizing The Development Of A Climate Controlled Storage Facility and Twenty-four (24) 
Single Family Residential Units Consisting Of Five (5) Parcels Located At 765 107th Street Ocean; 
Which Is Legally Described As Township 66 Range 33 Key Vaccas Part Government Lot 1 and 
Part Government Lot 2 Part Parcel 3 And Adjacent Bay Bottom South Of And Adjacent Part 
Government Lot 1 and Lots 1, 2, 3, & 4 Of Seaglass Flats A Plat Of Lands Located In A Part Of 
Government Lot 1 Section 6 Township 66S Range 33E On Key Vaca City Of Marathon As 
Recorded In Plat Book and Page 7-97, Monroe County, Florida, Having Real Estate Numbers 
00104260-000000, 00104251-000100, 00104251-000200, 00104251-000300 and 00104251-
000400. Nearest Mile Marker 53. 

 
    
APPLICANT/ OWNER:  Marathon LLC 
  
AGENT:    Jim Saunders 
 
LOCATION:   The project site consists of five parcels located at 765 107th Street 
Ocean and Lots 1-4 107th Street Ocean at nearest mile marker 53. See Figure 1. 
 
REQUEST: An amendment to a Conditional Use Permit for the redevelopment of the subject 
property having the real estate numbers 00104260-000000, 00104251-000100, 00104251-000200, 
00104251-000300 and 00104251-000400.  

 
LOT SIZE: Total acreage 5.97 acres or 259,875 square feet  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39 of 283



2 
 

SURROUNDING ZONING AND USES: 
 

 UZoning UUse 
North Mixed Use (MU) JJ’s Dog House, Specialty Hardware 

and Vacant Land 
West Residential Mobile Home (R-MH) and 

Mixed Use (MU) 
Residential Housing and State-owned 

vacant land 
East Mixed Use (MU) and Residential High 

(RH) 
Muffler Man, Storage Building and 

Residential Houses 
South N/A Open Water 

 
 
EXISTING CONDITIONS: 
 
The project site consists of vacant land as previous residential units have been demolished. It has 
been determined that thirteen (13) Market Rate Building Rights currently exist on the combined 
parcels. The existing FLUM is Mixed Use Commercial (MU-C), and the zoning is Mixed Use 
(MU). See Figures 2 and 3. 

 
Figure 1 

Project Site 
 

 
 

Page 40 of 283



3 
 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: 

Mixed Use Commercial (MU-C). See Figure 2. 
 

Figure 2 
Future Land Use Map 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41 of 283



4 
 

ZONING MAP DESIGNATION: 

Mixed Use (MU). See Figure 3. 
 

Figure 3 
Zoning Map 

 

 
 

PROPOSED REDEVELOPMENT: 
 
Market Rate Units:  24 six-bedroom units          
 
Commercial:  10,000 square feet climate-controlled storage facility  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The project was a redevelopment of the property to include the construction of new residential 
uses and commercial uses in the Mixed-Use zoning classification. This report addresses the 
proposed amendment to the current conditional use. 
 
On August 8, 2023, the City Council passed Resolution 2023-66 approving the original conditional 
use application. Previous approvals included 16 single family residential units and a climate-
controlled storage facility; this is being amended.  
 

Page 42 of 283



5 
 

The Applicant requests an amendment to include the acquisition of the Sea Glass Flats property 
changing the use to develop twenty-four (24) single family homes. 
 
The existing single-family homes have been demolished. With the combined five parcels it has 
been determined that thirteen (13) market rate building rights exist. The project will be completed 
in phases.  
 
 
EVALUATION FOR COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAND DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS: 
The criteria for evaluating Conditional Use Approval are outlined in Chapter 102, Article 13, 
Conditional Use Permits, in the City of Marathon Land Development Regulations. 
 
CRITERIA 
A. The proposed use is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and LDRs; 
 
The proposed development project is located within the Mixed Use (MU) Zoning District. Per 
Chapter 103, Article 2, Section 103.09 of the Land Development Regulations, the district is 
designed to “accommodate a wide variety of commercial and retail activities that will result in the 
most efficient and attractive use of the City’s historic business district and the US1 Corridor, in an 
effort to recognize the role of US1 as the City of Marathon’s ‘Main Street.’  The MU district also 
provides for large-scale retail and commercial business opportunities in other areas, including 
larger shopping center, specialty shopping centers, individual multi-tenant commercial buildings, 
automotive services and sales, fast food restaurants, affordable housing uses, transient lodging and 
other retail establishments that serve the community at large.” 
 
The proposed project is for a climate-controlled storage facility and single-family residential units, 
an allowed use pursuant to Table 103.15.1 of the LDRs, supported by elements of the 
Comprehensive Plan. Relevant Policies concerning this project follow: 
 
City of Marathon Comprehensive Plan 
 
a. “Policy 1-1.1.2  Adopt Compatibility for Residential and Non-Residential Review 

Criteria,” 
b.  “Policy 1-1.1.3 Protect Residential Neighborhood Character,” and 
c. “Policy 1-1.1.4  Transition between Land Uses  
 
The project is surrounded by commercial development to the north and east with the exception of 
partially the property to the east which is residential and commercial and the property to the west 
which is residential.  
 
d. Policy 1-3.1.4 Future Land Use Categories 
The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designates the parcels as Mixed-Use Commercial. Within this 
designation various commercial uses are permitted in addition to commercial, transient, and 
permanent residential uses as well as marinas and storage facilities. The project is consistent with 
the intent of this district and neither a zoning nor FLUM change is necessary for this project. 

Page 43 of 283



6 
 

 
e. Policy 1-3.2.5 Maximum Height 
The maximum height of any new structure associated with the redevelopment of the property shall 
not exceed 42 feet, except as provided by the City Code, as amended. The conceptual elevation 
plans submitted demonstrate compliance with this requirement.  
 
f. Policy 1-3.2.7 Restrict Density and Intensity of Development 
The proposed density is consistent with the thresholds outlined in Table 1-1 of the Comprehensive 
Plan. Based on the upland area of 5.97 acres, the proposed residential units and storage facility 
utilize 61% of the density/intensity allowed for this site. The density for each of the proposed uses 
has been calculated independently.  
 
g. Policy 1-3.3.1 b., e., and f. General Redevelopment Criteria 
The proposed new business promotes the revitalization of the city’s commercial area, with existing 
commercial to the north and east. The US 1 corridor will be enhanced with the proposed 
landscaping.  
 
h.  Policy 1-3.4.2 Protect Established Densities & Policy 1-3.4.3 Replacement of Existing 
Densities and Intensities 
The redevelopment plan includes using thirteen existing transient building rights. The remaining 
will need to be obtained. The commercial floor area will be requested from the City’s available 
pool.  
 
City of Marathon Land Development Regulations 
 
• Section 103.09 – Mixed Use (MU) 
The MU District is intended to accommodate a wide range of commercial and residential uses and 
activities including the proposed climate-controlled storage facility.  
 
• Table 103.15.1 Uses By Zoning District – Mixed Use (MU) 
This redevelopment is consistent with Table 103.15.1, uses by Zoning District, via a Conditional 
Use Permit Application, as contained herein. 
 
Table 103.15.2 in the Land Development Regulations establishes constraints on density and 
intensity allowed in the MU district based on the types of uses proposed. Table 103.15.3 further 
qualifies the allowed range of intensities based on the use. The FAR for mixed-use developments 
may be increased to .75 if mitigated by the development of affordable/workforce housing is 
provided. As such, the following table reflects the proposed project density and intensity (shown 
as floor area (FA)) against the maximum intensity and floor area allowed under the constraints 
imposed on the development. The table also reflects the need for additional floor area that the 
applicant will have to acquire through the commercial building permit allocation system (CBPAS). 

 

 

Page 44 of 283



7 
 

Marathon LLC 
Total 259,875 sq ft 

Market Rate (24) 174,240 
Storage Facility 10,000 
FAR (See Table 103.15.3) 0.30 
Maximum allowed Square Footage 25,690.5 sq ft 
Total Proposed 10,000 sq ft 

 

The project as proposed meets the basic definition of development in the MU zoning district and 
will not exceed any density constraints imposed on the type proposed.  

Therefore, with conditions, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 

 
• Section 107.47 Parking 
Parking for the site and the project is met with the proposed required ninety-nine parking spaces. 
The development provides eight exterior standard parking spaces for the storage facility, one 
exterior handicap space, five trailer spaces and one hundred seventy parking spaces located at 
residential units for a total of one hundred eighty-four spaces.  
 
• Section 107.40 Maximum Height 
The project sites are below the forty-two (42) foot height limitation of the City’s LDRs. 
 
• Sections 107.63 – 107.72 Landscaping 
The landscape plan includes a list of native trees to provide shade and temperature reduction along 
the internal roadway. The parcel to the west is zoned Residential Mobile-Home, parcel to the east 
is zoned Residential High and a 15’ wide buffer is required. Along US 1 corridor to the north the 
landscape planting will consist of a variety of native plant material varying in size and height to 
screen the storage building. A mix of canopy, understory and shrubs will be installed throughout 
the property.  
 
• Sections 107.73 – 107.81 Open Space 
The project site meets the minimum open space requirements of twenty (20) percent and therefore 
meets the minimum requirements of the LDRs. 
 
• Sections 107.82 – 107.85 Fences and Screening 
The project meets City screening and landscaping requirements. 
 
• Sections 107.87 – 107.97 Stormwater Management 
The existing Stormwater Management Plan associated with this site demonstrates compliance with 
the requirements of the LDRs.  
 
 
 

Page 45 of 283



8 
 

• Sections 107.98 – 107.102.5 Floodplain Management 
The site building will be located above FEMA minimum flood elevations. The commercial 
building will be flood-proofed as required. Therefore, the project is compliant with this 
requirement of the LDRs. 
 
The project as proposed meets the basic definition of development in the MU zoning district. 
Therefore, with conditions, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 
 
B. The proposed use is compatible with the existing land use pattern and future uses  

designated by the Comprehensive Plan; 
 

The proposed project site is surrounded by other compatible commercial uses to the north and east 
as well as residential homes to the west.  
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 

C. The proposed use shall not adversely affect the health, safety, and welfare of the 
public; 

 
The proposed conditional use will enhance the community by providing additional indoor climate-
controlled storage as well as new single-family homes. The project will not cause any negative 
impacts to the City’s health, safety, and welfare. 
 
The existing structures will be demolished and new units to be built above FEMA’s minimum 
flood elevations (VE10, AE9, AE8 and AE7) as shown in Figure 4 and is therefore compliant. The 
commercial building will be flood proofed to meet requirements.  
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46 of 283



9 
 

 
Figure 4 

Flood Zones 
 

 

D. The proposed conditional use minimizes environmental impacts, including but not 
limited to water, air, stormwater management, wildlife, vegetation, wetlands, and the 
natural functioning of the environment: 

 
There will be no negative impacts on habitat, environment, or water quality parameters. The 
proposed stormwater management system shall retain water generated from rain events on site 
thereby improving the quality of the near shore waters by treating and maintaining the stormwater 
on site. The shoreline is developed. A map of the area indicates that surrounding properties lie 
within the FEMA-FWS Species Focus Area for the Eastern Indigo Snake. However, this has 
absolutely no impact on the project before the Planning Commission and City Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47 of 283



10 
 

 
Figure 5 

FEMA – FWS Species Focus Area Maps 
 

 
 

All vegetation on site is a mix of non-invasive exotic plantings. Several native palms and trees will 
be replanted or preserved per the Conceptual Landscape Plan that was submitted. Buffers will be 
installed as well as streetscape treatment along US 1 as a mixture of shrubs and canopy trees. 
Native vegetation must be mitigated per Section 106.10. 

Project design requires containing all storm water on the property as required by Code.  

 
Therefore, with conditions, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 
 

• The project exceeds 1 acre of development, and as such an FDEP general permit for 
NPEDS will be required.  

• Per the LDC, the stormwater criteria require retention of the runoff from a 25yr-72hr storm 
event. However, in lieu of these criteria, the minimum requirements will be the retention 
of 1 ½” of runoff for all residential lots and then runoff from 4 ½ inch rainfall event for the 
roads and commercial lot. 

• All runoff from the site shall be routed to the proposed retention swales. A detailed grading 
plan shall be required for review of construction plans.  

• Any native vegetation removed must be mitigated per Section 106.10. 

Page 48 of 283



11 
 

 
E. Satisfactory provisions and arrangements have been made concerning the following 
matters, where applicable: 
 
1. Ingress and egress to the property and proposed structures thereon with particular 
reference to automotive, bicycle, and pedestrian safety and convenience, traffic flow and 
control and access in cases of fire or catastrophe. 
 
A traffic study was required for the project. Parking will be provided for staff and clients of the 
storage facility.  
 

 
 
The traffic will increase from previous use with the new redevelopment of the property. The project 
is not expected to adversely impact the operational characteristics of US1, nor will it inhibit the 
safe flow of traffic traveling through Marathon. The maneuverability on the site includes an 
interior road located between 106th and 107th Street connecting the streets so traffic may enter or 
exit either street to access the storage facility and residential units.  
 
Provisions have been made as part of the redevelopment to address fire access. The proposed 
entrance from US1 to the site has been designed to accommodate fire and emergency vehicular 
access.  
 
Bicycle racks have been provided on site. With the change of use for this project an FDOT access 
permit will be required.  
 
Previous conditional use had gravel for roadways which would increase open space.  
 
Section 107.43 requires site triangles where the access drive intersects with the street.  
 
 
Therefore, with the conditions above, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these 
sections. 
 
 
2. Off-street parking and loading areas where required, with particular attention to 
item 1 above; 

Page 49 of 283



12 
 

 
Parking requirements are outlined in Section 107.47 (Mixed-Use Development Parking 
Requirements). The project provides adequate parking spaces as required.  
 

Use Code Citation Requirement Spaces Required 

Mixed Use 
Development 

(Storage Facility) 

107.47 1 per employee 
plus 2 visitors 

 

3 

Mixed Use 
Development 
(Residential Units) 

107.47 4 spaces per six-
bedroom unit 

 

96 

Total Required   99 

Total Provided   184 

 
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 
 
3. The noise, glare, or odor effects of the conditional use on surrounding properties; 
 
The proposed use has no known impact on the health, safety, and welfare of the public. No 
detrimental noise or glare is expected to be generated by the proposed use. Appropriate screening 
and buffering measures will be required per code and site plan.  
 
Therefore, with the conditions above, the request is in compliance with the requirements of this 
section. 
 
4. Refuse and service areas, with particular reference to locations, screening, and Items 
1 and 2 above; 
 
Section 107.39 requires that all dumpsters be fully enclosed and screened. The site plan indicates 
that all dumpsters are (hidden) screened. 
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of this section. 

 
5. Utilities, with reference to location and availability; 
 
Chapter 107, Article 13, establishes the City’s Concurrency Management and certification 
requirements. This Conditional Use constitutes the City’s Concurrency Level of Service 
Certificate, as follows. The project will utilize existing space and will have no additional burden 
on City utilities or public services. 

Page 50 of 283



13 
 

• Wastewater:  Site is already connected to sewer. Sewer and other utilities will be provided 
to 799 106th Street with no loss of service.  

• Water: The Florida Keys Aqueduct Authority will provide potable water for the facility. 
• Solid Waste: Marathon Garbage Service will provide solid waste disposal. 
• Surface Water: The applicant has provided stormwater design information suitable for the 

Conditional Use application review which demonstrates compliance with City standards. 
However, a final stormwater plan will be required for building permit issuance. 

• Recreation and Open Space: This redevelopment will have a de minimis impact on 
recreation and open space. 

• Roadways: The applicant is redeveloping the site with a higher intensity than was contained 
within the prior development; therefore, a traffic study is being required to analyze the 
impact on transportation facilities. Furthermore, final site layout and traffic flow will be 
dependent on FDOT, City of Marathon Public Works, and City Fire Marshal analysis. 

• Educational Facilities: This redevelopment will have a de minimis impact on educational 
facilities since existing uses are being replaced in kind. 

 
The Applicant has provided letters of coordination with all necessary utilities with the general 
determination that all required services may be provided and are adequate for the development of 
the new use at the project site. 
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 
 
6. Screening and buffering with reference to type, dimensions, and character; 
 
A landscape plan has been submitted for this application. The plan addresses the required buffers, 
parking lot and US 1 corridor for plantings.  
 
Therefore, with conditions, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 
 
7. Signs, if any, and proposed exterior lighting with reference to glare, traffic safety and 
compatibility with surrounding uses; 
 
A review of sign requirements at this stage in development approval is not necessary; however, 
signs for the project will be reviewed prior to issuance of a building permit according to Chapter 
107, Article 7, Signs.  
 
 Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 

• All signs will be reviewed and approved for compliance with the City of Marathon LDR’s. 
 
8. Required yards and other open space; 
 
Section 106.16 established required open space for the project. The parcel is undeveloped; 
therefore, a twenty percent open space requirement applies and the site complies with this 
minimum requirement. 
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 

Page 51 of 283



14 
 

 
9. General compatibility with surrounding properties; and 
 
The proposed development is a Mixed-Use commercial development. The scale and layout of the 
proposed building are consistent with the City Code.  
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 
 
10. Any special requirements set forth in the LDRs for the particular use involved. 
 
Section 104.48 Residential Dwelling Units contains special requirements.  

The following criteria are applicable to this redevelopment: 

• The private yard area for rooftop balcony dwelling is provided by the roof or balconies of 
the structure.  

• The total area of the mixed-use or commercial apartments, including patios and access way 
shall not exceed the area covered by the ground floor and any covered walks or arcades.  

• Each unit shall have access to a balcony or patio that is separate from the access to the unit, 
provides adequate privacy and the size shall be two-tenths (2/10) of unit floor area or a 
minimum of 60 square feet in size.  

• The patio area may be wholly or partially replaced by the provision of a recreation yard 
provided on site. Recreational yards shall be a minimum one-tenth (1/10) of unit floor area.  

Section 104.53 Storage Facility, Self-Service 

Self-service storage facilities may be allowed pursuant to Table 103.15.1, subject to the 
following standards:  

• A. Individual storage areas shall not exceed 400 square feet each.  

• B. Storage of boats, recreational vehicles and similar equipment may be allowed, 
subject to the following standards:  

1. Storage shall occur only within a designated area, approved as part of the 
site plan.  

2. Storage areas shall not exceed 50 percent of the lot area of the site.  
3. Boats shall be stored on trailers with wheels.  
4. Storage areas shall be completely screened from public rights-of-way or 

adjacent residential zoning districts, utilizing either the buildings associated with the 
storage facility or by an opaque masonry wall, or equivalent approved by the Director, a 
minimum of six (6) feet in height.  

The proposed development meets all applicable criteria set forth in this section. 

A unity of title for the parcels will be required.  
 
Therefore, the request is in compliance with the requirements of these sections. 

Page 52 of 283



15 
 

 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The Conditional Use Approval process is intended to allow for the integration of certain land uses 
and structures within the City of Marathon based on conditions imposed by the Council. Review 
is based primarily on compatibility of the use with its proposed location and with surrounding land 
uses. Conditional uses shall not be allowed where the conditional use would create a nuisance, 
traffic congestion, a threat to the public health, safety, or welfare of the community. 
 
The proposed development is consistent with the existing land use patterns and is expected not to 
produce any nuisances, traffic congestion, or threat to public health, safety, or welfare. As such 
the development, including the overall upgrading and improvement of the site, furthers the policies 
for development in the City and is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 
Regulations. The project is compatible with surrounding uses, and is not expected to create a 
nuisance, traffic congestion or threat to public, health, safety, or welfare. 
 
All conditions of the Conditional Use approval will have to be met before any building permit can 
be approved. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Planning staff recommended the approval of the proposed amended conditional use with 
conditions of approval listed below. Planning Commission recommends approval (2-1). 
 
Conditions of Approval 
 

1. All signs will be reviewed and approved for compliance with the City of Marathon LDR’s. 
2. Additional landscape canopy and buffering be placed per site plan. 
3. A sewer flow estimate from an engineer will be required to reassess any additional impact.  
4. The project exceeds 1 acre of development, and as such an FDEP general permit for 

NPEDS will be required.  
5. Per the LDR, the stormwater criteria require retention of the runoff from a 25yr-72hr storm 

event. However, in lieu of these criteria, the minimum requirements will be the retention 
of 1 ½” of runoff for all residential lots and then runoff from 4 ½ inch rainfall event for the 
roads and commercial lot. 

6. All runoff from the site shall be routed to the proposed retention swales. A detailed grading 
plan shall be required for review of construction plans.  

7. Any native vegetation removed must be mitigated per Section 106.10. 
8. Since the project is changing use, an FDOT access permit is required.  
9. A written agreement or letter must be supplied to the City stating that sewer and other 

utilities will be provided to 799 106th Street with no loss of service.  
10. All conditions of the Fire Marshal must be met prior to permit issuance. 
11. All required parking spaces must be shown on the final site plan prior to permit issuance. 
12. A final lighting plan must be submitted prior to permit issuance. 
13. A final landscape plan must be submitted prior to permit issuance. 
14. Dumpsters are to be screened per code. 

Page 53 of 283



16 
 

15. A unity of title is required for the properties. 
16. Staff require that upon planning review, if the redevelopment is found to have any effect 

on the Eastern Indigo Snake Habitat, then the prescribed protection measures must be 
undertaken, and the information posted on site. 

17. The private yard area for rooftop balcony dwelling is provided by the roof or balconies of 
the structure.  

18. The total area of the mixed-use or commercial apartments, including patios and access way 
shall not exceed the area covered by the ground floor and any covered walks or arcades.  

19. Each unit shall have access to a balcony or patio that is separate from the access to the unit, 
provides adequate privacy and the size shall be two-tenths (2/10) of unit floor area or a 
minimum of 60 square feet in size.  

20. The patio area may be wholly or partially replaced by the provision of a recreation yard 
provided on site. Recreational yards shall be a minimum one-tenth (1/10) of unit floor area. 

21. The Applicant must obtain and transfer eleven (11) market rate housing units, to be 
transferred via the Transfer of Building Rights (TBR’s), BPAS process, or any other legally 
established process prior to building permit issuance. THE APPROVAL OF THE 
REQUESTED CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AMENDMENTS DO NOT CONVEY OR 
GRANT A VESTED RIGHT OR ENTITLEMENT TO FUTURE ALLOCATIONS BY 
THE CITY OF ANY RESIDENTIAL UNITS NOT CURRENTLY IN POSSESSION BY 
THE APPLICANT AS REFERENCED IN THE PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT. 

22. The Conditional Use Development Order will constitute the Certificate of Concurrency for 
the project. The determination will be valid for one year. 

23. All construction of required streets and utilities shall be completed pursuant to this Section. 
Construction Guarantees shall be required pursuant to Sections 102.50 and 102.51 and shall 
provide that if the construction of the required improvements is not completed within two 
(2) years after approval of the final plat, the City may deem the applicant to be in default 
pursuant to Section 102.52 D. 

24. Individual storage areas shall not exceed 400 square feet each.  
25. Storage of boats, recreational vehicles and similar equipment may be allowed, subject to 

the following standards:  
26. Storage shall occur only within a designated area, approved as part of the site plan.  
27. Storage areas shall not exceed 50 percent of the lot area of the site.  
28. Boats shall be stored on trailers with wheels.  
29. Storage areas shall be completely screened from public rights-of-way or adjacent 

residential zoning districts, utilizing either the buildings associated with the storage facility 
or by an opaque masonry wall, or equivalent approved by the Director, a minimum of six 
(6) feet in height.  

30. Site plan approved as amended with pervious pavers or asphalt.  
 
 
 

Page 54 of 283



17 
 

SITE PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55 of 283



18 
 

 

Page 56 of 283



 

Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA  
RESOLUTION 2025-37 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA  
FOR A REQUEST FOR A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR MARATHON LLC FOR 
AN AMENDMENT TO A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT, PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 102, 
ARTICLE 13 OF THE CITY OF MARATHON LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
(“THE CODE”) ENTITLED “CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS”, AUTHORIZING THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A CLIMATE CONTROLLED STORAGE FACILITY AND 
TWENTY-FOUR (24) SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS CONSISTING OF FIVE 
(5) PARCELS LOCATED AT 765 107TH STREET OCEAN; WHICH IS LEGALLY 
DESCRIBED AS TOWNSHIP 66 RANGE 33 KEY VACCAS PART GOVERNMENT LOT 
1 AND PART GOVERNMENT LOT 2 PART PARCEL 3 AND ADJACENT BAY BOTTOM 
SOUTH OF AND ADJACENT PART GOVERNMENT LOT 1 AND LOTS 1, 2, 3, & 4 OF 
SEAGLASS FLATS A PLAT OF LANDS LOCATED IN A PART OF GOVERNMENT LOT 
1 SECTION 6 TOWNSHIP 66S RANGE 33E ON KEY VACA CITY OF MARATHON AS 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK AND PAGE 7-97, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 00104260-000000, 00104251-000100, 00104251-
000200, 00104251-000300 AND 00104251-000400. NEAREST MILE MARKER 53. 

 
WHEREAS, A Conditional Use permit was approved on August 8, 2023, pursuant to Chapter 

102, Article 13 of the City of Marathon Land Development Regulations (LDRs); and  
 
WHEREAS, Marathon LLC. (The “Applicant”) filed an Application on February 27, 2025, for 

an amended Conditional Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the City of Marathon Land 
Development Regulations (LDRs); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Applicant has proposed the redevelopment of five (5) existing properties, such 
that twenty-four (24) single family residential units and a climate controlled storage facility will be 
constructed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City staff reviewed the Applicant’s request for a Conditional Use Permit 
determining that the Applicant’s project proposal is in compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
and Land Development Regulations (LDRs) and further that there was no substantial impact on the City’s 
Level of Service (LOS); and 

 
WHEREAS, on the 21st day of April 2025, the Planning Commission (the “Commission”) 

conducted a properly advertised public hearing (the “Public Hearing”) regarding the request submitted by 
the Applicant, for a  Conditional Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the LDRs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on the 13th day of May 2025, the City Council  (the “Council”) conducted a properly 

advertised public hearing (the “Public Hearing”) regarding the request submitted by the Applicant, for a  
Conditional Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the LDRs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council made a determination that the Applicant’s request for a Conditional 

Use Permit, subject to the terms of the LDRs and with Conditions imposed, was in Compliance with the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan and LDRs, is consistent with its policy to encourage the development of 
residential properties and redevelop commercial in Marathon, and will further the health, safety and 
welfare of the residents of Marathon; and 

Page 57 of 283



 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 

Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein. 

Section 2. The City Council hereby approves Development Order 2025-1, a copy of 
which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, granting a Conditional Use Permit to Marathon 
LLC, Inc. subject to the Conditions imposed. The Director of Planning is authorized to sign 
the Development Order on behalf of the City. 

Section 3. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon execution. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13th DAY OF MAY 2025. 

 
THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Lynn  Landry, Mayor 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
   
Diane Clavier, City Clerk       
 
(City Seal) 
 
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
  
Steven Williams, City Attorney 
  

Page 58 of 283



 

EXHIBIT “A” 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

CONDITIONAL USE 
DEVELOPMENT ORDER # 2025-1 

 
A DEVELOPMENT ORDER APPROVING A REQUEST FOR AN AMENDED 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR MARATHON LLC. PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 102, 
ARTICLE 13 OF THE CITY OF MARATHON LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
(“THE CODE”) ENTITLED “CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS”, AUTHORIZING THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF A CLIMATE CONTROLLED STORAGE FACILITY AND 
TWENTY-FOUR (24) SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS CONSISTING OF FIVE 
(5) PARCELS LOCATED AT 765 107TH STREET OCEAN; WHICH IS LEGALLY 
DESCRIBED AS TOWNSHIP 66 RANGE 33 KEY VACCAS PART GOVERNMENT LOT 
1 AND PART GOVERNMENT LOT 2 PART PARCEL 3 AND ADJACENT BAY BOTTOM 
SOUTH OF AND ADJACENT PART GOVERNMENT LOT 1 AND LOTS 1, 2, 3, & 4 OF 
SEAGLASS FLATS A PLAT OF LANDS LOCATED IN A PART OF GOVERNMENT LOT 
1 SECTION 6 TOWNSHIP 66S RANGE 33E ON KEY VACA CITY OF MARATHON AS 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK AND PAGE 7-97, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 00104260-000000, 00104251-000100, 00104251-
000200, 00104251-000300 AND 00104251-000400. NEAREST MILE MARKER 53. 

 
WHEREAS, A Conditional Use permit was approved on August 8, 2023 pursuant to Chapter 102, 

Article 13 of the City of Marathon Land Development Regulations (LDRs); and  
 
WHEREAS, Marathon LLC, Inc. (The “Applicant”) filed an Application on  February 27, 2025 

for an amended Conditional Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the City of Marathon Land 
Development Regulations (LDRs); and  

 
WHEREAS, said Marathon LLC. property located at 765 107th Street Ocean and Lots 1-4 107th 

Street Ocean  (RE Nos. 00104260-000000, 00104251-000100, 00104251-000200, 00104251-000300 & 
00104251-000400) which formerly consisted of residential homes; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Applicant proposed the redevelopment of five (5) existing properties, such that 
twenty-four (24) single family residential units and a climate controlled storage facility will be 
constructed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City staff reviewed the Applicant’s request for a Conditional Use Permit 
determining that the Applicant’s project proposal is in compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
and Land Development Regulations (LDRs) and further that there was no substantial impact on the City’s 
Level of Service (LOS); and 

 
WHEREAS, on the 21st day of April 2025, the Planning Commission (the “Commission”) 

conducted a properly advertised public hearing (the “Public Hearing”) regarding the request submitted by 
the Applicant, for a  Conditional Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the LDRs; and 

 
WHEREAS, on the 13th day of May 2025, the City Council  (the “Council”) conducted a properly 

advertised public hearing (the “Public Hearing”) regarding the request submitted by the Applicant, for a  
Conditional Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the LDRs; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council made a determination that the Applicant’s request for a Conditional 

Use Permit, subject to the terms of the LDRs and with Conditions imposed, was in Compliance with the 

Page 59 of 283



 

City’s Comprehensive Plan and LDRs, is consistent with its policy to encourage the development of 
residential properties and redevelop commercial in Marathon, and will further the health, safety, and 
welfare of the residents of Marathon; and 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1. The Applicant has proposed the redevelopment of five (5) existing properties, such that twenty-

four (24) single family residential units and a climate controlled storage facility will be constructed 
(Site Plan Attached as Attachment 1).; and 
 

2. In accordance with Section 102.77 of the Code, the Commission and Council considered and 
determined the Applicant met the following criteria: 
a. The proposed use is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and LDRs; 
b. The proposed use is compatible with the existing land use pattern and future uses designated by 
the Comprehensive Plan; 
c. The proposed use shall not adversely affect the health, safety, and welfare of the public; and 
d.  The proposed conditional use minimizes environmental impacts, including but not limited to 
water, air, stormwater management, wildlife, vegetation, wetlands, and the natural functioning of 
the environment; and 
e. Satisfactory provisions and arrangements have been made concerning the following matters, 
where applicable: 

1) Ingress and egress to the property and proposed structures thereon with particular 
reference to automotive, bicycle, and pedestrian safety and convenience, traffic 
flow and control, and access in case of fire or catastrophe; 

2) Off-street parking and loading areas where required, with particular attention to 
item 1 above; 

3) The noise, glare, or odor effects of the conditional use on surrounding properties; 
4) Refuse and service areas, with particular reference to location, screening, and Items 

1 and 2 above; 
5) Utilities, with reference to location and availability; 
6) Screening and buffering with reference to type, dimensions and character; 
7) Signs, if any, and proposed exterior lighting with reference to glare, traffic safety 

and compatibility with surrounding properties; 
8) Required yards and other open space; 
9) General compatibility with surrounding properties; and 
 

CONDITIONS IMPOSED: 
 
Granting approval of the Application is subject to the following conditions: 
 
Conditions of Approval 

1. All signs will be reviewed and approved for compliance with the City of Marathon LDR’s. 
2. Additional landscape canopy and buffering be placed per site plan. 
3. A sewer flow estimate from an engineer will be required to reassess any additional impact.  

Page 60 of 283



 

4. The project exceeds 1 acre of development, and as such an FDEP general permit for NPEDS will 
be required.  

5. Per the LDR, the stormwater criteria require retention of the runoff from a 25yr-72hr storm event. 
However, in lieu of these criteria, the minimum requirements will be the retention of 1 ½” of 
runoff for all residential lots and then runoff from 4 ½ inch rainfall event for the roads and 
commercial lot. 

6. All runoff from the site shall be routed to the proposed retention swales. A detailed grading plan 
shall be required for review of construction plans.  

7. Any native vegetation removed must be mitigated per Section 106.10. 
8. Since the project is changing use, an FDOT access permit is required.  
9. A written agreement or letter must be supplied to the City stating that sewer and other utilities will 

be provided to 799 106th Street with no loss of service.  
10. All conditions of the Fire Marshal must be met prior to permit issuance. 
11. All required parking spaces must be shown on the final site plan prior to permit issuance. 
12. A final lighting plan must be submitted prior to permit issuance. 
13. A final landscape plan must be submitted prior to permit issuance. 
14. Dumpsters are to be screened per code. 
15. A unity of title is required for the properties. 
16. Staff require that upon planning review, if the redevelopment is found to have any effect on the 

Eastern Indigo Snake Habitat, then the prescribed protection measures must be undertaken, and 
the information posted on site. 

17. The private yard area for rooftop balcony dwelling is provided by the roof or balconies of the 
structure.  

18. The total area of the mixed-use or commercial apartments, including patios and access way shall 
not exceed the area covered by the ground floor and any covered walks or arcades.  

19. Each unit shall have access to a balcony or patio that is separate from the access to the unit, 
provides adequate privacy and the size shall be two-tenths (2/10) of unit floor area or a minimum 
of 60 square feet in size.  

20. The patio area may be wholly or partially replaced by the provision of a recreation yard provided 
on site. Recreational yards shall be a minimum one-tenth (1/10) of unit floor area. 

21. The Applicant must obtain and transfer eleven (11) market rate housing units, to be transferred via 
the Transfer of Building Rights (TBR’s), BPAS process, or any other legally established process 
prior to building permit issuance. THE APPROVAL OF THE REQUESTED CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT AMENDMENTS DO NOT CONVEY OR GRANT A VESTED RIGHT OR 
ENTITLEMENT TO FUTURE ALLOCATIONS BY THE CITY OF ANY RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS NOT CURRENTLY IN POSSESSION BY THE APPLICANT AS REFERENCED IN 
THE PROPOSED CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT. 

22. The Conditional Use Development Order will constitute the Certificate of Concurrency for the 
project. The determination will be valid for one year. 

23. All construction of required streets and utilities shall be completed pursuant to this Section. 
Construction Guarantees shall be required pursuant to Sections 102.50 and 102.51 and shall 
provide that if the construction of the required improvements is not completed within two (2) years 
after approval of the final plat, the City may deem the applicant to be in default pursuant to Section 
102.52 D. 

24. Individual storage areas shall not exceed 400 square feet each.  
25. Storage of boats, recreational vehicles and similar equipment may be allowed, subject to the 

following standards:  
26. Storage shall occur only within a designated area, approved as part of the site plan.  
27. Storage areas shall not exceed 50 percent of the lot area of the site.  

Page 61 of 283



 

28. Boats shall be stored on trailers with wheels.  
29. Storage areas shall be completely screened from public rights-of-way or adjacent residential 

zoning districts, utilizing either the buildings associated with the storage facility or by an opaque 
masonry wall, or equivalent approved by the Director, a minimum of six (6) feet in height.  

30. Site plan approved as amended with pervious pavers or asphalt.  
 
 
 
 
VIOLATION OF CONDITIONS: 
 
The applicant understands and acknowledges that it must comply with all of the terms and conditions 
herein, and all other applicable requirements of the City or other governmental agencies applicable to the 
use of the Property.  In accordance with the Code, the Council may revoke this approval upon a 
determination that the Applicant or its successor or designee is in non-compliance with this Resolution or 
Code.  Failure to adhere to the terms and conditions of approval contained herein is a violation of the 
Code and persons found violating the conditions shall be subject to the penalties prescribed therein. 
 
 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: 
 
Based upon the above Findings of Fact, the Council does hereby make the following Conclusions of Law: 
 
1. The Application has been processed in accordance with the applicable provisions of the City Code, 

and will not be detrimental to the community as a whole; and 
 
2. In rendering its decision, as reflected in this Resolution, the Council has: 

(a) Accorded procedural due process; 
(b) Observed the essential requirements of the law;  
(c) Supported its decision by substantial competent evidence of record; and 

 
3. The Application for a conditional use permit is hereby GRANTED subject to the conditions specified 

herein. 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE:  
 
This development order shall not take effect for thirty (30) days following the date it is filed with the City 
Clerk, and during that time, the conditional use approval granted herein shall be subject to appeal as 
provided in the City Code.  An appeal shall stay the effectiveness of this development order until said 
appeal is resolved. 
 
    
Date Brian Shea 
 Director of Planning  
 

This Development Order was filed in the Office of the City Clerk of this _____ day of ________, 2025. 

 
 ____________________________________  
 Diane Clavier, City Clerk 

 

Page 62 of 283



 

NOTICE 
 

Under the authority of Section 102.79(c) of the City of Marathon Land Development Regulations, this 
development order shall become null and void with no further notice required by the City, unless a 
business license has been issued for the use or a complete building permit application for site preparation 
and building construction with revised plans as required herein is submitted to the City of Marathon 
Building Official within one (1) year from the date of conditional use approval, or the date when the 
Florida Commerce waives its appeal and all required certificates of occupancy are procured with three (3) 
years of the date of this development order is approved by the City Council. 
 
In addition, please be advised that this instrument shall not take effect for forty-five (45) days following 
the rendition to Florida Commerce.  During that forty-five days, the Florida Commerce may appeal this 
instrument to the Florida Land and Water Adjudicatory Commission, and that such an appeal stays the 
effectiveness of this instrument until the appeal is resolved by agreement or order. 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
A true and correct copy of the above and foregoing Resolution was furnished, via U.S. certified mail, 
return receipt requested, addressed to Marathon LLC 108 Old House Point Cir, Yorktown, VA 23692 this 
___ day of __________, 2025. 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 

Page 63 of 283



 

Attachment 1: Site Plan 

 

Page 64 of 283



Sponsored by: Garrett 
 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-38 

 
CONSIDERATION OF A REQUEST FOR AN ANNULMENT OF A PLAT, FOR 
MARATHON LLC, PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 102, ARTICLE 10 OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS (“THE CODE”) ENTITLED 
“SUBDIVISION OF LAND/PLATS AND REPLATS” FOR THE ABANDONMENT OF 
SEAGLASS FLATS SUBDIVISION; A PLAT OF LANDS LOCATED IN A PART OF 
GOVERNMENT LOT 1 SECTION 6 TOWNSHIP 66S RANGE 33E ON KEY VACA CITY 
OF MARATHON AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK AND PAGE 7-97, MONROE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, HAVING REAL ESTATE NUMBERS 00104251-000100, 00104251-
000200, 00104251-000300 AND 00104251-000400. NEAREST MILE MARKER 53. 

 
WHEREAS, Marathon LLC has requested that the City of Marathon, Florida (the “City”), in accordance 

with Chapter 102, Article 10 of the Land Development Regulations (LDRs), to abandon the plat; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the plat is not needed and may be abandoned without 

adversely affecting the public interest; and  
  
 WHEREAS, the plat lies wholly within the corporate boundaries of the City and the applicant owns 

all of the parcels listed by RE for abandonment; and  
  
WHEREAS, on the 21st day of April 2025 the City of Marathon Planning Commission (the 

“Commission”) reviewed and recommended denial of the plat annulment with several conditions; and  
 
WHEREAS, on the 13th day of May 2025, the City Council (the “Council”) reviewed the Applicant’s 

proposal finding that the plat annulment was compliant with the terms of Chapter 177, Florida Statutes and the 
Chapter 102, Article 10 of the City LDR’s; and 

 
WHEREAS, due process was afforded to the parties, the essential requirements of law were adhered to 

and competent and substantial evidence was presented, the Council voted to annul the plats; and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
  
Section 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and they and all conditions required of Applicants 

are hereby incorporated as if fully stated herein. 
 
 Section 3. The City Clerk shall forward a certified copy this Resolution to the Applicant, who 

shall be responsible for all costs incurred in recording this instrument in the public records of Monroe County, Florida.  
The Applicant shall provide the City evidence of the recording of this Resolution within sixty (60) days of the 
effective date of this Resolution.  

  
 Section 4. Effective Date.   This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 

adoption. 
  
PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the City of Marathon, Florida, this 13th day of May, 

2025. 
  

Page 65 of 283



THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
      
   
Diane Clavier, City Clerk       
 
(City Seal) 
 
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
 
  
Steven T. Williams, City Attorney 

Page 66 of 283



 

 
COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2025  
 
To:   Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 
 
From:   Steven Williams, City Attorney 
 
Agenda Item:  Ordinance 2025-02, Amending Chapter 18, Article 3 (“Abatement Of 
Criminal Nuisances”) By Deleting Sections 18-186, 18-187, 18-888, 18-189, And 18-190; Providing 
For The Repeal Of All Ordinances Or Parts Thereof Found To Be In Conflict; Providing For 
Severability; Providing For Inclusion In The Code Of Ordinances And Providing For An Effective 
Date.  
 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
This Ordinance deletes the provisions in the City of Marathon Code of Ordinances pertaining to a 
Nuisance Abatement Board due to the fact that the City has not recently used such a board. This 
Ordinance and the removal of the sections related to the Nuisance Abatement Board, does not 
restrict the right of any person to proceed against any public nuisance nor restrict the City Attorney 
from bringing a civil proceeding under Florida Statute Section 823.05.  
  
 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan ____ ____ 
2.  Other_________________________ ____ ____ 
3.  Not Applicable _X__ ____ 
 
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval of Ordinance   

 

Page 67 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 09/28/23 
Page 1 of 3 

Note to Staff: This form should be completed and included in the agenda 
packet for the item under which the proposed ordinance is to be 
considered and must be posted on the City’s website by the time notice 
of the proposed ordinance is published. 
 

 
Business Impact Estimate Form 

 
This Business Impact Estimate Form is provided to document compliance with and 
exemption from the requirements of Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat. If one or more boxes are 
checked below under “Applicable Exemptions”, this indicates that the City of Marathon 
has determined that Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat., does not apply to the proposed ordinance 
and that a business impact estimate is not required by law.  If no exemption is identified, 
a business impact estimate required by Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat. will be provided in the 
“Business Impact Estimate” section below.  In addition, even if one or more exemptions 
are identified, the City of Marathon may nevertheless choose to provide information 
concerning the proposed ordinance in the “Business Impact Estimate” section below.  
This Business Impact Estimate Form may be revised following its initial posting. 
 
Proposed ordinance’s title/reference: 
 
 
Proposed Ordinance 2025-02 Abatement of Criminal Nuisances  
 
 
 
Applicable Exemptions: 
 
☐ The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or 
regulation; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget 

amendments, including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 
☐ The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, 

including, but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant, or other 
financial assistance accepted by the municipal government; 

☐ The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 
☐ The ordinance relates to procurement; or 
☐ The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 

☐ Part II of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relating to growth policy, county and 
municipal planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, 
development orders, development agreements, and development permits; 

☐ Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

☐ Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 
☐ Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention 

Code. 
 

Page 68 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 09/28/23 
Page 2 of 3 

Business Impact Estimate: 
 
The City of Marathon hereby publishes the following information: 
 
1. A summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the 

public purpose, such as serving the public health, safety, morals and 
welfare): 

 
Ordinance 2025-02 amends Chapter 18, Article 3 titled “Abatement of Criminal 
Nuisances” of the City of Marathon Code of Ordinances by deleting six (6) sections related 
to the creation of a Nuisance Abatement Board and the duties and powers of same. The 
City has not recently used a Nuisance Abatement Board and there are other avenues to 
address nuisance claims contained in the Code of Ordinances. As such, this proposed 
ordinance removes moot provisions of the Code of Ordinances.   
 
2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on 

private, for-profit businesses in the municipality, including the following, if 
any: 

 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may 

reasonably incur if the ordinance is enacted: 
 
Ordinance 2025-02 does not impose a direct compliance cost on businesses as 
the ordinance pertains to public nuisances and the avenues to address same.  

 
(b) Identification of any new charge or fee on businesses subject to the 

proposed ordinance, or for which businesses will be financially 
responsible:  

 
Ordinance 2025-02 does not impose a new charge or fee on businesses as the 
ordinance pertains to removing moot language having to do with public nuisances 
and a Nuisance Abatement Board.  

 
(c) An estimate of the municipality’s regulatory costs, including an 

estimate of revenues from any new charges or fees that will be 
imposed on businesses to cover such costs: 

 
None.  

 
3. A good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by 

the ordinance: 
 
None.  
 
 

Page 69 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 09/28/23 
Page 3 of 3 

4. Additional information the governing body determines may be useful (if any):  
 
No additional information.  
 
Note: The City’s provision of information in the Business Impact Estimate section above, notwithstanding 
an applicable exemption, shall not constitute a waiver of the exemption or an admission that a business 
impact estimate is required by law for the proposed ordinance.  The City’s failure to check one or more 
exemptions below shall not constitute a waiver of the omitted exemption or an admission that the omitted 
exemption does not apply to the proposed ordinance under Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat., Sec. 166.0411, Fla. 
Stat., or any other relevant provision of law. 

Page 70 of 283



Sponsored By: Williams 
City Council Public Hearing Date: April 8, 2025 

May 13, 2025 
Enactment Date: May 13, 2025 

 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

ORDINANCE 2025-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 18, ARTICLE 3 (“ABATEMENT OF CRIMINAL 
NUISANCES”) BY DELETING SECTIONS 18-185, 18-186, 18-187, 18-888, 
18-189, AND 18-190; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL 
ORDINANCES OR PARTS THEREOF FOUND TO BE IN CONFLICT; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR INCLUSION IN 
THE CODE OF ORDINANCES AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 WHEREAS, the City of Marathon (“City”) is a municipal corporation of the State of 
Florida with such power and authority as has been conferred upon it by the Florida Constitution 
and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, and 

 WHEREAS, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, grants the City broad municipal home rule 
powers to provide for the health, safety and welfare of its residents, business owners and visitors 
by enacting regulations for the protection of the public; and 

 WHEREAS, Section 893.138, Florida Statutes, grants the City the ability to establish a 
Nuisance Abatement Board, which was created through Ordinance 2008-28; and 

 WHEREAS, Chapter 18, Section 18-183 of the City of Marathon Code of Ordinances 
allows the City Attorney to sue the person or persons maintaining a nuisance, and the owner or 
agent of the building or ground on which the nuisance exists; and  

 WHEREAS, Chapter 18, Section 18-184 of the City of Marathon Code of Ordinances does 
not restrict the right of any person to proceed against any public nuisance; and   

 WHEREAS, the City has not recently used a Nuisance Abatement Board and, therefore, 
the City Council deems that the Sections of the Marathon Code of Ordinances pertaining to a 
Nuisance Abatement Board are moot.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA THAT 

 

Strikethrough = deletion  Bold underline = addition 

 

Page 71 of 283



 SECTION 1.  The above recitals are true, correct, and incorporated herein by this 
reference. 

 SECTION 2.  Chapter 18 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Marathon, Florida, is 
hereby amended to be read as follows: 

  Sec 18-183 Enjoining Of Nuisances 

 When any nuisance as defined in Fla. Stat. § 823.05 exists, the City Attorney may sue, in 
the  name of the State on his relation to enjoin the nuisance, the person or persons maintaining 
it, and  the owner or agent of the building or ground on which the nuisance exists. 

 Sec 18-184 Rights Preserved 

 This Division does not restrict the right of any person to proceed against any public 
nuisance  under Fla. Stat. § 60.05. 

 Sec 18-185 Definitions 

 The following definitions shall apply in the interpretation and enforcement of this Article:  

 Board means the Nuisance Abatement Board of the City of Marathon. 

 City Attorney means the legal counselor for the City of Marathon or any Assistant City 
Attorney.  

 Clerk means the person appointed by the local governing body of the City of Marathon to 
 perform the clerical duties necessary to carry out the activities of the Board. 

 County means Monroe County, Florida. 

 Operator means the tenant, lessee or person having control or possession of the premises. 

 Public nuisance means any place or premises within the City, which has been used on more 
than  two (2) occasions within a six-month period as; (i) the site of the unlawful sale or delivery 
of  controlled substances as defined in Fla. Stat. ch. 893; (ii) the site of prostitution activity in 
 violation of Fla. Stat. § 796.07; (iii) by a criminal street gang for the purpose of conducting 
a  pattern of criminal street gang activity as defined by Fla. Stat. § 874.03; or (iv) the site of 
a  violation of Fla. Stat. § 812.019; relating to dealing in stolen property. 

 

 Sec 18-186 Nuisance Abatement Board Established 

 There is hereby created and established a Nuisance Abatement Board (the "Board"), to hear 
 evidence relating to the existence of criminal public nuisances on premises located in the 
City.  The City Council shall sit as the Nuisance Abatement Board. 

 

 Sec 18-187 Complaint Review Procedures 

Page 72 of 283



(a) Any employee, officer or resident of the City may file a complaint with the Clerk 
regarding the existence of a public nuisance on premises located in the City. 

(b) When the Clerk receives a complaint, the City Attorney shall review the complaint to 
determine if the complaint properly alleges that a public nuisance exists on the 
premises. If the City Attorney determines that the complaint properly alleges that a 
public nuisance exists on the premises, the Clerk shall promptly request a hearing 
before the Board. 

(c) The Board, through its Clerk, shall schedule a hearing, and written notice of the hearing 
shall be sent to the owner and operator(s) of the premises complained of, at their last 
known addresses at least five (5) days prior to the scheduled hearing. 

(d) The notice of hearing shall include: 
(1) A statement of the time, place and nature of the hearing; 
(2) A statement of the legal authority and jurisdiction under which the hearing is to be 

held; 
(3) A reference to the particular sections of the statutes and ordinances involved; and 
(4) A short and plain statement summarizing the nuisance complaint. 

 

 Sec 18-188 Conduct Of Hearings 

(a) The Chairman of the Board may call hearings of the Board. Hearings may also be called 
by written notice signed by at least three (3) members of the Board. The Board, at a 
hearing, may set a future hearing date. The Board shall attempt to convene no less 
frequently than once every month, but may meet more or less often as the demand 
necessitates. The Board shall adopt rules for the conduct of its hearings. Minutes shall 
be kept of all hearings, and all hearings shall be open to the public. The Board shall 
have the power to subpoena owners, operators, witnesses and evidence to hearings. The 
City shall provide clerical and administrative personnel as may be reasonably required 
for the proper performance of the Board's duties. 

(b) The City Attorney shall present cases before the Board. All parties shall have an 
opportunity to present evidence and argument on all issues involved, to conduct cross-
examination, to submit rebuttal evidence, and to be represented by counsel. When 
appropriate, the public may be given an opportunity to present oral or written 
communications. The Board may consider any evidence, including evidence of the 
general reputation of the place or premises. All testimony shall be under oath and shall 
be recorded. Formal rules of evidence shall not apply, but fundamental due process 
shall be observed and shall govern the proceedings. Orders of the Board shall be based 
on competent and substantial evidence, and any finding that a nuisance exists must be 
based on a "preponderance of the evidence" standard. 

(c) The concurring votes of at least four (4) Board members are required in order to 
approve any Board order concerning the abatement of a public nuisance. 

(d) After considering all evidence, the Board may declare the place or premises to be a 
public nuisance and may enter an order as follows: 

Page 73 of 283



(1) Immediately prohibiting the maintaining of the nuisance; 
(2) Immediately prohibiting the operating or maintaining of the place or premises 

including the closure of the place or premises or any part thereof; 
(3) Immediately prohibiting the conduct, operation or maintenance of any business or 

activity on the premises which is conducive to such nuisance; or 
(4) Requiring the owner of such place or premises declared to be a public nuisance to 

adopt such procedure as may be appropriate under the circumstances to abate any 
such nuisance. 

(e) An order entered under Subsection (d) shall expire after one (1) year, or at such earlier 
time as stated in the order. The Board may retain jurisdiction to modify its orders prior 
to the expiration of the orders. 

(f) In the event that orders of the Board expire and/or are not complied with, or are for any 
reason ineffective, the Board may then bring a complaint under Fla. Stat. § 60.05, 
seeking temporary and permanent injunctive relief against any public nuisance 
described. 

(g) A certified copy of a Board order may be recorded in the public records of the County 
and shall constitute notice to any subsequent purchasers, successors in interest or 
assigns if the violation concerns real property and the finding therein shall be binding 
upon the violator and, if the violation concerns real property, any subsequent 
purchasers, successors in interest or assigns. If an order is recorded in the public records 
of the County pursuant to this Subsection and the order is complied with by the date 
specified in the order, the Board shall issue an order acknowledging compliance that 
shall be recorded in the public records of the County. 

(h) The Board, upon notification by the City that an order of the Board has not been 
complied with by the set time or, upon finding, of a public nuisance, may order the 
violator to pay a fine in an amount specified in this Section for each day the violation 
continues past the date set by the Board for compliance. In the case of a recurring public 
nuisance, for each date a recurring public nuisance continues beginning with the date 
the recurring public nuisance is found to have occurred by the City. A fine imposed 
pursuant to this Section shall not exceed $250.00 per day for the violation and shall not 
exceed $500.00 per day for a recurring public nuisance. 

(i) A certified copy of an order imposing a fine may be recorded in the public records and 
thereafter shall constitute a lien against the property upon which the violation exists. A 
lien arising from a fine imposed pursuant to this Section runs in favor of the City and 
the City may execute a satisfaction or release of lien entered pursuant to this Section. 
The City shall be entitled to collect all costs incurred, including reasonable Attorney 
fees, in the recording of, the filing of a satisfaction of and foreclosure of a valid lien. 
Upon petition to the circuit court, such order may be enforced in the same manner as a 
court judgment by the Sheriffs of this State, including levy against the personal 
property, but shall not be deemed to be a court judgment expect for enforcement 
purposes. 

(j) After three (3) months from the filing of any lien which remains unpaid, the Nuisance 
Abatement Board may authorize the City Attorney to foreclose upon the lien. No lien 

Page 74 of 283



created pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter may be foreclosed on real property 
which is a "homestead" under Article X, Section 4 of the State Constitution. 

(k) If the City prevails in prosecuting a case before the Board, it shall be entitled to recover 
all costs, including reasonable Attorney's fees, incurred in investigating and 
prosecuting the case at hearings before the Board or on appeal. 
 

 Sec 18-189 Appeals 

 Any aggrieved party may appeal a final decision of the Nuisance Abatement Board to the 
Circuit  Court of Monroe County, Florida. Such an appeal shall not be a hearing de novo, 
but shall be  limited to appellate review of the record created before the Board. An appeal shall 
be filed within  30 days of the date of the Board decision appealed from. 

 

 Sec 18-190 Remedies 

 This Article does not restrict the right of any person to proceed under Fla. Stat. § 60.05, or 
similar  law against any public nuisance. 

SECTION 3. Any provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Marathon, Florida 
or Ordinances or parts of Ordinances that are in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are 
hereby repealed. 

SECTION 4.  The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable and if any 
section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining sections, sentences, 
clauses, or phrases of this Ordinance, but they shall remain in effect, it being the legislative intent 
that this Ordinance shall stand notwithstanding the invalidity of any part. 

SECTION 5.  It is the intention of the City Council and it is hereby ordained that the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made part of the Marathon Code, that sections 
of this Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intentions, and that the 
“Ordinance” shall be changed to “Section” or other appropriate word. 

SECTION 6. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon approval. 

 ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, 
FLORIDA, THIS 13th  DAY OF MAY, 2025. 

       THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       Lynn Landry, Mayor 
  

Page 75 of 283



 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 

 

 

___________________________________ 
Steven Williams, City Attorney 

Page 76 of 283



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
 
Meeting Date: May 13th, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
From:   Brian Shea, Planning Director & James Muro, Fire Chief 
 
Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:   Ordinance 2025-03; Amending Chapter 15 Fire Prevention Article 1 In General, 
Amending Section 15-6 Entitled Chickees And Tikis, Amending Section 15-7 Entitled Penalty, Amending 
Sections 15-8 Through 15-26 Entitled Reserved; Of The City Of Marathon Code Of Ordinances; 
Amending Chapter 110 Definitions Article 3 Entitled Defined Terms; Providing For Severability; 
Providing For The Repeal Of Conflicting Provisions; Providing For The Transmittal Of This Ordinance 
To The Department Of Commerce After Final Adoption By The City Council; And Providing For An 
Effective Date. 
              
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends APPROVAL. 
 
APPLICANT: City of Marathon 
 
REQUEST: 
 
The proposed ordinance amends the Fire Prevention code in the code of ordinances, and the definitions 
section in the land development regulations.  
 
Purpose of Proposed Amendment: 
 
The purpose of the amendment is to codify permit conditions standards and avoid confusion between tikis 
and chickees and their permit requirements.  
 
AUTHORITY 
 

Section 102.26. Planning Commission Recommendation. 
A. Authority: The PC shall consider a proposed text amendment at the request of the 
Council. 
B. Review Criteria: The PC shall review such proposed amendment, based upon the 
criteria listed below:   

1. The need and justification for the change; 
2. The consistency of the proposed amendment with the Comprehensive Plan; and 

Page 77 of 283



3. Whether the proposed change shall further the purposes of the LDRs and other City 
Codes, regulations and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan. 

C. Findings: The PC shall make a finding of whether the proposed amendment is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and a recommendation shall be prepared and forwarded 
to the Council, indicating if the proposed amendment should be:   

1. Approved as proposed; 
2. Approved with amendments proposed by the PC; or 
3. Denied 
 

Section 102.27. - Hearing(s) by Council. 
A. The decision to process a text amendment is within the sole discretion of the Council. 
B. For any proposed text amendment, the Council shall hold a minimum of two (2) public hearings, 
conforming to the requirements of Fla. Stat. Ch. 166, before taking action on the amendment. 
 

Section 102.28. - Action by Council. 
Following the public hearings, the Council shall make a finding of whether the proposed text 

amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and may approve, approve with changes, or 
deny the proposed amendment.  

 
As noted, review of proposed LDR text amendments is to be made based on three basic criteria:  need and 
justification for change, consistency with the adopted Comprehensive Plan, and whether the proposed 
amendment will further the purposes of the LDRs, other ordinances, and actions taken to further the 
implementation of the Comprehensive Plan. The Planning Commission, in reviewing the proposed 
amendment, may recommend approval as is, approval with changes, or denial to the City Council. 
 
ANALYSIS OF LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION TEXT AMENDMENTS:  
 
Section 102.26(B) of the Land Development Regulations requires that the following standards and criteria 
be considered for any proposed text amendment. Each criteria and explanation of relevance to this 
proposed amendment are listed below: 
 

A. The need and justification for the change; 
 
Section 15-29 entitled “Duty To Investigate And Make Recommendations” establishes that it shall be 
the duty of the Fire Chief or designee to investigate and to recommend to the City Council such 
additional ordinances or amendments to existing ordinances as he may deem necessary for 
safeguarding life and property against fire.  Additionally, Section 15-28 states that it shall be the duty 
of the Fire Chief or designee to enforce all laws and ordinances of the City, covering the prevention 
of fires.  The 5’ setback for tiki and chickee structures was set by a previous fire marshal as a policy.  
This has been consistently applied to the structures obtaining permits as permit conditions.  The 
adoption of the ordinance codifies the policy that has been in place. 
 
 
B. The consistency of the proposed amendment with the Comprehensive Plan; and 
 

Page 78 of 283

javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


The Comprehensive Plan is silent on the issue of fire prevention as it relates to the powers and duties 
of the Fire Marsal and Fire Chief.   
 
C. Whether regulations change shall further the purposes of the LDRs and other City Codes, 

regulations and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

The proposed text amendments further the purposes of the LDRs and other City Codes, regulations 
and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan by code consistency. It provides clarity 
that both tikis and chickees must meet the same fire requirements.  It allows for consistent definition, 
including the definition of a chickee as previously defined in the floodplain management LDR section.  
It also allows for smart development that by preventing the spread of fire risk, reduces the potential 
draw on City services to combat fires. 
 

CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff indicates that the proposed text amendments are consistent with the standards and tenants of Chapter 
163 and 380 F.S., and the City’s Comprehensive Plan adopted under the requirements of these statutes 
and rules.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends APPROVAL. 
Planning Commission recommends approval (2-1). 
 

Page 79 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 11/26/24 
Page 1 of 3 

Note to Staff: This form should be completed and included in the agenda 
packet for the item under which the proposed ordinance is to be 
considered and must be posted on the City’s website by the time notice 
of the proposed ordinance is published (10 days prior). 
 

 
Business Impact Estimate Form 

 
This Business Impact Estimate Form is provided to document compliance with and 
exemption from the requirements of Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat. If one or more boxes are 
checked below under “Applicable Exemptions”, this indicates that the City of Marathon 
has determined that Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat., does not apply to the proposed ordinance 
and that a business impact estimate is not required by law.  If no exemption is identified, 
a business impact estimate required by Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat. will be provided in the 
“Business Impact Estimate” section below.  In addition, even if one or more exemptions 
are identified, the City of Marathon may nevertheless choose to provide information 
concerning the proposed ordinance in the “Business Impact Estimate” section below.  
This Business Impact Estimate Form may be revised following its initial posting. 
 
Proposed ordinance’s title/reference: 
 
 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Marathon, Florida; Amending Chapter 15 Fire Prevention Article 1 In 
General, Amending Section 15-6 Entitled Chickees And Tikis, Amending Section 15-7 Entitled Penalty, 
Amending Sections 15-8 Through 15-26 Entitled Reserved; Of The City Of Marathon Code Of Ordinances; 
Amending Chapter 110 Definitions Article 3 Entitled Defined Terms; Providing For Severability; Providing 
For The Repeal Of Conflicting Provisions; Providing For The Transmittal Of This Ordinance To The 
Department Of Commerce After Final Adoption By The City Council; And Providing For An Effective Date. 
 
 
 
Applicable Exemptions: 
 
☐ The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or regulation; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget amendments, 

including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 
☐ The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, including, 

but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant, or other financial assistance 
accepted by the municipal government; 

☐ The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 
☐ The ordinance relates to procurement; or 
☐ The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 

☐ Development orders and development permits, as those terms are defined in 
s.163.3164, and, development agreements, as authorized by the Florida Local 
Government Development Agreement Act under ss. 163.3220-163.3243;  

☐ Comprehensive Plan Amendments and land development regulation amendments 
initiated by an application by a private party other than the municipality;  

☐ Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

Page 80 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 11/26/24 
Page 2 of 3 

☐ Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 
☐ Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 
 
 
 

Business Impact Estimate: 
 
The City of Marathon hereby publishes the following information: 
 
1. A summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the 

public purpose, such as serving the public health, safety, morals and 
welfare): 

 
Section 15-29 entitled “Duty To Investigate And Make Recommendations” establishes 
that it shall be the duty of the Fire Chief or designee to investigate and to recommend to 
the City Council such additional ordinances or amendments to existing ordinances as he 
may deem necessary for safeguarding life and property against fire.  Additionally, Section 
15-28 states that it shall be the duty of the Fire Chief or designee to enforce all laws and 
ordinances of the City, covering the prevention of fires.  The 5’ setback for tiki and chickee 
structures was set by a previous fire marshal as a policy.  This has been consistently 
applied to the structures obtaining permits as permit conditions.  The adoption of the 
ordinance codifies the policy that has been in place.   
 
2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on 

private, for-profit businesses in the municipality, including the following, if 
any: 

 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may 

reasonably incur if the ordinance is enacted: 
 
As this is codifying existing policy and forms, no new compliance costs are 
expected. 

 
(b) Identification of any new charge or fee on businesses subject to the 

proposed ordinance, or for which businesses will be financially 
responsible:  

 
There is no new charge or fee associated with this ordinance as it is codifying 
existing policy and forms. 

 
(c) An estimate of the municipality’s regulatory costs, including an 

estimate of revenues from any new charges or fees that will be 
imposed on businesses to cover such costs: 

 
No additional regulatory costs. 

 

Page 81 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 11/26/24 
Page 3 of 3 

3. A good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by 
the ordinance: 

 
Five specialty tiki contractors, and any registered general contractor. 
 
4. Additional information the governing body determines may be useful (if any):  
 
The proposed amendments further the purposes of the LDRs and other City Codes, 
regulations and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan by code 
consistency. It provides clarity that both tikis and chickees must meet the same fire 
requirements.  It allows for consistent definition, including the definition of a chickee as 
previously defined in the floodplain management LDR section.  It also allows for smart 
development that by preventing the spread of fire risk, reduces the potential draw on City 
services to combat fires. 
 
Note: The City’s provision of information in the Business Impact Estimate section above, notwithstanding 
an applicable exemption, shall not constitute a waiver of the exemption or an admission that a business 
impact estimate is required by law for the proposed ordinance.  The City’s failure to check one or more 
exemptions below shall not constitute a waiver of the omitted exemption or an admission that the omitted 
exemption does not apply to the proposed ordinance under Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat., Sec. 166.0411, Fla. 
Stat., or any other relevant provision of law. 

Page 82 of 283



Sponsored By: Muro 
Public Hearing Dates: April 15, 2025 

May 13, 2025 
June 10, 2025 

Enactment Date: June 10, 2025 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
ORDINANCE 2025-03 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA; AMENDING 
CHAPTER 15 FIRE PREVENTION ARTICLE 1 IN GENERAL, AMENDING 
SECTION 15-6 ENTITLED CHICKEES AND TIKIS, AMENDING SECTION 15-7 
ENTITLED PENALTY, AMENDING SECTIONS 15-8 THROUGH 15-26 
ENTITLED RESERVED; OF THE CITY OF MARATHON CODE OF 
ORDINANCES; AMENDING CHAPTER 110 DEFINITIONS ARTICLE 3 
ENTITLED DEFINED TERMS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR THE TRANSMITTAL OF THIS ORDINANCE TO THE 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AFTER FINAL ADOPTION BY THE CITY 
COUNCIL; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulations 
Act, Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, provides for comprehensive plan implementation through the enactment 
of certain ordinances; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Marathon is located within an Area of Critical State Concern, pursuant to 
Sections 380.05 and 380.0552, Florida Statutes; and  

 WHEREAS, Florida Keys’ Local Governments have adopted state-mandated Comprehensive 
Plans and Land Development Regulations pursuant to both Chapters 163 and 380.055, Florida Statutes, 
which have been approved by the State, as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Marathon (“City”) is a municipal corporation of the State of Florida with 
such power and authority as has been conferred upon it by the Florida Constitution and Chapter 166, Florida 
Statutes; and 

 WHEREAS, it is the intent of the City Council to safeguard both life and property against fire; and  

 WHEREAS, The City Council intends to adopt the language and further the policies of the 
Comprehensive Plan.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA THAT 

 

 

Strikethrough = deletion  Bold underline = addition 

Page 83 of 283



 

 SECTION 1.  The above recitals are true, correct, and incorporated herein by this reference. 

 SECTION 2.  Chapter 15, Article 11, and Chapter 110, Article 3 are hereby amended and adopted 
as attached in Exhibit A. 

SECTION 3. Any provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Marathon, Florida or 
Ordinances or parts of Ordinances that are in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 

SECTION 4.  The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable and if any section, 
sentence, clause or phrase of this Ordinance shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unconstitutional, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, or phrases of this 
Ordinance, but they shall remain in effect, it being the legislative intent that this Ordinance shall stand 
notwithstanding the invalidity of any part. 

SECTION 5.  It is the intention of the City Council, and it is hereby ordained that the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall become and be made part of the Marathon Code, that sections of this Ordinance 
may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intentions, and that the “Ordinance” shall be changed 
to “Section” or other appropriate word. 

SECTION 6. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon approval. 

 ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, 
THIS 10TH DAY OF JUNE, 2025. 

       THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       Lynn Landry, Mayor 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Steven Williams, City Attorney 

Page 84 of 283



Chapter 15 “Fire Prevention” Article 1 “In General” 
 
*** 
Sec 15-6 Chickees And Tikis 

 
(a) All Chickees and Tikis shall be setback five (5) feet from any improved structure.  In measuring 

setbacks, the horizontal distance between the dripline and the further most projection of the improved 
structure shall be used. 

(b) All Chickees and Tikis must be constructed with a fire-retardant coating: 
a. The fire-retardant coatings such as paints and other surface coatings used to reduce certain 

burning characteristics of building materials such as exterior and interior combustible finish 
materials for a minimum of two years must be certified on a form as approved by the Fire Chief. 

b. Fire-retardant coatings shall possess the desired degree of permanency and shall be 
maintained so as to retain the effectiveness of the treatment under the service conditions 
encountered in actual use. (The two years permanency and endurance requirement shall not 
be allowed to expire.) 

c. Fire-retardant coatings shall remain stable and adhere to the material under all atmospheric 
conditions to which the material is exposed. 

d. Fire-retardant coatings shall be applied in accordance with the manufacturer's directions and 
the application shall be certified by the applicator as being in conformance with the 
manufacturer's directions for application. 

e. The fire-retardant coating shall not be coated over with any material unless both the fire-
retardant coating and the overcoat have been tested as a system and are found to meet the 
requirements of a fire-retardant coating. 

f. Fire-retardant coatings subjected to sustained humidity and exposure to the weather shall be 
tested by NFPA 255, ASTM E 84, UL 723 or ASTM D 2898, whichever is applicable. 

 
Sec 15-76 Penalty 

 
(a) The City may enforce the provisions of this chapter by any lawful means including, but not limited to, in 

accordance with Section 1-7 of the Marathon Code, Chapter 10 of the Marathon Code, or Chapter 109, 
Article II of the Land Development Regulations. 

 
 
Secs 15-87--15-26 (Reserved) 

 
 
Chapter 110 “Definitions” Article 3 “Defined terms”: 
 
*** 
Chickee. Chickees are constructed by the Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Florida or the Seminole Tribe of Florida. 
The term "chickee" means an open-sided wooden hut that has a thatched roof of palm or palmetto or other 
traditional materials, and that does not incorporate any electrical, plumbing, or other non-wood features. 
*** 
Tiki. The term "tiki" means an open-sided wooden hut that has a thatched roof of palm or palmetto or other 
traditional materials, and that may incorporate any electrical, plumbing, or other non-wood features. 
*** 

Page 85 of 283



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
 
Meeting Date: May 13th, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
From:   Brian Shea, Planning Director & James Muro, Fire Chief 
 
Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:   Ordinance 2025-04, Amending Chapter 104, Article 1, Section 104.51.1 “Single-
Family Dwellings (7 Bedrooms Or More)” As Defined Therein; Amending Chapter 110 Article 3 Entitled 
Defined Terms; Providing For Severability; Providing For The Repeal Of Conflicting Provisions; 
Providing For The Transmittal Of This Ordinance To The Department Of Commerce After Final Adoption 
By The City Council; And Providing For An Effective Date. 
              
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends APPROVAL. 
 
APPLICANT: City of Marathon 
 
REQUEST: 
 
Single-family residential structures which exceed six (6) bedrooms in number have a greater impact 
on the community than a more typical residence of six (6) or less bedrooms. Therefore, the City wishes 
to amend the permission of such structures in the wider context of a Conditional Use Permit review 
and approval. Particularly, the City needs to understand the greater impacts of the size of the property 
in question, the parking requirements, the traffic impacts, and the impacts on infrastructure such as 
water, sewer, electricity, and solid waste. We also need to understand the impacts of larger residential 
development and the larger number of individuals likely to reside there, on the community character 
of surrounding neighborhoods. 
 
Purpose of Proposed Amendment: 
 
To modify the Land Development Regulations that require that proposed residential development 
which has more than six (6) bedrooms must be approved through a Conditional Use Permit review 
and approval. 
 
Particularly, the City is requesting to change, Chapter 104, Article 1, Section 104.51.1 “Single-Family 
Dwellings (7 Bedrooms or More)” and to change Chapter 110, “Defined Terms,” to modify or add 
necessary terms related to a change requiring Conational Use permit approval. 
 
AUTHORITY 

Page 86 of 283



 
Section 102.26. Planning Commission Recommendation. 
A. Authority: The PC shall consider a proposed text amendment at the request of the 
Council. 
B. Review Criteria: The PC shall review such proposed amendment, based upon the 
criteria listed below:   

1. The need and justification for the change; 
2. The consistency of the proposed amendment with the Comprehensive Plan; and 
3. Whether the proposed change shall further the purposes of the LDRs and other City 
Codes, regulations and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan. 

C. Findings: The PC shall make a finding of whether the proposed amendment is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and a recommendation shall be prepared and forwarded 
to the Council, indicating if the proposed amendment should be:   

1. Approved as proposed; 
2. Approved with amendments proposed by the PC; or 
3. Denied 
 

Section 102.27. - Hearing(s) by Council. 
A. The decision to process a text amendment is within the sole discretion of the Council. 
B. For any proposed text amendment, the Council shall hold a minimum of two (2) public hearings, 
conforming to the requirements of Fla. Stat. Ch. 166, before taking action on the amendment. 
 

Section 102.28. - Action by Council. 
Following the public hearings, the Council shall make a finding of whether the proposed text 

amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and may approve, approve with changes, or 
deny the proposed amendment.  

 
As noted, review of proposed LDR text amendments is to be made based on three basic criteria:  need and 
justification for change, consistency with the adopted Comprehensive Plan, and whether the proposed 
amendment will further the purposes of the LDRs, other ordinances, and actions taken to further the 
implementation of the Comprehensive Plan. The Planning Commission, in reviewing the proposed 
amendment, may recommend approval as is, approval with changes, or denial to the City Council. 
 
ANALYSIS OF LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION TEXT AMENDMENTS:  
 
Section 102.26(B) of the Land Development Regulations requires that the following standards and criteria 
be considered for any proposed text amendment. Each criteria and explanation of relevance to this 
proposed amendment are listed below: 
 

A. The need and justification for the change; 
 
Council approved a moratorium to address the changes needed to this ordinance based upon previous 
applications being submitted that did not meet the community character criteria as part of the 
conditional use review. Staff was given some direction to create a framework for this criteria.   
 

Page 87 of 283

javascript:void(0)
javascript:void(0)


 
B. The consistency of the proposed amendment with the Comprehensive Plan; and 
 
The proposed amendment does not change any of the basic purposes of the Comprehensive Plan. This 
proposal aims to provide more detail to the requirements for proposed developments which request 
single-family residences of greater than six (6) bedrooms.   
 
C. Whether regulations change shall further the purposes of the LDRs and other City Codes, 

regulations and actions designed to implement the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

The proposed regulations do further the basic goals and premises outlined in the introduction to the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan as follows: 
 
“With the knowledge that the City needs redevelopment and new development to provide the 
necessary improvements to guarantee the residents of the City a clean, healthy environment and a 
sound economy in which to live and enjoy their families, it is the desire and intent of the City through 
the GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES OF THE ADOPTED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND 
LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS IMPLEMENTING THE PLAN TO PROTECT OUR 
CHARACTER, ENVIRONMENT AND VIABILITY THROUGH:  
 
• Protection of the small-town family feel of the community 
• Continued utilization of the established mixed-use pattern of the community 
• Protection of the heritage of the commercial fishing industry 
• Acknowledgement and protection of a character that is unique to the Keys 
• Protection of existing and increased affordable housing opportunities 
• Implementation of effective surface water management strategies 
• Systematic removal of failing and inadequate on-site wastewater disposal systems 
• Maintenance and management of central wastewater and stormwater facilities 
• Protection and enhancement of sensitive upland, wetland, and submerged land habitat 
• Protection for the existing uses, densities, and intensities 
• Providing new investment and reinvestment opportunities  
• Ensuring new development and redevelopment protects the environment  
• Ensuring new and redevelopment compliments and enhances community character 
• Implementation of thoughtful, managed growth.” 

 
Additionally, language is being added that references back to sections that pertain to wastewater flows 
and assessments ensuring compliance, without removing the ability to enforce existing standards. Excerpts 
of the appropriate code sections are provided below. 

 
CONCLUSION: 
 
Staff indicates that the proposed text amendments are consistent with the standards and tenants of Chapter 
163 and 380 F.S., and the City’s Comprehensive Plan adopted under the requirements of these statutes 
and rules.  
 

Page 88 of 283



RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends APPROVAL. 
Planning Commission recommended approval (3-0) with direction for aiming towards smaller, and 
provided additional language options. 
 
 
Table 103.15.1  
Uses by Zoning District 
ZONING DISTRICT RM RM-1 RM-2 RH 
Single-family dwellings (6 Bedrooms or less) P P P P 
Single-family dwellings (7 Bedrooms or more)  C C C  C 

 
Table 103.15.2  
DENSITY, INTENSITY AND DIMENSIONS FOR ZONING DISTRICTS 
  RH RM RM-1 RM-2 
Market Rate (maximum) 8 5 4 5 
Min lot area per unit (square feet)         
 Market Rate 5,445 8,712 10,000 8,712 

 
Sec 34-31 Right To Refuse Service 
The City may refuse to extend wastewater service to any person on the basis of a use detrimental to the 
system, lack of payment of required fees or charges, or for any other reason which, in the judgment of the 
City, applying sound engineering principles, will cause the proposed service extension not to be of benefit 
to the City. No payment of costs, submittal of an application or other act to receive wastewater service 
will guarantee that such service will be made available.  
 
Sec 34-41 Extension of Wastewater Facilities on Request 

(a) An owner seeking to obtain a commitment for wastewater service from the City for new 
development or re-development of an existing property that may require the installation or 
extension of wastewater facilities must identify system capacity needs for, or must have 
previously identified the number of EDUs corresponding to, the anticipated requirements of the 
project. The owner must complete and provide the City sufficient information for the City to 
determine whether extension of wastewater facilities to the new development or re-development 
is practicable and in the City's best interest. 

 

Page 89 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 11/26/24 
Page 1 of 3 

Note to Staff: This form should be completed and included in the agenda 
packet for the item under which the proposed ordinance is to be 
considered and must be posted on the City’s website by the time notice 
of the proposed ordinance is published (10 days prior). 
 

 
Business Impact Estimate Form 

 
This Business Impact Estimate Form is provided to document compliance with and 
exemption from the requirements of Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat. If one or more boxes are 
checked below under “Applicable Exemptions”, this indicates that the City of Marathon 
has determined that Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat., does not apply to the proposed ordinance 
and that a business impact estimate is not required by law.  If no exemption is identified, 
a business impact estimate required by Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat. will be provided in the 
“Business Impact Estimate” section below.  In addition, even if one or more exemptions 
are identified, the City of Marathon may nevertheless choose to provide information 
concerning the proposed ordinance in the “Business Impact Estimate” section below.  
This Business Impact Estimate Form may be revised following its initial posting. 
 
Proposed ordinance’s title/reference: 
 
An Ordinance Of The City Of Marathon, Florida, Amending Chapter 104, Article 1, Section 104.51.1 
“Single-Family Dwellings (7 Bedrooms Or More)” As Defined Therein; Amending Chapter 110 Article 3 
Entitled Defined Terms; Providing For Severability; Providing For The Repeal Of Conflicting Provisions; 
Providing For The Transmittal Of This Ordinance To The Department Of Commerce After Final Adoption 
By The City Council; And Providing For An Effective Date. 
 
Applicable Exemptions: 
 
☐ The proposed ordinance is required for compliance with Federal or State law or regulation; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the issuance or refinancing of debt; 
☐  The proposed ordinance relates to the adoption of budgets or budget amendments, 

including revenue sources necessary to fund the budget; 
☐ The proposed ordinance is required to implement a contract or an agreement, including, 

but not limited to, any Federal, State, local, or private grant, or other financial assistance 
accepted by the municipal government; 

☐ The proposed ordinance is an emergency ordinance; 
☐ The ordinance relates to procurement; or 
☐ The proposed ordinance is enacted to implement the following: 

☐ Development orders and development permits, as those terms are defined in 
s.163.3164, and, development agreements, as authorized by the Florida Local 
Government Development Agreement Act under ss. 163.3220-163.3243;  

☐ Comprehensive Plan Amendments and land development regulation amendments 
initiated by an application by a private party other than the municipality;  

☐ Sections 190.005 and 190.046, Florida Statutes, regarding community 
development districts; 

☐ Section 553.73, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Building Code; or 
☐ Section 633.202, Florida Statutes, relating to the Florida Fire Prevention Code. 
 
 

Page 90 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 11/26/24 
Page 2 of 3 

 
Business Impact Estimate: 
 
The City of Marathon hereby publishes the following information: 
 
1. A summary of the proposed ordinance (must include a statement of the 

public purpose, such as serving the public health, safety, morals and 
welfare): 

 
Conditional uses are uses which, because of their character, size and potential impacts, 
may or may not be appropriate in particular zoning districts. The conditional use 
requirement is intended to allow for the integration of certain land uses and structures 
within the City of Marathon, based on conditions imposed by the Council. Review is based 
primarily on compatibility of the use with its proposed location and with surrounding land 
uses and on the basis of all zoning, subdivision and other ordinances applicable to the 
proposed location and zoning district. 
 
Conditional uses shall not be allowed where the conditional use would create a nuisance, 
traffic congestion, a threat to the public health, safety or welfare of the community or a 
violation of any provision of the City Code, state law, rule or regulation.  By amending the 
requirements for single family dwelling units exceeding 6 bedrooms, the ordinance 
furthers those protections. 
 
2. An estimate of the direct economic impact of the proposed ordinance on 

private, for-profit businesses in the municipality, including the following, if 
any: 

 
(a) An estimate of direct compliance costs that businesses may 

reasonably incur if the ordinance is enacted: 
 
This ordinance amends specific conditional use requirements, that would already 
need to be paid for as part of the conditional use.  No additional direct costs are 
proposed. 

 
(b) Identification of any new charge or fee on businesses subject to the 

proposed ordinance, or for which businesses will be financially 
responsible:  

 
There is no new charge or fee associated with this ordinance as it is amending 
existing specific use requirements for a conditional use. 

 
(c) An estimate of the municipality’s regulatory costs, including an 

estimate of revenues from any new charges or fees that will be 
imposed on businesses to cover such costs: 

 
No additional regulatory costs. 

Page 91 of 283



Business Impact Estimate Form 
Form Revised 11/26/24 
Page 3 of 3 

 
3. A good faith estimate of the number of businesses likely to be impacted by 

the ordinance: 
 
Any registered certified general contractor or certified residential contractor looking to 
build a new single-family residence or addition to a single family residence under the 
existing ordinance would still meet the same requirements under the amended 
ordinance.   
 
4. Additional information the governing body determines may be useful (if any):  
 
Single Family Residences are not a business and therefore have little impact on 
businesses except those contractors as noted above. 
 
Note: The City’s provision of information in the Business Impact Estimate section above, notwithstanding 
an applicable exemption, shall not constitute a waiver of the exemption or an admission that a business 
impact estimate is required by law for the proposed ordinance.  The City’s failure to check one or more 
exemptions below shall not constitute a waiver of the omitted exemption or an admission that the omitted 
exemption does not apply to the proposed ordinance under Sec. 166.041(4), Fla. Stat., Sec. 166.0411, Fla. 
Stat., or any other relevant provision of law. 

Page 92 of 283



 

 
 

 Sponsored by: Garrett  
Public Hearing Dates: April 15, 2025 

May 13, 2025 
June 10, 2025 

Enactment Date: June 10, 2025 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
ORDINANCE 2025-04 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
CHAPTER 104, ARTICLE 1, SECTION 104.51.1 “SINGLE-FAMILY 
DWELLINGS (7 BEDROOMS OR MORE)” AS DEFINED THEREIN; 
AMENDING CHAPTER 110 ARTICLE 3 ENTITLED DEFINED TERMS; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING PROVISIONS; PROVIDING FOR THE TRANSMITTAL OF 
THIS ORDINANCE TO THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE AFTER FINAL 
ADOPTION BY THE CITY COUNCIL; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
             
 

WHEREAS, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, provides for comprehensive plan implementation through the enactment 
of certain ordinances; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Marathon is located within an Area of Critical State Concern (ACSC), pursuant 
to Sections 380.05 and 380.0552, Florida Statutes, hereinafter referred to the “Keys ACSCs”; and  
 
WHEREAS, Keys’ Local Governments have adopted state-mandated Comprehensive Plans and Land 
Development Regulations pursuant to both Chapters 163 and 380.055, Florida Statutes, which have been 
approved by the State, as required by law, and; 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, grants the City of Marathon (the “City”) broad municipal 
home rule powers to provide for the health, safety and welfare of its residents, business owners and 
visitors by enacting business regulations for the protection of the public; and 
 
WHEREAS, the purpose of the proposed Ordinance is to manage growth and development in 
residential neighborhoods and zoning categories when large single family residential development are 
proposed (greater than six (6) bedrooms), thus requiring a Conditional Use Permit review and approval, 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
    
 

Page 93 of 283



 

 
 

SECTION 1. The above recitals are true, correct, and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
SECTION 2. Amend Chapter 104, Article 1, “General Provisions,” to amend Section 104.51.1, 
“Single-family dwellings (7 Bedrooms or more) as shown in Exhibit A 
 
SECTION 3. Chapter 110 “Definitions”’ Article 3 Entitled “Defined Terms” as shown in Exhibit B. 

 
SECTION 4. The Provisions of the Code of Ordinances, City of Marathon, Florida and all Ordinances 
or parts of Ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 5. The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable, and if any sentence, 
section, clause or phrase of this Ordinance shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining sentences, sections, clauses 
or phrases of the Ordinance, but they shall remain in effect it being the legislative intent that this 
Ordinance shall stand notwithstanding the invalidity of any part. 
 
SECTION 6. It is the intention of the City Council and it is hereby ordained the provisions of this 
Ordinance shall become and be made part of the Marathon Code, that sections of this Ordinance may be 
renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intentions, and that the word “Ordinance” shall be 
changed to “Section” or other appropriate word. 
 
SECTION 7. The provisions of this Ordinance constitute a “land development regulation” as state law 
defines that term.  Accordingly, the City Clerk is authorized and directed to forward a copy of this 
Ordinance to the State Department of Commerce for approval pursuant to Sections 380.05(6) and (11), 
Florida Statutes. 
 
SECTION 11. This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon approval by the State 
Department of Commerce pursuant to Chapter 380, Florida Statutes. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, 
FLORIDA, THIS 10th DAY OF JUNE, 2025. 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

Page 94 of 283



 

 
 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 
 

Page 95 of 283



ARTICLE 110-3 DEFINED TERMS 

*** 

Bedroom. A room generally intended for sleeping in, typically for one or two individuals and 
perhaps a small child. A bedroom typically is defined on the basis of the following 
conditions, but may vary: 

1. Doors: Typically contains at least one door for entry, though may not have a door in 
open living plans 

2. Minimum square footage: 60 to 70 square feet. 

3. Minimum horizontal footage: A minimum of at least seven (7) feet in any horizontal 
direction. 

4. Two means of egress: There have to be two ways out of a bedroom. 

5. Minimum ceiling height: At least half of the bedroom ceiling has to be at least seven 
(7) feet tall and meet the Florida Building Code (FBC). 

6. Minimum window size: The window opening must be a minimum size, usually five 
and seven-tenths (5.7) square feet and must meet the Florida Building Code (FBC). 

7. A heating/cooling element. 

8. May have a closet, an associated bathroom, small refrigerator, and/or a microwave. 

For the sake of calculating the number of bedrooms, the City may count an office, den, 
game/recreation room, alcove, or similar room or semi-enclosed space as a bedroom 
dependent on the apparent purpose and use for the space. The City shall require a deed 
restriction  documenting any additional office, den, game/recreation room, alcove, or 
similar room or semi-enclosed space intended to not be counted in the overall bedroom 
count. 

*** 

Dwelling Unit (Single-family residence). A single unit providing complete and independent 
living facilities for one (1) or more persons including permanent provisions for living, 
sleeping, cooking and sanitation. The term is applicable to both permanent or rental 
residential development and living. 

Dwelling units with seven (7) or more bedrooms are subject to Conditional Use Permit 
review and approval (see Chapter 104, Article 13). Dwelling units with seven (7) or more 
bedrooms shall not be set up in the fashion of a hotel or motel, so defined herein, to 

Page 96 of 283



provide common area facilities for reservations, cleaning services, site management, and 
reception.  The City shall require a deed restriction documenting the approved number of 
bedrooms, and any office, den, game/recreation room, alcove, or similar room or semi-
enclosed space. 

For the purposes of calculation within the Building Permit Allocation System (BPAS), any 
Dwelling Unit or Single-family Residence which supports more than one complete kitchen 
shall be considered a Duplex (at least), must meet the minimum residential density 
requirements, and shall be required to obtain one (1) additional Residential allocation for 
each additional kitchen. 

Page 97 of 283



[Sec 104.51.1] Single-Family Dwellings (7 Bedrooms Or More) 

The approval of Single-family dwellings (Seven (7) Bedrooms or more) requires a 
Conditional Use Permit review and approval pursuant to Chapter 102, Article 13 of the 
Land Development Regulations. 

Single-family residential structures which include seven (7) or more bedrooms in number 
have a greater impact on the community than a more typical residence of six (6) bedrooms 
or less. Therefore, the City requires that the permission of such structures be considered in 
the wider context of a Conditional Use Permit. Particularly, the City must understand at a 
minimum, the greater impacts of the project related to the size of the property in question, 
the parking requirements, the traffic impacts, and the impacts on infrastructure such as 
water, sewer, electricity, and solid waste. However, as noted in the application submittal 
requirements below, other considerations and additional review areas may be considered 
and additional information may be requested. 

SPECIFIC APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS  
CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS 

These requirements are to be met in addition to those requirements of Chapter 102, Article 
13, Section 102.75. The Planning Department may require additional drawings, 
specifications or information in order to complete the review of the application. 

1. Wastewater Flow Calculations. 

a. Residences with six (6) six bedrooms or less will be assumed to equate to 
one (1) Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) at 167 gallons per day. System 
development and connection charges, as well as monthly base and flow 
charges will accrue and be billed as a single-family residence. Nothing in this 
section shall preclude the City’s ability to review EDU assessments and 
extensions of wastewater facilities requests for residences of six (6) 
bedrooms or less under section 34-41. Nor shall the City’s right to refuse 
service under Section 34-31 be abrogated. 

b. Residences with seven (7) bedrooms or more will be assessed based on a 
calculation of average wastewater flows developed and provided by a 
qualified wastewater engineer or architect, in compliance with Florida 
Department of Health (FDOH) requirements as set forth in Rule Chapter 62-6 
of the Florida Administrative Code. Such wastewater flow will be calculated 
into the one-time System Development and Connection charges and be 
billed accordingly. Nothing in this section shall preclude the City’s ability to 
review EDU assessments and extensions of wastewater facilities requests for 

Page 98 of 283



residences of seven (7) bedrooms or more under section 34-41. Nor shall the 
City’s right to refuse service under Section 34-31 be abrogated. 

2. Parking space needs analysis. The City will require a minimum of one (1) parking 
space per bedroom unless otherwise justified and validated by the Conditional Use 
Permit applicant. 

3. A Traffic Study prepared by a licensed traffic engineer. 

4. Community Character Criteria (Use).   

a. An applicant who wishes to have a residence with seven (7) bedrooms or 
more will be reviewed based on a strict mathematical averaging of the actual 
bedroom counts of all properties within 500 feet of the property on the same 
street and within 250 feet on parallel streets. The distances noted (e.g., 500 
feet and 250 feet) are flexible based on the actual location on the street of 
the property subject to conditional use and the meander of that street. 

b. Alternatively, an applicant who wishes to have a residence with seven (7) 
bedrooms or more will be reviewed based on a strict mathematical averaging 
of the actual bedroom counts of all properties within the platted subdivision. 

c. The bedroom count allowed shall be proportional to the community 
character average plus [one (1) bedroom, two (2) bedrooms, or three (3) 
bedrooms].  For the purposes of bedroom averages, the number shall always 
be rounded [up to a whole number, down to a whole number, or to the 
nearest whole number].   

d. In the event a property can be assessed under both section a and b above, 
the average shall be used on the lesser of the two assessments. 

e. The total square footage of the unit shall not exceed [Value] square feet. 

5. Community Character Criteria (Zoning). 

a. A site seeking conditional use approval for a residence with seven (7) 
bedrooms or more must have an upland area equivalent to [one and a half 
times (1.5x), two times (2x), two and a half times (2.5x), three times (3x)] the 
density of a market rate unit for the zoning of that site as established in Table 
103.15.2. 

Page 99 of 283



 

b. For the purposes of this calculation, if multiple residences are on site, those 
densities will be subtracted from the overall upland area prior to 
calculations.  If multiple residences on a site seek conditional use approval, 
the calculation in 5.a. above will be assessed for each unit. 

c. A deed restriction must be filed documenting the square footage of density 
being extinguished on site as part of the Conditional Use approval. 

 

a. A site seeking conditional use approval for a residence with seven (7) 
bedrooms or more must have excess upland area equivalent to [twenty 
percent (20%), twenty-five percent (25%), thirty percent (30%), fifty 
percent (50%)] the density of a market rate unit for the zoning of that site as 
established in Table 103.15.2. 

 

Page 100 of 283



  
  
 COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
  
   
Meeting Date May 13, 2025   
  
To:  Honorable Mayor and City Council  
 
From:  Carlos A. Solis, P.E., Director of Public Works &   

Engineering  
 
Through: George Garrett, City Manager 

 
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-39, Approval Of The Turf And Landscape Maintenance Agreement 
With FDOT For The Maintenance Of The US 1 Corridor Within The City Of Marathon; Authorizing 
The City Manager To Execute The Agreement; And Providing For An Effective Date. 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION:   
The City currently maintains all the medians and installed landscape areas along the US 1 corridor 
within the City limits. FDOT maintains all other areas, however, their maintenance standards in 
comparison to the City’s maintenance activity in the corridor vary significantly, resulting in an 
imbalance of the appearance between the areas maintained by the City, and those maintained by 
FDOT. Staff has been directed to negotiate an agreement with FDOT to take over the entire corridor 
so as to maintain a better appearance along the corridor, which in essence is our Main Street. The 
attached agreement outlines the maintenance responsibilities, and the compensation from FDOT to 
the City of $53,000/year for such activities. City staff is prepared to take on this responsibility 
beginning July 1, and have budgeted for the personnel and operations cost.  
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan ____ ____      
2.  Other                                                                 ____       
3.  Not applicable____         
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
The adopted FY25 Street Maintenance Fund Budget includes appropriations for this agreement from 
July 1st – September 30, 2025. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of Resolution  

 

Page 101 of 283



Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-39  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA APPROVING THE TURF AND LANDSCAPE 
MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH FDOT FOR THE MAINTENANCE 
OF THE US 1 CORRIDOR WITHIN THE CITY OF MARATHON; 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the FDOT ( Florida Department of Transportation) (the “DEPARTMENT”) 

has jurisdiction and maintains State Road 5/US-1 /Overseas Highway within the FDOT right of 
way from the Seven Mile Bridge to the West end of Tom’s Harbor Bridge Channel (Bridge # 
900100) in the City of Marathon in (the “LOCAL GOVERNMENT”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT, at the LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s request, has agreed to 

compensate the LOCAL GOVERNMENT for the maintenance of turf and landscape, hereinafter 
referred to as (the ‘PROJECT’), and  

 
WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT recognizes that the State Right-of-Way 

contains turf and landscape, which requires ongoing maintenance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT has programmed funding for the PROJECT under 

Financial Project Number 455231-1-78-01, and has agreed to compensate the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT for turf and landscape maintenance services as further described in Exhibit “A” – 
Scope of Services, and in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit “B” – Financial Summary, 
which exhibits are attached hereto, and incorporated by reference; and  

 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto mutually recognize the need for entering into an Agreement 

designating and setting forth the responsibilities of each party; and  
 
WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is aware this Agreement will supplement all 

maintenance requirements between the DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL GOVERNMENT for all 
previously executed Permits and Agreements; and  

 
WHEREAS, the parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 

339.08(e), 335.055 and 339.12, Florida Statutes (F.S.); 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 
Section 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein. 
 
Section 2.  The Contract between the LOCAL GOVERNMENT and the DEPARTMENT 

Page 102 of 283



for Project, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit “A,” together with such non-material changes as 
may be acceptable to the City Manager and approved as to form by the City Attorney, is hereby 
approved.  The City Manager is authorized to execute the Contract on behalf of the City. 

 
Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13TH DAY OF MAY, 2025. 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
AYES:    
NOES:     
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:    
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 

Page 103 of 283



 CONTRACT # _______ 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 1 of 15 

TURF AND LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE 
DEPARTMENT FUNDED AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE 
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

AND  
CITY OF MARATHON 

 
 
      This Agreement, is made and entered into this _____day of _____________, 20__, by and 
between the State of Florida Department of Transportation, a component agency of the State of 
Florida, hereinafter referred to as the ‘DEPARTMENT’, and City of Marathon, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Florida, hereinafter referred to as the ‘LOCAL GOVERNMENT’. 

 
RECITALS: 

 
WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT has jurisdiction and maintains State Road 5/US-1 

/Overseas Highway within the FDOT right of way from the Seven Mile Bridge to the west end of 
Tom’s Harbor Bridge Channel (Bridge # 900100) in the City of Marathon in the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT; and 
 

WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT, at the LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s request, has agreed 
to compensate the LOCAL GOVERNMENT for the maintenance of turf and landscape, hereinafter 
referred to as the ‘PROJECT’, and 

 
WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT recognizes that the State Right-of-Way 

contains turf and landscape, which requires ongoing maintenance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the DEPARTMENT has programmed funding for the PROJECT under 

Financial Project Number 455231-1-78-01, and has agreed to compensate the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT for turf and landscape maintenance services as further described in Exhibit “A” 
– Scope of Services, and in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit “B” – Financial Summary, 
which exhibits are attached hereto, and incorporated by reference; and 
 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto mutually recognize the need for entering into an Agreement 
designating and setting forth the responsibilities of each party; and 

 
WHEREAS, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is aware this Agreement will supplement all 

maintenance requirements between the DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL GOVERNMENT for 
all previously executed Permits and Agreements; and 

WHEREAS, the parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 
339.08(e), 335.055 and 339.12, Florida Statutes (F.S.); 

 
 

Page 104 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 2 of 15 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants and other 
valuable considerations contained herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, 
the parties agree as follows: 

 
1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS 
  

The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated into the body of this 
Agreement, as if fully set forth herein. 

 
2. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES 

 
a. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT has submitted this Agreement to its LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT Council/Commission for ratification or approval by resolution.  A 
copy of said approval resolution is attached hereto as “Exhibit “D” - Local 
Government’s Resolution”, and is herein incorporated by reference. 

 
b. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall not commence the PROJECT until issuance of a 

written notice to proceed by the DEPARTMENT, and the DEPARTMENT shall not 
compensate the LOCAL GOVERNMENT for any PROJECT work undertaken prior to 
the date of the Notice to Proceed. 

 
c. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for the maintenance of all areas that 

have turf and landscape within the DEPARTMENT’s right-of-way (the project limits) 
as described in Exhibit “A”. 

 
d. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for performing the required 

maintenance within the project limits with the minimum frequencies stipulated in 
Exhibit “A”. 

 
e. All turf and landscape maintenance shall be in accordance with the latest edition of the 

State of Florida “Guide for Roadside Mowing” and the latest edition of the 
“Maintenance Rating Program”, and Index 546 of the latest FDOT Design Standards. 

 
f. Before the LOCAL GOVERNMENT starts the work, the DEPARTMENT shall be 

notified, via fax or e-mail.  The fax or e-mail shall be sent to the attention of the  
South Miami-Dade Maintenance Engineer, Brian K. Jimmerson, P.E. at (305)640-7277 
or Brian.Jimmerson@dot.state.fl.us  

 
g. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall not be responsible for the clean-up, removal and 

disposal of debris from the DEPARTMENT’s right of way following a natural disaster 
(i.e. hurricane, tornados, etc.).  However, the cost of any cycle or part thereof impaired 
by any such event may be deducted from the DEPARTMENT’s affected quarterly 
payment to the LOCAL GOVERNMENT. 

 
 

Page 105 of 283

mailto:Brian.Jimmerson@dot.state.fl.us


 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 3 of 15 

h. It is understood between the parties hereto that all the landscaping covered by this 
Agreement may be removed, relocated or adjusted at any time in the future as found 
necessary by the DEPARTMENT in order that the adjacent state road be widened, 
altered or otherwise changed and maintained to meet with future criteria or planning of 
the DEPARTMENT. 

 
i. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall not plant additional landscaping within the limits 

of the PROJECT, without prior written approval by the DEPARTMENT, in accordance 
with Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-40.003.  Such approval shall be in the form 
of a separate written agreement that will require the LOCAL GOVERNMENT to 
properly construct and maintain the additional landscaping without compensation from 
the DEPARTMENT. 

 
j. This Agreement shall not obligate the DEPARTMENT to pay the LOCAL 

GOVERNMENT to maintain any additional landscaping, planted after the effective 
date of this Agreement, within the limits of the PROJECT, and shall not obligate the 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT to maintain any such additional landscaping. 

k. Payments to the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be made in accordance with Sections 
3 and 5 of this Agreement. 
 

l. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall inspect the PROJECT and provide a list of 
potential deficiencies to the DEPARTMENT prior to the DEPARTMENT issuing the 
written notice to proceed.  The DEPARTMENT will review the inspection list and 
address all locations that do not meet the DEPARTMENT’S maintenance Standards. 

 
3. FINANCIAL PROVISIONS 

 
a. The DEPARTMENT agrees to compensate the LOCAL GOVERNMENT, up to the 

maximum participating annual amount of $53,000.00 for completion of the services 
described in Exhibit “A” – Scope of Services.  The method of compensation is included 
in Exhibit “B” – Financial Summary.  

 
b. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall provide quantifiable, measurable, and verifiable 

units of deliverables. Each deliverable must specify the required minimum level of 
service to be performed and the criteria for evaluating successful completion. The 
PROJECT, identified as PROJECT Number 455231-1-78-01, and the quantifiable, 
measurable, and verifiable units of deliverables, consisting of the performance 
measures services required to perform the PROJECT Scope of Services described in 
Exhibit “A”. (Section 287.058(1)(d) and (e), F.S.),  

 
c. Invoices shall be submitted by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT in detail sufficient for a 

proper pre-audit and post audit based on the quantifiable, measurable and verifiable 
units of deliverables as established in Exhibit “A”, accompanied by the duly executed 
certification document in Exhibit “C”, thereby establishing that the Scope of Services 

Page 106 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 4 of 15 

described in Exhibit “A” have been completed. Deliverables must be received and 
accepted in writing by the DEPARTMENT’s Project Manager prior to payments. 
(Section 287.058 (1)(a), F.S.)  

 
d. Supporting documentation must establish that the deliverables were received and 

accepted in writing by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT, or performed by the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT, and must also establish that the required minimum level of service 
to be performed based on the criteria for evaluating successful completion as specified 
in Exhibit “A” – Scope of Services was met (see Exhibit “C” – Turf and Landscape 
JPA Work Certification Document).  

 
e. There shall be no reimbursement or compensation for travel expenses under this 

Agreement. 
 

f. Payment shall be made only after receipt and approval of goods and/or services unless 
advance payments are authorized by the Chief Financial Officer of the State of Florida 
under Chapters 215 and 216, F.S. If the DEPARTMENT determines that the 
performance of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is unsatisfactory, the DEPARTMENT 
shall notify the LOCAL GOVERNMENT of the deficiency to be corrected, which 
correction shall be made within a time-frame to be specified by the DEPARTMENT.  

 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall, within five days after notice from the 
DEPARTMENT, provide the DEPARTMENT with a corrective action plan describing 
how the LOCAL GOVERNMENT will address all issues of contract non-performance, 
unacceptable performance, failure to meet the minimum performance levels, 
deliverable deficiencies, or contract non-compliance. If the corrective action plan is 
unacceptable to the DEPARTMENT, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be assessed 
a non-performance retainage equivalent to 10% of the total invoice amount. The 
retainage shall be applied to the invoice for the then-current billing period. The 
retainage shall be withheld until the LOCAL GOVERNMENT resolves the deficiency. 
If the deficiency is subsequently resolved, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT may bill the 
DEPARTMENT for the retained amount during the next billing period. If the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT is unable to resolve the deficiency, the funds retained may be 
forfeited at the end of the Agreement’s term. (Section 287.058(1)(h), F.S.). 

 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT providing goods and/or services to the DEPARTMENT 
should be aware of the following time frames. Inspection and approval of goods or 
services shall take no longer than 5 working days unless the bid specifications, purchase 
order, or contract specifies otherwise. The DEPARTMENT has 20 days to deliver a 
request for payment (voucher) to the Department of Financial Services. The 20 days 
are measured from the latter of the date the invoice is received or the goods or services 
are received, inspected, and approved. (Section 215.422(1), F.S.).  

 
If a payment is not available within 40 days, a separate interest penalty at a rate as 
established pursuant to Section 55.03(1), F.S., will be due and payable, in addition to 

Page 107 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 5 of 15 

the invoice amount, to the LOCAL GOVERNMENT. Interest penalties of less than one 
(1) dollar will not be enforced unless the LOCAL GOVERNMENT requests payment. 
Invoices that have to be returned to LOCAL GOVERNMENT because of LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT preparation errors will result in a delay in the payment. The invoice 
payment requirements do not start until a properly completed invoice is provided to the 
DEPARTMENT. (Section 215.422(3)(b), F.S.)  
 
A Vendor Ombudsman has been established within the DEPARTMENT of Financial 
Services. The duties of this individual include acting as an advocate for LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT who may be experiencing problems in obtaining timely payment(s) 
from a state agency. The Vendor Ombudsman may be contacted at (850) 413-5516. 
(Section 215.422(5) and (7), F.S.)  

 
g. Records of costs incurred under the terms of this Agreement shall be maintained and 

made available upon request to the DEPARTMENT at all times during the period of 
this Agreement and for five (5) years after final payment is made. Copies of these 
documents and records shall be furnished to the DEPARTMENT upon request. 
Records of costs incurred include the LOCAL GOVERNMENT's general accounting 
records and the PROJECT records, together with supporting documents and records, 
of the contractor and all subcontractors performing work on the PROJECT, and all 
other records of the Contractor and subcontractors considered necessary by the 
DEPARTMENT for a proper audit of costs. (Section 287.058(4), F.S.)  

 
h. In the event this contract is for services in excess of $25,000.00 and a term for a period 

of more than 1 year, the provisions of Section 339.135(6)(a), F.S., are hereby 
incorporated:  

 
 "The DEPARTMENT, during any fiscal year, shall not expend money, incur 

any liability, or enter into any contract which, by its terms, involves the 
expenditure of money in excess of the amounts budgeted as available for 
expenditure during such fiscal year. Any contract, verbal or written, made in 
violation of this subsection is null and void, and no money may be paid on 
such contract. The DEPARTMENT shall require a statement from the 
Comptroller of the DEPARTMENT that such funds are available prior to 
entering into any such contract or other binding commitment of funds. Nothing 
herein contained shall prevent the making of contracts for periods exceeding 1 
year, but any contract so made shall be executory only for the value of the 
services to be rendered or agreed to be paid for in succeeding fiscal years; and 
this paragraph shall be incorporated verbatim in all contracts of the 
DEPARTMENT which are for an amount in excess of $25,000.00 and which 
have a term for a period of more than 1 year." 

 
i. The DEPARTMENT’s obligation to pay is contingent upon an annual appropriation by 

the Florida Legislature. (Section 216.311, F.S.)  
 

Page 108 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 6 of 15 

j. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall:  
 

i. Utilize the U.S. DEPARTMENT of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system to 
verify the employment eligibility of all new employees hired by the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT during the term of the contract; and  

 
ii. Expressly require any contractors and subcontractors performing work or 

providing services pursuant to the state contract to likewise utilize the U.S. 
DEPARTMENT of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system to verify the 
employment eligibility of all new employees hired by the subcontractor during 
the contract term. (Executive Order Number 2011-02).  

 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall insert the above clause into any contract entered into by 
the LOCAL GOVERNMENT with vendors or contractors hired by the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT for purposes of performing its duties under this Agreement. 

 
4. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
All notices, requests, demands, consents, approvals, and other communication which are 
required to be served or given hereunder, shall be in writing and shall be sent by certified U.S. 
mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the party to receive such notices 
as follows: 
 

To DEPARTMENT:  Florida Department of Transportation 
     1000 NW 111 Avenue, Room 6205 
     Miami, Florida 33172-5800 
     Attention: District Maintenance Engineer 
 

  To LOCAL GOVERNMENT: City of Marathon 
       9805 Overseas Highway  
       Marathon, Florida 33050 
       Attention: City Manager with copy to City Attorney 
 

Notices shall be deemed to have been received by the end of five (5) business days from the 
proper sending thereof unless proof of prior actual receipt is provided. 

 
5. INVOICING 

 

a. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall submit quarterly invoices for DEPARTMENT 
review, approval, and payment in accordance with this Agreement. Quarterly payments 
will be made upon invoice approval in an amount not to exceed one fourth of the 
eligible PROJECT costs. Each invoice shall include a completed Turf and Landscape 
JPA Work Certification Document (Exhibit “C”) certifying that the goods and/or 
services to be completed and paid under this Agreement have been satisfactorily 
completed and delivered in accordance with the required Scope of Work in Exhibit 
“A”. 

Page 109 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 7 of 15 

b. In the event temporary work by the DEPARTMENT’s forces or by other Contractors 
temporarily prevent the LOCAL GOVERNMENT from performing the work described 
in this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT shall deduct from the affected quarterly 
payment(s) the acreage affected area and only compensate the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT for the actual work it performs. 

 

i. The DEPARTMENT shall initiate this procedure only if the temporary work 
prevents the LOCAL GOVERNMENT from performing its work for a period 
of one (1) month or longer.   

 
c. In the event this Agreement is terminated as established in Section 8 herein, payment 

will be prorated within the quarter in which termination occurs.  The prorated payment 
shall be for approved work meeting the requirements stipulated in this Agreement. 

 
6. FINANCIAL CONSEQUENCES 

 

Payment shall be made only after receipt and approval of goods and services unless advance 
payments are authorized by the Chief Financial Officer of the State of Florida under Chapters 
215 and 216, F.S.  Deliverable(s) must be received and accepted in writing by the Contract 
Manager on the DEPARTMENT's invoice transmittal forms prior to payment.  If the 
DEPARTMENT determines that the performance of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is 
unsatisfactory, the DEPARTMENT shall notify the LOCAL GOVERNMENT of the 
deficiency to be corrected, which correction shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days by 
the LOCAL GOVERNMENT.  The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall, within five (5) days after 
notice from the DEPARTMENT, provide the DEPARTMENT with a corrective action plan 
describing how the LOCAL GOVERNMENT will address all issues of contract non-
performance, unacceptable performance, failure to meet the minimum performance levels, 
deliverable deficiencies, or contract non-compliance.  If the corrective action plan is 
unacceptable to the DEPARTMENT, the DEPARTMENT may, at its option, proceed as 
follows: 
 

a. The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be assessed a non-performance retainage 
equivalent to 10% of the total invoice amount.  The retainage shall be applied to the 
invoice for the then-current billing period.  The retainage shall be withheld until the 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT resolves the deficiency.  If the deficiency is subsequently 
resolved, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT may bill the DEPARTMENT for the retained 
amount during the next billing period.  If the LOCAL GOVERNMENT is unable to 
resolve the deficiency, the funds retained may be forfeited at the end of the Agreement 
period. (Section 287.058(1)(h), F.S.) 

 

b. Maintain the median or roadside area(s) declared deficient with DEPARTMENT 
and/or a Contractor’s material, equipment and personnel.  The actual cost for such work 
will be deducted from the DEPARTMENT’s affected quarterly payment to the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT; or 

c. Terminate this Agreement. 

Page 110 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 8 of 15 

7. EXPIRATION/RENEWAL 
 
This Agreement is for a term of one (1) year beginning on the effective date of this Agreement, 
which shall be the date reflected on the written notice to proceed, and may be renewed twice, 
only if mutually agreed to in writing by the DEPARTMENT and the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT.  Any such renewal shall be subject to the same terms and conditions set 
forth in this Agreement, and shall be contingent upon both satisfactory LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT performance evaluations by the DEPARTMENT and the availability of 
funds. 

 
This Agreement may be extended if mutually agreed in writing by both parties, for a period 
not to exceed six (6) months and shall be subject to the same terms and conditions set forth in 
this Agreement.  There shall be only one (1) extension of this Agreement. 
 

8. TERMINATION 
 
This Agreement, or part hereof, is subject to termination under any one of the following 
conditions: 

 
a. In the event the DEPARTMENT exercises the option identified by Section 6 of this 

Agreement. 
 
b. As mutually agreed by both parties. 
 
c. In accordance with Section 287.058(1)(c), F.S., the DEPARTMENT shall reserve the 

right to unilaterally cancel this Agreement if the LOCAL GOVERNMENT refuses to 
allow public access to any or all documents, papers, letters, or other materials made or 
received by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT pertinent to this Agreement which are 
subject to provisions of Chapter 119, of the F.S. 

 
9. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

 
This Department Funded Agreement is the entire Agreement between the parties hereto, and it 
may be modified or amended only by mutual consent of the parties in writing. 

 
10. GOVERNING LAW 

 
This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of  
Florida. 
 

11. AMENDMENT 
This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement of the DEPARTMENT and the 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT expressed in writing, executed and delivered by each party. 
 
 

Page 111 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 9 of 15 

12. INVALIDITY 
 
If any part of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder 
of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, if such remainder continues to conform to the 
terms and requirements of applicable law. 

 
13. INDEMNIFICATION 

 
Subject to Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time, the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT shall promptly indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the 
DEPARTMENT, its officers, agents, representatives and employees from any and all losses, 
expenses, fines, fees, taxes, assessments, penalties, costs, damages, judgments, claims, 
demands, liabilities, attorneys fees, (including regulatory and appellate fees), and suits of any 
nature or kind whatsoever caused by,  arising out of, or related to the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT’s negligent exercise or of its responsibilities as set out in this AGREEMENT, 
including but not limited to, any negligent act, negligent action, negligence or omission by the 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT, its officers, agents, employees or representatives in the 
performance of  this AGREEMENT, whether direct or indirect, except that neither the LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT nor any of its officers, agents, employees or representatives will be liable 
under this provision for damages arising out of injury or damages caused or resulting from the 
negligence of the DEPARTMENT. 

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s obligation to indemnify, defend and pay for the defense of 
the DEPARTMENT, or at the DEPARTMENT’s option, to participate and associate with the 
DEPARTMENT in the defense and trial of any claim and any related settlement negotiations, 
shall be triggered immediately upon the LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s receipt of the 
DEPARTMENT’s notice of claim for indemnification.  The notice of claim for indemnification 
shall be deemed received if the DEPARTMENT sends the notice in accordance with the formal 
notice mailing requirements set forth in Section 4 of this AGREEMENT.  The 
DEPARTMENT’s failure to notify the LOCAL GOVERNMENT of a claim shall not release 
the LOCAL GOVERNMENT of the above duty to defend and indemnify the DEPARTMENT.  

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall pay all costs and fees related to this obligation and its 
enforcement by the DEPARTMENT. The indemnification provisions of this section shall 
survive termination or expiration of this AGREEMENT, but only with respect to those claims 
that arose from acts or circumstances which occurred prior to termination or expiration of this 
AGREEMENT.   

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s evaluation of liability or its inability to evaluate liability 
shall not excuse the LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s duty to defend and indemnify the 
DEPARTMENT under the provisions of this section. Only an adjudication or judgment, after 
the highest appeal is exhausted, specifically finding the DEPARTMENT was negligent shall 
excuse performance of this provision by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT. 

Page 112 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 10 of 15 

           IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, on the day 
and year above written.    
 
                                  
CITY OF MARATHON:    STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT  
        OF TRANSPORTATION: 
 
 
BY:    BY:     
LOCAL GOVERNMENT MANAGER  DISTRICT SECRETARY 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:   ATTEST:   
(SEAL) LOCAL GOVERNMENT CLERK         (SEAL) EXECUTIVE SECRETARY 
             
                    

 
LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
 
    
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ATTORNEY         DISTRICT CHIEF COUNSEL 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 11 of 15 

Exhibit "A" 
Scope of Services 

 
Maintenance Responsibilities of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

 
 

The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible for the maintenance of all turf and 
landscape areas within the DEPARTMENT's right of way on the State Roads below in 
accordance with all applicable DEPARTMENT guidelines, standards, and procedures, which 
shall include but shall not be limited to the Maintenance Rating Program Handbook, as may 
be amended from time to time.  Additionally, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall maintain all 
turf and landscape areas in accordance with the International Society of Arboriculture 
standards, the latest FDOT Design Standard, guidelines, and procedures, as may be amended 
from time to time.   

 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT is not required to maintain areas within the PROJECT that are 
maintained by other Agencies through an existing executed Agreement, including but not 
limited to the Overseas Trail, State Parks, and paved parking areas. 

For each of the following work activities, the LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall be responsible 
for performing these minimum frequencies: 
 

 Litter Pickup - eighteen (18) times per year  
 Mowing, including Edging and Weed Control - eighteen (18) times per year 
 Landscape Maintenance/Tree Trimming - twelve (12) times per year 

 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall perform a minimum of two cycles per quarter for each of 
the work activities described above. 
 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s maintenance obligations shall include but not be limited to: 

 
a. Mowing, cutting and/or trimming and edging the grass and turf. 

 
b. Pruning all plant materials, which include trees, shrubs and ground covers, and parts 

thereof, including all material from private property encroaching into the 
DEPARTMENT’S right-of-way 

State 
Road 
No. 

Street Name From To 

5 US-1/Overseas Highway 
 

Seven Mile Bridge 
 

West end of Tom’s 
Harbor Bridge 

Page 114 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 12 of 15 

c. Maintaining existing decorative bricks, mulch and other aesthetic features currently 
found within these corridors. 

 
d. It is recommended, but not required, to use fertilizing, insecticide, pesticide, 

herbicide and water to maintain the current landscape and turf in a healthy and 
vigorous growing condition.  Dying or dead landscaping and turf shall be replaced 
by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT at their cost. 

 
e. Paying for all water use and all costs associated therewith. 

 
f. Pruning such parts thereof which may present a visual or other safety hazard for 

those using or intending to use the right-of-way. 
 
g. Removing and disposing of all undesirable vegetation including but not limited to 

weeding of plant beds and removal of invasive exotic plant materials. 
 

h. Removing and properly disposing of dead, diseased or otherwise deteriorated plants 
in their entirety, and replacing those that fall below the standards set forth in all 
applicable DEPARTMENT guidelines, standards and procedures as may be 
amended from time to time. 

 
i. Removing and disposing of all trimmings, roots, branches, litter, and any other 

debris resulting from the activities described by (a) to (h). 
 
j. Submitting Lane Closure Requests to the DEPARTMENT when maintenance 

activities will require the closure of a traffic lane in the DEPARTMENT’s right-of-
way.  Lane closure requests shall be submitted through the District Six Lane 
Closure Information System, to the DEPARTMENT’s area Permit Manager and in 
accordance with the District Six Lane Closure Policy, as may be amended from 
time to time. 

 
 
FDOT Financial Project Number:  455231-1-78-01 
 
County:  Monroe 
 
FDOT Project Manager: 
Brian K. Jimmerson, P.E. - (305) 640-7277 or Brian.Jimmerson@dot.state.fl.us  
 
  
LOCAL GOVERNMENT Project Manager:   
Carlos A. Solis, P.E., Director of Public Works & Engineering - (305) 289-5008 or 
solisc@ci.marathon.fl.us. 
 
 

Page 115 of 283

mailto:Brian.Jimmerson@dot.state.fl.us
mailto:solisc@ci.marathon.fl.us


 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 13 of 15 

Exhibit "B" 
 Financial Summary 
 

Financial Responsibilities of the LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

 
 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT shall submit invoices to the DEPARTMENT as described in 
Section 5 of this Agreement for the work described in Exhibit “A”.  The following are the 
maximum participating compensation amounts the DEPARTMENT will make annually for each 
of these work activities:   
 
 

 Litter Pickup:      $11,000.00 

 Mowing, including Edging and Weed Control: $23,000.00 

 Landscape Maintenance/Tree Trimming:  $19,000.00 
 

 
TOTAL ANNUAL PROJECT AMOUNT ELIGIBLE FOR COMPENSATION BY 
THE DEPARTMENT:        $53,000.00. 

 
The LOCAL GOVERNMENT may choose to exceed the required minimum maintenance 
frequencies for each of the work activities described above at no additional cost to the 
DEPARTMENT. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 14 of 15 

 Exhibit "C" 

 

Page 117 of 283



 

 
Turf and Landscape Maintenance Department Funded Agreement  

between the Florida Department of Transportation and City of Marathon 
Financial Project # 455231-1-78-01 

Page 15 of 15 

Exhibit "D" 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT’s Resolution 

 
 
To be herein incorporated once approved by the LOCAL GOVERNMENT Council/Commission. 
 

 

Page 118 of 283



 
COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor & Members of the City Council 
 
From:   Dan Saus, Utilities Manager 
 
Through:                     George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:   Resolution 2025-40, Awarding Project Specific Agreement for Area 5 WWTP 
MBR Tank Expansion to Weiler Engineering Corporation.; Approving a not to exceed amount of 
$171,330.00; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The Contract And Expend Appropriated 
Funds On Behalf Of The City; And Providing For An Effective Date. This work may qualify for 
reimbursement through a grant. 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
The City of Marathon pursuant to the provisions contained in the Continuing Services Agreement 
dated March 13, 2024, between the City of Marathon and Weiler Engineering Corporation wished to 
obtain engineering services for Area 5 WWTP MBR Tank Expansion (the “Project”). 
 
The Project specific Agreement attached as Exhibit “A” details the Scope of Work and cost breakdown 
for the construction phase services for the Area 5 WWTP MBR Tank Expansion.  City staff, consisting 
of the Utility Director and the Utility Staff, has reviewed the proposal of Weiler Engineering 
Corporation., and the proposal is reasonable for the work as explained in Exhibit “A”. 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
1.  Comprehensive Plan   X_    ____ 
2.  Other – 2010 Sewer Mandate   X_    ____ 
3.  Not applicable _X__ ____ 
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
Approval of this resolution will appropriate funds in the FY25 Wastewater Utility Budget for this 
project. 
  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval  of Resolution  

 

Page 119 of 283



Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-40 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVAL OF A PROJECT SPECIFIC 
AGREEMENT FOR SERVICE AREA 5 WWTP MBR TANK EXPANSION 
TO WEILER ENGINEERING CORPORATION IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$171,330.00; AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE 
AGREEMENT AND EXPEND APPROPRIATED FUNDS ON BEHALF OF 
THE CITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Marathon (the “City”) and Weiler Engineering Corporation. (the 

“Contractor”) have entered into a Project Specific Agreement for the Utilities General Consulting; 
and  

 
 WHEREAS, the City staff wish to approve A Project Specific Agreement for the Service 
Area 5 WWTP MBR Tank Expansion; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by 
this reference. 

 
Section 2. The Project Specific Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, together 

with such non-material changes as may be acceptable to the City Manager and approved as to form 
and legality by the City Attorney is hereby approved.  The City Manager is authorized to approve 
the change orders to the Project Agreements and expend apprpriated funds on behalf of the City. 
  

Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13th DAY OF MAY 2025. 
 
THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor  
 

AYES:    
NOES:    
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   

Page 120 of 283



 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
       
Steve Williams, City Attorney 

Page 121 of 283



Page 1 of 16 

EXHIBIT “A” 
PROJECT SPECIFIC AGREEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area 5 MBR Tank Expansion Project 
 
 
 

 

Page 122 of 283



Page 2 of 16 

  
PROJECT SPECIFIC AGREEMENT 

Between 
THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

And 
The Weiler Engineering Corporation 

For 
Area 5 MBR Tank Expansion Project 

 
Pursuant to the provisions contained in the “Continuing Services Agreement” between the City 
of Marathon, Florida (the “City”) and Weiler Engineering Corporation., (the “Consultant”) dated 
March 13, 2024; this Project Specific Agreement authorizes the Consultant to provide the 
services as set forth below: 
 
SECTION 1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

1.1 The CONSULTANT shall provide engineering services to the CITY for the 
Project as described in the “Project Description” included in Exhibit “1.” 

 
1.2 The “Scope of Services and Project Schedule” and tasks to be provided by the 

CONSULTANT for this Project are those services and tasks as included in Exhibit “1”. 
 
1.3 The CITY may request changes that would increase, decrease, or otherwise 

modify the Scope of Services.  Such changes must be contained in a written change order 
executed by the parties in accordance with the provisions of the Continuing Services Agreement, 
prior to any deviation from the terms of the Project Agreement, including the initiation of any 
extra work.  
 
 
SECTION 2.  DELIVERABLES  
 

2.1  As part of the Scope of Services and Project Schedule, the Consultant shall 
provide to the City the following Deliverables as included in Exhibit “2”. 

 
 
SECTION 3.   TERM/TIME OF PERFORMANCE/DAMAGE 
 

3.1 Term.  This Project Agreement shall commence on the date this instrument is 
fully executed by all parties and shall continue in full force and effect two years, unless 
otherwise terminated pursuant to Section 6 or other applicable provisions of this Project 
Agreement.  The City Manager, in his sole discretion, may extend the term of this Agreement 
through written notification to the CONSULTANT.  Such extension shall not exceed 180 days.  
No further extensions of this Agreement shall be effective unless authorized by the CITY 
Council.  

 

Page 123 of 283



Page 3 of 16 

3.2 Commencement.  The CONSULTANT’S services under this Project Agreement 
and the time frames applicable to this Project Agreement shall commence upon the date provided 
in a written Notification of Commencement (“Commencement Date”) provided to the 
CONSULTANT from the CITY.  The CONSULTANT shall not incur any expenses or 
obligations for payment to third parties prior to the issuance of the Notification of 
Commencement.  CONSULTANT must receive written notice from the City Manager prior to 
the beginning the performance of services. 

 
3.3 Contract Time.  Upon receipt of the Notification of Commencement, the 

CONSULTANT shall commence services to the CITY on the Commencement Date, and shall 
continuously perform services to the CITY, without interruption, in accordance with the time 
frames set forth in the “Project Schedule,” a copy of which is attached and incorporated into this 
Agreement as Exhibit “3”.  The number of calendar days from the Commencement Date, through 
the date set forth in the Project Schedule for completion of the Project or the date of actual 
completion of the Project, whichever shall last occur, shall constitute the Contract Time. 
 

3.4 Liquidated Damages.  Unless otherwise excused by the CITY in writing, in the 
event that the CONSULTANT fails to meet to the contract time for completion of services as 
determined by the Project Schedule, the CONSULTANT shall pay to the CITY the sum of 
dollars identified below per day for each and every calendar day unexcused delay beyond the 
completion date, plus approved time extensions, until completion of the project: $  N/A  
per day.  The CONSULTANT may claim extension if the factors involved are not under their 
direct control. 

 
 Any sums due and payable hereunder by the CONSULTANT shall be payable, 

not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages representing and estimate at or before the time of 
executing this Agreement.  When the CITY reasonably believes that completion will be 
inexcusably delayed, the CITY shall be entitled, but not required, to withhold from any amounts 
otherwise due the CONSULTANT an amount then believed by the CITY to be adequate to 
recover liquidated damages applicable to such delays.  If and when the CONSULTANT 
overcomes the delay in achieving completion, or any part thereof, for which the CITY has 
withheld payment, the CITY shall promptly release to the CONSULTANT those funds withheld, 
but no longer applicable, as liquidated damages. 

 
3.5 All limitations of time set forth in this Agreement are of the essence. 

 
SECTION 4.    AMOUNT, BASIS AND METHOD OF COMPENSATION 
 

4.1 Compensation.  CITY agrees to pay CONSULTANT as compensation for 
performance of all services described in Exhibit “2” $_______. plus reimbursable expenses not 
to exceed $0.  Total not to exceed amount for this Work Authorization is $________.[ AND, 
"CITY AGREES TO PAY CONSULTANT COMPENSATION AT CONSULTANT'S 
HOURLY RATES, UP TO A MAXIMUM AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $171,330.00 PLUS 
REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES NOT TO EXCEED $0.00 FOR A MAXIMUM CONTRACT 
AMOUNT OF $171,330.00. 

 

Page 124 of 283



Page 4 of 16 

4.2 Reimbursable Expenses.  The following expenses are reimbursable at their 
actual cost: travel and accommodations, courier services, mileage (at a rate approved by the 
CITY), photo and reproduction services.  All document reproductions are also reimbursable, at a 
rate approved by the CITY. 
 
SECTION 5.    BILLING AND PAYMENTS TO THE CONSULTANT 
 

5.1 Invoices  
 

         5.1.1 Hourly Not To Exceed Rate.  CONSULTANT shall submit invoices 
which are identified by the specific project number on a monthly basis in a timely 
manner.  These invoices shall identify the nature of the work performed, the 
personnel performing the work, the time worked and the total billing in 
accordance with the Payment Schedule set forth in Exhibit “3” (N/A), to this 
Project Agreement.  Invoices will show the total amount billed against this work 
authorization and shall not exceed the not-to-exceed amount without authorization 
from the City.  The CITY shall pay CONSULTANT within thirty (30) calendar 
days of approval by the City Manager of any invoices submitted by 
CONSULTANT to the CITY. 

 
5.2 Disputed Invoices.  In the event that all or a portion of an invoice submitted to 

the CITY for payment to the CONSULTANT is disputed, or additional backup documentation is 
required, the CITY shall notify the CONSULTANT within fifteen (15) working days of receipt 
of the invoice of such objection, modification or additional documentation request.  The 
CONSULTANT shall provide the CITY with additional backup documentation within five (5) 
working days of the date of the CITY’S notice.  The CITY may request additional information, 
including but not limited to, all invoices, time records, expense records, accounting records, and 
payment records of the CONSULTANT.  The CITY, at its sole discretion, may pay to the 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice.  The parties shall endeavor to resolve the 
dispute in a mutually agreeable fashion. 

 
5.3 Suspension of Payment.  In the event that the CITY becomes credibly informed 

that any representations of the CONSULTANT, provided pursuant to Subparagraph 5.1, are 
wholly or partially inaccurate, or in the event that the CONSULTANT is not in compliance with 
any term or condition of this Project Agreement, the CITY may withhold payment of sums then 
or in the future otherwise due to the CONSULTANT until the inaccuracy, or other breach of 
Project Agreement, and the cause thereof, is corrected to the CITY’s reasonable satisfaction. 

  
5.4 Retainage.  The CITY reserves the right to withhold retainage in the amount of 

five percent (5%) of any payment due to the CONSULTANT for the design until the design is 
completed.  Said retainage may be withheld at the sole discretion of the City Manager or his/her 
designee and as security for the successful completion of the CONSULTANT’S duties and 
responsibilities under the Project Agreement.   

 
5.5 Final Payment.  Submission of the CONSULTANT’S invoice for final payment 

and reimbursement shall constitute the CONSULTANT’S representation to the CITY that, upon 

Page 125 of 283



Page 5 of 16 

receipt from the CITY of the amount invoiced, all obligations of the CONSULTANT to others, 
including its consultants, incurred in connection with the Project, shall be paid in full.  The 
CONSULTANT shall deliver to the CITY all documents requested by the CITY evidencing 
payments to any and all subcontractors, and all final specifications, plans, or other documents as 
dictated in the Scope of Services and Deliverable.  Acceptance of final payment shall constitute a 
waiver of any and all claims against the CITY by the CONSULTANT. 
 
SECTION 6.    TERMINATION/SUSPENSION 
 

6.1  For Cause.  This Project Agreement may be terminated by either party upon five 
(5) calendar days written notice to the other party should the other party fail substantially to 
perform in accordance with its material terms through no fault of the party initiating the 
termination.  In the event that CONSULTANT abandons this Project Agreement or causes it to 
be terminated by the CITY, the CONSULTANT shall indemnify the CITY against any loss 
pertaining to this termination.  In the event that the CONSULTANT is terminated by the CITY 
for cause and it is subsequently determined by a court by a court of competent jurisdiction that 
such termination was without cause, such termination shall thereupon be deemed a termination 
for convenience under Section 6.2 of this Project Agreement and the provision of Section 6.2 
shall apply. 
 

6.2  For Convenience. This Project Agreement may be terminated by the CITY for 
convenience upon fourteen (14) calendar days’ written notice to the CONSULTANT.  In the 
event of termination, the CONSULTANT shall incur no further obligations in connection with 
the Project and shall, to the extent possible, terminate any outstanding subconsultant obligations. 
The CONSULTANT shall be compensated for all services performed to the satisfaction of the 
CITY and for reimbursable expenses incurred prior to the date of termination.  The 
CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its invoice for final payment and reimbursement and the 
invoice shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 5.1 of this Project Agreement.  Under no 
circumstances shall the CITY make any payment to the CONSULTANT for services which have 
not been performed. 

 
6.3  Assignment upon Termination. Upon termination of this Project Agreement, a 

copy of all of the CONSULTANT's work product shall become the property of the CITY and the 
CONSULTANT shall, within ten (10) working days of receipt of written direction from the 
CITY, transfer to either the CITY or its authorized designee, a copy of all work product in its 
possession, including but not limited to designs, specifications, drawings, studies, reports and all 
other documents and data in the possession of the CONSULTANT pertaining to this Project 
Agreement.  Further, upon the CITY’S request, the CONSULTANT shall assign its rights, title 
and interest under any subcontractor’s agreements to the CITY. 

 
6.4  Suspension for Convenience.  The CITY shall have the right at any time to 

direct the CONSULTANT to suspend its performance, or any designated part thereof, for any 
reason whatsoever or without reason, for a cumulative period of up to thirty (30) calendar days.  
If any such suspension is directed by the CITY, the CONSULTANT shall immediately comply 
with same.  In the event the CITY directs a suspension of performance as provided for herein 
through no fault of the CONSULTANT, the CITY shall pay to the CONSULTANT its 

Page 126 of 283



Page 6 of 16 

reasonable costs, actually incurred and paid, of demobilization and remobilization, as full 
compensation for any such suspension. 

 
SECION 7. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 

7.1 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS – The parties shall comply with all applicable 
local, state and federal laws and guidelines relating to the services that are subject to this 
Agreement.  Federal regulations apply to all of the City of Marathon contracts using 
Federal funds as a source for the solicitation of goods and services. The following 
Federal requirements apply to this Emergency Agreement: 

 
 7.2     ACCESS BY THE GRANTEE, SUBGRANTEE, FEDERAL GRANTOR 

AGENCY AND COMPTROLLER GENERAL:  The Contractor shall allow access by 
the grantee, sub grantee, Federal grantor agency and Comptroller General of the United 
States, or any of their duly authorized representatives to any books, documents, papers, 
and records of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to that specific contract for the 
purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. 

 
 7.3  CLEAN AIR AND WATER ACTS:  The Contractor shall comply with all 

applicable standards, orders, or requirements issued under Section 306 of the Clean Air 
Act (42 U.S.C. 1857 (h)), Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1386), 
Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (40 CFR Part 
15), (Contracts and/or subcontracts, and sub grants of amounts in excess of $100,00.00).  

 
 7.4   CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS:  The Contractor 

shall comply with Sections 103 and 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety 
Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 327-330) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations 
(29 CFR Part 5).  (Constructions contracts awarded by grantees and sub grantees in 
excess of $2,000, and in excess of $2,500 for other contracts which involve the 
employment of mechanics or laborers.) 

 
 7.5   COPELAND ANTI-KICKBACK ACT:  The Contractor shall comply with the 

Copeland Anti-Kickback Act (18 U.S.C. 874) as supplemented in Department of Labor 
regulations (29 CFR Part 3).  (All contracts and sub grants for construction repair). 

 
 7.6   COPYRIGHTS:  The Grantee is free to copyright original work developed in the 

course of or under the agreement.  FEMA reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive and 
irrevocable right to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to authorize others to use 
the work for Government purposes.  Publication resulting from work performed under 
this agreement shall include an acknowledgement of FEMA financial support, by granted 
number, and a statement that the publication does not constitute an endorsement by 
FEMA or reflect FEMA views. 

 
 7.7   DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE) CONTRACTORS:  

The contractor agrees to ensure that Disadvantage Business Enterprises as defined in 49 
C.F.R. Part 23, as amended, have the maximum opportunity to participate in the 

Page 127 of 283



Page 7 of 16 

performance of contracts and this agreement.  In this regard, contractor shall take all 
necessary and reasonable steps in accordance with 49 C.F.R. Part 23, as amended, to 
ensure that the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises have the maximum opportunity to 
compete for and perform contracts.  The contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of 
race, color, national origin or sex in the award and performance of federal assisted 
contracts. 

 
 7.8   ENERGY POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT:  The Contractor shall comply 

with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained 
in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 
Conservation Act (Pub. L. 94-163). 

 
 7.9   EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY:  The Contractor shall comply with 

Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, entitled “Equal Employment 
Opportunity,” as amended by Executive Order 11375 of October 13, 1967, and as 
supplemented in Department of Labor regulations (41 C.F.R. Chapter 60).  (All 
construction contracts awarded in excess of $10,000 by grantees and their contractors or 
sub grantees). 

 
 

 7.10   REPORTING:  
 
         7.10.1 Reports Submission:  Per 44 CFR 13.50, when the appropriate grant 

award performance period expires, the Grantee shall submit the following 
documents within 90 days: (1) Financial performance or Progress Report; (2) 
Financial status Report (SF 269) or outlay Report and Request for Reimbursement 
for Construction Programs (SF-271) (as applicable); (3) Final request for payment 
(SF-270) (if applicable); (4) Invention disclosure (if applicable); and (5) 
Federally-owned property report. 

   
         7.10.2 Reports Acceptance:  FEMA shall review the Grantee reports, 

perform the necessary financial reconciliation, negotiate necessary adjustments 
between the Grantee’s and FEMA’s records, and close grant in writing. 

 
 7.11 RETENTION OF ALL RECORDS:  The Contractor is required to retain 

all records for three (3) years after grantees or subgrantees make final payments 
and all other pending matters are closed. 

 
7.12 BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT (31 U.S.C. 1352)—
Contractors that apply or bid for an award exceeding $100,000 must file the 
required certification. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has 
not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or 
any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier must also disclose any 

Page 128 of 283



Page 8 of 16 

lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any 
Federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the non-
Federal award. 

 
 
SECTION 8 INCORPORATION OF TERMS AND CONDTIONS OF CONTINUING 

SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 
  8.1 This Project Agreement incorporates the terms and conditions set forth in 
the Continuing Services Agreement dated March 13, 2024 between the parties as though fully 
set forth herein.  In the event that any terms or conditions of this Project Agreement conflict with 
the Continuing Services Agreement, the provisions of this specific Project Agreement shall 
prevail and apply. 
 
PURSUANT TO F.S. 558.0035, AN INDIVIDUAL 
EMPLOYEE OR AGENT MAY NOT BE HELD 
INDIVIDUALLY LIABLE FOR ANY NEGLIGENCE. 
 
 

[THE REST OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 

Page 129 of 283



Page 9 of 16 

 
SECTION 9  Term/Time of Performance 
 

9.1 This Project Specific Agreement shall be effective on the date it is fully executed by 
all parties and shall continue in full force for 2 year(s) or until completion of the Project, 
unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the Construction Management Services 
Agreement or other applicable provisions of this Project Specific Agreement.  The City 
Engineer or Manager, in his sole discretion, may extend the term of this Project Specific 
Agreement through written notification to the Consultant.  Such extension shall not 
exceed 180 days.  No further extensions of this Project Specific Agreement shall be 
effective unless authorized by the City Engineer or Manager. 
 
9.2 The Consultant's services under this Project Specific Agreement and the time 
frames applicable to this Project Specific Agreement shall commence upon the date 
provided in a written Notification of Commencement (“Commencement Date”) provided 
to the Consultant from the City.  The Consultant shall not incur any expenses or 
obligations for payment to third parties prior to the issuance of the Notification of 
Commencement.  Consultant must receive written notice from the City prior to the 
beginning the performance of services. 

 
9.3 Upon receipt of the Notification of Commencement, the Consultant shall 
commence services to the City on the Commencement Date, and shall continuously 
perform services to the City, without interruption, in accordance with the time frames set 
forth in the Project Schedule.”  

 
SECTION 10 Project Records 

 
10.1 All final plans, documents, reports, studies and other data prepared by the 
Consultant or a subconsultant will bear the endorsement of a person in the full 
employ of the Consultant or the subconsultant and duly registered in the appropriate 
professional category. 

 
10.2 After the City’s acceptance of final plans and documents, an electronic copy of the 
Consultant’s or the sub consultant’s drawings, tracings, plans and maps will be 
provided to the City at no additional cost to the City. 

 
10.3 Upon completion of any construction by a contractor on a project assigned to 
Consultant, the Consultant shall furnish acceptable field verified "record drawings" 
of the work on full sized prints (and/or electronic data file if requested by the City). 
The Consultant shall signify, by affixing an appropriate endorsement on every sheet of 
the record sets that the work shown on the endorsed sheets was reviewed by the 
Consultant. 

 
10.4 The Consultant shall not be liable for use by the City of said plans, documents, 
studies or other data for any purpose other than stated in the applicable Project Specific 
Agreement. 

Page 130 of 283



Page 10 of 16 

 
10.5 All tracings, documents, data, deliverables, records, plans, specifications, 
maps, surveys, field survey notes, and/or reports prepared or obtained under this 
Agreement shall be considered works made for hire and shall become the property of 
City, and reproducible copies shall be made available upon request to the City. 
 
 
10.6 All project records shall be maintained by Consultant and made available upon 
request of the City of Marathon. 

 
10.7 City at all times for the duration of this Agreement a n d  d u r i n g  t h e  
p e r i o d  s t a t e d  b y  F l o r i d a  R e c o r d s  R e t e n t i o n  S c h e d u l e s .  
During this time period the City Manager or designee have access to and the right 
to examine and audit any records of the Consultant involving transactions related to 
this Agreement, including its financial records. The City may cancel this Agreement 
for refusal by the Consultant to allow access by the City Manager or designee to any 
records pertaining to work performed under this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 11          Ownership and Access to Public Records. 

11.1        All records, books, documents, maps, data, deliverables, papers and financial 
information (the “Records”) that result from the Consultant providing services to 
the City under this Agreement shall be the property of the City. 

11.2        The Consultant is a “Contractor” as defined by Section 119.0701(1)(a), Florida 
Statutes, and shall comply with the public records provisions of Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, including the following: 

1.       Keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the 
service. 

2.       Upon request from the City Clerk, provide the City with a copy of the 
requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a 
reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 
119, Florida Statutes or as otherwise provided by law. 

3.       Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from 
public records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as 
authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following 
completion of the contract if the Consultant does not transfer the records 
to the City. 

4.       Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the City all public 
records in possession of the Consultant or keep and maintain public 
records required by the City to perform the service. If the Consultant 
transfers all public records to the City upon completion of the contract, the 
Consultant shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or 
confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If 
the Consultant keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the 
contract, the Consultant shall meet all applicable requirements for 

Page 131 of 283



Page 11 of 16 

retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be 
provided to the City, upon request from the City Clerk, in a format that is 
compatible with the information technology systems of the City. 

 
11.3    “Public Records” is defined in Section 119.011(12), Florida Statutes, and includes 

all documents, papers, letters, photographs, data processing software, or other 
material, regardless of physical form, made or received in connection with this 
Agreement. 

 
11.4    Should the Consultant assert any exemption to the requirements of Chapter 119 

and related law, the burden of establishing such exemption, by way of injunctive 
or other relief as provided by law, shall be upon the CONSULTANT. 

 
11.5    The Consultant consents to the City’s enforcement of the Consultant’s Chapter 

119 requirements by all legal means, including, but not limited to, a mandatory 
injunction, whereupon the Consultant shall pay all court costs and reasonable 
attorney’s fees incurred by the City. 

 
11.6    The Consultant’s failure to provide public records within a reasonable time may be 

subject to penalties under Section 119.10, Florida Statutes.  Further, such failure 
by the Consultant shall be grounds for immediate unilateral cancellation of this 
Agreement by the City. 

 
11.7    IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 

APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 
THE CONTRACTOR'S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC 
RECORDS RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT 
THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT 305-743-0033, 
CITYCLERK@CI.MARATHON.FL.US, OR 9805 OVERSEAS 
HIGHWAY, MARATHON FLORIDA 33050. 

 
SECTION 12 E-VERIFY 
 

12.1 E-Verify System - Beginning January 1, 2021, in accordance with F.S. 448.095, 
the Contractor and any subcontractor shall register with and shall utilize the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization 
status of all new employees hired by the Contractor during the term of the Contract and 
shall expressly require any subcontractors performing work or providing services 
pursuant to the Contract to likewise utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s 
E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all new employees hired by the 
subcontractor during the Contract term. Any subcontractor shall provide an affidavit 
stating that the subcontractor does not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an 
unauthorized alien. The Contractor shall comply with and be subject to the provisions of 
F.S. 448.095 

 

Page 132 of 283

mailto:Cityclerk@ci.marathon.fl.us


Page 12 of 16 

 

PAYMENT UNDER THIS PROJECT SPECIFIC AGREEMENT SHALL ONLY BE 
MADE FROM APPROPRIATIONS BUDGETED ON AN ANNUAL BASIS. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument on 
this_____________ day of_________________________, 2025. 
 
CONSULTANT:     CITY: 
 
 
 
By: Steve Suggs, PE     By:       
  
Its:   Director of Wastewater Engineering       Its:       
 
      ATTEST: 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM AND   
       LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE  
       AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF  
       MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
  
       ____________________________________ 
       City Attorney 
 
This agreement shall be executed on behalf of Consultant by its President or a Vice President.  If 
executed by a person other than Consultant's President or a Vice President, then attach evidence 
of that person's actual authority to bind Consultant to this agreement. 

Page 133 of 283



Page 13 of 16 

EXHIBIT “1” 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Weiler Engineering will assist the City with design, permitting and construction phase 
services for the Area 5 MBR Tank Expansion Project.  The Area 5 membrane 
bioreactor (MBR) flow capacity needs to be increased in order to treat the peak flows 
seen at the WWTP. To do this, additional membrane cassettes must be installed, 
increasing the needed depth of the tank.  The City wishes to extend the existing tank 
upward by increasing the wall height. The project will also require adjustments to the 
access walkway, upgrades to the feed-forward pumps and re-routing of piping.     

 
Scope of services will include: 

 
• Research records archives to find the original design drawings of the existing 

tank and record drawing of the Area 5 MBR WWTP.  
• Calculate the revised head conditions for the feed-forward pumps and specify 

replacement pumps suitable for the application.  
• Prepare plans for extension of the tank walls and changes to the piping networks 

and specify coatings systems and cathodic protection system.   
• Prepare phasing plans for modifications to the tanks and pumps to ensure 

treatment can continue through construction. 
• Prepare ITB and technical specifications for the project. 
• Attend pre-bid meeting, issue addenda as needed, review bids and prepare a 

Recommendation of Award. 
• Prepare the Notice to Proceed for the construction. 
• Conduct construction inspections of the progress of the work. 
• Witness testing and startup of the MBR system and verify proper pump 

performance.  
• Respond to requests for information from the Contractor throughout the 

construction, review of change requests from the Contractor and make 
recommendation to the City regarding change order requests. 

• Review and recommend approval for applications for payment 
• Prepare Certification of Substantial Completion and Final Punch List.  Verify 

completion of Final Punch List corrections.  
• Prepare Certification of Completion of Construction and review project close-out 

documents provided by the Contractor.   
 

 
 
 
 

Page 134 of 283



Page 14 of 16 

EXHIBIT “2” 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND PROJECT SCHEDULE 

     
Description 

Weiler Engineering will assist the City with design, permitting and construction phase 
services for the Area 5 MBR Tank Expansion Project.  The Area 5 membrane 
bioreactor (MBR) flow capacity needs to be increased in order to treat the peak flows 
seen at the WWTP. To do this, additional membrane cassettes must be installed, 
increasing the needed depth of the tank.  The City wishes to extend the existing tank 
upward by increasing the wall height. The project will also require adjustments to the 
access walkway, upgrades to the feed-forward pumps and re-routing of piping.    

 
Scope of services will include: 

 
• Research records archives to find the original design drawings of the existing 

tank and record drawing of the Area 5 MBR WWTP.  
• Calculate the revised head conditions for the feed-forward pumps and specify 

replacement pumps suitable for the application  
• Prepare plans for extension of the tank walls and changes to the piping networks 

and specify coatings systems and cathodic protection system.   
• Prepare phasing plans for modifications to the tanks and pumps to ensure 

treatment can continue through construction. 
• Prepare ITB and technical specifications for the project. 
• Attend pre-bid meeting, issue addenda as needed, review bids and prepare a 

Recommendation of Award. 
• Prepare the Notice to Proceed for the construction 
• Conduct construction inspections of the progress of the work. 
• Witness testing and startup of the MBR system and verify proper pump 

performance.  
• Respond to requests for information from the Contractor throughout the 

construction, review of change requests from the Contractor and make 
recommendation to the City regarding change order requests 

• Review and recommend approval for applications for payment 
• Prepare Certification of Substantial Completion and Final Punch List.  Verify 

completion of Final Punch List corrections.  
• Prepare Certification of Completion of Construction and review project close-out 

documents provided by the Contractor.   
 
 
Deliverables will include:   

• Completed ITB and technical specifications. 
• Copies of reviewed and approved Contractor pay applications. 
• Copies of approved shop drawings and product data submittals. 
• Copies of any change orders or work directives associated with the construction.   

Page 135 of 283



Page 15 of 16 

 
Anticipated Project Schedule 
 
CONSULTANT will begin work upon acceptance of this PSA and will continue until final 
acceptance of the Area 5 MBR Tank Expansion Project by the City.  

Page 136 of 283



Page 16 of 16 

 
EXHIBIT “3” 

CONSULTANT’S HOURLY RATES 
 

Company:  The Weiler Engineering Corporation   
  

Title Rate 
Principal in Charge $210.00 
Expert Witness $280.00 
Registered Professional Engineer (P.E.) $165.00 
Environmental Scientist $160.00 
Mining Specialist PhD (non-P.E.) $160.00 
Project Manager 
Structural Manager 

$160.00 
$155.00 

Senior Planner $140.00 
Registered Engineer Intern (E.I.) 
Certified Floodplain Manager (CFM) 

$140.00 
$140.00 

Plans Examiner $130.00 
Structural Inspector 
Code Inspector 

$130.00 
$130.00 

Senior Construction Inspector $115.00 
Senior Engineering Designer $115.00 
Engineering Designer $100.00 
Construction Inspector $100.00 
Engineering Technician 
Structural Technician  

$90.00 
$90.00 

Field Technician $90.00 
Clerical $60.00 
  

 
 

Reimbursable Expenses: 
   
Vellums $10.00 / each (24 x 36) 
Mylars $25.00 / each (24 x 36) 
Blue Prints / Sheet $2.80 / each (24 x 36) 
Copies $0.30 / each (11 x 17) 
Copies $0.20 / each (8 ½  x 14) 
Copies $0.15 / each (8 ½  x 11) 
Travel * Cost plus 15%  
Overnight mail Cost plus 15%  
Other Reimbursable Expenses Cost plus 15%  

 
THE REST OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 

 
 

Page 137 of 283



 
COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 

 
 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor & Members of the City Council 
 
From:   Dan Saus, Utilities Manager 
 
Through:                     George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:   Resolution 2025-41, Awarding Project Specific Agreement for Area 3 WWTP 
Vacuum Tank Replacement to Weiler Engineering Corporation.; Approving a not to exceed amount 
of $123,757.50; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The Contract And Expend Budgeted 
Funds On Behalf Of The City; And Providing For An Effective Date. This work may qualify for 
reimbursement through a grant. 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
The City of Marathon (the “City”) pursuant to the provisions contained in the Continuing Services 
Agreement dated March 13, 2024, between the City of Marathon and Weiler Engineering Corporation 
wished to obtain engineering services for Area 3 WWTP Vacuum Tank Replacement (the “Project”). 
 
The Project specific Agreement attached as Exhibit “A” details the Scope of Work and cost breakdown 
for the construction phase services for the Area 3 WWTP Vacuum Tank Replacement.  City staff, 
consisting of the Utility Director and the Utility Staff, has reviewed the proposal of Weiler Engineering 
Corporation., and the proposal is reasonable for the work as explained in Exhibit “A”. 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
1.  Comprehensive Plan   X_    ____ 
2.  Other – 2010 Sewer Mandate   X_    ____ 
3.  Not applicable _X__ ____ 
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
The adopted FY25 Wastewater Utility Budget includes appropriations of $1,890,000 for service area 
3 upgrades. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval  of Resolution  

 

Page 138 of 283



Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-41 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVAL OF A PROJECT SPECIFIC 
AGREEMENT FOR SERVICE AREA 3 WWTP VACUUM TANK 
REPLACEMENT PROJECT TO WEILER ENGINEERING 
CORPORATION IN THE AMOUNT OF $123,757.50; AUTHORIZING THE 
CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT AND EXPEND 
BUDGETED FUNDS ON BEHALF OF THE CITY; AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Marathon (the “City”) and Weiler Engineering Corporation. (the 

“Contractor”) have entered into a Project Specific Agreement for the Utilities General Consulting; 
and  

 
 WHEREAS, the City staff wish to approve A Project Specific Agreement for the Service 
Area 3 WWTP Vacuum Tank Replacement; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by 
this reference. 

 
Section 2. The Project Specific Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, together 

with such non-material changes as may be acceptable to the City Manager and approved as to form 
and legality by the City Attorney is hereby approved.  The City Manager is authorized to approve 
the change orders to the Project Agreements and expend budgeted funds on behalf of the City. 
  

Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13th DAY OF MAY 2025. 
 
THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

 
____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor  
 

AYES:    
NOES:    
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   

Page 139 of 283



 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
       
Steve Williams, City Attorney 

Page 140 of 283



Page 1 of 16 

EXHIBIT “A” 
PROJECT SPECIFIC AGREEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area 3 Vacuum Tank Replacement Project 
 
 
 

 

Page 141 of 283



Page 2 of 16 

  
PROJECT SPECIFIC AGREEMENT 

Between 
THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

And 
The Weiler Engineering Corporation 

For 
Area 3 Vacuum Tank Replacement Project 

 
Pursuant to the provisions contained in the “Continuing Services Agreement” between the City 
of Marathon, Florida (the “City”) and Weiler Engineering Corporation., (the “Consultant”) dated 
March 13, 2024; this Project Specific Agreement authorizes the Consultant to provide the 
services as set forth below: 
 
SECTION 1. SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

1.1 The CONSULTANT shall provide engineering services to the CITY for the 
Project as described in the “Project Description” included in Exhibit “1.” 

 
1.2 The “Scope of Services and Project Schedule” and tasks to be provided by the 

CONSULTANT for this Project are those services and tasks as included in Exhibit “1”. 
 
1.3 The CITY may request changes that would increase, decrease, or otherwise 

modify the Scope of Services.  Such changes must be contained in a written change order 
executed by the parties in accordance with the provisions of the Continuing Services Agreement, 
prior to any deviation from the terms of the Project Agreement, including the initiation of any 
extra work.  
 
 
SECTION 2.  DELIVERABLES  
 

2.1  As part of the Scope of Services and Project Schedule, the Consultant shall 
provide to the City the following Deliverables as included in Exhibit “2”. 

 
 
SECTION 3.   TERM/TIME OF PERFORMANCE/DAMAGE 
 

3.1 Term.  This Project Agreement shall commence on the date this instrument is 
fully executed by all parties and shall continue in full force and effect two years, unless 
otherwise terminated pursuant to Section 6 or other applicable provisions of this Project 
Agreement.  The City Manager, in his sole discretion, may extend the term of this Agreement 
through written notification to the CONSULTANT.  Such extension shall not exceed 180 days.  
No further extensions of this Agreement shall be effective unless authorized by the CITY 
Council.  

 

Page 142 of 283



Page 3 of 16 

3.2 Commencement.  The CONSULTANT’S services under this Project Agreement 
and the time frames applicable to this Project Agreement shall commence upon the date provided 
in a written Notification of Commencement (“Commencement Date”) provided to the 
CONSULTANT from the CITY.  The CONSULTANT shall not incur any expenses or 
obligations for payment to third parties prior to the issuance of the Notification of 
Commencement.  CONSULTANT must receive written notice from the City Manager prior to 
the beginning the performance of services. 

 
3.3 Contract Time.  Upon receipt of the Notification of Commencement, the 

CONSULTANT shall commence services to the CITY on the Commencement Date, and shall 
continuously perform services to the CITY, without interruption, in accordance with the time 
frames set forth in the “Project Schedule,” a copy of which is attached and incorporated into this 
Agreement as Exhibit “3”.  The number of calendar days from the Commencement Date, through 
the date set forth in the Project Schedule for completion of the Project or the date of actual 
completion of the Project, whichever shall last occur, shall constitute the Contract Time. 
 

3.4 Liquidated Damages.  Unless otherwise excused by the CITY in writing, in the 
event that the CONSULTANT fails to meet to the contract time for completion of services as 
determined by the Project Schedule, the CONSULTANT shall pay to the CITY the sum of 
dollars identified below per day for each and every calendar day unexcused delay beyond the 
completion date, plus approved time extensions, until completion of the project: $  N/A  
per day.  The CONSULTANT may claim extension if the factors involved are not under their 
direct control. 

 
 Any sums due and payable hereunder by the CONSULTANT shall be payable, 

not as a penalty, but as liquidated damages representing and estimate at or before the time of 
executing this Agreement.  When the CITY reasonably believes that completion will be 
inexcusably delayed, the CITY shall be entitled, but not required, to withhold from any amounts 
otherwise due the CONSULTANT an amount then believed by the CITY to be adequate to 
recover liquidated damages applicable to such delays.  If and when the CONSULTANT 
overcomes the delay in achieving completion, or any part thereof, for which the CITY has 
withheld payment, the CITY shall promptly release to the CONSULTANT those funds withheld, 
but no longer applicable, as liquidated damages. 

 
3.5 All limitations of time set forth in this Agreement are of the essence. 

 
SECTION 4.    AMOUNT, BASIS AND METHOD OF COMPENSATION 
 

4.1 Compensation.  CITY agrees to pay CONSULTANT as compensation for 
performance of all services described in Exhibit “2” $_______. plus reimbursable expenses not 
to exceed $0.  Total not to exceed amount for this Work Authorization is $________.[ AND, 
"CITY AGREES TO PAY CONSULTANT COMPENSATION AT CONSULTANT'S 
HOURLY RATES, UP TO A MAXIMUM AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $123,757.50 PLUS 
REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES NOT TO EXCEED $0.00 FOR A MAXIMUM CONTRACT 
AMOUNT OF $123,757.50. 

 

Page 143 of 283



Page 4 of 16 

4.2 Reimbursable Expenses.  The following expenses are reimbursable at their 
actual cost: travel and accommodations, courier services, mileage (at a rate approved by the 
CITY), photo and reproduction services.  All document reproductions are also reimbursable, at a 
rate approved by the CITY. 
 
SECTION 5.    BILLING AND PAYMENTS TO THE CONSULTANT 
 

5.1 Invoices  
 

         5.1.1 Hourly Not To Exceed Rate.  CONSULTANT shall submit invoices 
which are identified by the specific project number on a monthly basis in a timely 
manner.  These invoices shall identify the nature of the work performed, the 
personnel performing the work, the time worked and the total billing in 
accordance with the Payment Schedule set forth in Exhibit “3” (N/A), to this 
Project Agreement.  Invoices will show the total amount billed against this work 
authorization and shall not exceed the not-to-exceed amount without authorization 
from the City.  The CITY shall pay CONSULTANT within thirty (30) calendar 
days of approval by the City Manager of any invoices submitted by 
CONSULTANT to the CITY. 

 
5.2 Disputed Invoices.  In the event that all or a portion of an invoice submitted to 

the CITY for payment to the CONSULTANT is disputed, or additional backup documentation is 
required, the CITY shall notify the CONSULTANT within fifteen (15) working days of receipt 
of the invoice of such objection, modification or additional documentation request.  The 
CONSULTANT shall provide the CITY with additional backup documentation within five (5) 
working days of the date of the CITY’S notice.  The CITY may request additional information, 
including but not limited to, all invoices, time records, expense records, accounting records, and 
payment records of the CONSULTANT.  The CITY, at its sole discretion, may pay to the 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice.  The parties shall endeavor to resolve the 
dispute in a mutually agreeable fashion. 

 
5.3 Suspension of Payment.  In the event that the CITY becomes credibly informed 

that any representations of the CONSULTANT, provided pursuant to Subparagraph 5.1, are 
wholly or partially inaccurate, or in the event that the CONSULTANT is not in compliance with 
any term or condition of this Project Agreement, the CITY may withhold payment of sums then 
or in the future otherwise due to the CONSULTANT until the inaccuracy, or other breach of 
Project Agreement, and the cause thereof, is corrected to the CITY’s reasonable satisfaction. 

  
5.4 Retainage.  The CITY reserves the right to withhold retainage in the amount of 

five percent (5%) of any payment due to the CONSULTANT for the design until the design is 
completed.  Said retainage may be withheld at the sole discretion of the City Manager or his/her 
designee and as security for the successful completion of the CONSULTANT’S duties and 
responsibilities under the Project Agreement.   

 
5.5 Final Payment.  Submission of the CONSULTANT’S invoice for final payment 

and reimbursement shall constitute the CONSULTANT’S representation to the CITY that, upon 

Page 144 of 283



Page 5 of 16 

receipt from the CITY of the amount invoiced, all obligations of the CONSULTANT to others, 
including its consultants, incurred in connection with the Project, shall be paid in full.  The 
CONSULTANT shall deliver to the CITY all documents requested by the CITY evidencing 
payments to any and all subcontractors, and all final specifications, plans, or other documents as 
dictated in the Scope of Services and Deliverable.  Acceptance of final payment shall constitute a 
waiver of any and all claims against the CITY by the CONSULTANT. 
 
SECTION 6.    TERMINATION/SUSPENSION 
 

6.1  For Cause.  This Project Agreement may be terminated by either party upon five 
(5) calendar days written notice to the other party should the other party fail substantially to 
perform in accordance with its material terms through no fault of the party initiating the 
termination.  In the event that CONSULTANT abandons this Project Agreement or causes it to 
be terminated by the CITY, the CONSULTANT shall indemnify the CITY against any loss 
pertaining to this termination.  In the event that the CONSULTANT is terminated by the CITY 
for cause and it is subsequently determined by a court by a court of competent jurisdiction that 
such termination was without cause, such termination shall thereupon be deemed a termination 
for convenience under Section 6.2 of this Project Agreement and the provision of Section 6.2 
shall apply. 
 

6.2  For Convenience. This Project Agreement may be terminated by the CITY for 
convenience upon fourteen (14) calendar days’ written notice to the CONSULTANT.  In the 
event of termination, the CONSULTANT shall incur no further obligations in connection with 
the Project and shall, to the extent possible, terminate any outstanding subconsultant obligations. 
The CONSULTANT shall be compensated for all services performed to the satisfaction of the 
CITY and for reimbursable expenses incurred prior to the date of termination.  The 
CONSULTANT shall promptly submit its invoice for final payment and reimbursement and the 
invoice shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 5.1 of this Project Agreement.  Under no 
circumstances shall the CITY make any payment to the CONSULTANT for services which have 
not been performed. 

 
6.3  Assignment upon Termination. Upon termination of this Project Agreement, a 

copy of all of the CONSULTANT's work product shall become the property of the CITY and the 
CONSULTANT shall, within ten (10) working days of receipt of written direction from the 
CITY, transfer to either the CITY or its authorized designee, a copy of all work product in its 
possession, including but not limited to designs, specifications, drawings, studies, reports and all 
other documents and data in the possession of the CONSULTANT pertaining to this Project 
Agreement.  Further, upon the CITY’S request, the CONSULTANT shall assign its rights, title 
and interest under any subcontractor’s agreements to the CITY. 

 
6.4  Suspension for Convenience.  The CITY shall have the right at any time to 

direct the CONSULTANT to suspend its performance, or any designated part thereof, for any 
reason whatsoever or without reason, for a cumulative period of up to thirty (30) calendar days.  
If any such suspension is directed by the CITY, the CONSULTANT shall immediately comply 
with same.  In the event the CITY directs a suspension of performance as provided for herein 
through no fault of the CONSULTANT, the CITY shall pay to the CONSULTANT its 

Page 145 of 283



Page 6 of 16 

reasonable costs, actually incurred and paid, of demobilization and remobilization, as full 
compensation for any such suspension. 

 
SECION 7. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 

7.1 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS – The parties shall comply with all applicable 
local, state and federal laws and guidelines relating to the services that are subject to this 
Agreement.  Federal regulations apply to all of the City of Marathon contracts using 
Federal funds as a source for the solicitation of goods and services. The following 
Federal requirements apply to this Emergency Agreement: 

 
 7.2     ACCESS BY THE GRANTEE, SUBGRANTEE, FEDERAL GRANTOR 

AGENCY AND COMPTROLLER GENERAL:  The Contractor shall allow access by 
the grantee, sub grantee, Federal grantor agency and Comptroller General of the United 
States, or any of their duly authorized representatives to any books, documents, papers, 
and records of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to that specific contract for the 
purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. 

 
 7.3  CLEAN AIR AND WATER ACTS:  The Contractor shall comply with all 

applicable standards, orders, or requirements issued under Section 306 of the Clean Air 
Act (42 U.S.C. 1857 (h)), Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1386), 
Executive Order 11738, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (40 CFR Part 
15), (Contracts and/or subcontracts, and sub grants of amounts in excess of $100,00.00).  

 
 7.4   CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS:  The Contractor 

shall comply with Sections 103 and 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety 
Standards Act (40 U.S.C. 327-330) as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations 
(29 CFR Part 5).  (Constructions contracts awarded by grantees and sub grantees in 
excess of $2,000, and in excess of $2,500 for other contracts which involve the 
employment of mechanics or laborers.) 

 
 7.5   COPELAND ANTI-KICKBACK ACT:  The Contractor shall comply with the 

Copeland Anti-Kickback Act (18 U.S.C. 874) as supplemented in Department of Labor 
regulations (29 CFR Part 3).  (All contracts and sub grants for construction repair). 

 
 7.6   COPYRIGHTS:  The Grantee is free to copyright original work developed in the 

course of or under the agreement.  FEMA reserves a royalty-free, nonexclusive and 
irrevocable right to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to authorize others to use 
the work for Government purposes.  Publication resulting from work performed under 
this agreement shall include an acknowledgement of FEMA financial support, by granted 
number, and a statement that the publication does not constitute an endorsement by 
FEMA or reflect FEMA views. 

 
 7.7   DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE) CONTRACTORS:  

The contractor agrees to ensure that Disadvantage Business Enterprises as defined in 49 
C.F.R. Part 23, as amended, have the maximum opportunity to participate in the 

Page 146 of 283



Page 7 of 16 

performance of contracts and this agreement.  In this regard, contractor shall take all 
necessary and reasonable steps in accordance with 49 C.F.R. Part 23, as amended, to 
ensure that the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises have the maximum opportunity to 
compete for and perform contracts.  The contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of 
race, color, national origin or sex in the award and performance of federal assisted 
contracts. 

 
 7.8   ENERGY POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT:  The Contractor shall comply 

with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained 
in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 
Conservation Act (Pub. L. 94-163). 

 
 7.9   EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY:  The Contractor shall comply with 

Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, entitled “Equal Employment 
Opportunity,” as amended by Executive Order 11375 of October 13, 1967, and as 
supplemented in Department of Labor regulations (41 C.F.R. Chapter 60).  (All 
construction contracts awarded in excess of $10,000 by grantees and their contractors or 
sub grantees). 

 
 

 7.10   REPORTING:  
 
         7.10.1 Reports Submission:  Per 44 CFR 13.50, when the appropriate grant 

award performance period expires, the Grantee shall submit the following 
documents within 90 days: (1) Financial performance or Progress Report; (2) 
Financial status Report (SF 269) or outlay Report and Request for Reimbursement 
for Construction Programs (SF-271) (as applicable); (3) Final request for payment 
(SF-270) (if applicable); (4) Invention disclosure (if applicable); and (5) 
Federally-owned property report. 

   
         7.10.2 Reports Acceptance:  FEMA shall review the Grantee reports, 

perform the necessary financial reconciliation, negotiate necessary adjustments 
between the Grantee’s and FEMA’s records, and close grant in writing. 

 
 7.11 RETENTION OF ALL RECORDS:  The Contractor is required to retain 

all records for three (3) years after grantees or subgrantees make final payments 
and all other pending matters are closed. 

 
7.12 BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT (31 U.S.C. 1352)—
Contractors that apply or bid for an award exceeding $100,000 must file the 
required certification. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has 
not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or 
any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier must also disclose any 

Page 147 of 283



Page 8 of 16 

lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any 
Federal award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the non-
Federal award. 

 
 
SECTION 8 INCORPORATION OF TERMS AND CONDTIONS OF CONTINUING 

SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 
  8.1 This Project Agreement incorporates the terms and conditions set forth in 
the Continuing Services Agreement dated March 13, 2024 between the parties as though fully 
set forth herein.  In the event that any terms or conditions of this Project Agreement conflict with 
the Continuing Services Agreement, the provisions of this specific Project Agreement shall 
prevail and apply. 
 
PURSUANT TO F.S. 558.0035, AN INDIVIDUAL 
EMPLOYEE OR AGENT MAY NOT BE HELD 
INDIVIDUALLY LIABLE FOR ANY NEGLIGENCE. 
 
 

[THE REST OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 

Page 148 of 283



Page 9 of 16 

 
SECTION 9  Term/Time of Performance 
 

9.1 This Project Specific Agreement shall be effective on the date it is fully executed by 
all parties and shall continue in full force for 2 year(s) or until completion of the Project, 
unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the Construction Management Services 
Agreement or other applicable provisions of this Project Specific Agreement.  The City 
Engineer or Manager, in his sole discretion, may extend the term of this Project Specific 
Agreement through written notification to the Consultant.  Such extension shall not 
exceed 180 days.  No further extensions of this Project Specific Agreement shall be 
effective unless authorized by the City Engineer or Manager. 
 
9.2 The Consultant's services under this Project Specific Agreement and the time 
frames applicable to this Project Specific Agreement shall commence upon the date 
provided in a written Notification of Commencement (“Commencement Date”) provided 
to the Consultant from the City.  The Consultant shall not incur any expenses or 
obligations for payment to third parties prior to the issuance of the Notification of 
Commencement.  Consultant must receive written notice from the City prior to the 
beginning the performance of services. 

 
9.3 Upon receipt of the Notification of Commencement, the Consultant shall 
commence services to the City on the Commencement Date, and shall continuously 
perform services to the City, without interruption, in accordance with the time frames set 
forth in the Project Schedule.”  

 
SECTION 10 Project Records 

 
10.1 All final plans, documents, reports, studies and other data prepared by the 
Consultant or a subconsultant will bear the endorsement of a person in the full 
employ of the Consultant or the subconsultant and duly registered in the appropriate 
professional category. 

 
10.2 After the City’s acceptance of final plans and documents, an electronic copy of the 
Consultant’s or the sub consultant’s drawings, tracings, plans and maps will be 
provided to the City at no additional cost to the City. 

 
10.3 Upon completion of any construction by a contractor on a project assigned to 
Consultant, the Consultant shall furnish acceptable field verified "record drawings" 
of the work on full sized prints (and/or electronic data file if requested by the City). 
The Consultant shall signify, by affixing an appropriate endorsement on every sheet of 
the record sets that the work shown on the endorsed sheets was reviewed by the 
Consultant. 

 
10.4 The Consultant shall not be liable for use by the City of said plans, documents, 
studies or other data for any purpose other than stated in the applicable Project Specific 
Agreement. 

Page 149 of 283



Page 10 of 16 

 
10.5 All tracings, documents, data, deliverables, records, plans, specifications, 
maps, surveys, field survey notes, and/or reports prepared or obtained under this 
Agreement shall be considered works made for hire and shall become the property of 
City, and reproducible copies shall be made available upon request to the City. 
 
 
10.6 All project records shall be maintained by Consultant and made available upon 
request of the City of Marathon. 

 
10.7 City at all times for the duration of this Agreement a n d  d u r i n g  t h e  
p e r i o d  s t a t e d  b y  F l o r i d a  R e c o r d s  R e t e n t i o n  S c h e d u l e s .  
During this time period the City Manager or designee have access to and the right 
to examine and audit any records of the Consultant involving transactions related to 
this Agreement, including its financial records. The City may cancel this Agreement 
for refusal by the Consultant to allow access by the City Manager or designee to any 
records pertaining to work performed under this Agreement. 

 
SECTION 11          Ownership and Access to Public Records. 

11.1        All records, books, documents, maps, data, deliverables, papers and financial 
information (the “Records”) that result from the Consultant providing services to 
the City under this Agreement shall be the property of the City. 

11.2        The Consultant is a “Contractor” as defined by Section 119.0701(1)(a), Florida 
Statutes, and shall comply with the public records provisions of Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, including the following: 

1.       Keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the 
service. 

2.       Upon request from the City Clerk, provide the City with a copy of the 
requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a 
reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 
119, Florida Statutes or as otherwise provided by law. 

3.       Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from 
public records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as 
authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following 
completion of the contract if the Consultant does not transfer the records 
to the City. 

4.       Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the City all public 
records in possession of the Consultant or keep and maintain public 
records required by the City to perform the service. If the Consultant 
transfers all public records to the City upon completion of the contract, the 
Consultant shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or 
confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. If 
the Consultant keeps and maintains public records upon completion of the 
contract, the Consultant shall meet all applicable requirements for 

Page 150 of 283



Page 11 of 16 

retaining public records. All records stored electronically must be 
provided to the City, upon request from the City Clerk, in a format that is 
compatible with the information technology systems of the City. 

 
11.3    “Public Records” is defined in Section 119.011(12), Florida Statutes, and includes 

all documents, papers, letters, photographs, data processing software, or other 
material, regardless of physical form, made or received in connection with this 
Agreement. 

 
11.4    Should the Consultant assert any exemption to the requirements of Chapter 119 

and related law, the burden of establishing such exemption, by way of injunctive 
or other relief as provided by law, shall be upon the CONSULTANT. 

 
11.5    The Consultant consents to the City’s enforcement of the Consultant’s Chapter 

119 requirements by all legal means, including, but not limited to, a mandatory 
injunction, whereupon the Consultant shall pay all court costs and reasonable 
attorney’s fees incurred by the City. 

 
11.6    The Consultant’s failure to provide public records within a reasonable time may be 

subject to penalties under Section 119.10, Florida Statutes.  Further, such failure 
by the Consultant shall be grounds for immediate unilateral cancellation of this 
Agreement by the City. 

 
11.7    IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 

APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 
THE CONTRACTOR'S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC 
RECORDS RELATING TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT 
THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT 305-743-0033, 
CITYCLERK@CI.MARATHON.FL.US, OR 9805 OVERSEAS 
HIGHWAY, MARATHON FLORIDA 33050. 

 
SECTION 12 E-VERIFY 
 

12.1 E-Verify System - Beginning January 1, 2021, in accordance with F.S. 448.095, 
the Contractor and any subcontractor shall register with and shall utilize the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization 
status of all new employees hired by the Contractor during the term of the Contract and 
shall expressly require any subcontractors performing work or providing services 
pursuant to the Contract to likewise utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security’s 
E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status of all new employees hired by the 
subcontractor during the Contract term. Any subcontractor shall provide an affidavit 
stating that the subcontractor does not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an 
unauthorized alien. The Contractor shall comply with and be subject to the provisions of 
F.S. 448.095 

 

Page 151 of 283

mailto:Cityclerk@ci.marathon.fl.us


Page 12 of 16 

 

PAYMENT UNDER THIS PROJECT SPECIFIC AGREEMENT SHALL ONLY BE 
MADE FROM APPROPRIATIONS BUDGETED ON AN ANNUAL BASIS. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this instrument on 
this_____________ day of_________________________, 2025. 
 
CONSULTANT:     CITY: 
 
 
 
By: Steve Sugg, PE    By:       
  
Its:   Director of Wastewater Engineering Its:       
 
      ATTEST: 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM AND   
       LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE  
       AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF  
       MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
  
       ____________________________________ 
       City Attorney 
 
This agreement shall be executed on behalf of Consultant by its President or a Vice President.  If 
executed by a person other than Consultant's President or a Vice President, then attach evidence 
of that person's actual authority to bind Consultant to this agreement. 

Page 152 of 283



Page 13 of 16 

EXHIBIT “1” 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Weiler Engineering will assist the City with design, permitting and construction phase 
services for the Area 3 Vacuum Tank Replacement Project.  The Area 3 vacuum tank 
has severe corrosion on the interior. The corrosion has caused holes to form in the tank 
walls where the interior coatings have been compromised. There is also severe 
corrosion where the tank probes and fittings are attached.  The City wishes to replace 
the existing tank with a new tank constructed of non-corrosive fiberglass with a 
chemically- and abrasion-resistant coating system applied to the interior.   

 
Scope of services will include: 

 
• Research records archives to find the original design drawings of the existing 

tank and record drawing of the Area 3 Vacuum Pump Station (VPS).   
• Prepare demolition plans for removal of VPS roof and removal of the existing 

vacuum tank.   
• Prepare plans for installation of a temporary vacuum tank to be located outdoors, 

tapping into the existing incoming vacuum mains.  
• Prepare plans for installation of the new tank, replacement of the VPS roof and 

removal/restoration of the temporary vacuum tank facilities. 
• Prepare ITB and technical specifications for the project. 
• Attend pre-bid meeting, issue addenda as needed, review bids and prepare a 

Recommendation of Award. 
• Prepare the Notice to Proceed for the construction 
• Conduct construction inspections of the progress of the work. 
• Witness testing and startup of the vacuum pump station with new tank.  
• Respond to requests for information from the Contractor throughout the 

construction, review of change requests from the Contractor and make 
recommendation to the City regarding change order requests 

• Review and recommend approval for applications for payment 
• Prepare Certification of Substantial Completion and Final Punch List.  Verify 

completion of Final Punch List corrections.  
• Prepare Certification of Completion of Construction and review project close-out 

documents provided by the Contractor.   
 

 
 
 
 

Page 153 of 283



Page 14 of 16 

EXHIBIT “2” 
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND PROJECT SCHEDULE 

     
Description 

Weiler Engineering will assist the City with design, permitting and construction phase 
services for the Area 3 Vacuum Tank Replacement Project.  The Area 3 vacuum tank 
has severe corrosion on the interior. The corrosion has caused holes to form in the tank 
walls where the interior coatings have been compromised. There is also severe 
corrosion where the tank probes and fittings are attached.  The City wishes to replace 
the existing tank with a new tank constructed of non-corrosive fiberglass with a 
chemically- and abrasion-resistant coating system applied to the interior.   

 
Scope of services will include: 

 
• Research records archives to find the original design drawings of the existing 

tank and record drawing of the Area 3 Vacuum Pump Station (VPS).   
• Prepare demolition plans for removal of VPS roof and removal of the existing 

vacuum tank.   
• Prepare plans for installation of a temporary vacuum tank to be located outdoors, 

tapping into the existing incoming vacuum mains.  
• Prepare plans for installation of the new tank, replacement of the VPS roof and 

removal/restoration of the temporary vacuum tank facilities. 
• Prepare ITB and technical specifications for the project. 
• Attend pre-bid meeting, issue addenda as needed, review bids and prepare a 

Recommendation of Award. 
• Prepare the Notice to Proceed for the construction 
• Conduct construction inspections of the progress of the work. 
• Witness testing and startup of the vacuum pump station with new tank.  
• Respond to requests for information from the Contractor throughout the 

construction, review of change requests from the Contractor and make 
recommendation to the City regarding change order requests 

• Review and recommend approval for applications for payment 
• Prepare Certification of Substantial Completion and Final Punch List.  Verify 

completion of Final Punch List corrections.  
• Prepare Certification of Completion of Construction and review project close-out 

documents provided by the Contractor.   
 
 
Deliverables will include:   

• Copies of reviewed and approved Contractor pay applications. 
• Copies of approved shop drawings and product data submittals 
• Copies of any change orders or work directives associated with the construction   

 
Anticipated Project Schedule 
 

Page 154 of 283



Page 15 of 16 

CONSULTANT will begin work upon acceptance of this PSA and will continue until final 
acceptance of the Area 3 Vacuum Tank Replacement Project by the City.  

Page 155 of 283



Page 16 of 16 

 
EXHIBIT “3” 

CONSULTANT’S HOURLY RATES 
 

Company:  The Weiler Engineering Corporation   
  

Title Rate 
Principal in Charge $210.00 
Expert Witness $280.00 
Registered Professional Engineer (P.E.) $165.00 
Environmental Scientist $160.00 
Mining Specialist PhD (non-P.E.) $160.00 
Project Manager 
Structural Manager 

$160.00 
$155.00 

Senior Planner $140.00 
Registered Engineer Intern (E.I.) 
Certified Floodplain Manager (CFM) 

$140.00 
$140.00 

Plans Examiner $130.00 
Structural Inspector 
Code Inspector 

$130.00 
$130.00 

Senior Construction Inspector $115.00 
Senior Engineering Designer $115.00 
Engineering Designer $100.00 
Construction Inspector $100.00 
Engineering Technician 
Structural Technician  

$90.00 
$90.00 

Field Technician $90.00 
Clerical $60.00 
  

 
 

Reimbursable Expenses: 
   
Vellums $10.00 / each (24 x 36) 
Mylars $25.00 / each (24 x 36) 
Blue Prints / Sheet $2.80 / each (24 x 36) 
Copies $0.30 / each (11 x 17) 
Copies $0.20 / each (8 ½  x 14) 
Copies $0.15 / each (8 ½  x 11) 
Travel * Cost plus 15%  
Overnight mail Cost plus 15%  
Other Reimbursable Expenses Cost plus 15%  

 
THE REST OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.] 

 
 

Page 156 of 283



#196481 v1 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor and Council Members 
 
From:   Dan Saus, Utility Director  
 
Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-42 Authorizing and Approving A Contract For The 
Construction Of Phase 1 Force Main For The Deep Injection Well Project to DBE Utility Services 
in an amount Not to Exceed $5,321,846.32; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The 
Contract And Appropriate Budgeted Funds On Behalf Of The City; And Providing For An 
Effective Date. 
 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
The city decided last year to move forward with a Class 1 Deep Injection Well Project.  This Phase 
1 Force Main for the Deep Injection Well Project provides for the required force main piping 
installation from the Service Area 3 facility to Vaca Cut.  This project was advertised on 
DemandStar on February 7, 2025, as ITB-2025-002LF-0-2025/LF.  Bids were publicly opened on 
April 10, 2025, at 2:00PM at city hall.  The lowest responsive and responsible bidder was DBE 
Utility Services at $5,321,846.32.  Our engineer recommends the award of the contract to DBE 
Utility Services based on their bid price, qualifications and past performance.  A Recommendation 
of Award letter is attached as Exhibit 1.  The Contract is attached as Exhibit 2.  Staff recommends 
approval of this resolution. 
 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan ____ ____ 
2.  Other –Sewer Mandate ____ ____ 
 
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
The FY25 Wastewater Utility Budget includes appropriations of $7,000,000 for the piping 
construction financed by debt proceeds. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve Resolution 
 
 

 

Page 157 of 283



 

 

6805 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY 
MARATHON, FL 33050 

TEL: (305) 289-4161 
FAX: (305) 289-4162 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Dan Saus, Utilities Director 

From: Ed Castle, P.E. 

Date: April 16th, 2025 

Re: Recommendation of Award – Deep Injection Well Phase 1 Transmission Main Project 

 

The City of Marathon published an Invitation to Bid (ITB) for construction of the Deep Injection 

Well Phase 1 Transmission Main Project. The project includes installation of approximately 

5,512 linear feet of 10” DR11 HDPE piping and 14,866 linear feet of 16” DR11 HDPE piping 

via directional drilling, with associated valves and fittings, from the Area 3 WWTP to the east 

side of Vaca Cut. The alignment begins at the City of Marathon Area 3 Wastewater Treatment 

Plant and extends through Areas 4 and 5, terminating at the west side of the Vaca Cut Bridge. 

HDD installation is mandated due to congested subsurface and FDOT ROW constraints. 

 

Four bids were received and reviewed for responsiveness and responsibility based on the criteria 

outlined in the ITB. The bid prices and a summary of qualifications and relevant issues are 

presented below: 

   

 

Bidder Bid Price 
Responsive/ 

Responsible 
Notes 

DBE Utility 

Services 

$5,321,846.32 Yes All checklist items submitted, local 

experience, solid HDD history. 

Charley Toppino 

& Sons 

$5,647,916.00 Yes Responsive and qualified; 

extensive local work experience. 

Metro 

Equipment 

Service 

$8,994,555.00 Yes Responsive and qualified; 

extensive local work experience. 

Quality 

Enterprises 

$10,719,585.00 Yes (Minor Correctable 

Deficiency) 

Missing OSHA Acknowledgement; 

otherwise qualified with extensive 

HDD work. 

 

  

EXHIBIT 1

Page 158 of 283



 

 

6805 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY 
MARATHON, FL 33050 

TEL: (305) 289-4161 
FAX: (305) 289-4162 

 

All submitted bids were reviewed for compliance with Section 0300A (Contractor’s Bid 

Document Checklist), technical specifications, licensing, bonding, and conformance with 

applicable statutes including Florida Statutes Chapter 287 and the Trench Safety Act. All 

responsive and responsible bids were further evaluated for price and qualifications.  

 

DBE Utility Services submitted a complete and fully responsive bid package that satisfied all 

requirements outlined in Section 0300A of the ITB. Their qualifications reflect a strong 

background in horizontal directional drilling (HDD), including notable projects such as the 

FKAA Whale Harbor HDD crossing, where they installed a 42-inch water main valued at $1.8 

million, and the JEA SR-200 project involving the installation of 16-inch and 20-inch reclaim 

lines via HDD. The firm demonstrated local experience and the ability to perform complex 

underground utility work within the Florida Keys region. DBE’s bid of $5,321,846.32 is the 

lowest submitted and is approximately 5.8% below the next closest competitor, indicating both 

cost efficiency and value without sacrificing technical capability. 

 

Charley Toppino & Sons (CTS) also submitted a complete and compliant bid. The firm’s 

extensive experience throughout Monroe County, including successful projects completed for 

FKAA, FDOT, and the City of Key West, demonstrates that they are both highly capable and 

deeply familiar with the regional regulatory, geological, and logistical challenges. Their bid of 

$5,647,916.00, while slightly higher than DBE’s, is competitive and falls well within a 

reasonable cost range for this type of infrastructure project. CTS is considered fully responsive 

and responsible, with no deficiencies in documentation or qualifications. 

 

Metro Equipment Service submitted a bid that was both complete and technically compliant. 

Their qualifications include a $15.3 million utility infrastructure project for the City of St. Pete 

Beach, which included multiple HDPE and PVC pipe installations and submersible pump station 

work. While the firm possesses experience at a larger scale, their bid price of $8,994,555.00 is 

significantly higher than that of two other responsive bidders.  

 

Quality Enterprises USA, Inc. submitted a strong proposal from a technical standpoint, 

demonstrating vast HDD expertise, including the installation of over 40,000 linear feet of water 

Page 159 of 283



 

 

6805 OVERSEAS HIGHWAY 
MARATHON, FL 33050 

TEL: (305) 289-4161 
FAX: (305) 289-4162 

 

main; 30,000 of which were installed via HDD, with subaqueous drills over 6,300 linear feet in 

length. However, their bid package lacked the signed Acknowledgement of Conformance with 

OSHA Standards, which is a mandatory item under Section 0300A, Item 6 of the bid documents. 

Their bid price of $10,719,585.00 is more than double the lowest bid received. 

 

Following a comprehensive review of the submitted bids, including pricing, documentation, 

qualifications, and legal standing, DBE Utility Services was determined to be the lowest 

responsive and responsible bidder. Based on our review of the bid documentation, pricing, and 

qualifications, we recommend awarding the Deep Injection Well Phase 1 Transmission Main 

Project to DBE Utility Services for a total amount of $5,321,846.32, pending successful contract 

negotiations and final verification of bonds and insurance. The firm’s demonstrated experience 

with HDD installation, competitive pricing, and successful completion of similar projects in the 

region make them the most suitable candidate for this contract. Their familiarity with local 

conditions, including FDOT right-of-way constraints and Monroe County permitting processes, 

adds further value to their proposal. 

 

This recommendation is consistent with the City's procurement policy and in the best interest of 

the project timeline and budget. 

 

 

Page 160 of 283



 

Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-42 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVING   A CONTRACT WITH DBE 
UTILITY SERVICES FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE DEEP INJECTION 
WELL FORCE MAIN PHASE 1 IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$5,321,846.32; AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE 
AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the City wishes to move forward with the Construction of Phase 1 Force Main 
for the Class 1 Deep Injection Well Project; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein. 
 

 Section 2. The City Council hereby authorizes the City Manager to enter into an 
agreement and expend budgeted funds on behalf of the City for Construction of Phase 1 Force Main 
for the Class 1 Deep Injection Well Project with DBE Utility Services. in an amount not to exceed 
$5,321,846.32. 

 
Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13th DAY OF MAY 2025. 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor Lynn Landry 

 
AYES:     
NOES:     
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN: 
 

Page 161 of 283



#205661 v1 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney  

 

Page 162 of 283



31 of 159 
 

SECTION 00500 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
 

This Contract (the “Contract”) is dated as of the   day of   20   by and 

between the City of Marathon (hereinafter called the “CITY”) and                                                       

(hereinafter called “CONTRACTOR”) located at: 
 

 

 

 
CITY and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as 

follows: 
 

ARTICLE 1. WORK 
 

1.1 Project/Work: CONTRACTOR shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in 

the plans, Contract Documents and detailed in Exhibit “A.” The Work is generally described as the 

following: Provide and install power conditioning and surge suppression devices, install mounting 

platforms, install conduits and wiring, new electrical services, and a new generator. For further detail 

see Construction Drawings. 
 

ARTICLE 2. CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE, ARCHITECT AND ENGINEER 
 

2.1 It is understood that the CITY will designate a representative for the Work. The 

CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE referred to in any of the Contract Documents designated herein is Dan 

Saus, Utility Director, 9805 Overseas Highway, Marathon Florida 33050. 
 

2.2 The CITY’S ENGINEER OF RECORD referred to in any of the Contract Documents 

designated herein is The Weiler Engineering Corporation 
 

ARTICLE 3. TERM 
 

3.1 Contract Term. The Work shall be substantially completed within Three Hundred 

Thirty-Five (335) calendar days after the date specified in the Notice to Proceed (“Substantial 

Completion”), and fully completed and ready for final payment in accordance with the Contract 

Document within Three Hundred Sixty-Five (365) calendar days after the date specified in the Notice 

to Proceed (“Final Completion”). 
 

3.2 Contract Time. The Contract Term shall not commence until the CITY issues to 

CONTRACTOR a Notice to Proceed and the term of the Contract shall be through the date of final 

payment unless terminated earlier pursuant to Section 00700 – General Conditions, Article 14, 

Payments to Contractor and Completion. 

EXHIBIT 2

Page 163 of 283



32 of 159 
 

3.3 Survival of Obligations. Any obligations by the CONTRACTOR, including but not 

limited to those set forth in Section 00700 – General Conditions, Article 12, Contractor’s General 

Warranty and Guarantee, that would or could occur after the date of expiration or termination of the 

Contract shall survive the termination or expiration of the Contract. 
 

3.4 Liquidated Damages. CITY and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of the essence 

in this Contract and that the CITY will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the 

contract times specified in Section 3.1 for the Work above, plus any approved extensions thereof 

allowed in accordance with the General Conditions. The CONTRACTOR also recognizes that the 

damages which the City will incur if the Work is not substantially completed on time and/or fully 

completed on time are not readily ascertainable at the time this Agreement is entered into, and the 

Contractor recognizes the difficulties involved in proving the actual loss suffered by CITY if the Work 

is not substantially completed on time and/or fully completed on time. Accordingly, instead of 

requiring any such proof, CITY and CONTRACTOR agree that as liquidated damages to compensate 

the City and not as a penalty for delay or as an incentive to complete on time, CONTRACTOR shall 

pay CITY ($1000.00) for each calendar day that expires after the time specified in Section 3.1 for 

Substantial Completion of the Work. After Substantial Completion, if CONTRACTOR fails to fully 

complete the Work within the time specified in Section 3.1 for completion and readiness for final 

payment or any proper extension thereof granted by CITY, CONTRACTOR shall pay CITY 

($1000.00) for each calendar day that expires after the time specified in Section 3.1 for full completion 

and readiness for final payment. Contractor agrees that the liquidated damage amounts specified in 

the Contract Documents bear a reasonable relationship to the actual damages to be suffered due to 

public inconvenience and damage to the City’s reputation if the Contractor fails to substantially 

complete and/or fully complete the Work on time. The liquidated damages are not in compensation 

for any other damages, and expressly exclude damages for completion contractor expenses, 

lost/unrealized revenue, financing costs, professional services, attorney fees, and/or additional City 

staffing that may be incurred if the work is not substantially completed on time and/or fully completed 

on time. All liquidated damages amounts will continue to be charged if the Contractor abandons the 

Work, or is terminated, and the Work is completed by another party. 
 

3.5 Should the Substantial Completion and/or Full/Final Completion and acceptance of 

Work, together with any modification or additions, be delayed beyond the time for performance set 

in Section 3.1 above because of lack of performance by the CONTRACTOR, it is understood and 

agreed that aside from any liquidated damages, the Contractor shall be liable to the City for all actual 

additional costs and/or losses incurred by the CITY including, but not limited to, completion 

contractor expenses, lost/unrealized revenue, financing costs, professional services, attorney fees, 

and/or additional City staffing that incurred because the Work was not substantially completed on 

time and/or fully completed on time. 
 

3.6 Monies due to the CITY under Sections 3.4 and 3.5 shall be deducted from any monies 

due the CONTRACTOR, or if no money is due or the amount due is insufficient to cover the amount 

charged, the CONTRACTOR shall be liable for said amount. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164 of 283



33 of 159 
 

ARTICLE 4. CONTRACT PRICE 
 

4.1 CITY shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work in accordance with the 

Contract Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined pursuant 

to this Article. 
 

4.1.1 For all Unit Price Work, an amount equal to the sum of the established unit 

price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of that item 

as indicated on the Unit Price Bid Form attached hereto as Exhibit “B.” Estimated quantities, as 

listed in the bid form, are provided to assist the contractor, and determination of actual quantities and 

classification are to be verified by CONTRACTOR prior to submittal of the bid as provided in the 

Contract Documents. 
 

4.2 The CONTRACTOR agrees that all specific cash allowances are included in the above 

Contract Price and have been computed in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 

ARTICLE 5. PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 

5.1 CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Section 

00700 - General Conditions, Article 14, Payments to Contractor and Completion. Applications for 

Payment will be processed by CITY as provided in the General Conditions. 
 

5.2 Progress Payments, Retainage. CITY shall make progress payments, deducting the 

amount from the Contract Price above, on the basis of CONTRACTOR’S Applications for Payment 

as recommended by the CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE, on or about the last day of each month during 

construction as provided herein. All such payments will be made in accordance with the schedule of 

values established in the General Conditions or, in the event there is no schedule of values, as provided 

in the General Conditions. 
 

5.2.1 No progress payment shall be made until CONTRACTOR delivers to the CITY 

certified copies of the performance bond and payment bond establishing that the bonds have been 

recorded with the county clerk, complete original partial releases of all liens, bond claims, and claims 

signed by all Subcontractors, materialmen, suppliers, and vendors, indicating amount of partial 

payment, on a form approved by the CITY, and an affidavit that so far as the CONTRACTOR has 

knowledge or information, the releases include and cover all Materials and Work for which a lien, 

bond claim, or claim could be filed for work completed to date. 
 

5.2.2 No progress payment shall be made until CONTRACTOR delivers to CITY 

complete original partial releases and waivers of all liens and claims signed by all Subcontractors, 

materialmen, suppliers, and vendors, indicating receipt of partial payment due each for work 

performed since last progress payment. The partial release shall be accompanied by an affidavit 

stating that, so far as CONTRACTOR has knowledge or information, the releases include and cover 

all Materials and Work for which a lien or claim could be filed for work completed to date. The form 

of the partial release and waiver of lien and affidavit specified herein shall be approved by the CITY. 

 

5.3 The CONTRACTOR agrees that five percent (5%) of the amount due for Work as set 

forth in each Application for Payment shall be retained by CITY for each Progress Payment 

Page 165 of 283



34 of 159 
 

until Final Payment, as defined in Section 00700 - General Conditions, Article 14, Payments 

to Contractor and Completion. 
 

5.3.1 Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount 

equal to the percentage indicated above, but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously 

made and less such amounts as CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE shall determine, or CITY may 

withhold, in accordance with the General Conditions. 
 

5.4 The payment of any Application for Payment by CITY, including the Final Request, 

does not constitute approval or acceptance by CITY of any item of the Work in such Request for 

Payment, nor shall it be construed as a waiver of any of CITY’s rights hereunder or at law or in equity. 
 

5.5 The Final Application for Payment by CONTRACTOR shall not be made until the 

CONTRACTOR delivers to the City complete original final releases of all liens and claims signed by 

all Subcontractors, materialmen, suppliers, and vendors on a form approved by the CITY, and an 

affidavit that so far as the CONTRACTOR has knowledge or information, the releases include and 

cover all Materials and Work for which a lien or claim could be filed. The CONTRACTOR may, if 

any Subcontractor, materialmen, supplier, or vendor refuses to furnish the required Final Waiver of 

Lien, furnish a bond satisfactory to City to defend and indemnify City and any other property owner, 

person or entity City may be required to indemnify against any lien or claim. 
 

ARTICLE 6. INSURANCE/INDEMNIFICATION. 
 

6.1 Insurance. The CONTRACTOR shall secure and maintain throughout the duration of 

this Contract, insurance of such type and in such amounts necessary to protect its interest and the 

interest of the CITY against hazards or risks of loss as specified in the General Conditions of the 

Contract Documents. 
 

6.2 Indemnification. The CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

CITY, their officials, agents, employees, and volunteers from liabilities, damages, losses and costs, 

including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees, to the extent caused by the negligence, 

recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the contractor and persons employed or utilized 

by the contractor in the performance of this Contract and as set forth in General Conditions of the 

Contract Documents. 
 

6.3 This indemnification shall survive the termination of this Contract. Nothing contained 

in this paragraph is intended to nor shall it constitute a waiver of the State of Florida and the Agency’s 

sovereign immunity. 
 

ARTICLE 7. CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS. 
 

In order to induce CITY to enter into this Contract, CONTRACTOR makes the following 

representations: 

 

7.1 CONTRACTOR has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents 

(including the Addenda) and the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents including 

“technical data.” 

Page 166 of 283



35 of 159 
 

7.2 CONTRACTOR has visited the site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the 

general, local and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the 

Work. 
 

7.3 CONTRACTOR is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local Laws 

and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, performance and furnishing of the Work. Contractor 

shall abide with all conditions in attached Attachment A 
 

7.4 CONTRACTOR has made, or caused to be made, examinations, investigations, tests, 

or studies as necessary to determine surface and subsurface conditions at or on the site. 

CONTRACTOR acknowledges that CITY does not assume responsibility for the accuracy or 

completeness of information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to 

subsurface conditions or underground facilities at or contiguous to the site. CONTRACTOR has 

obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for having done so) all such additional 

supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies and data concerning 

conditions (surface, subsurface and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the site or otherwise 

which may affect cost, progress, performance or furnishing of the Work or which relate to any aspect 

of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by 

CONTRACTOR and safety precautions and programs incident thereto. CONTRACTOR does not 

consider that any additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 

necessary for the performance and furnishing of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract 

Times and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 
 

7.5 The CONTRACTOR is aware of the general nature of Work to be performed by CITY 

and others at the site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 
 

7.6 The CONTRACTOR has correlated the information known to CONTRACTOR, 

information and observations obtained from visits to the site, reports and drawings identified in the 

Contract Documents and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and 

data with the Contract Documents. 
 

7.7 The CONTRACTOR has given the CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE written notice of all 

conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that CONTRACTOR has discovered in the Contract 

Documents and the written resolution thereof by the CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE is acceptable to 

CONTRACTOR, and the Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey 

understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 
 

7.8 The CONTRACTOR warrants the following: 
 

7.8.1 Equal Employment: During the performance of this contract, the 

CONTRACTOR agrees as follows: 
 

a. The CONTRACTOR will not discriminate against any employee or 

applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, or national origin. The CONTRACTOR will 

take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that 

employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, 

color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or national origin. 

Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: 

Employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer, recruitment, or 

recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms 

Page 167 of 283



36 of 159 
 

of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

The CONTRACTOR agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to 

employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the 

contracting officer setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination 

clause. 
 

b. The CONTRACTOR will, in all solicitations or advertisements for 

employees placed by or on behalf of the CONTRACTOR, state that all 

qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without 

regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, or 

national origin. 
 

c. The CONTRACTOR will not discharge or in any other manner 

discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because 

such employee or applicant has inquired about, discussed, or disclosed 

the compensation of the employee or applicant or another employee or 

applicant. This provision shall not apply to instances in which an 

employee who has access to the compensation information of other 

employees or applicants as a part of such employee's essential job 

functions discloses the compensation of such other employees or 

applicants to individuals who do not otherwise have access to such 

information, unless such disclosure is in response to a formal complaint 

or charge, in furtherance of an investigation, proceeding, hearing, or 

action, including an investigation conducted by the employer, or is 

consistent with the CONTRACTOR's legal duty to furnish information. 
 

d. In the event of the CONTRACTOR's non-compliance with the 

nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or with any of such rules, 

regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated or 

suspended in whole or in part and the CONTRACTOR may be declared 

ineligible for further Government contracts in accordance with 

procedures authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, 

and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as 

provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, 

regulation, or order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by 

law. 
 

7.8.2 Anti-Discrimination: The CONTRACTOR agrees that it will not discriminate 

against any employees or applicants for employment or against persons for any other benefit or 

service under this Contract because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or physical or mental 

handicap where the handicap does not affect the ability of an individual to perform in a position of 

employment, and to abide by all federal and state laws regarding non-discrimination. 
 

7.8.3 Anti-Kickback: The CONTRACTOR warrants that no person has been 

employed or retained to solicit or secure this Contract upon an agreement or understanding for a 

commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee, and that no employee or officer of the CITY or 

any other applicable federal or state agency, has any interest, financially or otherwise, in the Project. 

For breach or violation of this warranty, the CITY shall have the right to declare contractor in default, 

and/or annul this Contract without liability or, in its discretion, to deduct from the 

Page 168 of 283



37 of 159 
 

Contract Price or consideration, the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage or 

contingent fee. 
 

7.8.4 Licensing and Permits: The CONTRACTOR warrants that it shall have, prior 

to commencement of work under this Contract and at all times during said work, all required licenses 

and permits whether federal, state, County or City. 
 

7.8.5 Public Entity Crime Statement: The CONTRACTOR warrants that it has not 

been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for public entity crime, as specified in 

Document 00200, Section 7.5, of the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

ARTICLE 8. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS. 
 

8.1 The Contract Documents listed below, which are listed in their order of precedence for 

the purpose of resolving conflicts, errors and discrepancies, by this reference shall become a part of 

the Contract as though physically attached as a part thereof: 
 

8.1.1 Change Orders. 
 

8.1.2 Field Orders. 
 

8.1.3 Contract for Construction. 
 

8.1.4 Exhibits to this Contract. 
 

8.1.5 General Conditions. 
 

8.1.6 Any federal, state, county or city permits for the Project. 
 

8.1.7 Specifications bearing the title: Specifications for Power Conditioning and 

Surge Protection Project. 
 

8.1.8 Drawings consisting of a cover sheet and inclusive of all sheets bearing the 

following general titles: Power Conditioning and Surge Protection Project 
 

8.1.9 Bid Documents, including but not limited to: Addendum, Invitation to Bid, 

Instructions to Bidders, Bid Form provided by CONTRACTOR, Notice of Award and Notice to 

Proceed, and all other provisions and sections of the Bid Documents. 
 

8.1.10 Addenda subject matter takes the same precedence of the respective subject 

matter that it is modifying. Furthermore, each subsequent addendum takes precedence over previous 

addenda.  
 

8.1.11 The documents listed above shall be incorporated into this Contract (except as 

expressly noted otherwise above).  
 

8.1.12 There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article. 

The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in the 

General Conditions. 
 

 

 

Page 169 of 283



38 of 159 
 

8.1.13 The Contract Documents shall remain the property of the CITY. The 

CONTRACTOR shall have the right to keep one record set of the Contract Documents upon 

completion of the Project; provided; however, that in no event shall the CONTRACTOR use, or 

permit to be used, any or all of such Contract Documents on other projects without the City’s prior 

written authorization. 
 

8.1.14 The General Conditions discuss the bond and surety requirements of the CITY. 

This Contract requires the CONTRACTOR to provide payment and performance bonds, unless stated 

otherwise in Section 255.05, Florida Statutes. If the Contract does not require bonds, the references to 

bonds in the General Conditions do not apply to this Contract.  
 

ARTICLE 9. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

9.1 Terms used in this Contract which are defined in Article 1 of the General Conditions, 

Section 00700, will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions. Terms used in Article 1 

of the Instructions to Bidders, Section 00200, also apply to this Contract. 
 

9.2 Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents with respect to 

subcontractors, no assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract 

Documents will be binding on another party thereto without the written consent of the party sought 

to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become due and moneys that 

are due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction 

may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an 

assignment no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under 

the Contract Documents. 
 

9.3 CITY and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns and legal 

representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives in 

respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 
 

9.4 Severability. Should any provision, paragraph, sentence, word, or phrase contained in 

this Contract be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, or otherwise 

unenforceable under the laws of the State of Florida, such provision, paragraph, sentence, word, or 

phrase shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary in order to conform with such laws, then 

shall be deemed severable, and in this Contract, shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect. 
 

9.5 Remedies. If and when any default of this Contract occurs, the CITY may avail itself 

of any legal or equitable remedies that may apply, including, but not limited to, liquidated damages 

specified in Article 3.4, actual damages, and specific performance. Such remedies may be exercised 

in the sole discretion of the CITY. Nothing contained in this Contract shall limit the CITY from 

pursuing any legal or equitable remedies that may apply. A default by CONTRACTOR under any 

contract with the CITY will be a default under all contracts with the CITY. The CITY may apply the 

proceeds from any contract between CONTRACTOR and the CITY to satisfy amounts owed by the 

CONTRACTOR to the CITY under any other contract. 
 

9.6 Access to Public Records. The CONTRACTOR shall comply with the applicable 

provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. 
 

9.6.1 All records, books, documents, maps, data, deliverables, papers, and financial 

information (the “Records”) that result from the Consultant providing services to the City under this 

Page 170 of 283



39 of 159 
 

Agreement shall be the property of the City. The Records are not intended or represented to be suitable 

for use, partial use, or reuse by the City or others on extensions of this project or on any other project. 

Any such use, reuse, or modifications made by the City to any of Consultant’s Records will be at 

City’s sole risk and without liability to Consultant, and City shall, to the extent allowable by Florida 

law, and subject to Section 768.28, Florida Statute, and all monetary limits listed therein, indemnify, 

defend and hold Consultant harmless from all claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but 

not limited to attorneys’ fees, resulting therefrom. 
 

9.6.2 The “CONTRACTOR” as defined by Section 119.0701(1)(a), Florida Statutes, 

shall comply with the public records provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, including the 

following: 
 

a. Keep and maintain public records required by the City to perform the 

service. 
 

b. Upon request from the City Clerk, provide the City with a copy of the 

requested records or allow the records to be inspected or copied within a 

reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 

119, Florida Statutes or as otherwise provided by law. 
 

c. Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt 

from public records disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as 

authorized by law for the duration of the contract term and following 

completion of the contract if the CONTRACTOR does not transfer the 

records to the City. 
 

d. Upon completion of the contract, transfer, at no cost, to the City all public 

records in possession of the CONTRACTOR or keep and maintain public 

records required by the City to perform the service. If the 

CONTRACTOR transfers all public records to the City upon completion 

of the contract, the CONTRACTOR shall destroy any duplicate public 

records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 

disclosure requirements. If the CONTRACTOR keeps and maintains 

public records upon completion of the contract, the CONTRACTOR shall 

meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. All records 

stored electronically must be provided to the City, upon request from the 

City Clerk, in a format that is compatible with the information technology 

systems of the City. 
 

9.6.3 “Public Records” is defined in Section 119.011(12), Florida Statutes, and 

includes all documents, papers, letters, photographs, data processing software, or other material, 

regardless of physical form, made or received in connection with this Agreement. 

 

9.6.4 Should the CONTRACTOR assert any exemption to the requirements of 

Chapter 119 and related law, the burden of establishing such exemption, by way of injunctive or other 

relief as provided by law, shall be upon the CONTRACTOR. 

 

9.6.5 The CONTRACTOR consents to the City’s enforcement of the 

CONTRACTOR’s Chapter 119 requirements by all legal means, including, but not limited to, a 

mandatory injunction, whereupon the CONTRACTOR shall pay all court costs and reasonable 

Page 171 of 283



40 of 159 
 

attorney’s fees incurred by the City. 

 

9.6.6 The CONTRACTOR’s failure to provide public records within a reasonable 

time may be subject to penalties under Section 119.10, Florida Statutes. Further, such failure by the 

CONTRACTOR shall be grounds for immediate unilateral cancellation of this Agreement by the City. 
 

9.6.7 If the CONTRACTOR has questions regarding the application of Chapter 119, 

Florida Statutes, to the CONTRACTOR’s duty to provide public records relating to this contract, 

contact the Custodian of Public Records, Diane Clavier, at 305-289-5020, 

clavierd@ci.marathon.fl.us, or 9805 Overseas Hwy, Marathon, Florida 33050. 
 

9.7 Inspection and Audit. During the term of this Contract and for five (5) years from the 

date of final completion or Termination, the CONTRACTOR shall allow CITY representatives access 

during reasonable business hours to CONTRACTOR’S records related to this Contract for the 

purposes of inspection or audit of such records. If upon an audit of such records, the CITY determines 

the CONTRACTOR was paid for services not performed, upon receipt of written demand by the 

CITY, the CONTRACTOR shall remit such payments to the CITY. 
 

9.8 Counterparts. This contract may be signed in one or more counterparts, each of which 

when executed shall be deemed an original and together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 

9.9 Notices. Whenever any party is required to give or deliver any notice to any other 

party, or desires to do so, such notices shall be sent via certified mail or hand delivery to: 

 

FOR CONTRACTOR: 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

FOR CITY: City of Marathon 

9805 Overseas Highway 

Marathon, Florida 33050 

ATTN: City Manager 

 

WITH COPY TO: 

 

City Attorney 

9805 Overseas Highway 

Marathon, Florida 33050 

Phone: 305-289-4103 

Fax: 305-289-4123 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 172 of 283



41 of 159 
 

 

9.10 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL AND VENUE. The CITY and CONTRACTOR 

knowingly, irrevocably, voluntarily, and intentionally waive any right either may have to a trial by 

jury in State and or Federal court proceedings in respect to any action, proceeding, lawsuit or 

counterclaim based upon the Contract, arising out of, under, or in connection with the Work, or any 

course of conduct, course of dealing, statements or actions or inactions of any party. The venue for 

any lawsuit arising out of this Contract shall be Monroe County, Florida. 
 

9.11 Attorneys’ Fees. If either the CITY or CONTRACTOR is required to enforce the terms 

of the Contract by court proceedings or otherwise, whether or not formal legal action is required, the 

parties shall bear their own attorney fees, costs and expenses, at the trial and appellate level. 
 

9.12 Amendments. This Contract may only be amended by the prior written approval of 

the parties or by execution of a Change Order in the form as provided by the City. 

Page 173 of 283



42 of 159 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this Contract on the respective 

dates under each signature: THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, signing by and through its 

Mayor or Vice Mayor, authorized to execute same by Council action on the     day of   , 20  , 

and by   (Contractor), signing by and through its  , duly authorized to execute 

same. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

 

WITNESS 
 
 

By: 
 

 By:    
 
 

By    

(Signature and Title) 

(Corporate Seal) 
 

(Type Name/Title signed above) 

 

  day of  , 20 . 
 

 

CITY 
 

ATTEST CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 

 

 , 

City Clerk City Manager 

 

  day of  , 20 . 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE 

AND BENEFIT OF THE CITY OF MARATHON ONLY: 

 
By:  

City Attorney 

 

(*) In the event that the Contractor is a corporation, there shall be attached to each counterpart a 

certified copy of a resolution of the board of the corporation, authorizing the officer who signs the 

contract to do so on its behalf. 

Page 174 of 283



43 of 159 
 

CERTIFICATE AS TO CORPORATE PRINCIPAL 
 

I,  , certify that I am the 

 of   and that 

 , who signed the Bid with the City of Marathon, Monroe County, Florida for 

 , is   of said Corporation with full 

authority to sign said Bid on behalf of the Corporation. 

 
 

Signed and sealed this   day of  , 20   . 
 

 

 

(SEAL)   

Signature 
 

 

Typed w/Title 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF   
 

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me this   day of  , 20   . 
 

 

My Commission Expires: 

Notary Public 

Page 175 of 283



44 of 159 
 

CERTIFICATE AS TO AUTHORIZED CORPORATE PERSONNEL 
 

 

I,  , certify that I am the   of 

 , who 

signed the Bid with the City of Marathon, Monroe County, Florida, for the project titled 

 , and that the following persons have 

the authority to sign payment requests on behalf of the Corporation: 
 

 

(Signature) (Typed Name w/Title) 
 

 

(Signature) (Typed Name w/Title) 
 

 

(Signature) (Typed Name w/Title) 

 

Signed and sealed this   day of  , 20   . 
 

 

(SEAL)   

Signature 
 

 

Typed w/Title 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF MONROE 

 

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me this   day of  , 20   . 
 

 

My Commission Expires: 

Notary Public 

Page 176 of 283



COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 
 
From:   Brian Shea, Planning Director 
 
Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-43, Approving a Grant Agreement between the City of 
Marathon and the Florida Department of Transportation in the amount of $250,000.00 For Creation 
of a Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan; Appropriating Funds; And Providing For An Effective 
Date  
 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
FDOT's Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is a comprehensive framework for enhancing safe 
and connected bicycle and pedestrian facilities across Florida. It aims to improve mobility and 
safety for non-motorized road users by incorporating pedestrian and bicycle needs into 
transportation planning. These funds will help the City of Marathon develop an action plan and 
inform improvements along Highway US 1 corridor. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
Grant Contract 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan – Chapter 8   __X_ ____ 
2.  Other: Grant Agreement Contract __X___ ____ 
 
FISCAL NOTE:  
Approval will allow the City reimbursement of funds expended towards the master plan project.  
The revenue from this grant is included in the adopted FY25 General Fund Budget.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of Resolution  

 

Page 177 of 283



 Sponsored by: Garrett 
 
 
 CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 RESOLUTION 2025-43 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVING A GRANT CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE CITY AND THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $250,000.00 TO CREATE A BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
MASTER PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
WHEREAS, the FDOT's Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is a comprehensive framework 

for enhancing safe and connected bicycle and pedestrian facilities across Florida. It aims to improve 
mobility and safety for non-motorized road users by incorporating pedestrian and bicycle needs into 
transportation planning; and 

 
WHEREAS, these funds are earmarked to help communities develop action plans and 

inform improvements along highway corridors; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Marathon submitted a grant application in 2023 to the Florida 

Department of Transportation seeking an award of grant funding to create a Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Master Plan along Highway US 1, and 

  
WHEREAS, the City was awarded $250,000.00 by the Department of Transportation to 

create such action plan.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein. 
 
Section 2.  The City Manager is authorized to sign grant documents and any amendments. 
 
Section 3.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13th DAY OF MAY 2025. 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor Lynn Landry 

Page 178 of 283



 
 
AYES:     
NOES:     
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN: 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney  

 
 

Page 179 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 1 of 22 

 

1 
 

  Financial Project Number(s): 
(item-segment-phase-sequence)  Fund(s):    FLAIR Category:  088854   
 453692-1-14-01 Work Activity Code/Function: 0106 Object Code:  780000   
         Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN):        Org. Code:  55062010630  
        Federal Award Date:        Vendor Number:  F650984873004   

 Contract Number:        Subrecipient Unique Entity ID (SAM) 
Number: 

 GGMEC9JK
DAQ8          

 County Number:  90        
 Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA): 20.205 Highway Planning and Construction  

    
 
THIS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into this       day of      , 20   (the 
“Effective Date”), between the State of Florida, Department of Transportation, an agency of the State of Florida (the 
“Department”), and City of Marathon  (the “Recipient”) (each a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”). 
 
The Parties agree as follows: 

 
1. Authority:  The Department is authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 339.12, Florida 
Statutes.  The Subrecipient by Resolution or other form of official authorization, a copy of which is attached as 
Exhibit D, Subrecipient Resolution and made a part of this Agreement, has authorized its officers to execute this 
Agreement on its behalf.   
 
2. Purpose of Agreement.  The purpose of this Agreement is to provide a subaward of Federal Highway 
Administration (“FHWA”)           grant funds to the Subrecipient for CITY OF MARATHON BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN 
MASTER PLAN (the “Project”). The Project is more particularly described in Exhibit A, Project Description and 
Responsibilities to this Agreement.  
 
3. The Project. The Subrecipient agrees to perform and complete the Project in a satisfactory, timely and 
proper manner in accordance with all applicable laws and the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Exhibit A 
describes the scope of work to be performed by the Subrecipient and provides a proposed schedule for the 
completion of the Project. The Project scope in Exhibit A identifies the ultimate project deliverables. Deliverables 
for requisition, payment and invoice purposes will be the incremental progress made toward completion of Project 
scope elements. All Project activities must be consistent with the scope described in Exhibit A. An amendment to 
this Agreement is required for any proposed change in the scope of work. Execution of this Agreement by both 
Parties shall be deemed a Notice to Proceed to the Subrecipient for the Project.  
 
4. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement and the period for performance of the Project under this 
Agreement extends from the Effective Date through 09/30/2028 (the “Completion Date”).  If the Subrecipient does 
not complete the Project on or before the Completion Date, this Agreement will expire, unless the Completion Date 
is extended by an executed amendment to this Agreement. Expiration of this Agreement will be considered 
termination of the Project.   
 
5. Project Funding and Budget. 
 
 a. Project Cost. The estimated cost of the Project is $250,000.00 (the “Project Estimate”), and is 
allocated among the Project activities in Exhibit B, Schedule of Financial Assistance. An amendment to the grant 
agreement is required for any re-budgeting of Project funds provided under this Agreement. Re-budgeting of Project 
funds between operating (if any) and capital line items may not be allowable due to grant limitations and potentially 
different match requirements. 
 
 b. Department Subaward. Under this Agreement, the Subrecipient, a non-federal entity, is the 
subawardee of FHWA TA grant funds awarded to the Department under [designation of discretionary grant 
awarded or other authority under which FHWA funds are being provided].  The Department will provide financial 
assistance for the Project up to the maximum amount of the federally funded subaward made under this Agreement, 
$250,000.00  (the “Maximum Federal Financial Assistance”), as more specifically detailed in Exhibit B, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Any terms and conditions that are specific to this 

Page 180 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 2 of 22 

 

2 
 

subaward are attached as Exhibit A and shall control over any inconsistent provisions in the body of this Agreement 
or the other exhibits attached to this Agreement. 
 
 c.  Matching Funds. The Subrecipient agrees to provide all matching funds required under the terms 
of the federal grant. The eligibility and use of matching funds shall be governed by applicable federal law, regulations 
and guidance.  The Subrecipient is also responsible for all costs required to complete the Project that exceed the 
Project Estimate. The Subrecipient shall take all actions required for the Subrecipient to provide the necessary funds 
for the Project. The Department will have no responsibility for any Project costs in excess of the Maximum Federal 
Financial Assistance. 
 
 d.  Eligible Costs. Financial assistance provided by the Department under this Agreement will only 
be available for Project costs incurred after the Effective Date of this Agreement and prior to termination or expiration 
of this Agreement.  
 
 e. Ineligible Costs. In determining the amount of any payment, the Department will exclude all 
Project costs incurred by the Subrecipient prior to the execution of this Agreement, costs incurred after the expiration 
of the Agreement, costs which are not provided for in the latest approved schedule of financial assistance in Exhibit 
B for the Project, costs agreed to be borne by the Subrecipient or its contractors and subcontractors for not meeting 
the Project commencement and final invoice time lines, and costs attributable to goods or services received under 
a contract or other arrangements which have not been approved in writing by the Department. The federal funds 
awarded under this Agreement will not be provided for any cost not incurred in accordance with applicable federal 
and state laws, regulations and grant program requirements.  If FHWA or the Department determines that any cost 
claimed is not eligible, the Department will notify the Subrecipient. The notification will identify the items and 
amounts that are not eligible for reimbursement with federal financial assistance and the reason the items and 
amounts are not eligible.  If the Subrecipient is not in compliance with requirements of this Agreement, but such 
non-compliance is correctable during the term of this Agreement, financial assistance may be withheld by the 
Department until the non-compliance is corrected.  If the Subrecipient’s non-compliance is not correctable during 
the term of this Agreement, FHWA or the Department may deny use of federal funds, in whole or in part.  If as a 
result of the Subrecipient’s failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement FHWA determines that federal 
financial assistance will no longer be available for the Project: (i) the Department is authorized to discontinue federal 
financial assistance for the Project under this Agreement; (ii) the Subrecipient will be solely responsible to provide 
all funds necessary to complete the Project; and (iii) the Department is not required to provide any additional state 
financial assistance for the Project. A determination by FHWA that federal financial assistance is no longer available 
for the Project is final. The Subrecipient waives any right to contest a discontinuance of financial assistance under 
this Agreement if FHWA determines federal financial assistance is no longer available. 
 
 f. No Federal Obligation. This Agreement is financed by federal funds.  However, payments to the 
Subrecipient will be made by the Department. The United States is not a party to this Agreement and no reference 
in this Agreement, to the United States, USDOT, FHWA, or any representatives of the federal government makes 
the United States a party to this Agreement. 
 
 g. Subaward Contingent on Federal Funding.  The Subrecipient acknowledges and agrees that 
the Department’s payment of funds under this Agreement is contingent on the Department receiving the funds from 
the FHWA.  If, for any reason, the FHWA reduces the amount of federal funds available for this subaward, or 
otherwise fails to pay part of the cost or expense of the Project in this Agreement, only outstanding incurred costs 
within the limits of FHWA provided financial assistance shall be eligible for reimbursement. 
 
 h. Repayment of Grant Funds. Upon a finding by FHWA, or the Department in lieu of FHWA, that 
the Subrecipient has made an unauthorized or undocumented use of grant funds, or that any Project costs are 
ineligible for federal reimbursement, and upon a written demand for repayment issued by the Department, the 
Subrecipient shall repay such amounts to the Department within 40 days of written demand. The Subrecipient shall 
also repay any other grant funds received by the Subrecipient under this Agreement in excess of the amount to 
which the Subrecipient is entitled. Such funds shall be repaid to the Department within 40 days of written demand. 
 

Page 181 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 3 of 22 

 

3 
 

 i. Reversion of Unexpended Grant Funds.  All funds granted by the Department under this 
Agreement that have not been expended for Project activities during the term of this Agreement shall revert to the 
Department. 
 
6. Invoices. 
 
 a. Requests for Reimbursement.  In order to obtain any of the federal funds available from the 
Department under this Agreement, the Subrecipient shall file with the Department Grant Manager its request for 
reimbursement and any other information regarding the Project and the Project Accounts (defined below) 
required to justify and support the payment request. Payment requests must include a certification, signed by an 
official who is authorized to legally bind the Subrecipient, which reads as follows:  
 

‘‘By signing this report, I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the report is true, 
complete, and accurate, and the expenditures, disbursements and cash receipts are for the 
purposes and objectives set forth in the terms and conditions of the Federal award. I am aware that 
any false, fictitious, or fraudulent information, or the omission of any material fact, may subject me 
to criminal, civil or administrative penalties for fraud, false statements, false claims or otherwise. 
(U.S. Code Title 18, Section 1001 and Title 31, Sections 3729–3730 and 3801–3812).’’ 

 
The Subrecipient shall submit requests for reimbursement to the Department no less than once every 90 days 
(quarterly).  If the Subrecipient fails to submit quarterly invoices to the Department, and in the event the failure to 
timely submit invoices to the Department results in FHWA removing any unbilled financial assistance or the loss of 
state appropriation authority, the Subrecipient will be solely responsible to provide all funds necessary to complete 
the Project and the Department will not be obligated to provide any additional financial assistance for the Project.   
 
If the Subrecipient is considered a rural community or rural area of opportunity, as these terms are defined by 
Section 288.0656(2), Florida Statutes, Subrecipient may submit payment requests for eligible performance 
completed/costs incurred under this Agreement pursuant to Exhibit “H”, Alternative Advance Payment Financial 
Provisions.  
 
 b. Deliverables and Supporting Documentation. Requests for reimbursement by the Subrecipient 
shall include an invoice, progress report and supporting documentation for the period of work being billed that are 
acceptable to the Department. All costs invoiced shall be supported by properly executed payrolls, time records, 
invoices, contracts or vouchers evidencing in proper detail the nature and propriety of charges as described in 
Exhibit F, Contract Payment Requirements.  The Subrecipient shall use the format for the invoice and progress 
report that is approved by the Department.  Approved formats are found in FDOT Topic No. 525-010-300 Local 
Agency Program Manual. Invoices shall be submitted by the Subrecipient in detail sufficient for a proper pre-audit 
and post-audit based on the quantifiable, measurable and verifiable units of deliverables identified in Exhibit A. 
Supporting documentation must substantiate the amount of progress made on the Project in a quantifiable, 
measurable, and verifiable manner, and provide evidence that the payment requested is commensurate with the 
accomplished incremental progress and costs incurred by the Subrecipient. Supporting documentation must also 
establish to the Department Grant Manager’s satisfaction that deliverables were received and accepted in writing 
by the Subrecipient and must also establish that the required minimum level of service to be performed and criteria 
for evaluating successful completion have been met.   
 
 c. Travel Expenses. 
 
   Travel expenses are NOT eligible for reimbursement under this Agreement.  

 
 Travel expenses ARE eligible for reimbursement under this Agreement.  

 
Bills for travel expenses specifically authorized in this Agreement shall be submitted on the Department’s Contractor 
Travel Form No. 300-000-06 and will be paid in accordance with Section 112.061, Florida Statutes and the most 
current version of the Disbursement Handbook for Employees and Managers. 
 

Page 182 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 4 of 22 

 

4 
 

 d. Final Invoice. The Subrecipient must submit its final invoice and request for reimbursement for the 
Project to the Department within 120 days after the Completion Date, or completion of the Project if earlier.  Invoices 
submitted after the 120-day time period may not be paid. 
 
7. Provision of Subaward Funds. 
 
 a. Payments and Withholding. Subject to other provisions of this Agreement, the Department will 
reimburse the Subrecipient for eligible Project costs, up to the amount of the Maximum Federal Financial 
Assistance.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Department may elect by written notice not 
to make a payment if: 
 

 i. The Department determines that the Subrecipient has misrepresented a material fact in 
any documents submitted to obtain the subaward of federal funds made under this Agreement, or any 
document or data furnished with its application or pursuant to this Agreement; 
 
 ii. There is any pending litigation with respect to the performance by the Subrecipient of any 
of its duties or obligations which may jeopardize or adversely affect the Project, the Agreement or payments 
for the Project; 
 
 iii. The Subrecipient takes any action on the Project which, under this Agreement, requires 
the approval of the Department or makes a related expenditure or incurs related obligations without 
Department approval when required; 
 
 iv. There has been any violation of the conflict of interest provisions contained in this 
Agreement; or 
 
 v. The Department determines the Subrecipient is otherwise in default under any provisions 
of this Agreement. 

 
 b. Reimbursement Basis. Payment shall be made only after receipt and approval of deliverables 
and costs incurred unless the payment is made under Exhibit “H” or advance payments are authorized by the 
Chief Financial Officer of the State of Florida under Chapters 215 and 216, Florida Statutes or the Department’s 
Comptroller under Section 334.044(29), Florida Statutes. 
 

  If this box is selected, advance payment is authorized for this Agreement and Exhibit H, 
Alternative Advance Payment Financial Provisions is attached and incorporated into 
this Agreement. 

  
 c. Financial Consequences for Unsatisfactory Performance. If the Department determines that 
the performance of the Subrecipient is unsatisfactory, the Department shall notify the Subrecipient of the deficiency 
to be corrected, which correction shall be made within a time-frame to be specified by the Department. The 
Subrecipient shall, within five (5) days after notice from the Department, provide the Department with a corrective 
action plan describing how the Subrecipient will address all issues of contract non-performance, unacceptable 
performance, failure to meet the minimum performance levels, deliverable deficiencies, or contract non-compliance. 
If the corrective action plan is unacceptable to the Department, the Subrecipient will not be reimbursed or paid 
under Exhibit “H”, to the extent of the non-performance. The Subrecipient will not be reimbursed or paid until the 
Subrecipient resolves the deficiency. If the deficiency is subsequently resolved, the Subrecipient may bill the 
Department for any unpaid performance completed by the Subrecipient  during the next billing period or as provided 
by Exhibit “H”, Alternative Advance Payment Financial Provisions. If the Subrecipient is unable to resolve the 
deficiency, the funds shall be forfeited at the end of the term of this Agreement. 
 
 d. Florida Prompt Payment Law. The Subrecipient should be aware of the following time frames.   
 

 i.  The Department has 20 days to deliver a request for payment (voucher) to the Department 
of Financial Services. The 20 days are measured from the later of the date the invoice is received or the 

Page 183 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 5 of 22 

 

5 
 

date the goods or services are received, inspected, and approved. Approval and inspection of goods or 
services shall take no longer than 20 days following the receipt of a complete and accurate invoice. 

 
 ii.    If a payment is not available within 40 days, then a separate interest penalty at a rate 
established pursuant to Section 55.03(1), Florida Statutes, will be due and payable, in addition to the 
invoice amount, to the Subrecipient. The 40 days are measured from the later of the date the invoice is 
received or the date the goods or services are received, inspected, and approved. Interest penalties of less 
than one (1) dollar will not be enforced unless the Subrecipient requests payment. Invoices that have to be 
returned to the Subrecipient because of Subrecipient preparation errors will result in a delay in the 
payment. The invoice payment requirements do not start until a properly completed invoice is provided 
to the Department. A Vendor Ombudsman has been established within Department of Financial Services. 
The duties of this individual include acting as an advocate for Agencies who may be experiencing 
problems in obtaining timely payment(s) from the Department. The Vendor Ombudsman may be 
contacted at (850) 413-5516. 

 
 e. Offsets. If, after Project completion, any claim is made by the Department resulting from an audit 
or for work or services performed pursuant to this Agreement, the Department may offset the amount claimed from 
payments due for work or services under any other agreement it has with the Subrecipient if, upon demand, payment 
of the claimed amount is not made within 60 days to the Department.  Offsetting any amount pursuant to this 
paragraph shall not be considered a breach of contract by the Department. 
 
 f. Appropriation Contingency. The Department’s performance and obligation to pay under this 
Agreement is contingent upon an annual appropriation by the Legislature and the availability of the federal financial 
assistance awarded to the Subrecipient under this Agreement.   
 
 g. Multi-year Contracts. In the event this Agreement is in excess of $25,000 and has a term for a 
period of more than one year, the provisions of Section 339.135(6)(a), Florida Statutes, are hereby incorporated:  
 

"The Department, during any fiscal year, shall not expend money, incur any liability, or enter into any 
contract which, by its terms, involves the expenditure of money in excess of the amounts budgeted as 
available for expenditure during such fiscal year.  Any contract, verbal or written, made in violation of this 
subsection is null and void, and no money may be paid on such contract.  The Department shall require a 
statement from the comptroller of the Department that funds are available prior to entering into any such 
contract or other binding commitment of funds.  Nothing herein contained shall prevent the making of 
contracts for periods exceeding 1 year, but any contract so made shall be executory only for the value of 
the services to be rendered or agreed to be paid for in succeeding fiscal years, and this paragraph shall be 
incorporated verbatim in all contracts of the Department which are for an amount in excess of $25,000 and 
which have a term for a period of more than 1 year." 

 
8. Records. 
 
 a. Project Records. The Subrecipient shall establish for the Project, consistent with the Department’s 
program guidelines/procedures and "Principles for State and Local Governments", 2 Code of Federal Regulations 
(“CFR”) Part 225, separate accounts to be maintained within its existing accounting system or separate 
independent accounts (“Project Accounts”). The Subrecipient shall charge to the Project Accounts all eligible costs 
of the Project except costs agreed to be borne by the Subrecipient or its contractors and subcontractors.  All costs 
recorded in the Project Accounts shall be supported by properly executed payrolls, time records, invoices, contracts 
or vouchers evidencing in proper detail the nature and propriety of charges as described in Exhibit F. 
 
 b. Project Costs. Records of costs incurred under terms of this Agreement shall be maintained in the 
Project Accounts and made available upon request to the Department at all times during the period of this 
Agreement and for five (5) years after final payment is made for the applicable state fiscal year, or such longer 
period as may be required by applicable law. Copies of these documents and records shall be furnished to the 
Department and FHWA upon request. Records of costs incurred include the Subrecipient's general accounting 
records and the Project records, together with supporting documents and records of the Subrecipient and all 

Page 184 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 6 of 22 

 

6 
 

contractors and subcontractors performing work on the Project. If any litigation, claim, or audit is started before the 
expiration of the required retention period, the records shall be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings 
involving the records have been resolved. 
  
 c. Reports. The Subrecipient shall submit to the Department such data, reports, records, contracts 
and other documents relating to the Project as the Department or FHWA may require, including those documents 
listed in Exhibit A to this Agreement. The Department may, at its discretion, require a progress report on a monthly 
basis. The progress report will include details of the progress of the Project towards meeting the requirements of 
the Agreement. 
 
 d. Federal Requirements. The Subrecipient agrees to maintain property records, conduct physical 
inventories and develop control systems as required by 2 CFR Part 200, when applicable. In addition to the 
requirements of section 8, the Subrecipient shall comply with the record retention requirements of 2 CFR 200.333, 
as amended or replaced from time to time. 
 
 e. Right-of-Way. For any project requiring additional right-of-way, the Subrecipient must submit to 
the Department an annual report of its real property acquisition and relocation assistance activities on the project.  
Activities shall be reported on a federal fiscal year basis, from October 1 through September 30.  The report must 
be prepared using the format prescribed in 49 CFR Part 24, Appendix B, and be submitted to the Department no 
later than October 15 of each year. Upon completion of right-of-way activities on the Project, the Subrecipient must 
certify compliance with all applicable federal and state requirements.  Certification is required prior to advertisement 
for or solicitation of bids for construction of the Project. 
 
9. Audits. The administration of resources awarded through the Department to the Subrecipient by this 
Agreement may be subject to audits and/or monitoring by the Department. The following requirements do not limit 
the authority of the Department to conduct or arrange for the conduct of additional audits or evaluations of Federal 
awards or limit the authority of any State agency inspector general, the State of Florida Auditor General or any other 
State official. The Subrecipient shall comply with all audit and audit reporting requirements as specified below: 
 
 a. In addition to reviews of audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit 
Requirements, and section 215.97 Florida Statutes, monitoring procedures may include but not be limited to on-site 
visits by Department staff, limited scope audits as defined by 2 CFR 200.425, and/or other procedures including, 
reviewing any required performance and financial reports, following up, ensuring corrective action, and issuing 
management decisions on weaknesses found through audits when those findings pertain to Federal awards 
provided through the Department by this Agreement. By entering into this Agreement, the Subrecipient agrees to 
comply and cooperate fully with any monitoring procedures/processes deemed appropriate by the Department. In 
the event the Department determines that a limited scope audit of the Subrecipient is appropriate, the Subrecipient 
agrees to comply with any additional instructions provided by Department staff to the Subrecipient regarding such 
audit. The Subrecipient further agrees to comply and cooperate with any inspections, reviews, investigations, or 
audits deemed necessary by the Department, State of Florida Chief Financial Officer (CFO) or State of Florida 
Auditor General. 
 
 b. The Subrecipient, a non-Federal entity as defined by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit 
Requirements as a subrecipient of a Federal award awarded by the Department through this Agreement is subject 
to the following requirements: 
 

 i. In the event the Subrecipient expends a total amount of Federal awards equal to or in 
excess of the threshold established by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, the Subrecipient 
must have a Federal single or program-specific audit for such fiscal year conducted in accordance with the 
provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements. Exhibit E, Federal Financial Assistance 
(Single Audit Act) to this Agreement identifies the Federal resources awarded through the Department by 
this Agreement. In determining Federal awards expended in a fiscal year, the Subrecipient must consider 
all sources of Federal awards, including Federal award resources received from the Department. The 
determination of amounts of Federal awards expended should be in accordance with the guidelines 
established in 2 CFR §§200.502-503, as amended. An audit of the Subrecipient conducted by the State of 

Page 185 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 7 of 22 

 

7 
 

Florida Auditor General in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR §200.514, will meet the requirements 
of this part. 

 
 ii. In connection with the audit requirements, the Subrecipient shall fulfill the requirements 
relative to the auditee responsibilities as provided in 2 CFR §§200.508-512, as amended. 
 
 iii. In the event the Subrecipient expends less than the threshold established by 2 CFR Part 
200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, in Federal awards, the Subrecipient is exempt from Federal audit 
requirements for that fiscal year. However, the Subrecipient must provide a single audit exemption 
statement to the Department at FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us no later than nine months after the end 
of the Subrecipient’s audit period for each applicable audit year. In the event the Subrecipient expends less 
than the threshold established by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, in Federal awards in 
a fiscal year and elects to have an audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200, 
Subpart F – Audit Requirements, the cost of the audit must be paid from non-Federal resources (i.e., the 
cost of such an audit must be paid from the Subrecipient’s resources obtained from other than Federal 
entities). 
 
 iv. Copies of reporting packages for audits conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, 
Subpart F – Audit Requirements, and required by this section, shall be submitted, when required by 2 CFR 
§200.512, by or on behalf of the Subrecipient directly to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) as provided 
in 2 CFR §200.36 and §200.512. The FAC’s website provides a data entry system and required forms for 
submitting the single audit reporting package. Updates to the location of the FAC and data entry system 
may be found at the OMB website. The FAC is the repository of record for audits required by 2 CFR Part 
200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, and this Agreement. However, the Department requires a copy of 
the audit reporting package also be submitted to FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us within the earlier of 30 
calendar days after receipt of the auditor’s report(s) or nine months after the end of the audit period as 
required by 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements. 
 
 v. Within six months of acceptance of the audit report by the FAC, the Department will review 
the Subrecipient’s audit reporting package, including corrective action plans and management letters, to 
the extent necessary to determine whether timely and appropriate action on all deficiencies has been taken 
pertaining to the Federal award provided through the Department by this Agreement. If the Subrecipient 
fails to have an audit conducted in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, the 
Department may impose additional conditions to remedy noncompliance. If the Department determines that 
noncompliance cannot be remedied by imposing additional conditions, the Department may take 
appropriate actions to enforce compliance , which actions may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

(a) Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency by the 
Subrecipient or more severe enforcement action by the Department; 

(b) Disallow (deny both use of funds and any applicable matching credit for) all or part of the 
cost of the activity or action not in compliance; 

(c) Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the Federal award; 
(d) Initiate suspension or debarment proceedings as authorized under 2 CFR Part 180 and 

Federal awarding agency regulations (or in the case of the Department, recommend such 
a proceeding be initiated by the Federal awarding agency); 

(e) Withhold further Federal awards for the Project or program; 
(f) Take other remedies that may be legally available. 

 
 vi. As a condition of receiving this Federal award, the Subrecipient shall permit the 
Department, or its designee, the CFO or State of Florida Auditor General access to the Subrecipient’s 
records including financial statements, the independent auditor’s working papers and project records as 
necessary. Records related to unresolved audit findings, appeals or litigation shall be retained until the 
action is complete or the dispute is resolved. 
 

Page 186 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 8 of 22 

 

8 
 

 vii. Copies of financial reporting packages required by this section shall be submitted by or on 
behalf of the Subrecipient directly to each of the following: 
 
  The Department at the following address: 
 
  Office of Comptroller, MS 24 
  605 Suwannee Street 
  Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0450 
  FDOTSingleAudit@dot.state.fl.us 
 
  The Auditor General’s Office at the following address: 
 
  Auditor General 
  Local Government Audits/342 
  Claude Pepper Building, Room 401 
  111 West Madison Street 
  Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450 
 
The Auditor General’s website (https://flauditor.gov/) provides instructions for filing an electronic copy of a 
financial reporting package. 
 
 viii. Any reports or other information required to be submitted to the Department pursuant to 
this Agreement shall be submitted timely in accordance with 2 CFR §200.512, section 215.97, Florida 
Statutes, and Chapters 10.550 (local government entities) and 10.650 (nonprofit and for-profit 
organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable. 
 
 ix. The Subrecipient, when submitted financial reporting packages to the Department for 
audits done in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, or Chapters 10.550 (local 
government entities) and 10.650 (nonprofit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, 
should indicate the date that the reporting package was delivered to the Subrecipient in correspondence 
accompanying the reporting package. 

 
 c. The Subrecipient shall retain sufficient records demonstrating its compliance with the terms of the 
award and this Agreement for a period of five years from the date the audit report is issued and shall allow the 
Department, or its designee, the CFO or State of Florida Auditor General access to such records upon request. The 
Subrecipient shall ensure that the audit working papers are made available to the Department, or its designee, the 
CFO, or State of Florida Auditor General upon request for a period of five years from the date the audit report is 
issued unless extended in writing by the Department.  The Subrecipient shall further permit access to all Project 
records by the Secretary and Inspector General of the United States Department of Transportation and the 
Comptroller General of the United States, or their designees. 
 
 d. The Subrecipient shall permit, and shall require its contractors to permit, the Department's and 
FHWA’s authorized representatives to access the Project site; inspect all work, materials, payrolls, and records; and 
to audit the books, records and accounts pertaining to the financing and development of the Project.  
 
10. Termination and Suspension. 
 
 a. Generally. If: (i) the Subrecipient abandons or, before the end of the state fiscal year for which 
financial assistance for the Project is provided under this Agreement, finally discontinues the Project; (ii) the 
Subrecipient fails to comply with applicable law or the terms of this Agreement; or (iii) for any other reason, the 
commencement, prosecution, or timely completion of the Project by the Subrecipient is rendered improbable, 
infeasible, impossible, or illegal, the Department may, by written notice to the Subrecipient, suspend any or all of its 
obligations under this Agreement until such time as the event or condition resulting in such suspension has ceased 
or been corrected, or the Department may terminate any or all of its obligations under this Agreement.  Termination 
of this Agreement shall be governed by the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200.   

Page 187 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 9 of 22 

 

9 
 

 
 b. Actions Upon Termination or Suspension. Upon receipt of any final termination or suspension 
notice from the Department, the Subrecipient shall proceed promptly to carry out the actions required in such notice, 
which may include any or all of the following: (1) necessary action to terminate or suspend, as the case may be, Project 
activities and contracts and such other action as may be required or desirable to keep to the minimum the costs upon 
the basis of which the financing is to be computed; (2) furnish a statement of the Project activities and contracts, and 
other undertakings the cost of which are otherwise includable as Project costs; and, (3) remit to the Department such 
portion of the financing and any advance payment previously received as is determined by the Department to be 
due under the provisions of the Agreement. The termination or suspension shall be carried out in conformity with the 
latest schedule, plan, and budget as approved by the Department or upon the basis of terms and conditions imposed 
by the Department upon the failure of the Subrecipient to furnish the schedule, plan, and budget within a reasonable 
time. The approval of a remittance by the Subrecipient shall not constitute a waiver of any claim which the Department 
may otherwise have arising out of this Agreement. 
 
11. Contracts of the Subrecipient. 
 
 a. Approval Required. Except as otherwise authorized in writing by the Department, the 
Subrecipient shall not execute any contract or obligate itself in any manner requiring the disbursement of 
Department funds, including consultant or construction contracts or amendments thereto, with any third party with 
respect to the Project without the written approval of the Department.  Failure to obtain such approval shall be 
sufficient cause for nonpayment by the Department. The Department specifically reserves the right to review the 
qualifications of any consultant or contractor and to approve or disapprove the employment of such consultant or 
contractor. 
 
 b. Consultant Services. The Subrecipient acknowledges and agrees that any Project consultant 
contract for engineering, architecture or surveying services must be procured in compliance with the provisions of 
Chapter 287.055, Florida Statutes, Consultants' Competitive Negotiation Act, and the federal Brooks Act, 23 CFR 
172, and 23 U.S.C. 112. At the discretion of the Department, the Subrecipient will involve the Department in 
the consultant selection process for all applicable project agreements funded under this Agreement. In all 
cases, the Subrecipient's attorney shall certify to the Department that selection has been accomplished in 
compliance with Chapter 287.055, Florida Statutes, the Consultants' Competitive Negotiation Act and the federal 
Brooks Act. 
 
 c. Compliance with Federal Requirements. The Subrecipient shall comply with, and require its 
consultants and contractors to comply with applicable federal law pertaining to the use of federal-aid funds.  The 
Subrecipient shall comply with and include the applicable provisions described in Appendix II to 2 CFR Part 200 — 
Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards — in each contract it enters into for the 
Project.  
 
 d. Preference for State Residents. If the Project is procured pursuant to Chapter 255, Florida 
Statutes, for construction services to be paid from state-appropriated funds, then the Subrecipient must comply with 
the requirements of Sections 255.099(1) and 255.0991, Florida Statutes. However, for all Project work eligible for 
reimbursement with the federally funded subaward under this Agreement, this paragraph may not be enforced in 
such a manner as to conflict with or be contrary to federal law prescribing a labor preference to honorably discharged 
soldiers, sailors, or marines, or prohibiting as unlawful any other preference or discrimination among the citizens of 
the United States. 
 
 e. Force Account Work, Indirect Costs. 
 

  If this box is checked, the Subrecipient is permitted to utilize its own forces in performing the Project. 
If the Subrecipient proceeds with any phase of the Project utilizing its own forces, the Subrecipient 
will only be reimbursed for direct costs (this excludes general overhead). 

 
  If this box is checked, the Subrecipient will seek reimbursement for indirect program expenses 

allowable under 2 CFR Par 200(select one): 

Page 188 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 10 of 22 

 

10 
 

 
  The Subrecipient has elected to seek reimbursement from the Department for actual 

indirect expenses (no rate).  
 

  The Subrecipient has elected to apply a de minimis rate of 10% of modified total direct 
costs in the manner described in 2 CFR 200.414.  [The de minimis rate is available only to 
entities that have never had a negotiated indirect cost rate. When selected, the de minimis 
rate must be used consistently for all federal awards until such time the Subrecipient 
chooses to negotiate a rate. A cost policy statement and de minimis certification form must 
be submitted to the Department for review and approval.]  

 
  The Subrecipient has elected to apply a federally approved indirect cost rate based on a 

federally approved rate agreement. 
 

 f. Claims and Requests for Additional Work. The Subrecipient shall have sole responsibility for 
resolving claims and requests for additional work for the Project. The Subrecipient will make best efforts to obtain 
the Department’s input in its decisions. The Department is not obligated to reimburse for claims or requests for 
additional work. 
 
 g.   The Subrecipient shall require its consultants and contractors to take emergency steps to close any 
public road whenever there is a risk to life, health and safety of the travelling public.  The safety of the travelling 
public is the Department’s first priority for the Subrecipient. If lane or road closures are required by the Subrecipient 
to ensure the life, health, and safety of the travelling public, the Subrecipient must notify the District Construction 
Engineer and District Traffic Operations Engineer immediately once the travelling public are not at imminent risk. 
The Department expects professional engineering judgment be applied in all aspects of locally delivered projects.  
Defect management and supervision of the Project’s structures components must be proactively managed, 
monitored, and inspected by department prequalified structures engineer(s).  The District Construction Engineer 
must be notified immediately of defect monitoring that occurs in Subrecipient’s project construction, whether or not 
the defects are considered an imminent risk to life, health, or safety of the travelling public.  When defects, including 
but not limited to, structural cracks, are initially detected during bridge construction, the engineer of record, 
construction engineering inspector, design-build firm, or local agency that owns or is responsible for the bridge 
construction has the authority to immediately close  the bridge to construction personnel and close the road 
underneath. The Subrecipient shall also ensure compliance with the CPAM, Section 9.1.8 regarding actions for 
maintenance of traffic and safety concerns.   
 
12. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Policy and Obligation. It is the policy of the Department 
that DBE’s, as defined in 49 CFR Part 26, as amended, shall have the opportunity to participate in the performance 
of contracts financed in whole or in part under this Agreement. The DBE requirements of applicable federal and state 
laws and regulations apply to this Agreement. The Subrecipient and its contractors agree to ensure that DBE’s have 
the opportunity to participate in the performance of this Agreement.  The Subrecipient and its contractors shall take 
all necessary and reasonable steps in accordance with applicable federal and state laws and regulations to ensure 
that the DBE’s have the opportunity to compete for and perform contracts. The Subrecipient and its contractors and 
subcontractors shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the award and performance 
of contracts, entered pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
13. Design and Construction Standards; Required Approvals. If the Project includes construction the 
provisions of this section are incorporated into this Agreement. If any portion of the Project will be located on, under, 
or over any Department-owned right-of-way, the provisions of Exhibit O, Terms and Conditions of Construction, 
are incorporated into this Agreement and shall control over any inconsistent provisions in the body of this 
Agreement. 
 
 a. Permits. The Subrecipient is responsible for obtaining all permits necessary for the Project.   
 
 b. Qualified Contractors. The Subrecipient shall hire a qualified contractor using the Subrecipient’s 
normal competitive bid procedures, modified as necessary to comply with the requirements of this Agreement, to 

Page 189 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 11 of 22 

 

11 
 

perform the construction work for the Project. For projects that are not located on the Department’s right-of-way, 
the Subrecipient is not required to hire a contractor prequalified by the Department unless the Department notifies 
the Subrecipient prior to letting that they are required to hire a contractor prequalified by the Department. For 
projects located on the Department’s right-of-way, the Subrecipient shall award the contract for construction of the 
Project to a Department prequalified contractor which is the lowest and best bidder in accordance with applicable 
state and federal law, rules, and regulations.  The Subrecipient shall submit a copy of the bid tally sheet(s) and 
awarded bid contract to the Department. 
 
 c. CEI. The Subrecipient is responsible for provision of Construction Engineering Inspection (CEI) 
services. The Department reserves the right to require the Subrecipient to hire a Department pre-qualified 
consultant firm that includes one individual that has completed the Advanced Maintenance of Traffic Level Training.  
Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, design services and CEI services may not be performed by 
the same entity.  Administration of the CEI staff shall be under the responsible charge of a State of Florida Licensed 
Professional Engineer who shall provide the certification that all design and construction for the Project meets the 
minimum construction standards established by Department. The Department shall have the right to approve the 
CEI firm. The Department shall have the right, but not the obligation, to perform independent assurance testing 
during the course of construction of the Project. Subject to the approval of the Department, the Subrecipient may 
choose to satisfy the requirements set forth in this paragraph by either hiring a Department prequalified consultant 
firm or utilizing Subrecipient staff that meet the requirements of this paragraph, or a combination thereof. 
 
 d. Design. The Subrecipient is responsible for the preparation of all design plans for the Project. The 
Department reserves the right to require the Subrecipient to hire a Department pre-qualified consultant for the 
design phase of the Project.  Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, design services and CEI services 
may not be performed by the same entity. All design work on the Project shall be performed in accordance with the 
requirements of all applicable laws and governmental rules and regulations and federal and state accepted design 
standards for the type of construction contemplated by the Project, including, as applicable, but not limited to, the 
applicable provisions of the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices and the AASHTO Policy on Geometric 
Design of Streets and Highways.   
 
 e. Consultant Conflicts of Interest. The Subrecipient shall comply with the Department’s current 
Conflict of Interest Procedure in employing consultants for the Project (currently Department Procedure 375-030-
006).   
 
 f. Department Plans Review. If any portion of the Project will be located on, under, or over any 
Department-owned right-of-way, the Department shall review the Project's design plans for compliance with all 
applicable standards of the Department, as provided in Exhibit O. In its sole discretion, the Department may reject 
designs which it determines do not meet Department standards. 
 
 g. Final Plans. The Subrecipient will provide copies of the final design plans and specifications and 
final bid documents to the Department’s Grant Manager prior to commencing construction of the Project.  The 
Department will specify the number of copies required and the required format. 
 
 h. Bonds.  The Subrecipient shall require the Subrecipient’s contractor to post a payment and 
performance bond in accordance with applicable law. 
 
 i. Performance of Construction Work.  The Subrecipient shall be responsible to ensure that the 
construction work under this Agreement is performed in accordance with the approved construction documents, 
and that it will meet all applicable Subrecipient and Department standards. 
  
 j. Public Safety. The Subrecipient is responsible for ensuring the safety of the public during all 
phases of Project construction.   The Subrecipient and its contractors shall request authority to and take appropriate 
action to restrict or prohibit travel on any public road when required to protect the traveling public. If the Project is 
on the State Highway System, the Subrecipient shall follow Department procedures for road closures. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Department or other governmental procedure, if the Subrecipient, 
or its contractors, become aware of circumstances related to the Project that could present an imminent risk of harm 

Page 190 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 12 of 22 

 

12 
 

to the travelling public, the Subrecipient shall, and shall require its contractors to, immediately take all appropriate 
steps to protect the public, including requesting immediate closure of any transportation facility.   
 
 k. Completion of Construction. Upon completion of the work authorized by this Agreement, the 
Subrecipient shall certify to the Department in writing, that construction of the Project has been completed, or for 
all Project work that originally required certification by a professional engineer, this notification shall be signed and 
sealed by a professional engineer, the form of which is attached as Exhibit I, Final Inspection and Acceptance 
of Federal Aid Project. If any deviations are found from the approved plans, the certification shall include a list of 
all deviations and the justification for each deviation. 
 
 l. As-Built Plans. The Subrecipient shall provide the Department with as-built plans of any portions 
of the Project funded through the Agreement prior to final inspection. 
 
14. Use and Maintenance Obligations. 

a. Public Use. The Subrecipient shall use the Project facilities and equipment to provide or support 
public transportation for the period of the useful life of such facilities and equipment as determined in accordance 
with general accounting principles and applicable federal requirements.   

 b. Maintenance. If the Project includes construction, the provisions of this paragraph are part of this 
Agreement. The Subrecipient agrees to maintain any portion of the Project not located on the State Highway System 
constructed under this Agreement for its useful life and in accordance with all federal requirements applicable to 
the subaward of federal funds under this Agreement.  If the Subrecipient constructs any improvement on 
Department right-of-way, the Subrecipient 

 
  shall 

  shall not 

maintain the improvements located on the Department right-of-way made for their useful life. If the Subrecipient is 
required to maintain Project improvements located on the Department right-of-way beyond final acceptance, the 
Subrecipient shall, prior to any payment under this Agreement, also execute a Maintenance Memorandum of 
Agreement in a form that is acceptable to the Department. This provision will survive termination or expiration of 
this Agreement. 
 
15. Project Property. 
 
 a. Federal Requirements. The title, acquisition, use, management, and disposition of all property 
acquired or constructed with grant funds under this Agreement shall be governed by applicable federal law, rule, 
and guidance including without limitation, the provisions of 2 CFR Part 200.  
 
 b. Tangible Personal Property.  
 

  This Agreement does not involve the purchase of Tangible Personal Property, as defined in 
Chapter 273, Florida Statutes.  

   
 c. Disposal. If the Subrecipient disposes of any Project facility or equipment, acquired in whole or in 
part with the federal financial assistance provided under this Agreement, during its useful life for any purpose except 
its replacement with like facility or equipment for public transportation use, the Subrecipient will comply with the terms 
of 2 CFR Part 200 relating to property management standards. Except as otherwise provided in 2 CFR Part 200, the 
Subrecipient agrees to remit to the Department a proportional amount of the proceeds from the disposal of such 
facility or equipment. Such proportional amount shall be determined on the basis of the ratio of the Department 
financing of the facility or equipment provided under this Agreement to the total cost of such facility or equipment. 
Sale of Project property developed or acquired with Department funds shall be at market value as determined by 
appraisal or public bidding process, and the contract and process for sale must be approved in advance by the 

Page 191 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 13 of 22 

 

13 
 

Department. If any portion of the proceeds from the sale to the Subrecipient are non-cash consideration, 
reimbursement to the Department shall include a proportional amount based on the value of the non-cash 
consideration. The Subrecipient must remit such proportional amount to the Department within ninety (90) days after 
the official date of disposal. The terms of this paragraph shall remain in full force and effect throughout the useful life 
of facilities developed, equipment acquired, or Project items acquired, construed or installed with the proceeds of the 
subaward provided under this Agreement, except that the terms of this paragraph shall have unlimited duration with 
respect to real property acquired with the proceeds of the subaward provided under this Agreement. 
 
16. Restrictions, Prohibitions, Controls, and Labor Provisions. During the performance of this Agreement, 
the Subrecipient agrees as follows, and shall require the following provisions to be included in each contract and 
subcontract entered into pursuant to this Agreement: 
 
 a.    Convicted Vendors. A person or affiliate who has been placed on the convicted vendor list 
following a conviction for a public entity crime may not submit a bid on a contract to provide any goods or services 
to a public entity, may not submit a bid on a contract with a public entity for the construction or repair of a public 
building or public work, may not submit bids on leases of real property to a public entity, may not be awarded or 
perform work as a contractor, supplier, subcontractor, or consultant under a contract with any public entity, and 
may not transact business with any public entity in excess of the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017, 
Florida Statutes for CATEGORY TWO for a period of 36 months from the date of being placed on the convicted 
vendor list. 
 
 b.   Discriminatory Vendors. In accordance with Section 287.134, Florida Statutes, an entity or 
affiliate who has been placed on the discriminatory vendor list may not submit a bid on a contract to provide any 
goods or services to a public entity, may not submit a bid on a contract with a public entity for the construction or 
repair of a public building or public work, may not submit bids on leases of real property to a public entity, may not 
be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier, subcontractor, or consultant under a contract with any public 
entity, and may not transact business with any public entity. 
 
 c.    Certificates of Qualification. An entity or affiliate who has had its Department issued 
certificate of qualification suspended, revoked, denied or have further been determined by the Department to be a 
non-responsible contractor or consultant may not submit a bid or perform work on a contract with the Subrecipient, 
including the design, construction or repair of a public building or public work. 
 
 d.    Code of Conduct. The Subrecipient has established, and will maintain, a written code or 
standard of conduct applicable to its officers, employees, board members or agents, and those individuals’ 
relatives, that prohibits their involvement in the selection, award, or administration of any contract in connection 
with the Project if they have a present or potential financial or other significant interest therein and prohibits the 
acceptance of any gratuity, favor, or other thing of monetary value from any person interested or involved in the 
performance of work on the Project.  
 
 e. Debarment and Suspension. The Subrecipient must comply with the provisions in 2 CFR Part 
180 OMB Guidelines to Agencies on Government Debarment and Suspension (Non-procurement) and 2 CFR Part 
1200 DOT Non-procurement Suspension and Debarment. These provisions restrict federal awards, subaward and 
contracts with certain parties that are debarred, suspended or otherwise excluded from or ineligible for participation 
in federal programs or activities. The Subrecipient shall not enter into any arrangement to participate in the 
development or implementation of the Project with any person or entity that is debarred or suspended except as 
authorized by applicable Federal law and regulations.  If required by applicable federal law and regulations, the 
Subrecipient will review the U.S. GSA System of Award Management at https://www.sam.gov. The Subrecipient 
shall include the requirements of this paragraph in each of its contracts related to the Project and shall require its 
contractors and consultants to include similar requirements in each of their contracts related to the Project. 
Execution of this Agreement constitutes a certification that the Subrecipient is in compliance with, and will require 
its contractors and subcontractors to comply with, all requirements imposed by applicable federal, state, and local 
laws and regulations, including the “Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary 
Exclusion – Lower Tier Covered Transactions,” in 49 CFR Part 29, and 2 CFR Part 200 when applicable. 
 

Page 192 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 14 of 22 

 

14 
 

 f. Human Trafficking. The Subrecipient shall include a provision in each contract it enters into with 
a private entity in connection with the Project by which the Subrecipient’s contractor agrees that it and its employees 
that perform any work on the Project shall not, during the term of this Agreement, engage in trafficking in persons, 
procure a commercial sex act, or use forced labor in the performance of work on the Project. 
 
 g. Unauthorized Aliens. The Department shall consider the employment by the Subrecipient of 
unauthorized aliens a violation of Section 274A(e) of the Immigration and Nationality Act. If the Subrecipient 
knowingly employs unauthorized aliens, such violation will be cause for unilateral cancellation of this Agreement. 
 
 h. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards. Where applicable, all contracts funded under this 
Agreement in excess of $100,000 that involve the employment of mechanics or laborers must include a provision 
for compliance with 40 U.S.C. 3702 and 3704, as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR Part 
5). Under 40 U.S.C. 3702 of the Act, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of every mechanic 
and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is 
permissible provided that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate 
of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week. The requirements of 40 U.S.C. 3704 are 
applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings 
or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to 
the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for 
transportation or transmission of intelligence. 
 
 i.  E-Verify. The Subrecipient shall: 
 

 i. Utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security's E-Verify system to verify the 
employment eligibility of all new employees hired by the Subrecipient during the term of the Agreement; and 

 
  ii. Expressly require any contractors and subcontractors performing work or providing 

services pursuant to the Agreement to likewise utilize the U.S. Department of Homeland Security's E-
Verify system to verify the employment eligibility of all new employees hired by the contractor or 
subcontractor during the Agreement term; and 

 
  iii.  Adhere to requirements in section 448.095, Florida Statutes. 

 
17. Indemnification and Insurance. 
 
 a. Indemnification. It is specifically agreed between the Parties executing this Agreement that it is 
not intended by any of the provisions of any part of this Agreement to create in the public or any member thereof, 
a third-party beneficiary under this Agreement, or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 
suit for personal injuries or property damage pursuant to the terms or provisions of this Agreement.  The 
Subrecipient guarantees the payment of all just claims for materials, supplies, tools, or labor and other just claims 
against the Subrecipient or any subcontractor, in connection with this Agreement.  Additionally, to the extent 
permitted by law and as limited by and pursuant to the provisions of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, the 
Subrecipient shall indemnify and hold harmless the Department, including the Department’s officers and 
employees, from liabilities, damages, losses, and costs, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees, to 
the extent caused by the negligence, recklessness, or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Subrecipient and 
persons employed or utilized by the Subrecipient in the performance of this Agreement. Nothing contained in this 
paragraph is intended to nor shall it constitute a waiver of the Department’s or Subrecipient’s sovereign immunity, 
nor shall the same be construed to constitute agreement by Subrecipient to indemnify the Department for the 
negligent acts or omissions of the Department, its officers, agents, or employees, or for the acts of third parties.  
This indemnification shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 
 
 b. Subrecipient Contracts. Subrecipient agrees to include the following indemnification clause in all 
contracts with contractors, subcontractors, consultants, or subconsultants who perform work in connection with this 
Agreement (modified to appropriately identify the parties): 
 

Page 193 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 15 of 22 

 

15 
 

“To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Subrecipient’s contractor/consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the Subrecipient and the State of Florida, Department of Transportation, including the Department’s 
officers and employees, from liabilities, damages, losses and costs, including, but not limited to, reasonable 
attorney’s fees, to the extent caused by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the 
contractor/consultant and persons employed or utilized by the contractor/consultant in the performance of this 
Agreement. 
 
The foregoing indemnification shall not constitute a waiver of the Department’s or the Subrecipient’s sovereign 
immunity. Nor shall the same be construed to constitute agreement by Subrecipient’s contractor/subconsultant to 
indemnify the Subrecipient for the negligent acts or omissions of the Subrecipient, its officers, agents, or employees, 
or for the acts of third parties.  Nor shall the same be construed to constitute agreement by Subrecipient’s 
contractor/subconsultant to indemnify the Department for the negligent acts or omissions of the Department, its 
officers, agents, or employees, or for the acts of third parties 
 
This indemnification shall survive the termination of this Agreement.” 
 
 c. Workers’ Compensation. The Subrecipient shall provide Workers’ Compensation Insurance in 
accordance with Florida’s Workers’ Compensation law for all employees. If contracting for any of the work, the 
Subrecipient shall ensure that its contractors have Workers’ Compensation Insurance for their employees in 
accordance with Florida’s Workers’ Compensation law. If using “leased employees” or employees obtained through 
professional employer organizations (“PEO’s”), the Subrecipient shall ensure that such employees are covered by 
Workers’ Compensation insurance through the PEO’s or other leasing entities. Ensure that any equipment rental 
agreements that include operators or other personnel who are employees of independent contractors, sole 
proprietorships or partners are covered by insurance required under Florida’s Workers' Compensation law. 
 
 d. General Liability. If the Subrecipient elects to self-perform the Project, and such self-performance 
is approved by the Department in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Subrecipient may self-insure 
and proof of self-insurance shall be provided to the Department. If the Subrecipient elects to hire a contractor or 
consultant to perform the Project, then the Subrecipient shall, or cause its contractor or consultant to carry 
Commercial General Liability insurance providing continuous coverage for all work or operations performed under 
the Agreement. Such insurance shall be no more restrictive than that provided by the latest occurrence form edition 
of the standard Commercial General Liability Coverage Form (ISO Form CG 00 01) as filed for use in the State of 
Florida. Subrecipient shall, or cause its contractor to cause the Department to be made an Additional Insured as to 
such insurance. Such coverage shall be on an “occurrence” basis and shall include Products/Completed Operations 
coverage. The coverage afforded to the Department as an Additional Insured shall be primary as to any other 
available insurance and shall not be more restrictive than the coverage afforded to the Named Insured. The limits 
of coverage shall not be less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence and not less than a $5,000,000 annual general 
aggregate, inclusive of amounts provided by an umbrella or excess policy. The limits of coverage described herein 
shall apply fully to the work or operations performed under the Agreement, and may not be shared with or diminished 
by claims unrelated to the Agreement. The policy/ies and coverage described herein may be subject to a deductible 
and such deductibles shall be paid by the Named Insured. No policy/ies or coverage described herein may contain 
or be subject to a Retention or a Self-Insured Retention unless the Subrecipient is a state agency or subdivision of 
the State of Florida that elects to self-perform the Project. Prior to the execution of the Agreement, and at all renewal 
periods which occur prior to final acceptance of the work, the Department shall be provided with an ACORD 
Certificate of Liability Insurance reflecting the coverage described herein. The Department shall be notified in writing 
within ten days of any cancellation, notice of cancellation, lapse, renewal, or proposed change to any policy or 
coverage described herein. The Department’s approval or failure to disapprove any policy/ies, coverage, or ACORD 
Certificates shall not relieve or excuse any obligation to procure and maintain the insurance required herein, nor 
serve as a waiver of any rights or defenses the Department may have. 
 
 e. Railroad Protective Liability. When the Agreement includes the construction of a railroad grade 
crossing, railroad overpass or underpass structure, or any other work or operations within the limits of the railroad 
right-of-way, including any encroachments thereon from work or operations in the vicinity of the railroad right-of-
way, the Subrecipient shall, or cause its contractor to, in addition to the insurance coverage required above, procure 
and maintain Railroad Protective Liability Coverage (ISO Form CG 00 35) where the railroad is the Named Insured 

Page 194 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 16 of 22 

 

16 
 

and where the limits are not less than $2,000,000 combined single limit for bodily injury and/or property damage 
per occurrence, and with an annual aggregate limit of not less than $6,000,000. The railroad shall also be added 
along with the Department as an Additional Insured on the policy/ies procured pursuant to the paragraph above. 
Prior to the execution of the Agreement, and at all renewal periods which occur prior to final acceptance of the work, 
both the Department and the railroad shall be provided with an ACORD Certificate of Liability Insurance reflecting 
the coverage described herein. The insurance described herein shall be maintained through final acceptance of the 
work. Both the Department and the railroad shall be notified in writing within ten days of any cancellation, notice of 
cancellation, renewal, or proposed change to any policy or coverage described herein. The Department’s approval 
or failure to disapprove any policy/ies, coverage, or ACORD Certificates shall not relieve or excuse any obligation 
to procure and maintain the insurance required herein, nor serve as a waiver of any rights the Department may 
have. 
 
 f. Utilities. When the Agreement involves work on or in the vicinity of utility-owned property or 
facilities, the utility shall be added along with the Department as an Additional Insured on the Commercial General 
Liability policy/ies procured above. 
 
18. General Federal Requirements. The Subrecipient acknowledges that federal grant requirements are 
subject to change and agrees that the most recent requirements shall govern its obligations under this Agreement 
at all times. 
 
 a. Governing Regulations. In performing the Project, the Subrecipient agrees to comply with all 
applicable requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, "Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards." If applicable to the award of funds to the Subrecipient pursuant to this 
Agreement, the Subrecipient will comply with all applicable requirements of the current Federal Transit 
Administration Master Agreement. The Subrecipient certifies that its procurement system complies with the 
requirements of this paragraph. The Subrecipient agrees to include adequate provisions to ensure compliance with 
applicable federal requirements in each lower tier third party contract financed in whole or in part with financial 
assistance under this Agreement including all applicable provisions of this Agreement 
 
 b. Equal Employment Opportunity. No person shall, on the grounds of race, color, religion, sex, 
handicap, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be refused the benefits of, or be otherwise 
subjected to discrimination under this Agreement, or any project, program, or activity that receives or benefits 
from this Agreement. The Subrecipient agrees to comply with Executive Order (E.O.) 11246, as amended by 
E.O. 11375, and as supplemented by 41 CFR, Part 60, herein incorporated by reference. The Equal Opportunity 
Clause contained in 41 CFR section 60-1.4 is included in this Agreement by reference. 

 
In connection with the carrying out of the Project, the Subrecipient shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, age, creed, color, sex or national origin and will comply with all Federal 
statutes and implementing regulations relating to nondiscrimination. The Subrecipient will take affirmative action to 
ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their 
race, age, creed, color, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
Employment upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of 
pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The Subrecipient shall insert 
the foregoing provision modified only to show the particular contractual relationship in all its contracts in 
connection with the development or operation of the Project, except contracts for standard commercial supplies or 
raw materials, and shall require all such contractors to insert a similar provision in all subcontracts, except 
subcontracts for standard commercial supplies or raw materials. When the Project involves installation, construction, 
demolition, removal, site improvement, or similar work, the Subrecipient shall post, in conspicuous places available to 
employees and applicants for employment for Project work, notices to be provided by the Department setting forth the 
provisions of the nondiscrimination clause.   
 
 c. Title VI - Civil Rights Act of 1964. Execution of this Agreement constitutes a certification that 
the Subrecipient will comply with all the requirements imposed by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 
2000d, et seq.), and the regulations of the Federal Department of Transportation issued thereunder. The 

Page 195 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 17 of 22 

 

17 
 

Subrecipient shall include the attached Exhibit C, Title VI Assurances, in all contracts with consultants and 
contractors performing work on the Project. 
 
 d. Title VIII - Civil Rights Act of 1968. Execution of this Agreement constitutes a certification that 
the Subrecipient will comply with all the requirements imposed by Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (42 
U.S.C. 3601, et seq.), which among other things, prohibits discrimination in employment on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, creed, sex, and age. 
 
 e. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA). Execution of this Agreement constitutes a 
certification that the Subrecipient will comply with all the requirements imposed by the ADA (42 U.S.C. 12102, et seq.), 
the regulations of the federal government issued thereunder, and the assurance by the Subrecipient pursuant thereto. 
 
 f. Federal Financial Assistance Policy to Ban Text Messaging While Driving.  As used in this 
paragraph: 
 
"Driving" - Means operating a motor vehicle on an active roadway with the motor running, including while temporarily 
stationary because of traffic, a traffic light, stop sign, or otherwise. Does not include operating a motor vehicle with 
or without the motor running when one has pulled over to the side of, or off, an active roadway and has halted in a 
location where one can safely remain stationary. 
 
"Text messaging" - means reading from or entering data into any handheld or other electronic device, including for 
the purpose of short message service texting, e-mailing, instant messaging, obtaining navigational information, or 
engaging in any other form of electronic data retrieval or electronic data communication. The term does not include 
glancing at or listening to a navigational device that is secured in a commercially designed holder affixed to the 
vehicle, provided that the destination and route are programmed into the device either before driving or while 
stopped in a location off the roadway where it is safe and legal to park. 
 
This section implements Executive Order 13513, Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging while Driving, 
dated October 1, 2009. 
 
The Subrecipient should- 
 
Adopt and enforce policies that ban text messaging while driving- (i) Subrecipient-owned or -rented vehicles or 
government-owned vehicles; or (ii) Privately-owned vehicles when on official government business or when 
performing any work for or on behalf of the government. 
 
Conduct initiatives in a manner commensurate with the Subrecipient’s size, such as- (i) Establishment of new rules 
and programs or re-evaluation of existing programs to prohibit text messaging while driving; and (ii) Education, 
awareness, and other outreach to employees about the safety risks associated with texting while driving. 
 
Sub-agreements/sub-contracts. The Subrecipient shall insert the substance of this section, including this sentence, 
in all sub-agreement/subcontracts funded with the subaward provided under this Agreement that exceed the 
Federal Highway Administration micro-purchase threshold. 
 
 g. Integrity Certification. By signing this Agreement, the Subrecipient certifies that neither it nor its 
participants is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 
from participating in this Agreement by any federal department or agency.  This certification is a material 
representation of fact upon which the Department is relying in entering this Agreement.  If it is later determined that 
the Subrecipient knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the federal 
government, the Department or agency with which this transaction originated may pursue available remedies, 
including suspension and/or debarment. The Subrecipient shall provide to the Department immediate written notice 
if at any time the Subrecipient learns that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous 
by reason of changed circumstances. 
 

Page 196 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 18 of 22 

 

18 
 

 h. Ownership of Data and Creative Material.  The ownership of material, discoveries, inventions 
and results developed, produced, or discovered by this Agreement are governed by the terms of 2 CFR, Section 
200.315, Intangible Property. 
 
 i. Certification of Restrictions on Lobbying Disclosure. The Subrecipient certifies to the best of its 
knowledge and belief that no federally-appropriated funds have been paid, or will be paid by or on behalf of the 
Subrecipient, to any person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence any officer or employee of any 
federal agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of 
Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any 
federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment 
or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement. 
 
If any funds other than federally-appropriated funds have been paid by the Subrecipient to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any federal agency, a Member of Congress, an 
officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Agreement, the 
undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure of Lobbying Activities," in accordance with 
its instructions. 
 
The Subrecipient acknowledges that the certifications made in this section are material representations of fact upon 
which the Department is relying in entering into this Agreement. 

The Subrecipient shall require that the language of this section be included in the award documents for all sub-
awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants, loans and cooperative 
agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 
 
 j. Buy America.  The Subrecipient agrees to comply and require its consultants and contractors to 
comply with all applicable standards, orders, and regulations issued pursuant to the Buy America Act regarding the 
use of steel and iron manufactured in the United States, in accordance with the Buy America provisions of 23 CFR 
635.410, as amended. The Subrecipient shall ensure that all manufacturing processes for this material occur in the 
United States. 
 
 k. Federal Certification and Assurances; Execution and Incorporation. The Subrecipient agrees 
to comply with and to certify compliance with all current federally required certifications and assurances for the grant 
program under which the federally funded subaward provided by this Agreement is made.   
 
 l. Environmental Regulations.  Execution of this Agreement constitutes a certification by the 
Subrecipient that the Project will be carried out in accordance with all applicable environmental regulations including 
the securing of any applicable permits. The Subrecipient will be solely responsible for any liability in the event of 
non-compliance with applicable environmental regulations, including the securing of any applicable permits, and 
will reimburse the Department for any loss incurred in connection therewith. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, in connection with the Project, the Subrecipient will not use any facilities that are in violation of the Clean 
Air Act or the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, will report the use of facilities placed on or likely to be placed on 
the U.S. EPA “List of Violating Facilities”, will report the use of prohibited facilities to the Federal Transit 
Administration and the Regional U.S. EPA Office, and shall comply with Section 306 of the Clean Air Act, as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7606, and other requirements of the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 - 7671q, 
and the requirements of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 – 1377. 
 
 m. Performance Evaluations (2 CFR 200.331).  Subrecipients are evaluated on a project-by-project 
basis.  The evaluations provide information about oversight needs and provide input for the monitoring and risk 
process.  Evaluations are submitted to the Subrecipient’s person in responsible charge or designee as part of the 
Project closeout process.  The Department provides the evaluation to the Subrecipient no more than 30 days after 
project close out.   
 
19. Miscellaneous Provisions. 
 

Page 197 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 19 of 22 

 

19 
 

 a. Compliance with Conditions and Laws. The Subrecipient shall comply and require its 
contractors and subcontractors to comply with all terms and conditions of this Agreement and all federal, 
state, and local laws and regulations applicable to this Project.   
 
 b. Compliance with Public Records Laws. The Subrecipient agrees to comply with all provisions 
provided in Chapter 119 Florida Statutes. If the Subrecipient receives a public records request concerning its 
work undertaken pursuant to this Agreement, the Subrecipient must take appropriate action as required by 
Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. The Department reserves the right to unilaterally cancel this Agreement for 
refusal by the Subrecipient, contractor, sub-contractor, or materials vendor to comply with the provisions of 
Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. 
 
 c. Prohibited Interests. The Subrecipient shall not enter into a contract or arrangement in connection 
with the Project or any property included or planned to be included in the Project, with any officer, director or 
employee of the Subrecipient, or any business entity of which the officer, director or employee or the officer's, 
director’s or employee's spouse or child is an officer, partner, director, or proprietor or in which such officer, 
director or employee or the officer's, director’s or employee's spouse or child, or any combination of them, has a 
material interest. 
 

i.   “Material Interest” means direct or indirect ownership of more than 5% of the total assets or capital stock 
of any business entity. 

ii.    The Subrecipient shall not enter into any contract or arrangement in connection with the Project or any 
property included or planned to be included in the Project, with any person or entity who was 
represented before the Subrecipient by any person who at any time during the immediately preceding 
two (2) years was an officer, director or employee of the Subrecipient. 

iii.   The provisions of this subsection shall not be applicable to any agreement between the Subrecipient and 
its fiscal depositories, any agreement for utility services the rates for which are fixed or controlled by the 
government, or any agreement between the Subrecipient and an agency of state government. 

 
 d. Interest of Members of, or Delegates to, Congress or Legislature. No member or delegate to 
the Congress of the United States, or the State of Florida legislature, shall be admitted to any share or part of the 
Agreement or any benefit arising therefrom. 
 
 e. Department Not Obligated to Third Parties. The Department shall not be obligated or liable 
under this Agreement to any party other than the Subrecipient. It is specifically agreed between the Parties 
executing this Agreement that it is not intended by any of the provisions of any part of this Agreement to create in 
the public or any member thereof, a third party beneficiary under this Agreement, or to authorize anyone not a party 
to this Agreement to maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage pursuant to the terms or provisions of 
this Agreement.   
 
 f. Relationship of Parties. The Subrecipient, its employees, contractors, subcontractors, 
consultants, and subconsultants are not agents of the Department as a result of this Agreement. 
 
 g. When Rights and Remedies Not Waived. In no event shall the making by the Department of any 
payment to the Subrecipient constitute or be construed as a waiver by the Department of any breach of covenant 
or any default which may then exist, on the part of the Subrecipient, and the making of such payment by the 
Department while any such breach or default shall exist shall in no way impair or prejudice any right or remedy 
available to the Department with respect to such breach or default. 
 
 h. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 
of the State of Florida.   
 
 i. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not been contained in 

Page 198 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 20 of 22 

 

20 
 

this Agreement, unless the omission of the invalid or unenforceable provision would cause this Agreement to violate 
any applicable law or fail its fundamental purpose. 
 
 j. Bonus or Commission. By execution of the Agreement the Subrecipient represents that it has 
not paid and, also, agrees not to pay, any bonus or commission for the purpose of obtaining an approval of its 
application for the financing hereunder. 
 
 k. Notices. Any notice, demand, or request which is required to be given under this Agreement in 
writing shall be delivered to the following addresses: 
 

Contact Names and Addresses: 
Subrecipient:  City of Marathon  
Address:  9805 Overseas Highway  
Marathon,  
 , Florida 33050 
Contact Name:  Brian Shea, Planning Director / Maria Covelli, Grants Coord. 
Contact Telephone:  305-743-0033  
 
Florida Department of Transportation 
Address:    
     Program Management Room 6112B  
     1000 NW 111th Avenue  
     Miami , Florida 33172 
Contact Name:  Jessica Beck-Galindo  
Contact Telephone: (305) 470-5404  

 
 l. Agreement Format. All words used in this Agreement in the singular form shall extend to and 
include the plural. All words used in the plural form shall extend to and include the singular. All words used in any 
gender shall extend to and include all genders. 
 
 m. JURY TRIAL WAIVER. THE BORROWER AND THE DEPARTMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY 
AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO 
THIS AGREEMENT AND FOR ANY COUNTERCLAIM THEREIN. 
 
 n. Execution of Agreement. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in a minimum of two 
counterparts, each of which so executed shall be deemed to be an original, and such counterparts together shall 
constitute one in the same instrument.  
 
 o.  State Lobbying. No funds received pursuant to this Agreement may be expended for lobbying 
the Legislature, the judicial branch or a state agency. 
 
 p. Inspector General Cooperation. The Parties agree to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida 
Statutes, and to incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes. 
 
 q. Agreement not Assignable. The Subrecipient may not assign any of its rights or obligations under 
this Agreement. 
 
 r. Amendments. This Agreement may not be amended, except by a writing signed by both Parties. 
 
20.      Exhibits.  

 
a. Exhibits “A”, “B”, “C”, “D”, “E” and “F” are attached to and incorporated into this Agreement. 
 

Page 199 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 21 of 22 

 

21 
 

b.  Alternative Advance Payment Financial Provisions are used on this Project. If an Alternative 
Pay Method is used on this Project, then Exhibit “H”, Alternative Advance Payment Financial 
Provisions, is attached and incorporated into this Agreement. 

 
c.  For project phases including but not limited to Phase 58 (construction), equipment installation 

activities, or force account work completed by a railroad or utility, Exhibit “I”, Final Inspection and 
Acceptance of Federal-Aid Project, is attached and incorporated into this Agreement. 

 
d.  A portion or all of the Project will utilize Department right-of-way and, therefore, Exhibit “O”, 

Terms and Conditions of Construction in Department Right-of-Way, is attached and incorporated 
into this Agreement. 

 
e.  The following Exhibit(s) are attached and incorporated into this Agreement: A, B, C,D, E, F,  

 
 
 

f. Exhibits and Attachment. 
Exhibit A: Project Description and Responsibilities 
Exhibit B: Schedule of Financial Assistance 
Exhibit C: Title VI Assurances 
Exhibit D: Subrecipient Resolution 
Exhibit E: Federal Financial Assistance (Single Audit Act) 
Exhibit F: Contract Payment Requirements  
*Exhibit H: Alternative Advance Payment Financial Provisions 
*Exhibit I:  Final Inspection and Acceptance of Federal-Aid Project 
*Exhibit O: Terms & Conditions of Construction in Department Right of Way 

 
* Additional Exhibit(s):       
 
* Indicates that the Exhibit is only attached and incorporated if applicable box is selected. 

 
 
 

 
 

[signatures on following page] 
  

Page 200 of 283



 STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS 
SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 

525-010-70 
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

     OGC/OOC– 10/24 
Page 22 of 22 

 

22 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year written above. 
 
SUBRECIPIENT City of Marathon  STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 
By:         By:      
 Name:        Name:        
 Title:        Title:        
 
  
 
 Legal Review: 
 
 
 _______________________________________________ 
      

Page 201 of 283



Page 1 of 1 
 

Alt Form 525-010-70A STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

525-011-0A  
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

10/24 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND RESPONSIBILITIES   
 
 
 FPN: 453692-1-14-01 
 
This exhibit forms an integral part of the Agreement between the State of Florida, Department of Transportation and  
 
City of Marathon (the Recipient) 

 
   
 
PROJECT LOCATION: 
 

 The project is on the National Highway System. 
 

 The project is on the State Highway System. 
 
PROJECT LENGTH AND MILE POST LIMITS: 13.1 Miles Mile markers 47 to Mile marker 60. 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Planning study of a Bicycle and Pedestrian Master plan for the City of Marathon. 
 
 
SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS BY RECIPIENT:  
 
The Recipient is required to provide the final planning documentation and any findings at the end of this project.  

 
The Subrecipient shall commence the project’s activities subsequent to the execution of this Agreement and shall perform 
in accordance with the following schedule: 
 

a) Study to be completed by  9/30/2028   .  
b) Equipment purchase or leasing to be completed by  NA.   
 

If this schedule cannot be met, the Subrecipient will notify the Department in writing with a revised schedule, or the project 
is subject to the withdrawal of funding. 
 
SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS BY DEPARTMENT:  
      
 
 

 

Page 202 of 283



Alt Form 525-010-70B  STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

525-011-0B  
PROGRAM 

MANAGEMENT 
10/24 

Page 1 of 1 
EXHIBIT B 

SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
 

SUBRECIPIENT NAME & BILLING ADDRESS:  
City of Marathon 
9805 Overseas Highway 
Marathon, FL 33050 

 FINANCIAL PROJECT NUMBER:   
453692-1-14-01 

A. Estimate of Project Costs by Grant Phase: 
 

PHASE OF WORK By Fiscal Year 

(1) 
TOTAL 

PROJECT FUNDS 

(2) 
LOCAL FUNDS 

(3) 
FEDERAL FUNDS 

Planning- Phase 14 
FY:  2025     (Local Programs) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$ 250,000.00 
$       
$       

 Total Planning Cost $    0.00 $    0.00 $   250,000.00 
 

Operations- Phase 84* 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 Total Operations Cost $    0.00 $    0.00 $    0.00 
 

Capital Equipment- Phase 94 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 Total Capital Equipment Cost $    0.00 $    0.00 $    0.00 
 

(Insert Phase) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 
FY:         (Insert Program Name) 

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 
$       
$       
$       

 Total  Phase Costs $    0.00 $    0.00 $    0.00 
 

TOTAL COST OF THE PROJECT $    0.00 $    0.00 $    250,000.00 
 

A.  Operations Phase 84* - Estimate of Project Costs by Budget Category (if applicable): 

 
Budget Categories** Total Local Federal 

 
Salaries $0.00 $      $      
Fringe Benefits $0.00 $      $      
Contractual Services $0.00 $      $      
Travel $0.00 $      $      
Other Direct Costs $0.00 $      $      
Indirect Costs $0.00 $      $      
Totals $   0.00 $   0.00 $   0.00 

** Budget category amounts in the Operations Phase are estimates and can be shifted between items without amendment to the 
Agreement. 

 
COST ANALYSIS CERTIFICATION AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 216.3475, FLORIDA STATUTES: 
I certify that the cost for each line item budget category has been evaluated and determined to be allowable, reasonable, and necessary as required by 
Section 216.3475, F.S. Documentation is on file evidencing the methodology used and the conclusions reached. 
 
 
       
District Grant Manager Name  
 
 
 
  
Signature Date 

Page 203 of 283



Alt Form  525-010-70C  

 
STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

525-011-0C  
PROGRAM 

MANAGEMENT 
10/24 

Page 1 of 2 
 

EXHIBIT C 
 

 TITLE VI ASSURANCES 

During the performance of this contract, the consultant or contractor, for itself, its assignees and successors in 
interest (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "contractor") agrees as follows: 

(1.) Compliance with REGULATIONS: The contractor shall comply with the Regulations relative to 
nondiscrimination in federally-assisted programs of the U.S. Department of Transportation 
(hereinafter, "USDOT") Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 21, as they may be 
amended from time to time, (hereinafter referred to as the REGULATIONS), which are herein 
incorporated by reference and made a part of this contract. 

(2.) Nondiscrimination: The Contractor, with regard to the work performed by it during the contract, 
shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the selection and retention 
of sub-contractors, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment. The contractor 
shall not participate either directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by Section 21.5 of the 
REGULATIONS, including employment practices when the contract covers a program set forth in 
Appendix B of the REGULATIONS. 

(3.) Solicitations for Sub-contractors, including Procurements of Materials and Equipment: In all 
solicitations either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by the contractor for work to be 
performed under sub-contract, including procurements of materials or leases of equipment, each 
potential sub-contractor or supplier shall be notified by the contractor of the contractor's obligations 
under this contract and the REGULATIONS relative to nondiscrimination on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex. 

(4.) Information and Reports: The contractor shall provide all information and reports required by 
the REGULATIONS or directives issued pursuant thereto, and shall permit access to its books, 
records, accounts, other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by the 
Florida Department of Transportation or the Federal Highway Administration, Federal Transit 
Administration, Federal Aviation Administration, and Federal Motor Carrier Safety 
Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such REGULATIONS, orders and 
instructions. Where any information required of a contractor is in the exclusive possession of 
another who fails or refuses to furnish this information the contractor shall so certify to the 
Florida Department of Transportation, or the Federal Highway Administration, Federal Transit 
Administration, Federal Aviation Administration, or Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration 
as appropriate, and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 

(5.) Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the 
nondiscrimination provisions of this contract, the Florida Department of Transportation shall impose 
such contract sanctions as it or the Federal Highway Administration, Federal Transit Administration, 
Federal Aviation Administration, or     

Page 204 of 283



525-011-0C  
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

05/21 
Page 2 of 2 

 
Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited 
to: 

a. withholding of payments to the contractor under the contract until the contractor 
complies, and/or 

b. cancellation, termination or suspension of the contract, in whole or in part. 

(6.)  Incorporation of Provisions: The contractor shall include the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) 
in every sub-contract, including procurements of materials and leases of equipment, unless exempt by 
the REGULATIONS, or directives issued pursuant thereto. The contractor shall take such action with 
respect to any sub-contract or procurement as the Florida Department of Transportation or the Federal 
Highway Administration, Federal Transit Administration, Federal Aviation Administration, or Federal 
Motor Carrier Safety Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including 
sanctions for noncompliance, provided, however, that, in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or 
is threatened with, litigation with a sub-contractor or supplier as a result of such direction, the contractor 
may request the Florida Department of Transportation to enter into such litigation to protect the interests 
of the Florida Department of Transportation, and, in addition, the contractor may request the United 
States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

(7.) Compliance with Nondiscrimination Statutes and Authorities: Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
(42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252), (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national 
origin); and 49 CFR Part 21; The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies 
Act of 1970, (42 U.S.C. § 4601), (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose property has 
been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and projects);  Federal-Aid Highway Act of 
1973, (23 U.S.C. § 324 et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex); Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended, (prohibits discrimination on the basis 
of disability); and 49 CFR Part 27; The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, (42 U.S.C. § 6101 
et seq.), (prohibits discrimination on the basis of age); Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, (49 
USC § 471, Section 47123), as amended, (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national 
origin, or sex); The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987, (PL 100-209), (Broadened the scope, coverage 
and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by expanding the definition of the terms “programs or 
activities” to include all of the programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-recipients and 
contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not); Titles II and III of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of 
public entities, public and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and certain 
testing entities (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 -- 12189) as implemented by Department of Transportation 
regulations at 49 C.F.R. parts 37 and 38; The Federal Aviation Administration’s Non-discrimination 
statute (49 U.S.C. § 47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex); 
Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and 
Low-Income Populations, which ensures non-discrimination against minority populations by discouraging 
programs, policies, and activities with disproportionately high and adverse human health or 
environmental effects on minority and low-income populations; Executive Order 13166, Improving 
Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national 
origin discrimination includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP).  To ensure 
compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have meaningful 
access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100); Title IX of the Education Amendments of 
1972, as amended, which prohibits you from discriminating because of sex in education programs or 
activities (20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq). 

 

Page 205 of 283



Alt Form  525-010-70D  
 

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

525-011-0D  
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

10/24 
Page 1 of 1 

 

EXHIBIT D 
 

SUBRECIPIENT RESOLUTION 
 

 
The Subrecipient’s Resolution authorizing entry into this Agreement is attached and incorporated into this 
Agreement.  

 

Page 206 of 283



 Sponsored by: Garrett 
 
 
 CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 RESOLUTION 2025-XX 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVING A GRANT CONTRACT BETWEEN 
THE CITY AND THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $250,000.00 TO CREATE A BICYCLE AND PEDESTRIAN 
MASTER PLAN; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
 
WHEREAS, the FDOT's Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan is a comprehensive framework 

for enhancing safe and connected bicycle and pedestrian facilities across Florida. It aims to improve 
mobility and safety for non-motorized road users by incorporating pedestrian and bicycle needs into 
transportation planning. 

 
WHEREAS, these funds are earmarked to help communities develop action plans and 

inform improvements along highway corridors.   
 
WHEREAS, the City of Marathon submitted a grant application in 2023 to the Florida 

Department of Transportation seeking an award of grant funding to create a Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Master Plan along Highway US 1, and 

  
WHEREAS, the City was awarded $250,000.00 by the Department of Transportation to 

create such action plan.  
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein. 
 
Section 2.  The City Manager is authorized to sign grant documents and any amendments. 
 
Section 3.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 

Page 207 of 283



 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, 

FLORIDA, THIS  
 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
____________________________________  
Diane Clavier, City Clerk       
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
       
Steve Williams, City Attorney 

 
 
 
 

Page 208 of 283



Alt Form  525-010-70E  
 

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

525-011-0E  
PROGRAM MANAGEMENT 

11/22 
Page 1 of 1 

 

EXHIBIT E   
 

FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (SINGLE AUDIT ACT) 
 
 
FEDERAL RESOURCES AWARDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE AS FOLLOWS: 
  

  
CFDA No.: 20.205         

CFDA Title: Highway Planning and Construction 
Federal-Aid Highway Program, Federal Lands Highway Program       

CFDA Program 
Site: 

https://beta.sam.gov/fal/1093726316c3409a8e50f4c75f5ef2c6/view?keywords=20.205&sort=-
relevance&index=cfda&is_active=true&page=1 

Award Amount: $250,000.00 
Awarding 

Agency: 
Florida Department of Transportation 

Award is for 
R&D:  

No 

Indirect Cost 
Rate: 

N/A 

 
FEDERAL RESOURCES AWARDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT ARE SUBJECT TO THE 
FOLLOWING: 
 
2 CFR Part 200 – Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles & Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards 
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=2:1.1.2.2.1 
 
FEDERAL RESOURCES AWARDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY ALSO BE SUBJECT TO THE 
FOLLOWING:  
 
 
Title 23 – Highways, United States Code 
http://uscode.house.gov/browse/prelim@title23&edition=prelim 
 
Title 49 – Transportation, United States Code  
http://uscode.house.gov/browse/prelim@title49&edition=prelim 
 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) (Public Law 117-58, also known as the “Bipartisan Infrastructure Law”) 
https://www.congress.gov/117/bills/hr3684/BILLS-117hr3684enr.pdf 
 
Federal Highway Administration – Florida Division 
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/fldiv/ 
 
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) Sub-award Reporting System (FSRS)  
https://www.fsrs.gov/ 
 
 

 

Page 209 of 283

https://beta.sam.gov/fal/1093726316c3409a8e50f4c75f5ef2c6/view?keywords=20.205&sort=-relevance&index=cfda&is_active=true&page=1
https://beta.sam.gov/fal/1093726316c3409a8e50f4c75f5ef2c6/view?keywords=20.205&sort=-relevance&index=cfda&is_active=true&page=1
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=2:1.1.2.2.1
http://uscode.house.gov/browse/prelim@title23&edition=prelim
http://uscode.house.gov/browse/prelim@title49&edition=prelim
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.congress.gov%2F117%2Fbills%2Fhr3684%2FBILLS-117hr3684enr.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CLisa.Wilkerson%40dot.state.fl.us%7C1c40746183cb4bf6d24308daa7bd3798%7Cdb21de5dbc9c420c8f3f8f08f85b5ada%7C0%7C0%7C638006728359583253%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=mjzBpnjoum%2FPVWMVteB3LbuUq70pBc3j9HOSdfBePTc%3D&reserved=0
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/fldiv/
https://www.fsrs.gov/


Alt Form  525-010-70F  
 

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDS SUBRECIPIENT GRANT AGREEMENT 
 

525-011-0F  
PROGRAM 

MANAGEMENT 
04/24 

Page 1 of 2 
 

EXHIBIT F 
 

CONTRACT PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS 
Florida Department of Financial Services, Reference Guide for State Expenditures  

Cost Reimbursement Contracts 
 

Invoices for cost reimbursement contracts must be supported by an itemized listing of 
expenditures by category (salary, travel, expenses, etc.).  Supporting documentation shall 
be submitted for each amount for which reimbursement is being claimed indicating that 
the item has been paid.  Documentation for each amount for which reimbursement is 
being claimed must indicate that the item has been paid. Check numbers may be provided 
in lieu of copies of actual checks. Each piece of documentation should clearly reflect the 
dates of service. Only expenditures for categories in the approved agreement budget may 
be reimbursed. These expenditures must be allowable (pursuant to law) and directly 
related to the services being provided. 
 
Listed below are types and examples of supporting documentation for cost 
reimbursement agreements: 
 
Salaries:  Timesheets that support the hours worked on the project or activity must be 
kept. A payroll register, or similar documentation should be maintained. The payroll 
register should show gross salary charges, fringe benefits, other deductions and net pay. 
If an individual for whom reimbursement is being claimed is paid by the hour, a document 
reflecting the hours worked times the rate of pay will be acceptable. 
 
Fringe benefits:  Fringe benefits should be supported by invoices showing the amount 
paid on behalf of the employee, e.g., insurance premiums paid. If the contract specifically 
states that fringe benefits will be based on a specified percentage rather than the actual 
cost of fringe benefits, then the calculation for the fringe benefits amount must be shown. 
Exception: Governmental entities are not required to provide check numbers or copies of 
checks for fringe benefits.  
 
Travel:  Reimbursement for travel must be in accordance with s. 112.061, F.S., which 
includes submission of the claim on the approved state travel voucher along with 
supporting receipts and invoices.  
 
Other direct costs:  Reimbursement will be made based on paid invoices/receipts and 
proof of payment processing (cancelled/processed checks and bank statements). If 
nonexpendable property is purchased using state funds, the contract should include a 
provision for the transfer of the property to the State when services are terminated. 
Documentation must be provided to show compliance with DMS Rule 60A-1.017, F.A.C., 
regarding the requirements for contracts which include services and that provide for the 
contractor to purchase tangible personal property as defined in s. 273.02, F.S., for 
subsequent transfer to the State. 
 
Indirect costs:  If the contract stipulates that indirect costs will be paid based on a 
specified rate, then the calculation should be shown. Indirect costs must be in the 
approved agreement budget and the entity must be able to demonstrate that the costs 
are not duplicated elsewhere as direct costs. All indirect cost rates must be evaluated for 
reasonableness and for allowability and must be allocated consistently.  

Page 210 of 283



 
Contracts between state agencies may submit alternative documentation to 
substantiate the reimbursement request, which may be in the form of FLAIR reports 
or other detailed reports.   
 
The Florida Department of Financial Services, online Reference Guide for State 
Expenditures can be found at this web address 
https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-auditing-libraries/state-
agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf. 
  
 

 

Page 211 of 283

https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf
https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-and-auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf


  
 COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
  
   
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2025 
 
From:   Carlos A. Solis, P.E., Director of Public Works & 

Engineering  
 
Through:   George Garrett, City Manager 
    
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-44 Approval Of A Second Amendment To The Existing 
Contract For Emergency Debris Removal Monitoring Services With Tetra Tech, Inc.; Authorizing 
The City Manager To Execute The Agreement; And Providing For An Effective Date.  
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
The City is currently under contract with Tetra Tech, Inc. for emergency debris removal 
monitoring services. In cases of declared emergencies, the cost for these services is reimbursable 
by the Federal Government, primarily through FEMA.  The service is required to provide detail 
monitoring and accountability of debris removal services for reimbursement to FEMA for such 
work. In May of 2023, the City executed the first of two allowable extensions for these services. 
This extension expires on June10, 2025, however, the contract has provisions for a second 
extension of an additional two year term. In the previous request for proposal, Tetra Tech was the 
only respondent. As stated in the original RFP, the contractor may request a price increase at the 
sole discretion of the City Council. The contractor did not request an increase in the first 
extension, and is requesting an increase equivalent to the CPI adjustment as established by the 
Federal Government for the period ending in April 2025, which is expected to be in the 2.4% 
range. Due to the inflationary period experience since the original contract was executed in May 
of 2020, it is staff’s opinion that the CPI increase is a reasonable request.  
 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan XXX ____ 

     
    
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
If a notice to procced is issued for this contract it will require a budget amendment. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Council Approve Resolution   

 

Page 212 of 283



 
 

 

Tetra Tech, Inc. 
2301 Lucien Way, Suite 120, Maitland, FL 32751 

407-735-6580 | TDR.contracts@tetratech.com | tetratech.com 

 
April 28, 2025 

 
Sent via email to Solisc@ci.marathon.fl.us 
 
 
Carlos A. Solis, P.E. 
Director of Public Works & Engineering 
City of Marathon | Public Works 
9805 Overseas Highway 
Marathon, FL 33050 
 
RE:  Emergency Disaster Debris Removal Monitoring Service (RFP No. 2020-004) 
 2025 Request for Contract Renewal and Rate Change 
 
Dear Mr. Solis, 
 
The City of Marathon, Florida (City) entered into a contract for Emergency Disaster Debris Removal 
Monitoring Services with Tetra Tech, Inc. (Tetra Tech) for a period beginning on June 10, 2020 through 
June 10, 2023, with a current expiration date of June 10, 2025, with the option to renew the contract term 
for up to two (2) additional two (2) year periods.  
 
Tetra Tech is requesting the City to exercise the second renewal option from June 10, 2025 to June 10, 
2027 with an adjustment to the hourly rates based on the CPI-U Base Price Adjustment Calculation for 
April 2024 to April 2025.  
 
Please contact me directly at TDR.Contracts@tetratech.com should you have any questions or need 
additional information related to this request. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Kayla Lemaire 
Contract Administrator II 

Page 213 of 283

mailto:Solisc@ci.marathon.fl.us
mailto:TDR.Contracts@tetratech.com


Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-44  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA APPROVING A  SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE 
EXISTING CONTRACT FOR EMERGENCY DEBRIS REMOVAL 
MONITORING SERVICES WITH TETRA TECH, INC.; AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Marathon (the “CITY”) and Tetra Tech,  Inc. (the 

“CONTRACTOR”) entered into a three-year agreement for disaster response services related to 
Debris Removal Monitoring (the “Agreement”), dated June 10, 2020; and 

 
WHEREAS, the CITY and CONTRACTOR have agreed to renew the agreement  with an 

CPI adjustment as established by the Federal Government for the period ending in April 2025, and 
an additional two (2) year term as both are allowed in the current contract by written notice; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 
Section 1.  The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein. 
 
Section 2.  The Amendment to the Agreement between the City and the Contractor for 

disaster response services related to Debris Removal Monitoring, a copy of which is attached as 
Exhibit “A,” together with such non-material changes as may be acceptable to the City Manager and 
approved as to form by the City Attorney, is hereby approved.  The City Manager is authorized to 
execute the Contract on behalf of the City. 

 
Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13TH DAY OF MAY, 2025. 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
AYES:    
NOES:     
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:    

Page 214 of 283



 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 

Page 215 of 283



Page 1 of 2 
 

 SECOND AMENDMENT TO EMERGENCY PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
 This second Amendment to The  Goods And Services Agreement is entered into 
this ____ day of May, 2025, by and between the CITY OF MARATHON, a Florida 
municipal corporation, with its address at 9805 Overseas Highway, Marathon, Florida 
33050 (hereinafter referred to as the “CITY”) and Tetra Tech, Inc., with its address at 2301 
Lucien Way, Suite 120, Maitland, Florida 32751 (hereinafter referred to as the 
“CONTRACTOR”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the CITY and CONTRACTOR entered into a three-year agreement 
for disaster response services related to Debris Removal Monitoring (the “Agreement”), 
dated June 10, 2020; and 

 
WHEREAS, the CITY and CONTRACTOR have agreed to renew the agreement 

under the same conditions for an additional two (2) year term as allowed in the current 
contract by written notice; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants 

contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants 

contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 
Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into 
this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. The Term of the Agreement is amended to extend to and through June 10, 
2027. 
 
Section3. As stipulated in the original RFP, and as may be approved by the City 
Council, a price adjustment may be approved by Council. As such, a price increase equal 
to the CPI as of April 30, 2025 shall be allowed for this extension.  
 
Section3. In the event a hurricane or similar emergency, the Tetra Tech Agreement 
would be subject to activation by the City.  
 
Section 4. Any services provided under the Tetra Tech agreement are hereby subject 
to all pertinent FEMA guidance, as may have been updated at the time of activation of the 
Agreement. 
 

Page 216 of 283



Page 2 of 2 
 

Section 5.  This amendment shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and 
execution by the CONTRACTOR and CITY, the City Manager is authorized to execute 
the agreement on behalf of the CITY. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CITY and CONTRACTOR have made and executed 
this Agreement on the date written above. 
 
      CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________   __________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk   George Garrett, City Manager 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE 
OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
 
______________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 
 
 
 
      Tetra Tech, Inc. 
 
 
      By:__________________________ 
       
      Printed Name:_______________ 
       

Title:______________________ 
 
 

 

Page 217 of 283



#196481 v1 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
 
Meeting Date: May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor & Members of the City Council 
 
From:   George Garrett, City Manager 
 
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-45, Approving A Work Directive Change  With Charley 
Toppino and Sons, Inc. For The Marathon Sombrero Blvd Drainage Improvements Project In The 
Amount Of $46,074.33; Authorizing The City Manager To Sign The Work Directive Change And 
To Expend Appropriated Funds; And Providing An Effective Date. 
 
BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
As the contractor, Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc.. has begun the Sombrero Blvd. drainage 
improvement project, they have discovered expected conflicts in areas that require some construction 
modification.  As a result, it has been determined that two FKEC power powers must be moved and 
relocated. 
 
The materials and work will be carried out by the Florida Keys Electric Cooperative (FKEC).  See 
attached Exhibit A. 
 
The City approved a contract with Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., through Resolution 2024-127 to 
complete the Marathon Sombrero Blvd. Drainage Improvements Project.  Section 30 of the Contract 
identifies the variability of “Subsurface Conditions” and provides a route for additional payments 
through Section 29 of the Contract (a Change Order) when such variability requires a modification in 
the Contact.  It has been determined that no other option exists but to move two Florida Keys 
Electric Cooperative (FKEC) telephones poles based on subsurface conditions.  Approval of this 
Resolution is in the best interest of the City in protecting the health, safety, and welfare of the City, 
 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan ____ ____ 
2.  Other –Sewer Mandate __X__ ____ 
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
Approval of this resolution will appropriate funds in the FY25 Stormwater Utility Budget for this 
change order 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval of Resolution  

 

Page 218 of 283



 Sponsored by: Garrett 
 
 
 CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 RESOLUTION 2025-45 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVING A WORK DIRECTIVE CHANGE 
WITH CHARLEY TOPPIO AND SONS, INC. FOR THE MARATHON 
SOMBRERO BLVD. DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $46,074.33; AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN 
THE WORK DIRECTIVE CHANGE AND TO EXPEND APPROPRIATED 
FUNDS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS; the City approved a contract with Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., through 

Resolution 2024-127 to complete the Marathon Sombrero Blvd. Drainage Improvements Project; 
and 

 
WHEREAS; Section 30 of the Contract identifies the variability of “Subsurface Conditions” 

and provides a route for additional payments through Section 29 of the Contract (a Change Order) 
when such variability requires a modification in the Contact; and. 

 
WHEREAS; it has been determined that no other option exists but to move two Florida 

Keys Electric Cooperative (FKEC) telephones poles based on subsurface conditions; and 
 
WHEREAS; approval of this Resolution is in the best interest of the City in protecting 

the health, safety, and welfare of the City, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into 
this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. Work Directive Change # 1 identified in the attached Exhibit is hereby 
approved.  The City Manager is authorized to sign the Order and to expend funds based upon 
it. 
 
Section 3.   This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and signature 
of both parties. 

Page 219 of 283



 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13TH DAY OF MAY 2025 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
AYES:    
NOES:   
ABSENT:    
ABSTAIN:    
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
____________________________________  
Diane Clavier, City Clerk       
 
(City Seal) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 
 

Page 220 of 283



EXHIBITS ‘A & B” 
 

Page 221 of 283



EXHIBIT "C" 
CHANGE ORDER 

 
CHANGE ORDER NO. 1 

TO: City of Marathon 
 

PROJECT: Sombrero Blvd Drainage Improvements  

CONTRACTOR: Charley Toppino & Sons Inc. 

DATE: April 28, 2025 
 

 
This Change Order will authorize the following change to the Agreement: 

 
The Work as set forth in the Agreement is hereby amended to include the items set 
forth on Exhibit "1" attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof. 

 
This Change Order constitutes full, final, and complete compensation to the Contractor for all costs, 
expenses, overhead, and profit, and any damages, and/or time adjustments of every kind that the 
Contractor may incur in connection with the above referenced changes in the Work, and any other 
effect on any of the Work under the Agreement. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that (a) 
the Contract Price of $4,870,496.00 under the Agreement will be changed by this Change Order, 
and (b) the schedule for performance of Work will be unchanged by this Change Order. Contractor 
expressly waives any claims for any additional compensation, damages or time extensions in 
connection with the above-referenced changes. Except as herein or heretofore expressly modified, 
all terms of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall cover the performance of, 
and payment for, any work authorized hereunder. Any defined terms not defined in this Change 
Order shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement. 

 
By signing below the parties indicate acceptance of this Change Order as set forth herein. 

 
CONSENT OF SURETY TO CHANGE ORDER 

The Surety Agrees that this change order is not a cardinal change and if the Change Order includes 
an increase in the Contract amount, then the penal amount of the payment and performance bond 
issued for this Contract is increased by the dollar amount of this Change Order. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit " A" Resolution 2025-45

Page 222 of 283



Page 223 of 283



Exhibit "1" 
 

CHANGE ORDER SUMMARY 
 
 

 

THE FOLLOWING CHANGES ARE MADE TO THE AGREEMENT DOCUMENTS: 
 
(1) Original Contract Price      $ 4,870,496.00 
(2) Current Contract Price (Adjusted by Previous Change Orders) $ 4,870,496.00 
(3) Total Proposed Change in Contract Price   $ 46,074.33 
(4) New Contract Price (Item 2 + Item 3)    $ 4,916,570.33 
(5) Original Contract Time (Days)     365 Days 
(6) Current Contract Time (Adjusted by Previous Change Orders) 365 Days 
(7) Total Proposed Change in Contract Time   0 Days 
(8) New Contract Time (Item 6 + Item 7)    365 Days 
(9) Original Contract Substantial Completion Date               February 15, 2026 
(10) New Contract Substantial Completion Date                February 15, 2026 
 
 
 

CHANGE ORDER HISTORY 

Item 
No. Description Current Contract 

Amount 
Additive 
Change 

Deductive 
Change 

Net Change 
Contract Price 

 
Net Change 

Contract 
Time 

1 CO #1 $4,870,496.00 $46,074.33 $0.00 $4,916,570.33 0 days 

       

       

Total $4,916,570.33 0 days 

 

Page 224 of 283



This Change Order addresses unforeseen utility conflicts impacting the installation of the 24” injection 
well for the proposed pump station. Proximity to overhead electric lines posed a conflict with the drilling 
of the proposed well which therefore resulted in coordination with FKEC to relocate two (2) existing power 
poles. This Change Order reflects the additional costs needed for FKEC to perform this adjustments 
beyond the original project scope. 

The cost breakdown is as follows: 

PCO #1 – FKEC Poles Relocation $ 46,074.33 

TOTAL $ 46,074.33 

Page 225 of 283



Page 226 of 283



Page 227 of 283



Page 228 of 283



Page 229 of 283



Page 230 of 283



Page 231 of 283



Page 232 of 283



Page 233 of 283



Page 234 of 283



Page 235 of 283



Page 236 of 283



Page 237 of 283



Page 238 of 283



Page 239 of 283



Page 240 of 283



Page 241 of 283



Page 242 of 283



Page 243 of 283



Page 244 of 283



#196481 v1 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 
 
 
Meeting Date: May 13, 2025 
 
To:   Honorable Mayor & Members of the City Council 
 
From:   James Muro, Fire Chief 
 
Through:  George Garrett, Chit Manager 
 
Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-46, Approving A Contract With Safe Boat In An Amount Of 
$476,557.07; Authorizing The Expenditure Of An Additional Amount Of Up To $125,000 Above 
The Original Budgeted Amount Of $375,000; Authorizing The City Manager To Execute The 
Agreement, And Expend Budgeted Funds; And Providing For An Effective Date 
 

BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
 
In 2024 the City of Marathon applied for and received a $150,000 reimbursement Grant from the 
State of Florida to support the purchase of a Fire/EMS rescue boat to serve the needs of Monroe 
County. 
 
Pursuant to the City’s purchasing policies and the conditions of the Grant Agreement, four potential 
were vendors considered for this purchase of a and appropriate vessel that both met the essential 
needs of the Department and could be acquired at a reasonable cost.  
 
The final two considerations were reviewed, detailed proposals were received, and the final decision 
being made in April of this year.  This vessel will be used as an immediate deployable craft, kept at 
the City Marina, to allow the Department to assist in direct water rescue, respond to water-based 
medical events close to shore and partner with other Agencies to treat and transport incidents on the 
Gulf or Ocean-side of Marathon.  This vessel will also be equipped to discharge water and foam for 
fire suppression operations at locations that are not accessible or best accessible from the water side, 
and fires that are on Boats anchored and offshore.  
 
The City Council will need to authorize the additional amount of $101,557.07 to cover the difference 
between the City’s budget amount, the grant amount, and the total cost.  We suggest that the 
additional amount be a not to exceed of $125,000 in order to cover all contingencies. 
 
CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 
 
1.  Comprehensive Plan ____ __X__ 
2.  Other –Sewer Mandate ____ __X__ 
 
FISCAL NOTE: 
The adopted FY25 Capital Infrastructure Budget includes appropriations of $375,000 for this 
purchase. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approval of Resolution  

 

Page 245 of 283



 Sponsored by: Garrett 
 
 
 CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 RESOLUTION 2025-46 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVING A CONTRACT WITH SAFE BOAT 
IN AN AMOUNT OF $476,557.07; AUTHORIZING THE EXPENDITURE OF 
AN ADDITIONAL AMOUNT OF UP TO $125,000 ABOVE THE ORIGINAL 
BUDGETED AMOUNT OF $375,000; AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT, AND EXPEND BUDGETED 
FUNDS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
WHEREAS, in 2024 the City of Marathon applied for and received a $150,000 

reimbursement Grant from the State of Florida to support the purchase of a Fire/EMS rescue boat to 
serve the needs of Monroe County; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the City’s purchasing policies and the conditions of the Grant 

Agreement, four potential were vendors considered for this purchase of a and appropriate vessel that 
both met the essential needs of the Department and could be acquired at a reasonable cost; and. 

 
WHEREAS, The final two considerations were reviewed, detailed proposals were received, 

and the final decision being made in April of this year; and 
 
WHEREAS; the vessel will be used as an immediate deployable craft, kept at the City 

Marina, to allow the Department to assist in direct water rescue, respond to water-based medical 
events close to shore and partner with other Agencies to treat and transport incidents on the Gulf or 
Ocean-side of Marathon; and.   

 
WHEREAS, the vessel will also be equipped to discharge water and foam for fire 

suppression operations at locations that are not accessible or best accessible from the water side, and 
fires that are on Boats anchored and offshore; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council will need to authorize the additional amount of $101,557.07 to 
cover the difference between the City’s budget amount, the grant amount, and the total cost.  We 
suggest that the additional amount be a not to exceed of $125,000 in order to cover all contingencies; 
and 

 
WHEREAS; approval of this Resolution is in the best interest of the City in protecting 

the health, safety, and welfare of the City, 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are hereby incorporated into 

Page 246 of 283



this Agreement. 
 
Section 2. The purchase of a fire boat as identified in the attached documentation is 
authorized in the amount of $476,557.07.  The expenditure of an additional not to exceed 
amount of $125,000 is hereby authorized. The City Manager is further authorized to sign 
necessary contracts for the purchase and to expend funds under the contract. 
 
Section 3.   This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and signature 
of both parties. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13TH DAY OF MAY 2025 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
AYES:    
NOES:   
ABSENT:    
ABSTAIN:    
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:       
 
 
____________________________________  
Diane Clavier, City Clerk       
 
(City Seal) 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE AND RELIANCE OF THE 
CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 
 

Page 247 of 283



EXHIBIT ‘A” 
 

Page 248 of 283



Page 249 of 283



Page 250 of 283



Page 251 of 283



Page 252 of 283



Page 253 of 283



Page 254 of 283



Page 255 of 283



Page 256 of 283



Page 257 of 283



Page 258 of 283



COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 

Meeting May 13, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers 

From: Carlos A. Solis, P.E., Director of Public Works Engineering 

Through:  George Garrett, City Manager 

Agenda Item: Resolution 2025-47, Approving a Design Build Contract with Platform Group, LLC 
via a Piggy-Back Contract with the City of Ocala for the Construction of A New Skate Park and 
Associated Improvements in the Amount Not To Exceed $1,265,800.00; Authorizing The City 
Manager To Execute A Contract And Expend and Appropriate  Funds; And Providing For An 
Effective Date. 

BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 
The City has long planned on replacing the aging Skate Park at Community Park. The City has 
worked with local groups and charities to develop a concept and received input from the public in 
developing a plan. Platform Group, LLC has been working with the group to develop the concept, 
and the City wishes to Piggy-Back the contract the City of Ocala has with Platform Group for a 
Design-Build contract for the development. The City had previously committed budgeted funds in 
the amount of $825,000, $300,000 in the current budget year, and $525,000 in the next budget year 
for this project, and now wishes to develop the project within this budget year. Since the budget was 
developed , the scope has been modified to enhance the park area by providing additional parking, 
improving circulation, and site work preparation for a splash pad.  

The total anticipated cost of the project is $1,531,040.00. The City’s anticipated cost is $1,265,800, 
which includes a contingency fund of $110,000.00 for modification to the park entrance and other 
potential improvements to accommodate the Splash Pad.  

The total cost of the project exceeds the City’s budget, however, additional cost for the project 
would be funded by the Florida Keys Community Center, a local non-profit through the United Way 
at a minimum amount of $265,240.00. Any additional cost, excluding the fore-mentioned site 
modifications requested by the City, would be covered by Florida Keys Community Center. 

The City has investigated the background of Platform Group, LLC and determined that they are one 
of the premier developers of Skate Parks facilities and determined that the procurement process by 
the City of Ocala meets all requirements of the process. As such, staff recommend that the Design-
Build Contract between the City and Platform Group be approved. 

CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 

1. Comprehensive Plan XX ____ 

FISCAL NOTE: 
The FY25 Adopted Capital Infrastructure Fund Budget includes $300,000 for this project, approval 
will appropriate the additional funds needed for this project. 

RECOMMENDATION: Council approve Resolution   
Page 259 of 283



 

  Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-47 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, APPROVING A DESIGN BUILD CONTRACT 
WITH PLATFORM GROUP, LLC VIA A PIGGY-BACK CONTRACT WITH 
THE CITY OF OCALA FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW SKATE 
PARK AND ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS IN THE AMOUNT NOT TO 
EXCEED $1,095,000; AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
A CONTRACT AND EXPEND BUDGETED FUNDS AND APPROPRIATE 
ADDITIONAL BUDGET FUNDS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
  
WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 2015-14, the City Council of the City of Marathon, 

Florida (the “City”), adopted Purchasing Policies and Procedures after determining that it was 
fiscally prudent and in the best interests of the City’s residents for the City to adopt policies and 
procedures for City employees and officials regarding the purchasing and acquisition of contractual 
services, equipment, goods, professional services and other similar types of services; and 

  
WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 2-184(3), the City may waive competitive bidding 

procedures to made under state general service administration contracts, federal, county or other 
governmental contracts or competitive bids with other governmental agencies with a substantially 
similar competitive bidding process (a “Piggy-Back” Agreement); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City requires expedited completion of construction of a new skate park and 

associated improvements in a total amount not to exceed $1,530,540.00; and  
 
WHEREAS, a portion of this maximum amount is to be provided by the Florida Keys 

Community Center; and 
 
WHEREAS, the maximum cost the City is responsible for under this contract is 

$1,265,300.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to engage Platform Group LLC. (“Contractor”) for such 

services to the City of Marathon via a piggyback contract with the City of Ocala, Florida. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein. 
 

Section 2. The City Council hereby approves a “Piggy-Back” Agreement between the 
City of Marathon, Florida and the Contractor.  The Contract between the City and Contractor for 
design-build construction of the skate park in an amount not to exceed $1,265,300.00 ;  a copy of 
which is attached as Exhibit “A,” together with such non-material changes as may be acceptable to 

Page 260 of 283



 

the City Manager and approved as to form by the City Attorney, is hereby approved.   
 
Section 3. The City Manager is authorized to execute the Contract and Expend and 

Appropriate  Funds In The Amount Of $965,800.00 on behalf of the City. 
 
Section 4. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, THIS 13th DAY OF MAY, 2025 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
AYES:    
NOES:    
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steven Williams, City Attorney 
 

Page 261 of 283



#205661 v1 
 

Exhibit A is available in the Clerk’s office and can be sent electronically. 

Page 262 of 283



Sponsored by:  Garrett 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-48 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, 
FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A REVOLVING LINE OF 
CREDIT NOTE, SERIES 2025A AND A TAXABLE REVOLVING LINE OF 
CREDIT NOTE, SERIES 2025B IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $10,000,000 TO FINANCE THE PROJECT; 
AUTHORIZING AND DELEGATING TO THE MAYOR THE SALE OF THE 
NOTES TO THE LENDER PURSUANT TO THE TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS OF A REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
LENDER; APPROVING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF SAID 
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT; PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER 
MATTERS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF THE NOTES; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Marathon, Florida (the “Issuer”) is a municipal corporation duly 
organized and validly existing pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer determined that it is necessary and desirable and in the best 
interest of the inhabitants of the Issuer to finance utility projects, including, but not limited to, 
design and construction of a deep injection well, pumping stations and transmission piping to 
connect and convert the Issuer’s shallow well system to a deep injection well system 
(collectively, the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, it is determined to be in the best interest of the Issuer to issue its Revolving 
Line of Credit Note, Series 2025A (the “Series 2025A Note”) and its Taxable Revolving Line of 
Credit Note, Series 2025B (the “Series 2025B Note” and together with the Series 2025A Note, the 
“Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $10,000,000 pursuant to a Revolving 
Credit Agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) among the Issuer, Truist Bank (“Truist”) 
and Truist Commercial Equity, Inc. (“TRUCE” and together with Truist, the “Lender”), in 
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, to finance the Project; and 

WHEREAS, debt service on the Notes will be secured by the (i) Net Revenues of the 
Issuer’s utility system, defined as system revenues after deducting operating expenses, (ii) Local 
Government Infrastructure Surtax Revenues, which are the Issuer’s portion of a countywide 
sales surtax, and (iii) Wastewater and Stormwater Assessments, which are special assessments 
levied for the respective utility systems (collectively, the “Pledged Revenues”), all as defined in 
the Revolving Credit Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the revenues pledged for the payment of the Notes are not now pledged or 
encumbered in any manner; and  

Page 263 of 283



 
WHEREAS, the Pledged Revenues shall be sufficient to pay all principal of and interest 

and prepayment premium, if any, on the Notes, as the same becomes due, and to make all 
deposits or payments required by this Resolution and the Revolving Credit Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, in the event Pledged Revenues shall be insufficient to pay debt service on 

the Notes (together with all other amounts due and owing thereunder), the Issuer has 
covenanted to budget and appropriate Non-Ad Valorem Revenues to provide funds equal to 
the difference between the Pledged Revenues available to pay debt service on the Notes and all 
other amounts due and owing thereunder and under this Resolution and the amount needed to 
pay the debt service on the Notes and all other amounts due and owing thereunder and under this 
Resolution; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Issuer shall never be required to levy ad valorem taxes or use the 

proceeds thereof to pay debt service on the Notes or to make any other payments under this 
Resolution or the Revolving Credit Agreement.  The Notes shall not constitute a lien on any 
property owned or situated within the limits of the Issuer; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Issuer has received proposals from a number of financial institutions 

and it is hereby found, determined and declared that a negotiated sale of the Notes to the 
Lender pursuant to a competitive bid, is in the best interest of the Issuer because the revolving 
nature of the loan necessitates that the Issuer evaluate the credit capacity of the Lender which 
does not lend itself to selling the Notes in a public sale and will save the Issuer considerable 
time and expense; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is hereby ascertained, determined and declared that it is in the best 

interest of the Issuer to authorize the Mayor to accept the offer from the Lender to purchase the 
Notes at a negotiated sale upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Resolution, the 
Revolving Credit Agreement and in the Term Sheet dated April 1, 2025 submitted by the 
Lender for the purchase of the Notes, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Term 
Sheet”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lender will provide to the Issuer, prior to the sale of the Notes, a 
disclosure statement regarding the Notes containing the information required by Section 
218.385(6), Florida Statutes. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 
 

SECTION 1. RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference.  

 

Page 264 of 283



SECTION 2. AUTHORITY. This Resolution is adopted pursuant to the Florida 
Constitution; Chapter 166, Florida Statutes; the Charter of the Issuer, and other applicable 
provisions of law. 

 
 SECTION 3. APPROVAL OF ISSUANCE OF NOTES; The issuance of the Note is 
hereby authorized. There is hereby authorized to be issued the “City of Marathon, Florida 
Revolving Line of Credit Note, Series 2025A” and the “City of Marathon, Florida Taxable 
Revolving Line of Credit Note, Series 2025B” in an aggregate principal amount of not to be 
outstanding at any time in excess of Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) for the purposes of (i) 
financing the costs of the Project, and (ii) paying the transaction costs associated with the Notes.  
 

SECTION 4. AUTHORIZATION OF PROJECT.  The financing of the Project is 
hereby authorized.  

 
SECTION 5. TERMS OF NOTES. The Notes will be repaid no later than twenty-four 

(24) months from the date of issuance or unless earlier prepaid or extended, as provided in the 
Revolving Credit Agreement and in the Notes. The Notes shall be substantially in the form 
attached as Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2 to the Revolving Credit Agreement, with such non-
material changes as shall be approved by the Mayor, such approval to be conclusively 
evidenced by the execution thereof by the Mayor.  The Notes shall be executed on behalf of the 
Issuer with the manual signature of the Mayor, as attested by the City Clerk and the official seal 
of the Issuer.  In case any one or more of the officers who shall have signed or sealed the Notes 
shall cease to be such officer of the Issuer before the Notes so signed and sealed has been 
actually sold and delivered, such Notes may nevertheless be sold and delivered as herein 
provided and may be issued as if the person who signed or sealed such Notes had not ceased to 
hold such office.  The Notes may be signed and sealed on behalf of the Issuer by such person 
who at the actual time of the execution of such Notes shall hold the proper office of the Issuer, 
although, at the date of such Notes, such person may not have held such office or may not have 
been so authorized.   
 

SECTION 6.  SALE OF NOTES. Because of the characteristics of the Notes, prevailing 
market conditions, the necessity of the Issuer to evaluate the credit capacity of the Lender, the 
ability of the Issuer to access direct purchase with the Lender and for the Issuer to receive the 
benefits of lower issuance costs, it is hereby determined that it is in the best interest of the Issuer 
to accept the offer of the Lender to purchase the Notes at a private negotiated sale pursuant to 
the terms of the Revolving Credit Agreement. Prior to the issuance of the Notes, the Issuer shall 
receive from the Lender a Lender's Certificate, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C 
and the Disclosure Letter containing the information required by Section 218.385, Florida 
Statutes, a form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

SECTION 7. AUTHORIZATION TO EXECUTE REVOLVING CREDIT 
AGREEMENT.  To provide for the security of the Notes and to express the contract between the 
Issuer and the holder thereof, the Issuer hereby authorizes the Mayor, as attested by the City 

Page 265 of 283



Clerk and approved as to form and correctness by the City Attorney, or any other appropriate 
officers of the Issuer, to execute and deliver a Revolving Credit Agreement to evidence the 
Notes, to be entered into by and between the Issuer and the Lender, in substantially the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit A with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved 
by the Mayor, the execution thereof being conclusive evidence of such approval. 
 
 SECTION 8. GENERAL AUTHORITY.  The Mayor, Vice Mayor, the City Clerk, the 
City Manager, the City Attorney and such other officers, attorneys and other agents and 
employees of the Issuer, as may be designated by the City Manager, are each designated as 
agents of the Issuer in connection with the matters described herein and are hereby authorized 
and empowered, collectively or individually, to take all actions and steps to execute all 
instruments, documents, notices and contracts on behalf of the Issuer that are necessary and 
desirable in connection with the execution and delivery therewith and which are specifically 
authorized and not inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Resolution or the 
Revolving Credit Agreement, or desirable or consistent with the requirements hereof for the 
full, punctual and complete performance of all of the terms, covenants and agreements 
contained in the Notes, this Resolution and the Revolving Credit Agreement and they are 
hereby authorized to execute and deliver all documents which shall be required by Note 
Counsel or the Lender to effectuate the sale of the Notes.  If the Mayor is unavailable or unable 
at any time to perform any duties or functions hereunder, the Vice Mayor is hereby authorized 
to act on his behalf. All action taken to date by the officers, attorneys and any other agents and 
employees of the Issuer in furtherance of the issuance of the Notes is hereby approved, 
confirmed and ratified. 
 

SECTION 9. SEVERABILITY AND INVALID PROVISIONS.  If any one or more of 
the covenants, agreements or provisions herein contained shall be held contrary to any express 
provision of law or contrary to the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited or 
against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, 
agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the 
remaining covenants, agreements or provisions and shall in no way affect the validity of any of 
the other provisions hereof or of the Revolving Credit Agreement. 

SECTION 10.  EFFECT OF RESOLUTION; RATIFICATION. All resolutions or 
ordinances and parts thereof in conflict herewith to the extent of such conflicts, are hereby 
suspended and repealed; provided, however, that all of the terms and conditions of this 
Resolution shall be complied with in full. All prior action in connection with this Resolution is 
hereby ratified, confirmed, and approved.  

SECTION 11.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  The Notes and Revolving Credit 
Agreement shall not be executed and delivered unless and until the Issuer has received all 
information required by Section 218.385, Florida Statutes. 

 

Page 266 of 283



SECTION 12.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 
its adoption. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, 
FLORIDA THIS 13th DAY OF MAY, 2025. 
 

CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF  
MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 

Lynn Landry, Mayor 
 
AYES: 
NOES; 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 

 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Steven Williams, City Attorney 
 
 
  

Page 267 of 283



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

Page 268 of 283



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

TERM SHEET

Page 269 of 283



 

EXHIBIT C  
 

FORM OF LENDER'S CERTIFICATE 
 
This is to certify that Truist Bank (“Truist”) and Truist Commercial Equity, Inc. 

(“TRUCE” and collectively with Truist, the “Lender”) has not required City of Marathon, 
Florida (the “Issuer”) to deliver any offering document and has conducted its own 
investigation, to the extent it deems satisfactory or sufficient, into matters relating to business 
affairs or conditions (either financial or otherwise) of the Issuer in connection with the issuance 
of the Revolving Line of Credit Note, Series 2025A (the “Series 2025A Note”) and the Taxable 
Revolving Line of Credit Note, Series 2025B (the “Series 2025B Note, and together with the 
Series 2025A Note, the “Notes”), and no inference should be drawn that the Lender, in the 
acceptance of said Notes is relying on Bryant Miller Olive P.A. (“Note Counsel”) or Steven 
Williams (“Issuer Attorney”) as to any such matters other than the legal opinions rendered by 
Note Counsel or Issuer Attorney.  Any capitalized undefined terms used herein not otherwise 
defined shall have the meanings set forth in the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of 
_________, 2025, by and among the Issuer, Truist and TRUCE (the “Revolving Credit 
Agreement”). 

 
We are aware that purchase of the Notes involve various risks, that the Notes are 

secured solely from the Pledged Revenues, as described in the Revolving Credit Agreement (the 
“Note Security”). 

 
We have made such independent investigation of the Note Security as we, in the 

exercise of sound business judgment, consider to be appropriate under the circumstances. In 
making our lending decision, we have relied upon the accuracy of information which has been 
provided to us by the Issuer.  

 
We have knowledge and experience in financial and business matters and are capable of 

evaluating the merits and risks of our purchase of the Notes and can bear the economic risk of 
our purchase of the Notes. 

 
We acknowledge that the Revolving Credit Agreement is not being qualified under the 

Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, and is not being registered in reliance upon the 
exemption from registration under Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities 
Act of 1933”), Section 517.051(1), Florida Statutes, and/or Section 517.061(9), Florida Statutes, 
and that neither Note Counsel nor the Issuer Attorney shall have any obligation to effect any 
such registration or qualification. 

 
The Notes have been purchased for the account of the Lender as evidence of a loan only 

and not with a present view to the distribution, transfer or resale thereof. The Lender currently 
intends to hold and book the Notes as a loan in its loan portfolio; the Lender acknowledges that 
the use of the word "Note" in the name of the debt instrument is not intended to indicate that 

Page 270 of 283



  

the instrument is or is not a security within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933. The 
Lender hereby covenants that if the Lender subsequently decides to distribute or resell the 
Notes, it shall comply with the transfer restrictions in the Notes. 

 
We are a bank, trust company, savings institution, insurance company, dealer, 

investment company, pension or profit-sharing trust, or qualified institutional buyer as 
contemplated by Section 517.061(9), Florida Statutes. We are not purchasing the Notes for the 
direct or indirect promotion of any scheme or enterprise with the intent of violating or evading 
any provision of Chapter 517, Florida Statutes. 

 
 
DATED this _______ day of ________, 2025. 
 
 
       

TRUIST COMMERCIAL EQUITY, INC., with 
respect to the Series 2025A Note  
 

 
      By:        

     Name: Linda Neverson 
Title:    Authorized Agent 
 
 
TRUIST BANK, with respect to the Series 2025B 
Note  
 

 
      By:        

     Name: Linda Neverson 
Title:    Senior Vice President 
 

Page 271 of 283



  

EXHIBIT D 
 

FORM OF DISCLOSURE LETTER 
 
 The undersigned, Truist Bank (“Truist”) and Truist Commercial Equity, Inc., (“TRUCE” 
and collectively with Truist, the “Lender”) has negotiated with City of Marathon, Florida (the 
“Issuer”) for the private purchase of its Revolving Line of Credit Note, Series 2025A and its 
Taxable Revolving Line of Credit Note, Series 2025B (collectively, the “Notes”) in an aggregate 
amount not to exceed $10,000,000. Prior to the award of the Notes, the following information is 
hereby furnished to the Issuer: 
 
1. Set forth is an itemized list of the nature and estimated amounts of expenses to be 
incurred for services rendered to us in connection with the issuance of the Notes (such fees and 
expenses to be paid by the Issuer): 
 

Lender Counsel Fees – $16,500.00 
 

2. (a) No other fee, bonus or other compensation is estimated to be paid by the Lender 
in connection with the issuance of the Notes to any person not regularly employed or retained 
by the Lender (including any “finder” as defined in Section 218.386(1)(a), Florida Statutes), 
except as specifically enumerated as expenses to be incurred by the Lender, as set forth in 
paragraph (1) above. 

 
(b) No person has entered into an understanding with the Lender, or to the 

knowledge of the Lender, with the Issuer, for any paid or promised compensation or valuable 
consideration, directly or indirectly, expressly or implied, to act solely as an intermediary 
between the Issuer and the Lender or to exercise or attempt to exercise any influence to effect 
any transaction in the purchase of the Notes. 

 
 3. The amount of the underwriting spread expected to be realized by the Lender is 
$0.00. 

 
4. The management fee to be charged by the Lender is $0.00. 
 
5. Truth-in-Bonding Statement: 
 

 The Notes are being issued primarily to (i) pay the costs of financing the Project, and (ii) 
pay the costs associated with the transaction. 
 
 Unless earlier redeemed, the Series 2025A Note is expected to be repaid by _________, 
2026. Unless earlier redeemed, the Series 2025B Note is expected to be repaid by _________, 
2026.  Because the loan of the proceeds of the Notes is a revolving credit facility with a variable 

Page 272 of 283



  

rate of interest it is impossible to determine the total amount of interest to be paid over the life 
of the Notes. 
 
 The Notes will be payable solely from the revenues pledged, as provided in the 
Revolving Credit Agreement (“Pledged Revenues”), dated as of _________, 2025, among the 
Issuer, Truist and TRUCE (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”). Because the loan proceeds of 
the Notes is a revolving credit facility with a variable rate of interest it is impossible to 
determine the amount of revenues of the Issuer not being available to finance other services of 
the Issuer during the life of the Notes. 
 

6. The name and address of the Lender is as follows: 
 

  Truist Commercial Equity, Inc./Truist Bank  
  515 East Las Olas Blvd, 7th Floor 
  Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 
  Attention:  Linda Neverson, Authorized Agent/Senior Vice President 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Disclosure Letter on behalf 

of the Lender this _____ day of ________, 2025. 
 
 

      
TRUIST COMMERCIAL EQUITY, INC., with 
respect to the Series 2025A Note  
 

 
      By:        

     Name: Linda Neverson 
Title:    Authorized Agent 
 
 
TRUIST BANK, with respect to the Series 2025B 
Note  
 

 
      By:        

     Name: Linda Neverson 
Title:    Senior Vice President 

 

Page 273 of 283



515 East Las Olas Blvd, 7th Floor 

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 

Office:  954.233.9727 

Mobile:  917.532.5100 

Linda.Neverson@truist.com 

Linda M. Neverson 
Senior Vice President 
Government Banking  

April 1, 2025 

Jennifer Johnson 
Finance Director 
City of Marathon, FL 
jjohnson@keyscpa.com 

Re: Proposal response to City of Marathon, FL (“Borrower”) in response to a Request for Proposal for a 
Revolving Line of Credit.  

Dear Jennifer: 

Truist is pleased to respond to the City of Marathon, FL’s Request for Proposal for a Revolving Line of 
Credit with the attached summary of terms and conditions.  We believe we have provided a proposal that 
focuses on those items of greatest importance to the City. 

We believe our proposal offers: 

• Competitive fixed pricing.

• A comprehensive solution that supports future financing needs.

• Speed of execution.

As a dedicated Relationship Manager with Truist, I bring experience working with various government 
entities. Additionally, Truist’s specialized Government Banking team provides tailored cash management, 
treasury management and escrow services for governmental entities.  

As you review the materials, please keep in mind a few benefits of banking with Truist: 

• Truist’s has extensive experience working with government entities, including structuring both
taxable and tax-exempt financing solutions.

• Truist offers clients a diverse range of financial services to ensure flexibility. These services include
bank and bond financing, funding for infrastructure needs, vehicle and equipment leasing, financial
risk management and working capital solutions.

• Financial strength. Truist is a well-capitalized institution that is ethically managed and generates
strong operating results. Below are the current short-term and long-term ratings of Truist, including
outlooks.

1Page 274 of 283

mailto:jjohnson@keyscpa.com


515 East Las Olas Blvd, 7th Floor 

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 

Office:  954.233.9727 

Mobile:  917.532.5100 

Linda.Neverson@truist.com 

 

Linda M. Neverson 
Senior Vice President 
Government Banking  

On behalf of Truist Bank, I thank you for giving us the opportunity to build our relationship with the City of 
Marathon, FL.  We believe the attached expresses our deep desire to maintain a valued banking 
partnership.  Please do not hesitate to reach out to me if you any questions regarding our proposal or if any 
of the terms and conditions do not fully meet City’s requirements.   

Sincerely, 

2Page 275 of 283



CHAR2\2403852v1 

City of Marathon, Florida 

Term Sheet 

April 1, 2025 

Truist Bank (“Bank”), on behalf of itself and its designated affiliate (the “Lender”), is pleased to submit 
the following summary of terms and conditions for discussion purposes only. The term sheet is non-
binding and does not represent a commitment to lend. The term sheet is intended only as an outline of 
certain material terms of the requested financing and does not purport to summarize all of the 
conditions, covenants, representations, warranties and other provisions that would be contained in any 
definitive documentation for the requested financing.   

Borrower: City of Marathon, Florida 

Lender: Truist Commercial Equity, Inc. (tax-exempt) and Truist Bank (taxable). 

Facility/Purpose/ 
Description: 

Revolving Line of Credit with both tax-exempt and taxable draws available (the “Loan”). 
The purpose is to provide liquidity that will enable the City to begin construction on 
utility projects, including, but not limited to, design and construction of a deep injection 
well, pumping stations and transmission piping to connect and convert the City’s shallow 
well system to a deep injection well system, as well as reimbursement to the City for any 
related costs previously incurred. 

Amount: Up to $10,000,000. 

Funding: The Loan shall be a revolving line of credit that may be drawn on or paid down on a 
revolving basis, with draws limited to no more than one (1) per month and for an 
amount of no less than $100,000. 

Repayment: Interest shall be due and payable monthly. All principal and unpaid interest shall be due 
at maturity. No prepayment penalty shall apply. 

Fees: Annual Unused Fee of 0.13% payable quarterly in arrears. 

If average line usage is greater than 60% during the quarter prior to the fee payment, the 
unused fee will be waived. 

Renewal/Extension The Bank requires 90 days’ notice to process any renewals or extensions.  The Borrower 
may request the Bank in writing to extend the then current scheduled expiration date by 
at least one year.  If the Borrower shall make such a request, the Bank shall within 30 
days of such request, notify the Borrower in writing whether or not the Bank will extend 
the Scheduled Expiration Date.  If the Bank shall not so notify the Borrower, the Bank 
shall be deemed to have not consented to such request. 

3Page 276 of 283



[-Private-] 
CHAR2\2403852v1 

Interest Rate: VARIABLE RATE – 

Maturity Date Tax-Exempt/Taxable Interest Rate 

24 months Tax-Exempt SIFMA + 0.35%. 

24 months Tax-Exempt 79% of One-Month Term SOFR + 0.40%. 

24 months Taxable One-Month Term SOFR + 0.49%. 

Accrual basis: Act/360. 

The tax-exempt interest rate for the Loan will be subject to increase in the event of a 
Determination of Taxability. In no event will One-Month Term SOFR or SIFMA ever be 
less than 0.00%. 

Security: The Loan will be secured a basket of revenues including the City’s covenant to budget 
and appropriate non-ad valorem revenues, net revenues of the utility system, the City’s 
local government infrastructure tax revenues, and wastewater and stormwater non-ad 
valorem assessments (Pledged Revenues). 

Documentation: All documentation shall appropriately structure the financing according to Federal and 
State statutes, subject to acceptable review by Lender and its counsel. The bond will not 
be presented for payment unless required by documentation. 

Covenants: Usual and customary covenants, reporting requirements, representations and warranties 
and events of default, for transactions of this type, including, without limitation, the 
following financial covenants and reporting requirements: 

• Additional Debt Test as outlined in the RFP (will need a written definition).

• Annual Financial Statements within 270 days of fiscal year end.

• Annual budget within 30 days of adoption.

The default rate shall be Prime + 4%. If acceleration is not a remedy the restated default 
rate shall be increased to the lesser of 18% or the maximum allowed rate by law, and the 
documents shall contain a covenant assuring Lender that if other bondholders have 
acceleration rights Lender will have the same acceleration rights. No advances permitted 
while there shall be an Event of Default or an event that with the passage of time or 
giving of notice or both would be an Event of Default. 

Conditions 
Precedent and 
Other Terms: 

1. Borrower’s Counsel Opinion: An opinion of Borrower’s counsel covering matters
customary to transactions such as this and in all respects acceptable to the Bank, the
Lender and its counsel.

2. Bond Counsel Opinion: An approving opinion of bond counsel related to the Loan in
form and substance satisfactory to the Lender, which shall include, without
limitation, an opinion that the interest on the Loan is excludable from gross income
for Federal income tax purposes.

3. Other Items: The Bank and the Lender shall have received such other documents,

4Page 277 of 283



[-Private-] 
CHAR2\2403852v1 

instruments, approvals or opinions as may be reasonably requested. 

Lender’s Legal 
Counsel 

The Lender’s legal counsel will be Michael Wiener at Holland & Knight in Lakeland, 
Florida. 

Estimated fees for the closing of the Loan(s) will be $16,500 and shall be paid by the 
Borrower, whether or not the Loan described herein is closed. 

Governing Law & 
Jurisdiction: 

State of Florida. 

Municipal Advisor 
Disclosure: 

The Bank is a regulated bank and makes direct purchase loans to Municipal Entities and 
Obligated Persons as defined under the Municipal Advisor Rule, and in this term sheet is 
solely providing information regarding the terms under which it would make such a 
purchase for its own account.  The Bank is not recommending an action or providing any 
advice to the Borrower and is not acting as a municipal advisor or financial advisor. The 
Bank is not serving in a fiduciary capacity pursuant to Section 15B of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 with respect to the information and material contained in this 
communication. The Bank is acting in its own interest.  Before acting on the information 
or material contained herein, the Borrower should seek the advice of an IRMA and any 
other professional advisors which it deems appropriate for the Loan described herein, 
especially with respect to any legal, regulatory, tax or accounting treatment. 

Patriot Act: Pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, the Bank and its affiliates are required 
to obtain, verify and record information that identifies loan obligors, which information 
includes the name, address, tax identification number and other information regarding 
obligors that will allow Lender to identify obligors in accordance with the Patriot Act, and 
Lender is hereby so authorized. This notice is given in accordance with the requirements 
of the Patriot Act and is effective for the Bank and its affiliates. 

Expiration Date: This Term Sheet shall expire on May 24, 2025 unless a formal commitment letter has 
been issued prior to such date. 

5Page 278 of 283



2025 Line of Credit Proposal Template 

Bank Contact Information 

Amount 

Draw Period Length 
(Request minimum 24 months) 
Tax-Exempt / Taxable Drawn Interest Rate 
(Detail Index + Spread) 
Unused/Unutilized Fee 
(if any) 

 

Prepayment Provisions 

NTE Fees & Expenses including Bank 
Counsel Fee 

Bank Counsel Contact 

Additional Information 

The Bank acknowledges that the City reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
received in connection with the RFP.  The award of the RFP does not obligate the City 
to close on the LOC.   

* SIFMA+.35% (TE); * 79% of 1 Mnth Term SOFR+0.40% (TE); 
and 1  Mnth Term SOFR+0.49% (Taxable)

Truist Bank

Annual Unused Fee of 0.13%. If average line usage is greater than 60%
during the quarter prior to the fee payment, the unused fee will be waived.

24 month with the option to extend

No prepayment penalty shall apply

$10,000,000

Estimated fees for the closing of the Loan(s) will be $16,500 

Michael Wiener at Holland & Knight; michael.wiener@hklaw.com

Linda Neverson at Truist Bank; linda.neverson@truist.com

6Page 279 of 283



Respectfully submitted,
_____________________________________ 

By:  ________________________________ 
Authorized Officer

_____________________________________ 

Date: _____________________

Address:  

_____________________________________ 

_____________________________________ 

Tel.No._______________________________

Fax No. _______________________________ 

Email ________________________________ 

ACCEPTED this ____ day of _____________, 
2025 

CITY OF MARATHON 

By: ___________________________ 
Authorized Officer

Authorized Officer

____________________

Linda Neverson

April 1, 2025

515 E. Las Olas Blvd, 7th Floor, Ft. 
Lauderdale, FL 33301

917-532-5100

Linda.Neverson@truist.com

1st April

Truist Bank

7Page 280 of 283



COUNCIL AGENDA STATEMENT 

Meeting Date: May 13, 2025 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Council Members 

From:  Dan Saus, Utility Director  

Through: George Garrett, City Manager 

Agenda Item:  Resolution 2025-49 Authorizing A Purchase Pursuant To The City’s 
Purchasing Policies And Procedures And Approving The Purchase of SCADA computer/software 
On-Going Maintenance, In An Amount Not To Exceed $35,000.00; Authorizing The City 
Manager To Enter Into Agreements In Connection Therewith, Appropriating And Expending 
Budgeted Funds; And Providing For An Effective Date. 

BACKGROUND & JUSTIFICATION: 

M&M Stellar Technologies LLC was again the sole respondent to multiple inquiries for repairs 
and ongoing maintenance to the City’s SCADA system. This system included multiple internet 
providers and associated equipment, multiple computers at seven locations, industrial PLC’s at 5 
WWTP’s and all the hardware and software related to these systems including firewalls.  Our 
Current IT contractor was unable to provide the services our systems needs.  

CONSISTENCY CHECKLIST: Yes No 

1. Comprehensive Plan ____ ____ 
2. Other –Sewer Mandate ____ ____ 

FISCAL NOTE: 
This is the third $35,000 renewal for this vendor, however, under Section 2-184 B of the City’s 
procurement ordinance 2024-13 it is exempt from competitive bidding.   

RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve Resolution 

Page 281 of 283



Sponsored by: Garrett 
 

CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
RESOLUTION 2025-49 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING A PURCHASE PURSUANT TO 
THE CITY’S PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES AND 
APPROVING THE PURCHASE WITH M&M STELLAR TECHNOLGIES, 
LLC TO PROVIDE SCADA COMPUTER/SOFTWARE ONGOING 
MAINTENNACE (THE CITY’S SCADA COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 
PROVIDER, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $35,000.00; 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO AGREEMENTS 
IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, APPROPRIATING AND EXPENDING 
BUDGETED FUNDS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2008-134, the City Council of the City of Marathon 

adopted purchasing policies and procedures after determining that it was fiscally prudent and in the 
best interests of the City’s residents for the City to adopt policies and procedures for City employees 
and officials regarding the purchasing and acquisition of contractual services, equipment, goods, 
professional services and other similar types of services; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City may waive competitive bidding in the event that “only one vendor 

possesses the unique and singularly available capability to meet the requirements of a particular 
procurement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City wishes to approve agreement with M&M Stellar Technologies, LLC  

for the City’s SCADA computer/software maintenance, in an amount not to exceed $35,000.00; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF MARATHON, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 
Section 1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein. 
 
Section 2.  The City’s purchasing policies and procedures are hereby waived and the City 

Council hereby authorizes the City Manager to execute any agreements in connection, and expend 
budgeted funds on behalf of the City.   
 

Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 

Page 282 of 283



PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MARATHON, FLORIDA THIS 13th DAY OF MAY 2025. 

 
 

THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA 
 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Lynn Landry, Mayor 

 
AYES:    
NOES:    
ABSENT:    
ABSTAIN:    
     
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Diane Clavier, City Clerk 
 
(City Seal) 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY FOR THE USE 
AND RELIANCE OF THE CITY OF MARATHON, FLORIDA ONLY: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Steve Williams, City Attorney 

Page 283 of 283


	5A Draft Minutes
	5A DRAFT Minutes 03.31.2025 special call
	5A DRAFT Minutes04.22.2025 Town Hall

	5C 40th 7MBR City Council Request
	06A MCSO Report
	6B Grants Report 05-13-2025
	6C APRIL 2025 BUILDING REPORT COUNCIL
	APRIL ‘25 BREAKDOWN�

	6D Parks April 2025 Report
	6E Fire Month End Report APRIL 2025
	6F Marina April 2025 Update
	6G Code Council Report 5.13.25
	6H WW  Monthly Report 2025
	A. Wastewater Treatment Plants
	B. Collection System
	C.  Plant Upgrades & Construction Projects (No changes this month)
	D. Grants Update Summary (No changes this month)

	6I PW Update 5-13-25-1
	8A Resolution 2025-37
	2025-37  AS Marathon LLC  CUP 25-1
	a. “Policy 1-1.1.2  Adopt Compatibility for Residential and Non-Residential Review Criteria,”
	c. “Policy 1-1.1.4  Transition between Land Uses
	Section 104.53 Storage Facility, Self-Service


	2025-37 Resolution CU Marathon LLC
	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE


	8B Resolution 2025-38
	9A Ordinance 2025-02
	2025-02 Council Agenda Statement Abatement of Criminal Nuisances
	2025- 02 Business Impact Estimate - Ordinance 2025-XX
	2025-02 Ordinance   Abatement of Criminal Nuisances

	10A Ordinance 2025-03
	2025-03 AS Fire Tiki
	2025-03 business impact
	2025-03 Ordinance Fire Tiki
	2025-03 Exhibit A Fire Tiki
	Chapter 15 “Fire Prevention” Article 1 “In General”
	Sec 15-6 Chickees And Tikis
	Sec 15-76 Penalty


	10B Ordinance 2025-04
	2025-04 AS Ordinance 6+
	2025-04 BIE SFR6+ Ord
	Ordinance 2025-04 LDRs Residential Size Limitations
	2025-04 ARTICLE 110 Exhibit
	2025-04 Sec 104.51.1 Exhibit

	11A Resolution 2025-39
	2025-39 agendastatement 2025 Landscape Maintenance Agreement for US 1 Corridor
	2025-39 Resolution New DFA - FM 455231-1-78-01 - City of Marathon - Department Funded Agreement - South Dade
	2025-39 DFA FM 455231-1-78-01 City of Marathon - New Contract Agreetment

	11B Resolution 2025-40
	2025-40 AGENDA-STATEMENT WA Weiler Area 5 WWTP MBR Tank Expansion
	FISCAL NOTE:
	RECOMMENDATION:
	Approval  of Resolution

	2025-40 Resolution  Weiler WA SA5 MBR Tank Expansion
	2025-40 Area 5 MBR Tank Expansion PSA FINAL 250418

	11C Resolution 2025-41
	2025-41 AGENDA-STATEMENT WA Weiler Area 3 WWTP Vacuum Tank Replacement
	FISCAL NOTE:
	RECOMMENDATION:
	Approval  of Resolution

	2025-41 Resolution  Weiler WA SA3 MBR Vacuum Tank Replacement
	2025-41 Area 3 Vac Tank Replacement PSA FINAL 250416

	11D Resolution 2025-42
	2025-42 Agenda Statement, DIW FM PH1 Construction
	2025-42 DIW FM PH1 Recomondation of Award
	2025-42 Resolution  DBE Utility Services DIW FM PH1
	2025-42 DIW Force Main Phase 1 Contract Ex2

	11E Resolution 2025-43
	2025-43 Agenda Statement Bicycle-Pedestrian Master Plan FDOT
	2025-43 Resolution - Bicycle-Pedestrian Master Plan FDOT
	2025-43 FM453692-1-1401 SubRep Agreement Bicycle and Ped Master Plan
	FM453692-1-14-01 SubRep Agreement (003)
	SubRep - Exhibit A
	SubRep - Exhibit B
	SubRep - Exhibit C
	SubRep - Exhibit D
	Resolution 2025-XX - Bicycle-Pedestrian Master Plan FDOT
	Exhibit E
	Exhibit F


	11F Resolution 2025-44
	2025-44 agendastatement 2nd Tetra Tech Extension
	2025-44 Letter-Rate Adjustment 2025_Marathon FL_Request for Contract Renewal and Rate Change
	2025-44 Resolution
	2025-44 ex A 2nd  Amendment to emergency contract Tetra Tech

	11G Resolution 2025-45
	2025-45 AS Sombrero Blvd Change Order 1
	2025-45  Resolution Sombrero Blvd Change Order 1
	Steve Williams, City Attorney

	2025-45 Sombrero Blvd Change order Exhibits
	2025-45 Ex A & B

	11H Resolution 2025-46
	2025-46 AS Purchase of Fire Boat
	2025-46 Resolution 2025-46 Purchase of Fire Boat
	Steve Williams, City Attorney

	2025-46 Exhibit A Safe Boat PO Reqest JM & GG

	11I Resolution 2025-47
	2025-47 Agenda Statement Skate  Park
	2025-47 Resolution  design build skate park (002)

	11J Resolution 2025-48
	2025-48 Line of Credit Resolution (02832751-3)
	2025-48 Term Sheet - Truist (02842398)
	Truist Cover Letter 4-1-2025_City of Marathon FL
	Term Sheet - Marathon- Final_Updated
	Marathon FL - RFP Template


	11K Resolution 2025-49
	2025-49 Agenda Statement MM SCADA
	2025-49 Resolution M&M SCADA

	00 Agenda numbered.pdf
	Tuesday, May 13, 2025 5:30 P.M.




